
County Offices
Newland

Lincoln
LN1 1YL

6 February 2018

Adults and Community Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee

A meeting of the Adults and Community Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee will be held on 
Wednesday, 14 February 2018 at 10.00 am in Committee Room One, County 
Offices, Newland, Lincoln LN1 1YL for the transaction of the business set out on the 
attached Agenda. 

Yours sincerely

Tony McArdle
Chief Executive

Membership of the Adults and Community Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee (11 
Members of the Council)

Councillors C E H Marfleet (Chairman), Mrs E J Sneath (Vice-Chairman), M T Fido, 
R J Kendrick, P M Key, Mrs J E Killey, Mrs C J Lawton, A P Maughan, C E Reid, 
M A Whittington and 1 Conservative Vacancy

Public Document Pack





ADULTS AND COMMUNITY WELLBEING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE AGENDA
WEDNESDAY, 14 FEBRUARY 2018

Item Title Pages 

1 Apologies for Absence/Replacement Members 

2 Declarations of Members' Interests 

3 Minutes of the meeting of the Adults and Community 
Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee held on 10 January 2018 

5 - 14

4 Chairman's Announcements Verbal 
Report

5 Residential and Nursing Care Fee Levels within Adult Social 
Care 
(This report invites the Committee to consider a proposed 
decision by the Executive Councillor on the setting of 'usual costs' 
for residential accommodation.   The recommendation to the 
Executive Councillor is that a usual cost should be set for each of 
the next three years incorporating an inflationary allowance in 
each year which anticipates the likely effect of changes to 
providers costs such as minimum wages or food prices)

15 - 272

6 Report by the Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman 
(This report invites the Committee to consider a proposed 
decision by the Executive on a report by the Local Government 
and Social Care Ombudsman. The Executive is due to consider 
the recommendations of the Ombudsman and the actions taken 
and proposed to be taken by the Council under the Local 
Government Act 1974)

273 - 308

7 Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards Scrutiny Sub Group 
Update 
(This report enables the Committee to have an overview of the 
activities of the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards Scrutiny Sub-
Group, in particular the Sub-Group’s consideration of adult 
safeguarding matters. The draft minutes of the last meeting of the 
Scrutiny Sub-Group held on 15 January 2018 are attached)

309 - 316

8 Adults and Community Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee Work 
Programme 
(A report by Simon Evans, Scrutiny Officer, in connection with the
Committee's work programme, which is reviewed at each
meeting. Members are encouraged to highlight items that could
be included for consideration)

317 - 320

9 Information Item 

10 Supported Housing 321 - 338



11 Extra Care Housing - Partnership with District Councils 339 - 340

Democratic Services Officer Contact Details 

Name: Catherine Wilman

Direct Dial 01522 553788

E Mail Address catherine.wilman@lincolnshire.gov.uk

Please note:  for more information about any of the following please contact 
the Democratic Services Officer responsible for servicing this meeting

 Business of the meeting
 Any special arrangements
 Copies of reports

Contact details set out above.

All papers for council meetings are available on: 
www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/committeerecords

http://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/committeerecords


  1 

 
 

 

 

 
Councillors Mrs E J Sneath (Vice-Chairman), M T Fido, R J Kendrick, P M Key, 
Mrs C J Lawton, A P Maughan, C E Reid and M A Whittington 
 
Councillors: Mrs P A Bradwell attended the meeting as observers 
 
Officers in attendance:- 
 
Simon Evans (Health Scrutiny Officer), Glen Garrod (Executive Director of Adult Care 
and Community Wellbeing), Alina Hackney (Senior Strategic Commercial and 
Procurement Manager), Steve Houchin (Head of Finance (Adult Care)), Tony 
McGinty (Interim Director of Public Health), Carl Miller, Carolyn Nice (Assistant 
Director, Adult Frailty & Long Term Conditions), Emma Scarth (Commissioning 
Manager Performance, Quality and Workforce Development), Rachel Wilson 
(Democratic Services Officer) and Alex Craig (Commercial and Procurement 
Manager - People Services) 
 
34     APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE/REPLACEMENT MEMBERS 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Mrs J E Killey. 
 
35     DECLARATIONS OF MEMBERS' INTERESTS 

 
There were no declarations of interest at this point in the meeting. 
 
36     MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE ADULTS AND COMMUNITY 

WELLBEING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE HELD ON 29 NOVEMBER 2017 
 

RESOLVED 
 
 That the minutes of the meeting held on 29 November 2017 be signed by the 
Chairman as a correct record. 
 
37     CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 
The Executive Director Adult Care and Community Wellbeing introduced Carolyn 
Nice who had recently been appointed as the Assistant Director for Adult Frailty and 
Long Term Conditions.   
 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



2 

 
38     ADULT CARE & COMMUNITY WELLBEING 2017/18 OUTTURN 

PROJECTION 
 

Consideration was given to a report which provided the Committee with an 
opportunity to consider the outturn projection for Adult Care and Community 
Wellbeing for 2017/18.  It was reported that the Adult Care & Community Wellbeing 
(AC&CW) net budget was £216.229m, and based on current information available to 
31 October 2017, it was estimated that AC&CW would produce an underspend of 
£0.221m or 0.10% of the overall budget. 
 
Members were also advised that the increasing strategic importance of the Better 
Care Fund (BCF) had also meant that the impact the AC&CW had to be reflected in 
service budgets. 
 
Members were guided through the report and were provided with the opportunity to 
ask questions to the officers present in relation to the information contained in the 
report and some of the points raised during discussion included the following: 

 It was highlighted that direct payments was a significant area of growth in 
terms of budget pressures, particularly in relation to the physical disability 
service.  A projected overspend of £1.300m was expected for the service with 
the average package of care was now costing £11,514 per annum. 

 In relation to the capital budget, it was noted that the County was hoping to 
work with North Kesteven District Council on the development of extra care 
housing schemes.  It was also commented that sites in East Lindsey were also 
being looked at.  It was planned that a report on housing would be brought to 
the Committee later in the year. 

 It was commented that one area which had come up three times within the 
report had been delays to assessments – fairer charging, LPFT and 
Deprivation of Liberty (DoL's).  It was queried whether this would be an easy 
issue to address. 

 In relation to DoL's assessments, members were advised that there were 
complications in carrying these out as there was quite a lot of legal work which 
needed to take place.  It was also noted that following the Cheshire West 
judgement, the authority had received a large amount of requests for 
assessments which had caused a backlog.  Members were also advised that 
there were several different aspects to carrying out a DoL's assessment.  It 
was reported that LPFT had been commissioned to undertake them, but there 
had been an almost 10 fold increase in requests immediately following the 
Cheshire West judgement.  It was also highlighted that for DoL's, three 
different assessments were required.  It was anticipated that the government 
would introduce a new scheme for processing DoL's assessments, but this 
was now 18 months overdue.  The authority had put aside £1.5m in the budget 
to tackle the backlog of requests, and it was expected that the backlog would 
be dealt with by the end of 2018.  It was hoped that going forward from this 
point, the authority would have a position it could maintain.  It was noted that 
the numbers of requests had increased from 10 per month to about 120 per 
month. 

Page 6



3 

 

 Members were advised that it was expected that government would introduce 
legislation to deal with DoL assessments by the end of the decade. 

 In relation to the capital fund, queries were raised regarding the Disabled 
Facilities Grant (DFG) as none of the funding had been allocated, it was 
commented whether this meant there had not been any applications within the 
county.  It was clarified that district councils also received DFG funding, and 
were responsible for allocating the funding for adaptations such as ramps, 
installation of wetrooms etc.  However, the money within the county council 
budget was capital funding and was to be used for those adaptations which 
were over and above what the district council could provide e.g. building of an 
additional room. 

 It was also commented that DFG's had gone up during this year, and they 
were likely to also go up next year.  The Executive Councillor advised that the 
district housing group was now looking at other ways to spend this money as 
the districts were receiving more funding than they needed for the applications 
submitted.  For example, one thing the Group was considering was renovating 
some of the districts' older housing stock which was no longer fit for purpose.  
The City of Lincoln Council had recently commenced a project on this and 
would be helping those residents who were living in housing with less than 
satisfactory facilities e.g. inefficient heating systems. 

 It was highlighted that it was helpful that the report had listed the average price 
of a package of care for the physical disability service, and it was suggested 
whether this information could be included for each area. 

 Members were advised that, more often than not, Lincolnshire paid a rate 
lower than the national average per unit, and there was a very good robust 
process in place to ensure that providers could justify their fees and charges. 

 It was commented that this was a good news story, that the authority was 
robustly challenging the market. 

 It was also reported that dealing with the impact of the national living wage 
was having an effect on budgets.  However, officers were always looking for 
any developments taking place which could have a financial impact. 

 In terms of the missed financial assessments, it was queried whether this was 
a Serco or LCC issue, and if it was a Serco issue, would any charges go back 
into adult care.  It was commented that there was a view that it was a Serco 
issue as when the bid for the service was put in, they did not have a sufficient 
level of staff to support the service.  Additional money had been given to Serco 
to fund two additional posts to help mitigate this issue.  It was noted that any 
charges received from Serco would go back into the corporate budget rather 
than the adult care budget. 

 Clarification was sought regarding the reference to out of county sexual health 
services, and members were advised that this referred to those people whose 
home was out of county but they came into Lincolnshire for treatment.  It was 
noted that these patients were mainly students or those who lived on the edge 
of the county. 

 
RESOLVED 
 
 That the budget outturn projection for 2017/18 be noted. 

Page 7



4 

 
39     ADULT CARE & COMMUNITY WELLBEING BUDGET 2018/19 

 
Consideration was given to a report and presentations which described the Council's 
budget proposals for Adult Care and Community Wellbeing.  The presentation 
provided the Committee with further information in relation to the following areas: 

 Progress to date 

 Financial context 

 The budget squeeze 

 BCF Recap 

 Budget 18/19 – 19-20 

 Cost pressures and savings – Safeguarding 

 Cost pressures and savings – Adult frailty & Long Term Conditions 

 Cost pressures and savings – Specialities 

 Cost pressures and savings – Carers 

 Cost pressures and Savings – Wellbeing  

 Capital  

 Next Steps 
 
Members were provided with the opportunity to ask questions to the officers present 
in relation to the information contained within the report and presentation and some 
of the points raised during discussion included the following: 

 Members were advised that the overall impact of the national living wage for 
the previous year had been around £6m across the authority. 

 Mosaic would help to calculate base costs for the budget. 

 It was confirmed that providers were encouraged to be more efficient in the 
way they did things. 

 There was some confusion around historical arrangements for waking nights, 
and members were advised that there was an agreement that the authority 
would fund any obligations from April 2017 onwards, but there was no 
obligation to fund this retrospectively.  It was for each provider to make that 
decision. 

 It was commented that a balanced budget had been set, and it was 
acknowledged that there were considerable cost pressures that were outside 
of the control of the authority. 

 It was commented that if there was the opportunity for additional support from 
the Executive for Adult Care, it was requested whether this could be in the 
form of an improved IT system. 

 It was commented that the Committee appreciated the good work which was 
carried out by Steve Houchin and his team to control costs. 

 It was also highlighted that this council was very good at managing its budgets 
as there were many councils who had overspent in adult care. 

 It was also commented that whilst budget control was vital, it was important to 
remember that this service was about people. 

 
RESOLVED 
 
 That the comments made in relation to the proposed Adult Care and 
 Community Wellbeing budget be noted. 

Page 8



5 

 

40     LOCAL STOP SMOKING SERVICE PROCUREMENT 
 

Consideration was given to a report on the Local Stop Smoking Services (LSSS) Re-
procurement which was due to be considered by the Executive Councillor on 17 
January 2018. 
 
Members were advised that there were two main aspects to consider, smoking 
cessation and tobacco control, and there were both short term and long term benefits 
to the re-procurement of this contract.  It was reported that this service had already 
been re-procured once, and there had been some efficiencies gained at that time.  It 
was highlighted that it was not proposed to look for any further efficiencies.  It was 
planned to offer the service to around 5,500 residents in Lincolnshire, and around 19-
20% of Lincolnshire's population were smokers. 
 
The service would aim to target those who required additional support to stop 
smoking, as evidence had shown that people were more likely to be successful if 
they had support rather than if they tried to do it themselves. 
 
Members were advised that the current providers had been struggling to hit targets.  
It was also reported that some big variations to the contract had been made during 
the life of the contract due to NHS changes, and so there could be some 
procurement risk to extending rather than re-commissioning.  It was also noted that 
the current contract was payment by results only, which had led to delays in 
payments and also the provider had not been able to invest in services and so were 
currently running the contract at a loss.  It was planned that the new contract would 
be a very similar to the current model with a prime provider and single point of 
contact. 
 
Members were provided with the opportunity to ask questions to the officers present 
in relation to the information contained within the report and some of the points raised 
included the following: 

 It was queried how the service would engage with people whose first language 
was not English and going forward, how would these groups be engaged with.  
Members were advised that information was offered in other languages but 
some nationalities did not have the same sense of harm that the British did 
about smoking.  It was noted that there was still more education to do.  
However, the authority would be able to procure this service every couple of 
years to ensure that there was a more targeted approach. 

 Clarification was sought regarding the figures stated in paragraphs 1.1 and 1.5 
which set out the costs of smoking to the county.  Members were advised that 
these costs were extrapolated from national data. 

 It was confirmed that there was a net benefit to the national economy from 
smoking. 

 In terms of the contract going forward, there was a move away from the pure 
payment by results model as the provider was making a loss and was unable 
to invest in services.  It was queried therefore, whether there was a risk from 
going in the other direction with no incentive to be efficient or produce results.  
Members were advised that it was planned to have a combination, with a basic 
payment and then additional funds for performance. 

Page 9



6 

 

 In terms of illicit and illegal tobacco, it was queried whether there was work 
being carried out with the Police and other services to tackle this market.  It 
was noted that work had been very effective in identifying retailers who were 
supplying illegal tobacco products.  However, there was still more to do in 
tackling the organised crime behind it. 

 It was also highlighted that there was a safety issue with the use of illegal 
cigarettes as they were not manufactured to the same standard as western 
made ones.  

 There was a need for balance in terms of pricing, so prices were not so high 
that they drove people to seek out illicit tobacco. 

 It was queried how people were targeted by this service and members were 
advised that people mainly self-referred, and many were signposted by health 
care or social work professionals.  A lot of research had been carried out 
about a person's readiness to change, and there was a finite window for how 
long that motivation lasted.  It was also noted that these services would be 
highlighted to smokers by GP's, or when they were admitted to hospital, or 
female smokers when they registered as pregnant. 

 Members were advised that there were options which could be put in place if 
more people than expected decided to stop smoking.  It was noted that 
expected numbers were generally based on past usage unless there had been 
a large change e.g. the increased popularity of e-cigarettes. 

 It was expected that demand for the service would increase as people did not 
always quit successfully the first time.  It was also noted that smoking 
prevalence was declining slightly. 

 It was commented that quitting smoking was a matter of willpower.  With 
smoking habits declining in young people it was suggested that that there was 
a need to emphasise to young people that smoking was an expensive and 
dangerous habit. It was also suggested that prices should be increased as a 
deterrent.  One member doubted whether this amount of money should be 
spent on this service, as people could find ways to quit by themselves if they 
had the willpower to do so.  However, members were reminded that there 
were always people who needed more help than others and those that could 
create harm for example smoking during pregnancy. 

 It was queried whether group support, similar to weight loss groups, had been 
tried, as people were more likely to be successful if they had other people to 
support them rather than doing it on their own.  Members were informed that 
the current provider was capable of offering group support, and there was 
some evidence of success with this method. 

 It was commented that it could be prohibitive to raise prices too much as it 
could drive people to the black market. 

 It was queried whether any work had been done around whether smoking 
rates dropped during 'flu season'.  Members were advised that health 
professionals would take advantage of every opportunity to encourage people 
to stop smoking and remind people that when theyre ill they would recover 
better if they stopped smoking. 

 In terms of use of e-cigarettes, it was highlighted that some people may have 
stopped smoking but they may have increased their intake of nicotine.  It was 
acknowledged that there was not enough research into the long term effects of 

Page 10



7 

 

using e-cigarettes to determine whether they really were a better option than 
smoking. 

 It was important that the right contract was put in place and it was requested 
that officers come back to the Committee once the contract was in place and 
had been established. 

 
RESOLVED 
 

1. That the Committee supports the recommendations to the Executive 
Councillor as set out in the report. 

2. That comments setting out support for the recommendations be passed to the 
Executive Councillor for consideration. 

 
41     PROCUREMENT AND CONTRACT MANAGEMENT ARRANGEMENTS 

FOR ADULT CARE AND COMMUNITY WELLBEING 
 

Consideration was given to a report which presented an overview of the current 
contract management arrangements for Adult Care and Community Wellbeing within 
the Commercial Team.  Additionally, the report also provided an analysis of the work 
plan for procurement and commercial activity currently being undertaken and planned 
for the current year. 
 
The Committee received a presentation which provided further information in relation 
to the following areas: 

 The Commercial Team – People Services 

 The Team Structure 

 Effective Commissioning 

 Successful Procurement Activity 

 Contract Management – Annual Summary 

 Visit Tracking & Provider Engagement 

 Risk Matrix 

 Market Intelligence 

 Management Reporting 

 Highlights in 2018 
 
Members were provided with the opportunity to ask questions to the officers present 
in relation to the information contained within the report and presentation and some 
of the points raised during discussion included the following: 

 It was commented that these contracts drove the authority's agenda as a 
commissioning council, and on some occasions they would come to this 
Committee as pre-decision scrutiny. 

 It was important to look at what lessons had been learned from contracts as 
this would help to shape new contracts.  It was thought that this had been 
demonstrated in Adult Care as many contracts had been redesigned. 

 It was thought that the Committee should look at some of the bigger contracts 
in order to have that extra layer of scrutiny. 

Page 11



8 

 

 It was confirmed that there was a framework contract with standard terms and 
conditions and a service specification, which could be adjusted for each 
individual agreement. 

 The team was audited regularly by both internal and external audit. 

 There was a need for a balance between value for money and risk. 

 It was commented that the Annual report which was included with report was a 
good document.  It was noted that the next annual report was due at the 
beginning of April 2018 and would be brought to this Committee. 

 
RESOLVED 
 
 That the report and comments made be noted. 
 
42     MOSAIC UPDATE 

 
Consideration was given to a report which provided an update on progress since the 
Mosaic system went live in December 2016 and set out the strategic direction for 
future developments.  It was reported that the Mosaic system would replace a 
number of legacy systems. 
 
Members were given a brief demonstration of the mosaic system and were provided 
with the opportunity to ask questions to the officers present in relation to the 
information contained within the report and the demonstration of the system and 
some of the points raised included the following: 

 It was queried what savings it was expected that Mosaic would generate, and 
where efficiencies would come into the process.  Members were advised that it 
would give a visibility to what services were going to an individual, and would 
give an opportunity to avoid duplication.  It would also show which services 
were delivering the best outcomes. 

 Mosaic should help with the making of more informed decision about 
commissioning and what services were more effective. 

 The system would also enable managers to manage the workload of social 
workers more effectively as it was a workflow based system. 

 It was commented that it was a very ambitious project, but there were 
concerns as the big IT contracts had not always been as successful as hoped.  
It was queried whether more effort should be focused on making sure the 
system was working as officers wanted it at its current level before making any 
additions to functionality. 

 It was queried how many customers would be benefitted by the customer 
portal.  Members were informed that the initial target would be carers and 
family members such as sons and daughters who wanted to know what the 
latest situation was with a parent who was receiving care.  It was noted it 
would be a slow introduction of records. 

 It was queried whether the portal was something the authority should be 
putting money into and whether it should be up to the person to find out the 
information they want to know.  However, members were informed that this 
had been part of the original tender process and so did not require additional 
funding.  It was expected that use of the portal would be a 'slow burn' but it 

Page 12



9 

 

was considered important that people were able to access information about 
their loved ones at any time or place.  

 Members were advised that plans had been too ambitious five years ago and 
one of the first things the Strategic Programme Lead for Mosaic did when she 
came into post was to look at what had not been delivered and what would be 
achievable.  It was felt that a position had been reached where Mosaic was 
stable.  Time had been taken with Mosaic to get various aspects right before 
going live with the system. 

 The Chairman commented that he would like to see a more controlled 
approach to future developments. 

 It was suggested that a further report on the Mosaic system should be brought 
back to a future meeting towards the autumn.   

 
RESOLVED 
 
 That the comments made in relation to the report be noted. 
 
43     ADULTS AND COMMUNITY WELLBEING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

WORK PROGRAMME 
 

Consideration was given to a report which enabled the Committee to consider its 
work programme which was reviewed at each meeting. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
 That the work programme as presented be noted. 
 
 
The meeting closed at 2.05 pm 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



                        
Policy and Scrutiny 

 

Open Report on behalf of Glen Garrod 
Executive Director of Adult Care and Community Wellbeing 

 

Report to: 
Adult Care and Community Wellbeing Scrutiny 
Committee 

Date: 14 February 2018 

Subject: 
Residential and Nursing Care Fee Levels within Adult 
Social Care 

Decision Reference:   Key decision? No   

 

Summary:  

This report attaches a report which will be considered by the Executive 
Councillor for Adult Care, Health and Children's Services on 22 February 2018.  
The report to Executive Councillor is on Residential and Nursing Care Fee 
Levels within Adult Social Care. 
 
This item seeks the views of the Committee prior to Executive Councillor's 
consideration of the report. 
 
 

Actions Required: 

(1) To consider the attached report and to determine whether the Committee 
supports the recommendations to the Executive Councillor set out in the 
report.   

 
(2) To agree any additional comments to be passed to the Executive 

Councillor in relation to this item. 
 

 
1. Background
 
Following consideration of the attached report, the Committee is requested to 
consider whether it supports the recommendations in the report and whether it 
wishes to make any additional comments to the Executive Councillor for Adult 
Care, Health and Children's Services.  The Committee’s views will be reported to 
the Executive Councillor.   
 
3. Consultation 

 
The Adult Care and Community Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee is being consulted 
on a proposed decision by the Executive Councillor.  The comments of the 
Committee will be reported to the Executive Councillor. 
 
 
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



 
4. Appendices 

 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix 1 
 

Report Executive Councillor for Adult Care, Health and Children's 
Services - Residential and Nursing Care Fee Levels within Adult 
Social Care 

 

5. Background Papers 
 
No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
were used in the preparation of this report. 
 
This report was written by Alexander Craig, who can be contacted on 
alexander.craig@lincolnshire.gov.uk  or  01522 554070. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 16

mailto:alexander.craig@lincolnshire.gov.uk


APPENDIX 1 

 
Executive Councillor 

 

Open Report on behalf of Glen Garrod, Executive Director Adult Social Care 
and Community Wellbeing 

 

Report to: 
Executive Councillor for Adult Care, Health and 
Children's Services. 

Date: 22 February 2018 

Subject: 
Residential and Nursing Care Fee Levels within Adult 
Social Care 

Decision Reference: I015038 

Key decision? Yes 
 

Summary:  

On 27 February 2015 the Executive Councillor approved the setting of a 
number of usual costs for residential accommodation for the three year period 
to 6 April 2018.   
 
This previous exercise, carried out in 2014/15, failed to provide sufficient clarity 
on the cost of Learning Disability (LD) placements and therefore the Usual Cost 
had to be based upon the baseline costs for Adult Frailty and Long Term 
Conditions. This stemmed from a lack of response from Lincolnshire LD 
residential providers when engaged by LaingBuisson to the point it was not 
possible to establish a sound basis to develop a specific LD rate. A separate 
programme of activity has been carried out to specifically address the LD 
provider market and to ensure sufficient engagement on costs. This exercise 
has been successful and has led to the creation of a proposed new cost model 
as well as a distinct set of Usual Costs for LD services.  
  
In this context this report makes a recommendation which will set a Usual Cost 
for 3 levels of service: residential, nursing and high dependency across all types 
of need (older people, physical disability, learning disability and mental health). 
It is also proposed that a rate is set for each of the three 3 financial years 
2018/19, 2019/20 and 2020/21.  
 
It is important to bear in mind that the Council must ensure two things. The first 
is due process the second is the reasonableness and logic underpinning the 
Usual Cost. The detail in the report should reassure the Executive Councillor 
that the process employed has been progressed having full regard to what is 
considered best practice. The report details what that process was, who was 
involved and the full details of consultation responses alongside views given by 
officers of the Council to address and respond to these. 
 
In informing a Usual Cost, a model has been constructed which draws on both 
national and local (to Lincolnshire) data which provides a sophisticated 
approach to understanding costs to providers. 

Page 17



 
The recommendation in this report is that a Usual Cost should be set for each of 
the next 3 years incorporating an inflationary allowance in each year which 
anticipates the likely effect of changes to providers costs such as minimum 
wages or food prices. In part this is to help ensure the level of risk to the 
residential market is reduced by providing assurance about future income from 
the largest single purchaser of such care in Lincolnshire (the Council). At the 
moment residential providers can expect almost half of their beds to be filled by 
Council funded residents.  Such an approach also allows the Council to 
understand cost pressures over a 3 year cycle and to budget accordingly. 
 

Market conditions have changed considerably since the last Usual Cost 
exercise in 2015 and as such there are important changes proposed to the cost 
models and contracts which must be properly considered. This is most apparent 
with regard to LD residential services due to local growth in demand for high 
complexity placements linked to the National Transforming Care agenda and 
decreasing available capacity of high complexity care at, or close to, usual cost. 
Further to this there is increasing complexity of needs of existing services users, 
growing transitions from Children's Services but also with service users with 
Learning Disability living for longer often with multiple long term conditions. 

 
 

Recommendation(s): 

 That the Executive Councillor 
 
1. Approves the rates set out in the tables at paragraph 3.15 of the Report as 

the Council’s Usual Costs for both new and existing Learning Disability 
service users in respect of residential and nursing care with effect from 2 
April 2018 for the years 2018/19, 2019/20 and 2020/21  

 
2. Approves the rates set out in the first table at paragraph 4.10 of the Report as 

the Council’s Usual Costs for both new and existing Older People service 
users in respect of residential, nursing and high dependency care with effect 
from 2 April 2018 for the years 2018/19, 2019/20 and 2020/21  

 
3. Approves the rates set out in the table at paragraph 4.13 of the Report as the 

Council’s Usual Costs for both new and existing Physical Disability service 
users with effect from 2 April 2018 for the years 2018/19, 2019/20 and 
2020/21 

 
4. Approves the rates set out in the table at paragraph 5.3 of the Report as the 

Council’s Usual Costs for both new and existing Mental Health service users 
in respect of residential and nursing care with effect from 2 April 2018 for the 
years 2018/19, 2019/20 and 2020/21 

 
5. Notes the proposed contractual updates set out in section 6 of the Report. 

 
 

Alternatives Considered: 

Page 18



 

1. Continuing with the existing cost model for LD services.  This would not 
allow the Council sufficient assurance that existing service provision will 
continue without potential disruption for the next three year cycle or allow 
the Council to move forward in developing new initiatives for LD services.  
 

2. The Council has also given consideration that no increases in Usual Costs 
are applied in April 2018 and that usual costs remain at their current level.  
This option would cost the council £16.3 million less than the 
recommended options over three years and would allow the authority to 
reinvest this funding in alternative services.  However, failure to increase 
usual costs would result in a failure of the organisation to recognise its 
obligations under the Care Act which, primarily relate to the obligation to 
ensure a supply of service to meet eligible need, to facilitate market 
shaping and to promote quality services including through workforce 
development and remuneration and ensuring appropriately resourced care 
and support.  It would greatly increase the risk of providers going out of 
business, a fall in the overall quality of care in the county and increase the 
risk of a potential judicial review challenge by the market. 
 

3. Increasing the Usual Costs by more than is set out in the Report.  Some of 
the feedback called for this and suggested that rates be established by 
reference to the 'national' LaingBuisson model or by taking an average of 
the rates among the Council and its neighbouring authorities.  However, 
those methodologies are not consistent with the establishment of Usual 
Costs based on the actual costs of care for Lincolnshire.  The Council has 
taken steps to establish costs within Lincolnshire, has engaged with and 
consulted the market on its model and believes that the proposed Usual 
Costs accord with the cost of providing care within Lincolnshire.  The 
feedback from providers also suggested that the hours of care being 
expended to meet the requirements of the Council's contract are higher 
than those used by the Council in establishing the rates.  The Council has 
carefully considered this but is mindful that it has not changed the nature of 
its contractual requirements.  It is strongly arguable in those circumstances 
that there should not need to be an increase in the hours provided.  
However, the Council has accepted that some increase is appropriate and 
has determined a reasonable increase of 2.5 hours for Standard 
Residential placements to 21.5 hours per person per week (PPPW) and 
2.3 hours for nursing placements to 24 hours PPPW on the basis of the 
information provided in the Kingsbury Hill Fox report. The number of hours 
provided for HD placements remains the same at 24 PPPW. 
 

 

Reasons for Recommendation: 

Adopting the recommendation will cover providers’ costs and see an increase in 
the rates paid whilst taking into account many of the points raised by providers 
in the consultation. It will provide assurance that the Council will be able to 
continue to meet its statutory obligation to meet assessed eligible need to 

Page 19



vulnerable service users and will help facilitate the provision of care that meets 
the necessary CQC standards. The market for Adult Care services continues to 
face significant challenges in meeting both rising demand and complexity and 
without proper recognition of the real costs of delivering care as well as 
consideration of the escalating challenges within the Health and Social Care 
system the Council would be at risk of facing severe disruption to critically 
important services. 
 

 

 
1. Background 
 
1.1. Residential and Nursing services represent one of the Council's highest spend 

and highest risk areas with an annual total of approx. £114m spent. As such 
any change to the rates paid for services will have a material impact on the 
effectiveness for services both in the short term and for the future. Another 
critically important factor in carrying out this work is ensuring there is sufficient 
regard that the process in reaching such decision is correct.  

 
1.2. The ultimate aim is to establish a new set of contracts for Residential services 

that is both affordable to the Council, meets the Council's legal duties, and sets 
a 'fair' rate to the market along with the necessary changes and improvements 
that will allow for successful operation of services over the next contract 
duration. 
 

1.3. In order to reach this point a number of key activities have been undertaken by 
officers of the Council  

 
(a) Completion of a dedicated cost assessment exercise to engage with 

Learning Disability providers due to the lack of sufficient 
responses in the previous Usual Cost review. 

 
(b) Commissioning and completing an independent review of the 

Residential market in Lincolnshire resulting in a set of reports to 
be issued to the Council for its consideration. 

 
(c) Analysis of these reports to inform the decision making process for 

establishing what the new Usual Costs may be. 
 
(d) Consideration of any changes identified as necessary or beneficial to 

the current Usual Cost model. 
 
(e) To review and propose any changes to contract that is necessary or 

an improvement. 
 
(f) Consideration of possibility the Adult Frailty and Long Term 

Conditions residential market may have geographic variances in 

Page 20



cost and demand which may in turn necessitate different usual 
costs within Lincolnshire. 

 
(g) Developing a new LD cost model that offers sufficient transparency 

and control of the cost of service complexity.  
 
(h) Development of a proposal for the new Usual Costs for each service 

based upon the analysis undertaken and the required changes to 
manage emerging market conditions. 

 
(i) Engagement with the market throughout the process but specifically 

to share the proposed model, receive feedback and take this into 
consideration as is necessary. 

 
 
1.4. The work undertaken has addressed the following services separately and 

distinctly 

 
• Older People (Residential, Nursing, High Dependency) 
 
• Learning Disabilities(Residential & Nursing) –  
 
• Physical Disabilities (Residential & Nursing) 
 
• Mental Health (18 to 65) (Residential & Nursing) 

 
1.5. The work undertaken via the market review phase has produced three reports, 

one for Care Home Costs relating to Older Persons, Physical Disabilities and 
Mental Health, a summary report on LD Care Home costs based on 
information gathered by the Council in conjunction with providers and a wider 
review of the residential market within Lincolnshire. Each of these reports has 
been considered and analysed to help produce a set of Usual Costs that share 
many fundamental similarities but will also be distinct for each service.  

 
1.6. The review and changes to any contract terms of the Residential Framework 

agreement have been taken as a whole and applicable to all service streams.  
 

1.7. There are no fundamental changes to the Specification or Contract which 
would result in a change of service or a restriction of service user choice. In 
fact it is anticipated that through the changes to the contract the provision for 
Residential Care in Lincolnshire will improve and will also be in a stronger 
position to manage challenges in the future.  

 
1.8. The proposed set of Usual Costs have been shared with the market via a 

series of engagement events and also made available via a web portal on the 
Council's website. This engagement activity has included LinCA, to inform 
them of the proposed changes. This has allowed for feedback from providers 
which has then been taken into consideration for the purposes of the Council in 

Page 21



making its final determination of Usual Costs. Comments from the market have 
been recorded, considered and can be found in Appendix E 

 
2. THE COUNCIL'S USUAL COST MODEL PROCESS 
 
2.1. The Council last set Usual Costs in March 2015 for a period of three years from 

2015/16 to 2017/18. The Usual Costs per resident per week for new 
placements during this period are set out in Table A below. It should be noted 
that since the rates were set in March 2015 there have been in year increases 
due to increases to the National Living Wage. Table A represents these 
uplifted rates: 

 
TABLE A 
 

Category of Care 2015/16 2016/17 Rate 2017/18 Rate 

Older People Standard Residential £411 £432  £456 

Older People Higher Dependency £460 £480 £497 

Older People Nursing £450 £469  £485  

Learning Disability  £481 £506 £534 

Physical Disability  £530 £557 £588 

Mental Health Standard £428 £450 £475 

Mental Health Nursing £450 £469 £485 

 
 
Fee Setting Methodology 
 
2.2. Laing and Buisson healthcare consultancy created an economic model in 

2002, ‘Calculating a Fair Price for Care: A Toolkit for Residential and Nursing 
Care Costs’, for the Joseph Rowntree Foundation (“the JRF toolkit”) based on 
the operating costs of efficient care homes for older people in England. The 
JRF toolkit identified 4 main components of care home costs; (i) staffing; (ii) 
repairs and maintenance; (iii) other non-staffing current costs and (iv) capital 
costs. 

 
2.3. The Council, whilst using data gathered by Kingsbury Hill Fox on its behalf has 

not used the Laing and Buisson model for reasons that are set out later.  The 
Laing and Buisson model uses a 12% return on capital set by reference to the 
opportunity costs of not utilising the capital in other ways measured by what 
Laing and Buisson considered at the time could have reasonably been 
expected by selling out. The JRF toolkit suggests that “an adequate return on 
capital is the key to achieving a stable independent sector of sufficient size and 
appropriate quality to meet the commissioning needs of councils and their NHS 
partners.  On the assumption that new and/or replacement care home capacity 
is required councils throughout the country need to set fee rates such as to (a) 
incentivise existing operators to continue to offer services and to upgrade the 
physical assets where they are below NMS for newly registered homes; (b) 
attract investment in new care home capacity to meet increasing underlying 
demand driven by the ageing population; and (c) compete with private payers 

Page 22



and residents funded by other public sector agencies for available home care 
places.” 

 
2.4. Within Lincolnshire it is not right to assume that new/and or replacement home 

capacity is required now or in the foreseeable future.   Indeed it is well 
documented that demand and supply can be well balanced and sustainable 
using occupancy rate of 90 percent as a benchmark.  With supply of "all beds" 
in Lincolnshire quoted at 90% in the report, the essential tenet underpinning 
the JRF toolkit does not apply in Lincolnshire as no new or replacement care 
capacity is necessarily required. 

 
2.5. The JRF toolkit was updated in 2004 and in 2008. The foreword to the 2008 

edition states that it “allows its users to vary the data entered according to local 
circumstances and conditions, and is simply intended to inform negotiation 
from a transparent basis”. It made provision for local rather than national 
baseline costs and fees because pay rates and land prices, the two main 
determinants of care home costs vary significantly according to locality. 

 
Engagement of Kingsbury Hill Fox to collect and analyse Lincolnshire Data 
 
2.6. To assist with the engagement of residential and nursing care providers for the 

purposes of collecting Lincolnshire specific data, the Council has worked with 
local market and the Lincolnshire Care Association, which represents some of 
the providers, to ensure a better shared understanding of costs, cost 
pressures, opportunities and market conditions within the market. In addition to 
the broader market engagement the Council also commissioned Kingsbury Hill 
Fox ltd to undertake an independent assessment of the residential care 
market. This took the form of an assessment of revenue costs of care home 
places for older people and young disabled adults in Lincolnshire, based in 
large part on responses to a survey sent to all care homes in Lincolnshire. 216 
homes were surveyed with a 48% return. The instruction to Kingsbury Hill Fox 
was to appraise residential costs and market conditions, with the following 
specific areas of focus: 

 
• Overall appraisal of Residential Care Market showing a profile of 

providers, by number, type, scale, bed capacity and use, costs and 
charges. This should include cost pressures on providers as a result 
of market conditions, legislation, inspection and registration 
requirements. 

 
• Separate and distinct analysis was requested for all service user 

groups including 
 

(a)  Older People (Residential, Nursing, High Dependency) 
 
(b)  Physical Disabilities (Residential & Nursing) 
 
(c)  Mental Health 18 to 65 (Residential & Nursing) 

 

Page 23



• Trends in Residential Care provision and demand such as growth or 
contraction. 

 
• Benchmarking local provision with regional and national provision as 

well as costs and funding levels. 
 
2.7. It should be noted that due to the previous exercise carried out by 

LaingBuission in 2015 failing to receive sufficient returns for Learning Disability 
care homes a separate exercise has been undertaken by the Council to 
directly engage with its LD providers. Kingsbury Hill Fox Ltd were 
commissioned to analyse this data and produce a report. 

 
2.8. Kingsbury Hill Fox Ltd. reports “Review of Residential Care Market in 

Lincolnshire” completed on the 25th September 2017, "Revenue Costs of Care 
Home Places for Learning Disabilities in Lincolnshire" completed on 3rd 
October, and "Report on Indicative Revenue Costs of Care Home Places in 
Lincolnshire" completed on 18th September 2017 are attached at Appendix A, 
Appendix B, and Appendix C. Highlights from the reports are as follows: 

 
• For OP residential services occupancy rates are at 92% based on a 

snapshot in time compared to the industry standard 90% level of 
occupancy indicating that demand and supply are generally well 
balanced for a sustainable occupancy rate.  

 
• However as part of this exercise KHF were asked to break their 

analysis down into the twelve economic zones of Lincolnshire which 
in turn showed differences based on geography as well as the relative 
capacity across Lincolnshire 

 
• The analysis of the majority of Lincolnshire districts shows a surplus 

of supply of beds set against Age Standardised Demand. However 
there are notable exceptions to this with South Holland, South 
Kesteven and North Kesteven all showing a lower number of beds 
available than the expected levels for Age Standardised Demand. 

 
• The Council funded approximately 48% (down from 50%) of 

placements based on a snapshot in time with 41% private self-
funding residents up from 38%, 6.3% (down from 7.6%) funded by the 
NHS and the remainder funded by other local authorities.  

 
• The majority of self-funding residents pay more than Local Authority 

residents. 
 
• On average Lincolnshire care homes reported that they spend 21.4 

care hours per resident per week on average (median). An increase 
of 0.6 hours compared to 2015. 

 
• LD occupancy is found to be at almost 98% and full capacity however 

the KHF report acknowledged the role of supported living in capacity 
management and that with that taken into consideration there actually 

Page 24



may be a lower number of residential beds necessary in total in the 
future. 

 
• LCC’s rates are lower than its CIPFA family group and England in all 

areas. 

 

 
2.9. The Kingsbury Hill Fox Ltd. report for Lincolnshire also collected costs data 

on staffing; repairs and maintenance and other non-staffing current costs. It 
did not collect data on capital costs.  Using the information supplied by the 
homes the report provides minimum, median, mean and maximum costs 
figures. 

 
2.10. Kingsbury Hill Fox were not asked to collect data on capital costs at the 

outset as the Council had not decided to adopt the JRF toolkit to determine 
the 2015/16 rates. Instead it carried out its own survey (see paragraph 2.12). 
The Council has to have regard to providers’ actual costs, therefore the 
Council preferred instead to utilise its own cost model, developed for this 
exercise in 2012, used again in 2015 and updated to reflect the conditions in 
2017. 

 
2.11. Building on the existing cost model for the calculation of fair and sustainable 

residential and nursing care fees, the Council's Adult Care Finance Team 
have factored inflationary pressures, including key areas like the National 
Minimum Wage and Living Wage and food prices, in the development of the 
proposed rates for the period 2018 to 2021. 

Page 25



 
The Actual Cost Modelling Process 
 
2.12. The Council’s cost model including the assumptions made for the 

recommended proposal are attached at Appendices F and G. This has been 
used to form a view on the actual costs of care in Lincolnshire using much of 
the information collected in the Kingsbury Hill Fox Lincolnshire Survey and 
using a separate property survey carried out by Lincolnshire County Council 
attached at Appendix H to help inform a suitable rate of return on capital 
based again upon Lincolnshire specific data. 

 
2.13. In general terms regarding 3 of the 4 components of care home costs  (i) 

staffing; (ii) repairs and maintenance and (iii) other non-staffing current costs, 
the Council populated its cost model at Appendix F with the Lincolnshire data 
collected by Kingsbury Hill Fox using median data for increased reliability. 

 
2.14. It is necessary for the Council to settle on a figure (the Usual Cost) that takes 

into account Provider cost. Part of that cost relates to the Provider’s use of 
assets (primarily property in this case) the 4th component of care home costs. 
Both the Laing and Buisson model and the Council’s methodology use rate of 
return on capital to reflect this cost. That is a useful device because it allows a 
common approach to be taken with all providers and avoids the need for a 
hopelessly complex exercise trying to understand different capital funding 
structures for the assets used. Whilst adopting a rate of return on capital 
assists with the calculation of the Usual Cost, the Council is not required to 
ensure that the Provider achieves any or any given return on capital. The 
calculation of the use of assets cost element of the Usual Cost may begin 
with the rate of return but what matters is the figure which is derived from it. 
That figure needs to reasonably recognise the Provider’s costs in making 
assets available but not over compensate the Provider. 

 
2.15. In this case the main asset deployed is the building used to deliver the 

service. Therefore the number to feed into the calculation of Usual Cost will 
be the capital cost of a room in Lincolnshire (£46,000 (see paragraph 2.23) 
multiplied by the chosen rate of return.  The chosen rate of return should 
provide for recoupment of investment over a reasonable period.  Rate of 
return on capital is a generic term describing the return providers derive from 
capital assets invested in the business. 

 
2.16. In establishing what cost should be attributed to the Provider’s use of assets 

the rate of return used should reflect the relative risk of the investment. Risk 
relates to the likelihood that an investor will lose their investment in a 
business or venture and there is a direct link between the risk of the 
investment and the return that it will yield (e.g. Premium Bonds historically 
pay a low rate of return as the initial investment is guaranteed by the 
government as opposed to an investment in shares which are influenced by 
external market forces which may reduce the value of the initial investment). 
The following was taken into consideration; 

 
 

Page 26



 Published Market Indicators 

 Average Return on Capital 

 Proportion of beds currently funded by the local authority 
 

2.17. Current market indicators as published by property advisors Knight Frank 
suggest that the rate of return for care homes is currently 6.3%. This 
compares to UK 10 year Interest Rate Swaps at 1.45% and 30 Year Interest 
Rate Swaps at 1.90% and current London Inter-Banking Offered Rates 
(LIBOR) at 0.79% over 12 months.   Interest Rate Swaps and Libor represent 
low risk investments 

  
2.18. As the Council buys a substantial amount of placements (48% based on the 

2017 Kingsbury Hill Fox Lincolnshire survey) which it has the resources to 
pay for, this significantly reduces the risk to providers businesses and the 
beneficial impact of this should be reflected through a return which reflects a 
low/medium business risk for providers. Further evidence that the sector is 
not high risk is the lack of providers falling into financial distress (in the last 
year one provider has been placed into administration and another undertook 
a Company Voluntary Arrangement), with a good balance between Council 
and self-funded and with the predicted demand for care home places 
remaining buoyant. 

 
2.19. In addition to the position on risk set out above, incorporating the rate of 

return of 12% as quoted in the JRF model into the costs model, risks building 
into the rate inefficiency as there is no incentive on providers to manage cost 
efficiently.  It also incorporates pure profit, as distinct from cost which is what 
the Council is obliged to have regard to, into the model as the operating profit 
figure used in the calculation includes this. The return on capital should reflect 
all these factors making 6% an appropriate rate. This is consistent with some 
returns elsewhere should the providers choose to sell up and invest 
elsewhere in particular the 6.3% return on the Secondary Healthcare market. 

 
2.20. Analysis was also conducted to establish the average value per bed of care 

homes within Lincolnshire. The JRF toolkit establishes a value of a bed based 
on the cost of building a new care home that meets basic specifications 
around size and building cost, with the cost of land also taken into account. 
The value is £59,000 per room per year. The model uses this information to 
help establish a “floor” (minimum) and “ceiling” (maximum) weekly rate which 
is influenced both by rate of return and on an assessment of how many 
homes meet specific physical and environmental standards for “new” homes 
as defined in the Department of Health publication Care Homes for Older 
People (DH, 2003). 

 
2.21. The Lincolnshire County Council model does not seek to establish “floor” or 

“ceiling” rate but rather a single rate based upon the average room value 
within Lincolnshire, recognising that the majority of homes within Lincolnshire 
are based within buildings that were built prior to 2003 and are not purpose 
built.  Consequently the approach more closely reflects local factors in 
Lincolnshire. 

 

Page 27



2.22. The analysis was prepared by conducting a survey of care homes currently 
for sale on the open market on a freehold basis as advertised in three web 
based property agents, taking the advertised valuation of the home and the 
quoted number of registered places to establish an average value per room. 
The survey was carried out on 14th September 2014 using the following 
property websites: 

 
 

 Buyacarehome.com 

 CareHome.co.uk 

 DaltonsBusiness.com 
 
2.23. The survey identified four care homes within Lincolnshire with the average 

value per room of £41,857, however it was decided that such a low number of 
homes did not constitute a statistically significant proportion of the total 
number of homes surveyed (39 in total). As such a decision was made to use 
the calculation based on the average of homes for sale on the open market 
within the whole of the East Midlands. The survey identified seventeen care 
homes in the East Midlands with the average value per room of £46,397 and 
it is this figure which has been used in the Lincolnshire Cost Model (rounded 
to £46,000). 

 
2.24. The Council cannot provide any details of the homes for example whether 

they are nursing or residential, modernised or un-modernised or large and 
small. 

 
2.25. Following concerns raised by the Lincolnshire Care Association, further 

research was carried out into the compliance levels of homes currently up for 
sale in the East Midlands. However due to the confidential nature of the 
information on the websites, it was not possible to confirm the identities of the 
homes and therefore we were unable to confirm the current levels of CQC 
compliance. From the Laing Buisson Survey we do know that there were 12 
homes that deregistered between October 2012 and October 2014. Of those 
12 homes, only 2 were non-compliant with CQC at the time of deregistration. 
Therefore it does not necessarily follow that providers leaving the market do 
so because they are failing to meet CQC requirements. 

 
2.26. Multiplying the value of a room at £46,000 by the nominal 6% rate of return 

provides a payment of £58.82 per person per week It is this figure that is 
important rather than the route by which it is arrived at and the figure needs to 
be tested against its projected financial effect to ensure that it continues to 
bear a reasonable relation to the cost of providing Council care. 

  
2.27. In a 30 bed home it amounts to a payment to cover the cost of the 

accommodation of approximately £92,006 (£58.82 x 30 x 52.14) per annum to 
the Provider. The money can be used to pay existing mortgages/business 
loans or where the cost of the capital asset has already been defrayed to 
reinvest in the business or elsewhere or to take out as profit. 

 

Page 28



2.28. This represents an annual payment per room of £3,067. Given the 
assumption above of the capital cost per room of £46,000 this means that the 
initial investment would be recouped over a 15 year period. This is a 
reasonable timescale for a long term business such as adult social care and 
accords with the findings of the 2012 Lincolnshire County Council survey 
which indicated that the average period in business up to the date of the 
survey was 17.3 years, and although it could be argued that this position will 
have changed as a result of changes to the market, with the number of 
leavers and new entrants to the market it is reasonable to assume that new 
entrants to the market do so with the intention of staying for a similarly 
considerable length of time. 

 
2.29. As a consequence the County Council can be reasonably confident that the 

£58.82 is sufficient to compensate providers for making the accommodation 
available as it enables the provider to recover the capital cost of the asset 
within 15 years whilst thereafter retaining an asset with a useful residual life 
which can continue to generate returns for the provider. 

 
2.30. The recommendation is that the Usual Cost should be set for 3 years 

2018/19, 2019/20 and 2020/21. To achieve this work has been done to 
anticipate how providers’ costs are likely to increase in those years as a result 
of inflationary increases based upon the predicted inflation targets as 
published by the Office of Budget Responsibility in their report entitled 
“Economic & fiscal Outlook” dated November 2017 and increases as a result 
of legislative changes to employers pension obligations and changes to 
National Living Wage. This equates to a 3.87% increase in 2019/20 for 
standard residential and 3.78% in 2020/21. For Nursing Homes this results in 
a 3.91% and 3.81% increase in 2019/20 and 2020/21 respectively. For HD 
this is 4.11% and 3.80%. 

 
2.31. As a result of the work carried out to date and following feedback in the 

consultation the recommendation is that the rates set out in in the tables at 
paragraphs 3.15, 4.10, 4.13 and 5.3 are adopted as the Council’s Usual 
Costs for both new and existing service users as of 2 April 2018. The cost of 
implementing this proposal over the 3 years is in the region of £16.6 million. 

 
3. LEARNING DISABILITY SERVICES 

 
3.1. Prior to 2013-14 Learning Disability placements were commissioned directly 

via the Assessment and Care management teams. Whilst there was a 
notional Usual Cost in place to use as a benchmark in reality the majority of 
placements were procured above the usual cost based on the specific needs 
of service users. This approach did overall still provide Value for Money 
(VFM) when comparing the costs of care in Lincolnshire to other Local 
Authorities. 

 
3.2. In 2013-14 improvements were made to the process of commissioning new 

Residential and Nursing Placements with these being secured through a 
process of mini-tender with the support of the commercial team. This process 

Page 29



has improved VFM further with evidence of cost avoidance. However there 
was acknowledgement at the point of implementing these changes that the 
usual costs in place were in need of review and needed to be more flexible to 
the complex needs of some service users. The majority of placements were 
not in line with the usual cost benchmark which re-confirmed the need for it to 
be reviewed. 

 
3.3. Whilst efforts were made in 2014-15 to review the Usual Costs for Learning 

Disability placements as part of the LaingBuisson exercise unfortunately 
providers did not engage in the process and therefore it was not possible to 
establish a more robust usual cost mechanism for Learning Disability 
Placements. A result of not having a comprehensive cost model for the 
specific needs of LD care has been a consolidation of the market and the 
balance of power shifting to those Providers who offer high cost and high 
complexity care As a result the Council made a commitment to complete 
further work directly with Learning Disability providers and over the last year 
and a half lead commissioners and the commercial team have met with 
providers to gather information and intelligence from the market to inform the 
Usual Costs process and revised rates for 2018-19. 

 
3.4. Over the last 18 months commissioners supported by the commercial team 

have identified a national and local growth in demand for high complexity 
placements linked to the National Transforming Care agenda and linked to 
this some increased difficulty in being able to source care regardless of the 
price commissioners are willing to pay. The complexity of needs of existing 
services users is also increasing with transitions from Children's Services but 
also with service users with Learning Disability living for longer often with 
multiple long term conditions. Added to this there are some providers who are 
experiencing difficulties in recruiting and retaining care professionals.  

 
3.5. In order to ensure sufficient engagement and acknowledgement of provider 

cost data the Council set out to meet with its strategic providers of LD care 
based on the majority of spend and number of placements.  

 
3.6. These top twelve providers represented 368 service users out of 565 and 

£17.3 out of £24.4m. All providers committed to completing the exercise 
however three providers did not ultimately make a submission in spite of 
continued prompting. This level of engagement was nevertheless much 
greater than the previous exercise. 

 
3.7. Submission data quality and completeness varied from provider to provider 

and throughout the process the Commercial Team sought clarifications where 
necessary.  

 
3.8. Some assumptions in interpreting the data were necessary given different 

Provider approaches to this exercise and their business models 
 
3.9. The foremost objective has been the need to progress the Usual Cost model. 

Each provider was asked to review and complete a cost assessment form 
which allowed for businesses to set out the costs related to providing care. 

Page 30



The data requested was similar in scope to that which would have been 
asked by a third party such as LaingBuisson or Kingsbury Hill Fox ltd.  

 
3.10. Following this it was then possible to develop a new Usual Cost model 

proposal for LD services that takes into account the specific characteristics of 
LD care. A key difference to care provision for Adult Frailty and Long Term 
Conditions is the greater degree and variability of complexity in the needs of 
Service Users.  

 
3.11. The resulting proposal is to establish three core categories of LD care based 

on the needs of the Service User and the size of the Provider organisation. 

 
Summary of Proposed LD Model 

3.12. Currently placements to LD residential care are brokered on a case by case 
basis with the current Usual Cost being used as a default position. However 
due to the inherent complexity of LD Service Users a single price point is not 
feasible nor does it represent the majority of existing care packages 

 
3.13. Consequently the majority of placements are made at a cost higher than the 

Council's Usual Cost and are determined primarily based upon the increased 
number of care hours a Service User may require based upon their needs. 
This model has allowed the Council to be able to make placements effectively 
and meet the needs of Service Users but is fundamentally not fit for purpose 
as it does not provide sufficient clarity and control of the costs of care. This 
has led to the current position wherein high cost placements are increasingly 
consolidated to a smaller proportion of providers and a restriction in the 
available short term options for high complexity LD care.   

 
3.14. The proposed model seeks to reflect both the fundamental costs in delivering 

LD care within Lincolnshire but also to provide a mechanism in which to better 
address the varying degrees of complexity within LD.  

 
3.15. Following extensive engagement with providers, and other Local Authorities 

the  proposed model establishes three 'Bands' based upon the required ratio 
of care staff required for the Service User in question as well as the size of 
the Care Home as this factor also directly affects the costs of the overall care 
package. 

 

 Band 3 Band 2 Band 1 

 
 

Staffing Ratio 

Very intensive , high 
levels of care, very 
complex needs by 

exception 
 

Medium for 
substantial needs 

Moderate for 
appreciable needs: 

Total Number of Hours 

1:7   21 

1:5  29  

1:3 45   

Page 31



 

Unit Rates Band 3 Band 2 Band 1 

2018/19 

Standard 
13+ beds £859 £686 £599 

Smaller 
7-12 beds £902 £729 £642 

Smallest 
1-6 beds £945 £773 £686 

     Unit Rates Band 3 Band 2 Band 1 

2019/20 

Standard 
13+ beds £893 £711 £619 

Smaller 
7-12 beds £937 £755 £663 

Smallest 
1-6 beds £980 £799 £707 

     Unit Rates Band 3 Band 2 Band 1 

2020/21 

Standard 
13+ beds £924 £733 £637 

Smaller 
7-12 beds £969 £778 £682 

Smallest 
1-6 beds £1,013 £823 £727 

 
 
3.16. Each placement under the proposed model would be made in one of the 

three bands based upon the assessed needs of the Service User. 
 
3.17. The size of the care home is also a factor in the specific Usual Cost as it is 

recognised smaller homes will have greater overheads in comparison to 
larger establishments with greater economies of scale. 

 
3.18. Even with greater distinction on the relative levels of complexity there must 

also be the ability to add in additional one-to-one hours on any of the care 
packages, again, based on the specific need of the Service User. This will 
allow for sufficient flexibility to make placements wherein a Service User 
doesn't precisely fit into one of the bands. 

 
3.19. Work has been carried out to analyse all existing Service Users in order to 

assess their current level of needs and ascribe them to one of the proposed 
bands. Providers have also been able to review and analyse the expected 
application of the cost model to their service users.  

 
 
 
 
Potential Impact and Transition to the Proposed Model 

Page 32



 
3.20. Moving to this model will mean a significant shift in how the Council 

commissions LD residential services and also how providers will be funded. 
The potential impact to some providers may be considerable with the result 
that increased funding will be available to stimulate an increase of capacity at 
medium to high levels. 

 
3.21. One of the results of the historic LD Usual Cost model has been that there is 

increasingly less affordable provision at the high cost & high complexity end 
of the market with a need to help the broader market to develop new 
schemes and capacity.  

 
3.22. While it is the case that no providers are projected to suffer any financial loss, 

in fact all providers will receive an increase, some may receive a greater 
degree of benefit relative to others.  

 
3.23. A key factor in implementing the new model and securing buy-in from 

providers, over and above the anticipated increasing of funding, will be the 
longer term approach to how the Council wishes to develop the market. In 
being able to establish a robust and fit-for-purpose cost model for LD services 
it will facilitate new opportunities to work with the market on initiatives such as 
block purchasing or new risk sharing arrangements.  

 
3.24. As the model will result in costs being more tightly controlled it is highly likely 

that currently existing capacity at the high complexity end of the market may 
well more limited in the short to mid-term. Therefore it will be necessary to 
engage with Providers who may not currently deliver at that level and to 
develop their capacity to do so. Initial conversations with providers through 
the process indicates that there is appetite and resources within certain 
providers to do so. It is hoped that with the clarity and structure the proposed 
model affords this will further encourage the market to adapt to the Council's 
requirements and also that internal commissioning processes help ensure 
placements are made effectively.  

 
3.25. There are a number of measures that should help to address the impact of 

the transition to the proposed model as well as to develop the market as a 
whole: 

 
• Diversification of current providers – by working with existing 

providers to develop and enhance their existing provision to increase 
the availability of high cost and complex care 

 
• Consideration of undertaking new commercial arrangements such as 

Block Contracting agreements with providers to help fix required 
capacity as well as to give additional financial incentive for providers 
to undertake new developments and take commercial risk. 

 

Page 33



• Consideration of directly stimulating the creation of new LD residential 
schemes in line with the Council's longer term demands and property 
strategy.  

 
3.26. Taking this into consideration alongside the response from our current 

providers the following financial scenarios set out the potential financial 
impact of implementing the model as currently understood when applied to 
our current Service Users 

 
3.27. All packages of care that are currently less than the proposed rates (including 

any 1:1 hours) are placed on the new rate and where those costs are in 
excess of the new rates would also have their fees increased by a nominal 
2% increase This would lead to an in year cost increase of: 

 
• £2,279,977.98 in 2018/19  
 
• £726,326.17 in 2019/20 
 
• £684,548.27 in 2020/21 

 
 

3.28. While these scenarios set out the potential impacts of applying the new Usual 
Cost model there will also be opportunity for the Council to optimise the 
application of existing and new placements following the engagement process 
with providers with the stated aim of developing greater capacity for high 
complexity cases. 

 
4. ADULT FRAILTY AND LONG TERM CONDITIONS 

 
Geography and Usual Cost Capacity 
 
4.1. Over the last two years there has been increased pressure to find capacity for 

OP/PD placements in the South of the County. Previous analysis has shown 
strong evidence that there is a lower proportion of beds available in southern 
areas at Usual Cost.  

 
4.2. New initiatives have been delivered to help address this, primarily through the 

procurement of block beds under the Transitional Care and Reablement 
contract. 

 
4.3. Given the sustained and pronounced differential in Usual Cost capacity it was 

anticipated that the Usual Cost analysis for OP/PD could show underlying 
increased cost pressures to businesses in these areas which in turn would 
account for their higher costs. When commissioning the analysis from 
Kingsbury Hill Fox Ltd they were asked to breakdown specific cost elements, 
i.e. staff rates, by the 12 local economic areas. However this has not proven 

Page 34



to be the case with no clear geographic differential in terms of the costs of 
delivering care.  

 
4.4. Therefore as the relative increased costs in the South of the county cannot 

clearly be ascribed to higher costs the cause could stem from higher demand 
from other authorities, Health, and / or Self Funders. With a fixed and limited 
supply of care this would naturally result in Providers being able to charge 
higher costs.  

 
4.5. This is further supported via the findings in the "Review of Residential Care 

Market in Lincolnshire” report showing that in South Holland, South Kesteven, 
and North Kesteven there is a relative lack of supply of beds when set against 
Age Standardised Demand in those areas 

 
4.6. Without there being an evidence base to justify a Usual Cost model that 

includes geographic variation it follows that any measure to address the 
relative lack of capacity in the South must be via separate initiatives. Recent 
exercises for the block purchasing of Transitional Care and Reablement Beds 
with Health have helped manage the risk of any potential lack of provision in 
the South and further exercises may be carried out as required. The potential 
of Joint Commissioning work that is underway with Health will also offer a 
genuine opportunity to better manage supply and demand within Lincolnshire. 
Further options around directly increasing available capacity should also be 
seriously considered as a primary method in managing the market in the 
South of the county.  

 
4.7. Broadly speaking the increases in costs are in line with commonly understood 

developments i.e. the increased National Minimum Wage, inflation, etc. 
However the stated increased number of required care workers in each home 
that is necessary to deliver care safely has increased at perhaps a greater 
rate than anticipated.  

 
4.8. This increase clearly places additional pressure on budgets and therefore a 

decision should be taken on the correct approach to addressing this matter. 
 
4.9. The proposed increase is based on a number of factors, including inflationary 

pressures, increased registration costs and the primary cost driver being to 
apply a standardised approach to the staffing ratio for each category of care 
and resulting number of care hours delivered per person per week based on 
the feedback from the market.  

 
4.10. As part of the Council's market engagement process feedback from Providers 

indicated highlighted a potential inconsistency with the application of Nursing 
and HD rates based upon the support costs for Service Users. Taking this 
into consideration the Council has determined that the feedback has merit 
and as such has revised its initial position on OP rates which is reflected in 
the table below.  

 

 

Page 35



Proposed Rates 

Care Group 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

OP Std. Res £456.00 £483.00 £502.00 £521.00 

OP Nursing £485.00 £531.00 £552.00 £573.00 

OP HD £497.00 £531.00 £553.00 £574.00 

      
    Projected Budgetary Increase (each year) 

Care Group 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

OP Std. Res £1,711,248.43 £1,204,211.86 £1,204,211.86 

OP Nursing £1,746,528.00 £797,328.00 £797,328.00 

OP HD £1,631,456.00 £1,055,648.00 £1,007,664.00 

Total £5,089,232.43 £3,057,187.86 £3,009,203.86 

  

 
Physical Disability 
 
4.11. With regard to any necessary increases to the Usual Cost for Physical 

Disability placements, both Standard and Nursing, the proposal is to apply the 
same methodology that supports the increases to OP rates.  

 
4.12. This then requires the same decision with regard to the approach taken on 

increasing the required hours of care for each package in line with the 
reported returns. 

 
4.13. The proposed increase is based on a number of factors, including inflationary 

pressures, increased registration costs and the primary cost driver being to 
apply a standardised approach to the staffing ratio for each category of care 
and resulting number of care hours delivered per person per week.  The total 
financial impact including inflation is estimated to be £224,840 2018/19, 
£180,831 in 2019/20, £182,616 in 2020/21 

 

Care Group 
Current Rate 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 
2017/18 

Physical Disability. £557.00 £623 £647 £671 

 
 

5. MENTAL HEALTH 

 
5.1. With regard to any necessary increases to the Usual Cost for Mental Health 

placements, both Standard and Nursing, the proposal is to apply the same 
methodology that supports the increases to Adult Frailty and Long Term 
Conditions. 

 

Page 36



5.2. This then requires the same decision with regard to the approach taken on 
increasing the required hours of care for each package in line with the 
reported returns. 

 
5.3. The proposed increase is based on a number of factors, including inflationary 

pressures, increased registration costs and the primary cost driver being to 
apply a standardised approach to the staffing ratio for each category of care 
and resulting number of care hours delivered per person per week.  The total 
financial impact including inflation is estimated to be £308,000 in 2018/19, 
£167,581 in 2019/20, £169,625 in 2020/21 

 

Care 
Group 

Current 
Rate 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

2017/18 

MH Std £475.00 £503.00 £522.00 £542.00 

MH 
Nursing. 

£485.00 £531.00 £552.00 £573.00 

 
 
 

6. CONTRACTUAL UPDATES 

 
6.1. In addition to the fundamental matter of establishing new Usual Costs for 

services it is the correct time to review and update the Terms and Conditions 
of the Residential Framework Contracts. 

 
6.2. These proposed changes stem from lessons learned and practical experience 

in the normal operation of the contract over the last three years, and seek to 
improve the consistency and fairness of the agreement. 

 
6.3. Aspects of the proposed changes to the specification have been discussed 

with a LinCA representative who has, indicated agreement that these are fit 
for inclusion in the future contract..  

 
6.4. The table below sets out the full range of proposed changes to the contract 

 

PROPOSED CHANGE TO THE CONTRACT TERMS AND CONDITIONS AND 
SCHEDULES 

1 To fix the available 'Top Up' price that providers' can charge to third parties 
over and above the Usual cost that the Council funds for the duration of the 
contract.  
 
Current practice allows for Providers to change this annually to any rate 
they wish.  
 
While this affords them a great deal of flexibility in pricing their service it can 
often mean that Service Users in a setting with a Top Up may find the price 

Page 37



increases yearly and at a rate unaffordable to them. This then means the 
Service User may have to find an alternative bed. 
 
Fixing Top Up prices for the three year term will allow for much greater 
clarity and assurance to Service Users when they agree to stay in a Care 
Home with a Top Up.  
 
For the next three years they can feel confident that their financial position 
in relation to residential care costs will remain unchanged, and as a 
consequence there will be much less risk of them having to find alternative 
care arrangements. 
 
However, it should be noted that this may mean some Providers choose to 
increase their Top Up charges at a higher rate for the introduction of the 
new contract. The Council will also commit to review this position in the 
event of any significant change to funding or the National Minimum Wage. 

2 Clarification of the Third Party Agreement with specific regard to notification, 
record keeping and compliance with the contract. 
 
This will allow the Council to improve our ability to track payments where 
third party agreements are in place and ensure the process is in line with 
the Care Act 2014. 
 

3 Clarify drafting of the terms relating to the provision of care equipment. 
 
Specifically that any equipment provided must only be used for the Service 
User it was prescribed to as well as greater clarity on ownership and 
management of equipment. 

4 A new schedule setting out responsibilities and actions to be taken with the 
Commercial Team's forthcoming Contract Management System (CMS). 
This will primarily mean clearer and easier processes in submitting 
performance data 

Similar updates will be made with regard to MOSAIC 

5 The provision of the ability to suspend, in part or full, services that have a  
CQC inadequate rating 

This proposal will formalise in the contract drafting and operational practice 
that is already established (i.e. suspension of new placements for any 
provider who receives an inadequate CQC rating).  
 
There is potential for such a suspension to be challenged by an affected 
provider and formalising this right within the contract will enable the action 
to be undertaken with reduced legal risk. 

6 Additional 'automatic' provisions within the contract on a change of a 
providers CQC rating to 'Requires Improvement' which would enable the 
Council to recommend and require enhanced support, additional required 
training, and other measures. 

Page 38



In line with the reasons for recommendation 8, this would formalise in the 
contract drafting desirable operational practice making it easier to 
implement and enforce. 

7 Requirement for accounts and management accounts  to be provided on 
request 

This is a key data source to enable the assessment of financial risk 
associated with individual providers.  
 
The contract already enables us to request 'relevant' information from 
providers, but adding explicit reference to this more commonly required 
information will improve accessibility and enable enhanced financial 
oversight of providers particularly those which the Council consider to be 
struggling or in distress. 

8 Strengthened Rights of Entry particularly in instances of Safeguarding, 
concerns of quality and trigger points like suspension 

To ensure the contract drafting is in line with the revised LCC safeguarding 
protocols e.g. investigations under S.42 of the Care Act 2014. 

9 Duty to inform of loss of manager or imminent loss of any key staff 

In conjunction with previous measures this will allow the Council to identify 
providers in distress or at risk of deteriorating. This will directly support and 
inform the risk matrix, a critical contract management tool, and enables a 
trigger for targeted support to providers to be received in a consistent and 
timely manner. 

10 Duty to inform of putting up for sale 

The sale of a residential establishment is an indicator of the potential loss of 
a provider. This duty will help in managing this risk through early warning. 

11 Development of the contracts default clause with specific regard to being 
able to recover any costs relating to step-in or provision of additional 
support where that has been provided e.g. Strategic Market Support Partner 

Where homes are inadequate or require improvement, the Council wishes 
to be able to take more direct action to reduce associated risks such as 
putting in additional staff.  

This amendment will enable us to mitigate the financial risk associated with 
such actions. 

12 Update Safeguarding Clause  

To ensure the contract drafting is in line with the revised LCC safeguarding 
protocols e.g. investigations under S.42 of the Care Act 2014. 

Page 39



13 Updated and improved Medicines management protocol  

Following the results of a specific working group established to review 
Medicines Management, there will be a new 'toolkit' of processes, 
instructions and guidance for Care Providers that will align closely to CQC 
standards and this will need to be included within the contract schedules. 

14 The ability to move to paying gross of service user contributions rather than 
the current practice of net of Service User contributions.  

This change would represent a major change to Council business 
processes and is the subject of a separate decision making process. 
Depending on the outcome of this decision the contract will be able to make 
any such change. Provider feedback in Appendix E references this issue.  

15 Consideration of improving and clarifying the dispute resolution process with 
defined levels of escalation and a third party e.g. ACAS. 

Current drafting of this clause gives only one option with no scope for 
escalation.  
 
Revised drafting is being progressed and will include more than one option 
to improve proportionality and flexibility. It is intended a specific third party 
arbitrator will not be mandated but there will be agreement that in specific 
circumstances a third party must be agreed by both parties. 

16 The structure of the Contract has been reformatted to provide greater focus 
on key quality issues, improve clarity and specificity for each service type. 
 
The intention being to produce a clearer and more user friendly contract. 

17 Pricing schedule  

Proposals have been developed based on market intelligence as described 
in this report.  

 
7. Market Consultation 

 
7.1. As indicated above the Council has worked closely with the market to support 

this process. Several market engagement events have taken place with three 
events carried out in December 2017, to share the proposed changes to the 
Usual Cost model and Contract with the Adult Frailty and Long Term 
Conditions market. These were; 

 
13.12.2017 AM Stanhope Hall, 1 Boston Rd, Horncastle LN9 6EY 
13.12.2017 PM Wilsford Village Hall, School Lane, Wilsford, Grantham, NG32 3PE 

Page 40



15.12.2017 PM  Lincoln Golf Centre, Moor Ln, Thorpe on the Hill, Lincoln LN6 9BW 
 
7.2. Specialist Adults Services engagement and consultation has been carried out 

differently with individual meetings with the Council's strategic providers 
individually over December and January alongside a group session for the 
other providers or for those who weren't able to attend one to one sessions.  

 
7.3. The Kingsbury Hill Fox ltd Reports, the proposed cost models, the revised 

residential framework and supporting documents have also been released to 
all providers for their feedback and comments at the start of the engagement 
period. A web portal has also been created to house all the relevant materials 
with instructions on how to engage with providers 

 
7.4. Following these events Providers have had an opportunity to present 

feedback and commentary on the proposed changes 
 
7.5. Comments were received from thirteen individual providers and one 

coordinated response from the Lincolnshire Care Association which 
represents over 130 Care Providers in the county (Appendix E).  Detailed 
feedback can be seen in appendix E however key highlights are: 

 

 Providers are concerned about the sufficiency of planned for 
inflationary increases and uncertainty of the future 

 Strong positive feedback on the proposed new model for Learning 
Disability  

 Positive feedback from a key national provider that the proposed 
increases to Adult Frailty and Long Term Conditions rates are 
acceptable 

 Increased focus on the need for a comprehensive solution for funding 
Nursing care. 

 
  

8. Legal Issues: 
 
Legal Background 
 
8.1 The legal framework governing Care and Support in England is provided for 

by the Care Act 2014 (the Act), detailed secondary legislation by means of 
Regulations and the Care and Support Statutory Guidance to the Care Act 
2014 ("the Guidance"). 

 
8.2 Under the Care Act the Council has a primary obligation to assess the needs 

of those that appear to have needs for care and support and to meet those 
needs where they meet eligibility criteria.  One of the main ways that the 
Council meets need is through the provision of residential care and residential 
care with nursing across a range of needs.   

 
8.3 The Care and Support and After Care (Choice of Accommodation) 

Regulations 2014 enable a person to have the right to choose a particular 

Page 41



provider subject to certain conditions.  Where the accommodation is of the 
same type as specified in the adult's care and support plan, the preferred 
accommodation is suitable and available and where the provider agrees to 
provide the accommodation on the local authority's terms, the local authority 
must provide or arrange the accommodation. The preferred accommodation 
must not cost the local authority more than the amount specified in the 
personal budget of the adult.  

 
8.4 The Guidance provides that:- 
 

 The Council must have regard to the actual cost of good quality care 
in deciding the personal budget to ensure that the amount is one that 
reflects local market conditions (para 11) 

 The Council should not set arbitrary amounts or ceilings for particular 
types of accommodation that do not reflect a fair cost of care (para 
11) 

 A person must not be asked to pay a top up because of market 
inadequacies or commissioning failures and must ensure there is a 
genuine choice (para 12) 

 The Council must ensure that at least one option is available that is 
affordable within a person's personal budget and should ensure that 
there is more than one (para 12) 

 If no suitable accommodation is available and no preference 
expressed the Council must arrange care in a more expensive home 
and adjust the budget accordingly (para 12) 

 The Council has a duty to shape and facilitate the market including 
ensuring sufficient supply (para 13) 

 Where choice cannot be met the individual must give the individual an 
explanation in writing. (para 17) 

 
8.5 The setting of the Council's Usual Costs is central to its compliance with these 

obligations.  In particular the rate that the Council establishes as its Usual 
Cost will contribute significantly to the viability and sustainability of a market 
which provides sufficient places capable of meeting need.  The Usual Cost 
will also determine in many cases the personal budget against which the 
choice of accommodation provisions will be assessed. 

  
8.6 In addition, the Council has general obligations under the Care Act.  The most 

important of these in the current context is section 5 which states:- 
 

"s.5(1) A local authority must promote the efficient and effective operation of a 
market in services for meeting care and support needs with a view to 
ensuring that any person in its area wishing to access services in the market 
(a) has a variety of providers to choose from who (taken together) provide a 
variety of services 
(b) has a variety of high quality services to choose from 
(c) has sufficient information to make an informed decision about how to meet 
the needs in question 

 

Page 42



8.7 Under section 5(2), when the council is considering the duty set out above, 
the Council must have regard to:- 

 

 The need to ensure information is made available about the providers 
and the types of services they provide 

 The current and likely future demand and how providers might meet 
that demand 

 The importance of enabling, those that wish to do so, to participate in 
work, education or training 

 The importance of ensuring sustainability of the market (in 
circumstances where it is effective as well as in circumstances where 
it is not) 

 The importance of fostering continuous improvement in the quality, 
efficiency and effectiveness of the services and the encouragement of 
innovation 

 The importance of fostering a workforce who are able to deliver high 
quality services  (relevant skills and appropriate working conditions) 

 
8.8 The Council must, when considering current and likely future demand ensure 

that there are sufficient services available to meet need and have regard to 
the importance of promoting wellbeing.  

 
8.9 The background to the section 5 provisions includes the following statement 

in paragraph 6.2.of "Building Capacity and Partnership in Care: An agreement 
between the statutory and independent social care, health care and housing 
sectors" which was published by the Department of Health in October 2001:- 

 
"Providers have become increasingly concerned that some commissioners 
have used their dominant position to drive down or hold down fees to a level 
that recognises neither the costs to the providers nor the inevitable reduction 
in the quality of service provision that follows. This is short sighted and may 
put individuals at risk. It is in conflict with the Government's Best Value Policy. 
And it can destabilise the system, causing unplanned exits from the market. 
Fee setting must take into account the legitimate and current and future costs 
faced by providers as well as factors that affect those costs, and the potential 
for improved performance and more cost effective ways of working…" 

 
8.10 Chapter 4 of the Guidance (Market Shaping) provides guidance on s.5 of the 

Act in particular in the following paragraphs:- 
 

"4.11 This statutory guidance describes, at a high level, the themes and 
Issues that local authorities should have regard to when carrying out duties to 
shape their local markets and commission services Market shaping, 
commissioning, procurement and contracting are inter-related activities and 
the themes of this guidance will apply to each to a greater or lesser extent 
depending on the specific activity…" 
 
"4.27 Local authorities should commission services having regard to the cost 
effectiveness and value for money that the services offer for public funds. The 

Page 43



Local Government Association Adult Social Care Efficiency Programme(…) 
has advice on these issues and may be helpful …" 

 
"4.31 When commissioning services local authorities should assure 
themselves and have evidence that contract terms, conditions and fee levels 
for care and support services are appropriate to provide the delivery of the 
agreed care packages with agreed quality of care. This should support and 
promote the wellbeing of people who receive care and support, and allow for 
the service provider ability to meet statutory obligations to pay at least the 
national minimum wage and provide effective training and development of 
staff. It should also allow retention of staff commensurate with delivering 
services to the agreed quality and encourage innovation and improvement. 
Local authorities should have regard to guidance on minimum fee levels 
necessary, taking account of the local economic environment. This assurance 
should understand that reasonable fee levels allow for a reasonable rate of 
return by independent providers that is sufficient to allow the overall pool of 
efficient providers to remain sustainable in the long term…" 

 
8.11 Prior to the implementation of the Care Act on 1st April 2015 there had been a 

succession of cases in which local authorities faced a legal challenge from 
care home providers who had successfully argued that the Council had been 
in breach of the law in setting its Usual Costs. In general the grounds on 
which those challenges succeeded were a combination of the Council:- 

 

 Erring in its methodology including saying it would apply the JRF 

toolkit model and then diverging from it 

 not establishing the actual cost of care and not having regard to the 

real costs of care when setting their fee rates 

  failing to consult with the sector 

 Not providing good reasons for the assumptions made in the model or 

the way the model was  populated 

 Failure to give due regard to equalities implications 

 Mathematical errors  

8.12 These cases all were prior to the implementation of the Care Act 2014 but the 
general principles still have relevance to the new statutory framework. More 
recently there has been a challenge brought following the implementation of 
the Care Act – i.e Care England, (R on the application of) v Essex County 
Council  

 
8.13 Care England considered the fee increases made by Essex County Council 

were too small. It argued that that the fees were on average £163.57 per 
person per week below the cost of care in the case of residential care and 
£108.56 below for nursing care. It claimed that:- 

 

 Essex was in breach of its market shaping duties under s,5(1) and (2) 
of the Care Act. In particular it considered that the Council had 
breached the duty to have regard to "the importance of ensuring the 

Page 44



sustainability of the market (in circumstances where it is operating 
effectively as well as in circumstances where it is not)" 

 The Council has failed to follow relevant guidance issued by the 
Government 

 The Council's decision was Wednesbury unreasonable 
 

Essex Council successfully defended this judicial review challenge.  
 
8.14 The judge rejected breach of duty under section 5(1) and (2). Consideration 

as to sustainability was found within the pricing report and was also confirmed 
by evidence from the then Cabinet Member. Information about the care home 
market in the county was also evident in the pricing report, and its appendices 
and the Cabinet Member's statement. The Judge was not persuaded that 
Essex did so little to inform itself about the market that it could not say it had 
regard to the sustainability factor.  

 
8.15 The claimant contended that the defendant breached Guidance in 5 respects.  
 

 That Essex did not have "evidence that fee levels for care and 
support services are appropriate to provide the delivery of the agreed 
quality of care."  

 

 That Essex set and/or decided to maintain "fee levels below an 
amount which is not sustainable to the providers in the long term" 

 

 That Essex set or maintained "arbitrary amounts or ceilings for 
particular types of accommodation that do not reflect a fair cost of 
care".  

 

 That the fees were not set at an "amount sufficient to meet the 
person's care and support needs".  

 

 That Essex failed to comply with guidance that the "fees are set at a 
level which was significantly below the actual costs of providing care".  

 

8.16 These challenges were rejected by the judge on the basis of the evidence 
available to the Council. 

 

8.17 Finally the claimant contended that the Council's decision was Wednesbury 
unreasonable. The Judge took into account that the decision was to increase 
the fees paid to care home providers (despite the absence of any contractual 
obligation to do so). The level of increases decided upon by the Council was 
not a judgement which the court could easily make on an application for 
judicial review and certainly not on the evidence before it.  

 
8.18 The judge said in relation to section 5 of the Care Act:-  
 

"The section 5 duty cannot be viewed in isolation. The defendant faced other 
competing pressures and duties, including the limits on its resources and the 
duty to obtain value for money, indeed as I have said, the section 5 duty itself 

Page 45



could be seen as requiring a council not to increase fees by too much. 
……………the promotion of competition is inherent in the duty to promote an 
efficient and effective market. It was the defendant's responsibility to strike a 
balance between these different considerations. The matters identified by 
Councillor Madden were all relevant to that exercise. The weight to be given 
to different factors was a matter for the defendant". 

 

8.19 The issues in the pre-Care Act cases have been addressed by the Council in 
the way in which the Council has engaged with the market in detail through 
Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited to establish the actual costs of providing residential 
care in Lincolnshire.  The Council has also undertaken its own assessment of 
the capital costs of providing such care. 

 
8.20 The Council has used this information to populate its own cost model for 

deriving its Usual Costs.  This is a tried and tested model, used successfully 
in 2011 and 2015 and reviewed in the light of the current market position.  
The Council has been open and transparent about the model it has used and 
the assumptions underlying it.  Key assumptions within the model relating in 
particular to capital costs, rate of return on capital and indexation have been 
fully justified within this Report. 

 
8.21 The Council has consulted with the market on the proposed changes and the 

feedback has been taken into account in setting the Usual Costs.  In the case 
of the rates for Older People, these were amended in light of feedback as set 
out in paragraph 4.10 of this Report. 

 
8.22 The proposed Usual Costs are based on an a ssumption concerning the 

numbers of hours of care to be provided per person per week which reflects 
the information obtained from the Council's survey of the market and which 
represents a reasonable level of hours for provision of the levels of service 
required under the Council's contract. 

 
8.23 The Council has had due regard to its duty under section 5 of the Care Act 

2014 and has had regard to the Guidance both on section 5 and on Choice of 
Accommodation.  In particular:- 

 

 The importance of enabling those that wish to do so to participate in 
work, education or training is recognised in taking into account 
staffing costs including the National Living Wage within the Usual 
Costs 

 Regard has been had to the importance of ensuring sustainability of 
the market (in circumstances where it is effective as well as in 
circumstances where it is not).  Although, occupancy rates and the 
low incidences of financial distress suggest there is not a significant 
issue with the sustainability of the market within Lincolnshire setting a 
Usual Cost for three years with increases between years that 
recognise and reflect the main cost pressures for the market will 
ensure that the market remains sustainable 

 The importance of fostering continuous improvement in the quality, 
efficiency and effectiveness of the services and the encouragement of 

Page 46



innovation is reflected in the Council's rationale for the rate of return 
on investment used in the model.  The Usual Costs for Learning 
Disability services will, as set out in the Report, create an 
environment in which the Council can, working with the market, 
encourage greater innovation and the provision of new service 
models 

 The importance of fostering a workforce who are able to deliver high 
quality services (relevant skills and appropriate working conditions) 
has been recognised again in the degree to which staffing costs have 
been reflected.  Overall the Usual Costs provide for the continued 
provision of quality care within Lincolnshire. 

 The Council has had regard to the actual cost of good quality care in 
deciding the Usual Costs to ensure that the amount is one that 
reflects local market conditions  

 The Council has not set arbitrary amounts or ceilings for particular 
types of accommodation that do not reflect a fair cost of care.  The 
exercise evidenced in this Report shows the seriousness with which 
the Council has addressed the actual conditions within the 
Lincolnshire care market and produced Usual Costs which reflect 
them. 

 
8.24 The Usual Costs in this Report will continue to support a market within 

Lincolnshire that provides a choice of good quality care for Lincolnshire 
service users in a way which is sustainable both in terms of the businesses 
themselves but also in terms of a skilled workforce. 

 
Equality Act 2010 

 

8.25 Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, the Council must, in the exercise 
of its functions, have due regard to the need to: 

*       Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other 
conduct that is prohibited by or under the Act 

*       Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it 

*       Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

8.26 The relevant protected characteristics are age; disability; gender 
reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; and 
sexual orientation 

8.27 Having due regard to the need to advance equality of opportunity involves 
having due regard, in particular, to the need to: 

*           Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share 
a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that 
characteristic 

Page 47



*           Take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic that are different from the needs of 
persons who do not share it 

*           Encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
to participate in public life or in any other activity in which 
participation by such persons is disproportionately low 

8.28 The steps involved in meeting the needs of disabled persons that are different 
from the needs of persons who are not disabled include, in particular, steps to 
take account of disabled persons' disabilities 

8.29 Having due regard to the need to foster good relations between persons who 
share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it 
involves having due regard, in particular, to the need to tackle prejudice, and 
promote understanding 

8.30 Compliance with the duties in section 149 may involve treating some persons 
more favourably than others 

8.31 The duty cannot be delegated and must be discharged by the decision-
maker.  To discharge the statutory duty the decision-maker must analyse all 
the relevant material with the specific statutory obligations in mind.  If a risk of 
adverse impact is identified consideration must be given to measures to avoid 
that impact as part of the decision making process 

If the Usual Cost is set at a level which is too low to cover costs then it is possible 
that there would be an adverse impact on people in residential care who are 
particularly vulnerable either by way of age or disability or both.  This could happen 
because the rate paid by the Council was too low to maintain quality at current 
levels and as a consequence for example the number of activities available to 
residents could fall along with the catering standards or the amount of care hours 
available to individuals. In the event that rates were so low that providers could not 
maintain their business and homes closed residents would have to move. This 
could cause distress and upheaval particularly for those well settled residents with 
friends amongst the staff and other residents. Unless well managed it could also be 
injurious to health for the most vulnerable and cause confusion to dementia 
sufferers. 

An Impact Analysis has been completed for Residential and Nursing Care rates for 
Adult Care 2018-21 which addresses the risk of adverse impact on service users 
which can be found as Appendix D and should be carefully considered along with 
the statutory duty itself as set out above. Two potential types of adverse impacts 
are identified. Firstly that the quality of service may be reduced and secondly that 
more Homes may close. The extent of each risk depends principally on a 
consideration as to whether or not the Council’s Usual Costs are at or above the 
actual costs of care. The work the Council has done to get data from the market 
and model the actual costs means that in the view of the Council the Usual Cost is 
at or above the actual cost of care 

The recommended proposal does increase all Usual Costs and does cover the 
providers’ costs. The risk arising out of a fall in quality in these circumstances is 
therefore considered to be low. The proposed rate is above that residential care 
providers are currently paid and therefore there should be little economic need for 

Page 48



providers to reduce the quality currently provided.  

In any event the Council has procedures in place so that it can monitor the 
situation, so as to be able to manage both risks if they arise and thereby mitigate 
the risk of adverse impact arising out of either circumstance. In relation to quality 
the Council will specify the minimum quality requirements in its contracts which 
Homes will be required to sign. This will be monitored through contract 
management meetings with all providers to discuss performance; issues raised 
by the homes; workforce development; commissioning plans; operational quality 
assurance and other matters as appropriate. The meetings will take place in the 
homes and will vary in frequency, large providers will have monthly meetings with 
the smaller providers having less but they will take place at least annually. The 
Council works closely with the Care Quality Commission and has a structured 
approach to quality data maintaining a current history on each home. This enables 
any quality issues to be quickly recognised. Where Safeguarding issues are raised 
a multi-party investigation is undertaken and the Assistant Director or Head of 
Strategic Safeguarding will suspend all new placements where appropriate. In 
those cases the Council will then work with the home to develop an improvement 
plan and will monitor the improvements. The suspension will only be lifted when 
satisfactory progress has been made. 

As far as potential Home closures are concerned, the risk of a home closing will be 
monitored through contract management meeting and the Contract Risk Matrix.  
The Council would expect that homes starting to find themselves in difficulty would 
raise concerns with the Council.  In the unusual and unlikely event that a home 
was going to close, rather than be sold as a going concern, there is sufficient 
capacity within the market to find alternative provision for residents.  The Council 
has in place a "Loss of Provider Process" which enables action to be taken quickly 
and efficiently to enable a smooth transition.   The Loss of Provider Process 
requires that a team of practitioners is set up to be dedicated to working with the 
home, residents and relatives to find suitable alternative placements.  This team 
will work closely with NHS colleagues and the contracts, quality and safeguarding 
teams in the County Council to manage the transition of arrangements.  

In addition to this and as part of the Council's general market shaping work the 
Council continually monitors capacity in the market and addresses issues through 
its commissioning methodologies such as the use of block contracting in the south 
of the county referred to in the report. 

It is considered that the adoption of the recommended proposal addresses the 
risks and adverse effects that might arise if the alternative option was adopted.  
The remaining potential for adverse effects is considered to be low and can be 
mitigated and managed as set out above. Adoption of the recommended proposal 
is therefore considered to be consistent with the Council's obligations under the 
Equality Act 2010. 

 

Joint Strategic Needs Analysis (JSNA) and the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
(JHWS) 

8.32 The Council must have regard to the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 
(JSNA) and the Joint Health & Well Being Strategy (JHWS) in coming to a 
decision 

Page 49



The JSNA for Lincolnshire is an overarching needs assessment. A wide range of 
data and information was reviewed to identify key issues for the population to be 
used in planning, commissioning and providing programmes and services to meet 
identified needs. This assessment underpins the JHWS which has the following 
themes:- 
 

i. Promoting healthier lifestyles 
ii. Improving the health and wellbeing of older people 
iii. Delivering high quality systematic care for major causes of ill health and 

disability 
iv. Improving health and social outcomes and reducing inequalities for children 
v. Tackling the social determinants of health 

 
Under the strategic theme of improving the health and wellbeing of older people in 
Lincolnshire there are 3 relevant priorities; 
 

 Spend a greater proportion of our money on helping older people to stay 
 safe and well at home 

 Develop a network of services to help older people lead a more healthy 
and active life and cope with frailty 

 Increase respect and support for older people within their communities. 
 

The proposed increases to Residential and Nursing Care Fee Levels will contribute 
directly to the delivery of these priorities by helping to ensure that services for 
recipients of Adult's social care services are locally based, cost effective and 
sustainable. 

 

Crime and Disorder 

8.33 Under section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, the Council must 
exercise its various functions with due regard to the likely effect of the 
exercise of those functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to 
prevent crime and disorder in its area (including anti-social and other 
behaviour adversely affecting the local environment), the misuse of drugs, 
alcohol and other substances in its area and re-offending in its area 

 

9. Conclusion
 
9.1 The Council has worked closely with the sector to establish the costs of care 

within Lincolnshire. As part of that work the Council has consulted and met 
with the sector on the proposed rates set out in 3.15, 4.10, 4.13 and 5.3 as 
well as the proposed changes to Terms and Conditions as set out in 6.4.  

 

Section 17 matters have been taken into account in preparing the Report.  The 
Proposals in this Report do not directly contribute to the furtherance of the section 
17 matters and there is no risk of adverse impact identified. 

Page 50



9.2 For the reasons outlined in the report, the Usual Costs identified above 
represent an appropriate rate to enable the continued viability of the 
residential care market in Lincolnshire and the continued provision of choice 
in good quality care for the residents of Lincolnshire and it is recommended 
that the Usual Costs are approved. 

. 
 

9. Legal Comments: 
 

The Council has the power to adopt the Usual Costs set out in the Report.  The 
proposed rates are considered to have been arrived at through a lawful process 
which reflects case law, the Council's obligations under the Care Act and 
associated Guidance and which has appropriate regard to the all relevant 
considerations. 
 
Further detailed discussion of the legal implications of the decision are dealt with 
in the Report. 
 
The decision is consistent with the Policy Framework and within the remit of the 
Executive Councillor. 
 

 

10. Resource Comments: 
 

To ensure compliance with its current and future legal obligations the Council 
must ensure it has a full understanding of the market provision of residential and 
nursing care and the cost at which such care can be made available by the 
market on a sustained basis.  This will enable the Council to set a Usual Cost 
which it expects to pay for residential services in Lincolnshire to ensure a supply 
of service to meet identified need and to enable choice.  This report details a 
proposed set of rates at which it believes the Council should adopt over the next 
three years. The cost to the authority of implementing the proposed rates is 
estimated to be £16.318m over three years.  The additional funding requirement 
for the first two years of agreement (£12.207m) is within the financial envelope 
identified during the budget setting process in November 2017. In the final year 
there is some uncertainty around the delivery method for future funding of social 
care, however whatever the exact nature of the funding mechanism the general 
recognition of the scale of the adult care funding requirement at both a local and a 
national level makes it reasonable to adopt the Usual Costs for a three year 
period which will help the sustainability of the market and the Council's own 
longer term financial planning. 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
11. Consultation 

Page 51



 
a)  Has Local Member Been Consulted? 

 N/A 
 

b)  Has Executive Councillor Been Consulted?  

 Yes 

c)  Scrutiny Comments 

 This Report will be considered by the Adult Care and Community Wellbeing 
Scrutiny Committee at its meeting on 14 February 2018 and the comments of the 
Committee will be reported to the Executive Councillor 

 

 

 
 

d)  Have Risks and Impact Analysis been carried out?? 

 Yes 

e)  Risks and Impact Analysis 

 See the body of the Report 
 

 
12. Appendices 

 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 
 
Appendix A – Report for LCC on Care Home Costs 2017 
Appendix B – Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire 
Appendix C – Report for LCC on LD Care Home Costs 2017 
Appendix D – Equality Impact Assessment 
Appendix E – Provider Feedback 
Appendix F – Residential Rates Adult Frailty and Long Term Conditions 
Appendix G – Residential Rate Model Specialist Adults Services  
Appendix H – Property Survey 

 
 

13. Background Papers 
 
The following Background Papers within the meaning of section 100D of the Local 
Government Act 1972 were used in the preparation of the Report 
 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 

Residential and Nursing Care Fee 
Levels within Adult Care 2015 

http://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieDeci
sionDetails.aspx?ID=202 

 
 
 
This report was written by Alexander Craig, who can be contacted on 
alexander.craig@lincolnshire.gov.uk  or  01522 554070. 

 

Page 52

mailto:alexander.craig@lincolnshire.gov.uk


Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire 

 
 
 
 

Report on Indicative Revenue Costs of Care Home Places  
in Lincolnshire 

 
 
 

This report covering the residential care market costs has been prepared by Philip Mickelborough  
as part of a project for Lincolnshire County Council. The lead researcher on the project was Estelle O'Neill 

 
 
 
 

16th September 2017 
 
 
 

 
Philip Mickelborough 
 
Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited 
 
07941 331322 
 
pjm@kingsburyhillfox.com 
 
www.kingsburyhillfox.com 
  

K  H F

P
age 53



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  i 

Contents 
 

Section Page 
  
Summary ii 
  
1. Introduction  

1.1 The background 1 
1.2 Our brief 1 
1.3 Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited 2 
1.4 The survey 3 
1.5 Median and average costs 4 

  
2. Occupancy rates and residents  

2.1 Occupancy rates 5 
2.2 Residents of responding homes 6 
2.3 Management and ownership 7 

  
3. Staff hours   

3.1 Units of measurement  8 
3.2 Care hours in nursing homes 8 
3.3 Care hours in care only homes 10 
3.4 Care skill mix across all homes 12 
3.5 Use of agency staff 13 
3.6 Domestic and kitchen staff 13 
3.7 Other non-managerial staff 15 
3.8 Training days 17 
3.9 Staff qualifications 18 
  

  

  
  
4. Care staff wages   

4.1 Nurses’ wages  19 
4.2 Care staff wages – no NVQ2 20 
4.3 Care staff wages – with NVQ2 22 
4.4 Senior care assistant wages 23 
4.5 Activities co-ordinator wages 25 
4.6 Other care staff 26 
4.7 Comparison of care staff wages in 2014 and 2017 27 
4.8 Ranking of care staff wages by economic zone 28 
  

5. Non-care staff wages in care homes  
5.1 Chefs 29 
5.2 Catering & domestic staff 30 
5.3 Housekeepers  32 
5.4 Administrative staff 33 
5.5 Reception staff 35 
5.6 Handyman, maintenance man, gardener 36 
5.7 Other non-care staff 38 
5.8 Comparison of non-care staff wages in 2014 & 2017 38 
5.9 Ranking of economic zones for non-care staff 39 
  

6. Salaried staff  
6.1 Management 40 
6.2 Non-management salaried staff 41 
  

7. Payroll & contracted costs  
7.1 Shift & day weighted pay 42 
7.2 Staff overheads 43 
7.3. Non-employed labour costs 44 

  
 

P
age 54



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  ii 

8. Other non-staff revenue costs  
8.1 Background 46 
8.2 Food and utilities costs 46 
8.3 Recruitment, training, fees & insurances 48 
8.4 Other costs 51 
8.5 Written-in costs 52 
8.6 Repairs & maintenance costs 53 
8.7 Group overheads 54 

 

9. Modelling indicative cost of care  
9.1 Reliability of our figures 55 
9.2 Estimation methodology and principles 55 
9.3 Other costs  56 
9.4 Capital costs 56 

  
  
  

P
age 55



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire        Summary 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  iii 

Summary 
 
Our figures are entirely dependent on the accuracy of the information we 
were given. Although analysis suggests that the responding homes were 
representative of the universe of care homes, there was self-selection by 
the decision whether or not to complete the survey. This may have been 
influenced by whether or not the care home does a significant volume of 
business with the Council. The large number of respondents, almost 50 per 
cent, suggests that this effect would be small.  
 
We were able to distinguish costs:  
 
• for nursing care and care only homes 
 
• by the primary resident type in each home. This may include a 

combination of older people, people with dementia, young adults with a 
mental health need and young adults with a physical disability 

 
• by the Lincolnshire economic zone in which they are situated.  
 
The figures in this report are at current pay rates, and many are set at the 
national living wage level. Although the £7.50 is only required for people 
aged 25 and over, most employers pay this to younger workers. 
 
This report does not include all the revenue costs involved in operating a 
care home; there are other costs that were outside the scope of our brief 
and so our figures do not include all the revenue costs of operating a home. 
These include: 
 
• directors' fees 
 
• finance costs such as interest on overdrafts 
 

• finance payments for purchase of the homes; mortgage interest and 
mortgage capital repayments  

 
• rent of the land, buildings and equipment 
 
• a return on the owner's capital invested in the land, buildings and 

equipment. 
 
The report covers costs only; no element of profit for the operator has been 
included. 
 
 

P
age 56



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire        Introduction 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  1 

Indicative Revenue Costs of Care Home Places in Lincolnshire 
 
 
1. Introduction  
 
1.1 The background  
 
In October 2014, Lincolnshire County Council commissioned LaingBuisson 
to conduct an independent evaluation of the residential care market in 
Lincolnshire, a project led by Philip Mickelborough with Estelle O’Neill as the 
lead researcher. This was then used in conjunction with other data in the 
Council's own model to calculate the expected cost for residential providers 
for older people over a three-year period from 2015/16 to 2017/18. 
 
The Council had commissioned Philip through LaingBuisson to undertake 
similar surveys in 2008 and 2011. 
 
Lincolnshire County Council has decided to repeat this process in 2017 to 
inform care home fee levels for the three-year period beginning in April 2018. 
This project includes young disabled adults other than those with learning 
disabilities. 
 
The Council issued a preliminary scoping document in January 2017 
followed by a detailed scoping document in March 2017 that set out the 
Council's precise requirements. Kingsbury Hill Fox provided a final proposal 
for this work in April 2017 and the go-ahead was given in late May 2017. 
 
The Council will use the data on costs that we provide in its own model to 
determine the fees that the Council will pay, and it is not our role to suggest 
a price. 

1.2 Our brief 
 
In summary, our brief from the Council was to deliver a Care Market report 
detailing revenue costs for the care and nursing market in Lincolnshire for 
the service user groups: 

• older people 
• adults with physical disabilities 
• adults with mental health needs. 

 
It was requested that our analysis should include:  

• Fee analysis (including analysis of third party top ups, and fees for 
self-funders) 

• Analysis of Care Hours Provided 
• Analysis of Wage Rates (including the implication of recent 

legislative changes in relation to pensions) 
• Analysis of staff qualifications 
• Analysis of staffing ratio per service user 
• Payroll costs 
• Other cost (including but not limited to:) 

o Food 
o Utilities 
o Repair & Maintenance (including handyman costs) 
o Medical Supplies 
o Domestic Cleaning 
o Trade Clinical Waste 
o Recruitment 
o Registration 
o Training 
o Insurance 
o Advertising & Marketing 
o Uniforms 

P
age 57



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire        Introduction 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  2 

• Issues reported by care homes 
• Benchmarking Analysis against other Local Authorities for OP/PD 

& MH rates 

The analysis should also identify material differences in cost due to 
geography analysed by district and ward.  
 
The revenue costs of caring for people with learning disabilities are the 
subject of a separate section of the project. We are also charged with 
producing a mapping and analysis of the care home market in Lincolnshire, 
which forms a separate report. 
 
This report is part of a three-part project for the Council, the other two parts 
being:  
 

• an assessment of costs in homes for people with learning 
disabilities, based on figures provided by the Council 

 
• a comprehensive mapping of the care home market in 

Lincolnshire. 

 

1.3 Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited 
 
Founded by Philip Mickelborough in 2001, Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited is the 
vehicle which he has written his market reports and undertaken his 
consultancy work since then, including his three previous reports for 
Lincolnshire County Council.  
 
Although it was originally envisaged that the project would be undertaken by 
Philip under the LaingBuisson brand, during the scoping, proposal and go-
ahead process Philip severed his relationship with LaingBuisson and offered 
to undertake the work under the Kingsbury Hill Fox brand. 
 
Recognising the fact that care homes, whose confidence and co-operation 
are essential to the project, recognise and know researcher Estelle O’Neill 
and Philip from past work the Council decided to maintain continuity and 
commissioned Kingsbury Hill Fox. Of secondary importance was the 
substantial reduction in cost compared with LaingBuisson fees.  
 
Although not known at the time, during the course of the survey various care 
homes have indicated that the LaingBuisson brand is not popular in 
Lincolnshire because its published advice on care staffing levels has been 
used as a benchmark by CQC to the detriment of care home operators. 
Using the Kingsbury Hill Fox brand has probably improved the response 
rate. 
 
The number of responses to this survey was better than the last survey in 
2014, vindicating the Council’s decision to use Kingsbury Hill Fox. 

P
age 58



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire        Introduction 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  3 

1.4 The survey  
 
1.4.1 The survey and chasing up 
 
Paper copies of the survey were sent out to 216 homes on 29th June 2017. 
The mailing list was compiled using CQC and lists of homes supplied by 
Lincolnshire County Council (LCC). A further 23 paper copies were sent out 
as the originals seem to have been ‘lost in the post’. 
 
SurveyMonkey (email version) copies were sent to all 216 homes using 
email addresses supplied by LCC and other addresses we had from the 
previous survey in 2014. We also sent further copies to care home owners 
and head offices on 3rd and 4th July, again using addresses supplied by 
LCC and from our own sources. Including new copies sent out during the 
chasing-up period, approximately 800 email surveys were sent out. 
 
During the seven weeks of chasing up all but one home, which appears to 
have closed, were contacted on a minimum of two occasions and some up 
to five times. 
 
Provider meetings were held in Sleaford and Lincoln on 19th July. These 
meetings led to a new question concerning agency staff being added to the 
survey as we learnt that over the past 6-12 months the use of agency nurses 
had increased considerably. Where possible, homes that had already 
responded were contacted to request information on agency usage. 
 
After a very slow start, and after much encouragement and cajoling, a very 
respectable 48 per cent response rate with valuable information was 
achieved. This is considerably better than the 42 per cent achieved three 
years ago in 2014, which we described as a pleasing response then.  
 
Four homes refused outright to participate stating either that they did not 
think it would make any difference or that the decisions had already been 
made and this was just a waste of time. 

 
Of the 216 homes originally on our mailing list, two have closed (one before 
and one during the survey period) and one home catered only for learning 
disabilities, leaving a total of 213 homes. 
 

• 22 paper copies were returned  
 

• 80 homes responded via SurveyMonkey with valuable information 
but not all had answered all questions 

 
• a further eight responded via SurveyMonkey with a limited amount 

of useful information. 
 
Unfortunately, people find it difficult to fill in forms correctly. Almost all homes 
had to be contacted for corrections and clarification of data which in our 
experience is not unusual for this type of survey. Between one and four 
attempts were made to contact the homes.  
 
1.4.2 Profile of responding homes 
 
There was a good cross section of care homes by age, ranging from 
Georgian to 2015; the bulk, however, were built in the 20th century. 
 
Of the 102 homes that responded with valuable information there were: 
 

• 68 care only homes 
• 34 nursing homes 
• 3,536 beds 
• 80 for-profit out of a mailed total of 187 
• 22 not-for- profit out of a mailed total of 26. 

 
Table 1.1 compares the number of care homes returning useful information 
with the number mailed, by resident registration category. The resident 

P
age 59



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire        Introduction 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  4 

categories in the top row are those listed by CQC and do not always reflect 
the actual resident profiles. 
 
Table 1.1 Numbers and profile of survey forms returned with valuable information 
 

  OP only MH only PD only OP+MH OP+PD MH+PD OP,MH+PD Total 
          
Only care only returned 48 7 1 2 10  1 69 
 mailed 80 11 4 7 24  5 131 
 as % of mailing 60% 64% 25% 29% 42%  20% 53% 
          
Only nursing care returned 1       1 
 mailed 2   2    4 
 as % of mailing 50%   0%    25% 
          
Care only & nursing returned 13    10 1 8 32 
 mailed 28 2  4 26 2 16 78 
 as % of mailing 46% 0%  0% 38% 50% 50% 41% 
          

 
1.5 Median and average costs 
 
There are two main ways to present representative figures: 
• using the average (also called the mean) 
• using the median, which is the middle figure when all figures are lined 

up from smallest to largest. 
 
The median produces a series of figure that reflect the general revenue cost 
for homes; one that is lower than about half the homes' costs and higher 
than the other half's costs. This median figure is sometimes more 
appropriate than the average as the distribution of care home costs is not 
symmetric; the range of costs can extend further upwards than it can 
downwards. 

 
 
 
Sometimes, however, an average can be more appropriate; such as where 
a figure close to one end of the range predominates. An example might be 
wage rates, where the lowest figure and the median might be the National 
Minimum Wage, and where the median would not reflect the fact that some 
figures are higher but none are lower. 
 
The weighted average is a development of the average; it takes account of 
the prevalence of a figure. For example, two ten-bedded care homes pay 
their care assistants £7.31 per hour, and a 100-bedded care home pays its 
staff £6.31. The median wage would be £7.31 (£6.31, £7.31, £7.31) which 
is unrepresentative of most staff, the average would be £6.81 which is also 

P
age 60



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire        Introduction 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  5 

higher than most receive, but the weighted average would be a more 
representative £6.48.  

P
age 61



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire            Occupancy 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  6 

2. Occupancy rates and residents 
 
The following analysis is based on the responses we received to our survey, 
and statements about ‘care homes in Lincolnshire' refer to the survey 
respondents.  
 
2.1 Occupancy rates  
 
When considering occupancy rates we recognise that some rooms may be 
registered as doubles but only ever used as singles (unless a couple want 
them); we have considered occupancy to be based on the number of places 
usually available, not the registered number. 
 
Care homes in Lincolnshire have an average occupancy rate of 92 per cent 
of usually used beds (Table 2.1). Care only homes have a similar occupancy 
rate of usually used beds to nursing homes, 92 per cent. Three years ago 
care only homes had 92 per cent but nursing homes had 94 per cent 
occupancy. 
 
There were 86 usually used vacancies in the nursing homes that responded 
(60 in 2014) and 180 usually used vacancies in the care only homes that 
responded (170 in 2014), making a total of 266 vacancies.  
 
There were 69 places in nursing homes that were registered but not usually 
used and 72 in care only homes, making a total of 141 generally unused 
places and representing four per cent of the total. 
 
Twenty-nine out of 76 care only homes for older people (38%) and ten out 
of 26 nursing homes (40%) reported no vacancies among beds that were 
usually used (100% occupancy). The lowest reported occupancy rates in a 
care only home was 64 per cent and in a nursing home was 60 per cent. 
 
Twenty-two care only homes (29%) had occupancy levels below 90 per cent 
as did five nursing homes (20%).  

Table 2.1 Occupancy rates of care homes by registration category  
 
Registration of home Of all beds Of used beds 
   
Care only 90% 92% 
   
Nursing care 87% 93% 
   
All responding homes 89% 92% 
   

 
There was little difference between the occupancy rates of care home caring 
primarily for older people and those with dementia, but care homes primarily 
for people with mental health needs were all fully occupied (Table 2.2). 
Although there were many young physically disabled service users in 
responding homes only one care home cared primarily for this group, and 
that was fully occupied. 
 
Table 2.2 Occupancy rates of care homes by primary service user  
 
Main resident category Care only Nursing care All homes  
    
Dementia 91% 93% 92% 
Older people 92% 94% 93% 
Physically disabled adults * 100% - 100% 
Mental health 98% - 98% 
    

* Only one care home 
 

P
age 62



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire            Occupancy 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  7 

2.2 Residents of responding homes  
 
Three thousand one hundred and seventy-two adults were living in the care 
homes for older people that responded, and we were given the care type for 
2,733 and disabilities of 2,114 of these: 
• 42 per cent were receiving standard personal care 
• 39 per cent were receiving high dependency personal care, and  
• 19 per cent were receiving nursing care (Table 2.3).  
 
Of these 2,773 service users: 
• people with dementia accounted for 35 per cent of residents 
• frail older people made up 35 per cent 
• four per cent were people with mental health needs 
• two per cent were physically disabled adults  
• two per cent fell into another category and  
• 23 per cent had unspecified disabilities. 
 
Six per cent of residents had been admitted for respite care, and 94 per cent 
were permanent residents.  
 
Two thirds (68%) were female and one-third (32%) were male. 
 

Table 2.3 Residents of the responding homes by type of care needs 
and category of service provided 

 
Resident category Personal 

care 
High 

dependency 
Nursing 

 care 
    
Frail older people  559 158 242 
Dementia 423 373 174 
Physical disabilities  26 0 16 
Mental health  79 23 0 
Other 29 8 4 
Service user unspecified 40 498 81 
    
Total 1,156 1,060 517 
    

 P
age 63



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire            Occupancy 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  8 

2.3 Management and ownership of responding homes 
 
The largest segment of the responding homes were privately-owned care 
homes with an employed manager within a group of 6-99 homes (Table 2.4). 
 
There were 22 privately-owned single care homes with an employed 
manager and 17 privately-owned care homes with an employed manager 
within a group of 2-5 homes. Fifteen homes were part of voluntary sector 
groups of 100 or more homes. 

Two-thirds of homes (67%) were privately-owned with an employed 
manager and one-fifth (21%) were in the voluntary sector. 
 
One-third of homes were part of a group of 6-99 homes and one-quarter 
(27%) were single homes. 
 
One-fifth were part of a group of 2-5 homes (22%) and one-fifth part of a 
group of 100+ homes (20%). Six per cent were managed by the private 
owner and five per cent were part of a private sector corporate group. 
 

 
Table 2.4 Management and ownership 
 

 Single home 1 of a group of 2 to 5 
homes 

1 of a group of 6 to 99 
homes 

1 of a group of 100+ 
homes 

     
Privately-owned with an employed manager  22 17 25 4 
Private owner who manages it personally  5 1   
Owned by a private equity investor    2  
Corporate owner   4  1 
Voluntary sector owner    6 15 
     

  

P
age 64



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire            Staff hours 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  9 

3. Staff hours  
 
The following analysis is based on the responses we received to our survey, 
and statements about ‘care homes in Lincolnshire’ refer to the survey 
respondents (which we believe to be representative of homes in the 
County).  
 
3.1 Units of measurement  
 
The best way to compare costs across care homes of various sizes and with 
different service user groups is to consider the weekly cost for each resident; 
that is per resident per week (prpw) or per bed per week (pbpw). 
 
The following are some of the reasons and factors that might account for the 
variation between homes in their provision of care hours prpw:  
• voluntary sector homes tend to provide more hours than private sector 

ones 
• converted homes can be less efficient to staff than purpose-built ones 
• small care homes can be overmanned because it is not possible to staff 

a home with part-people 
• staff may be managed less efficiently 
• more care staff, if they spend their spare time talking to residents, can 

offer a better quality of care. On the other hand, the quality of care is not 
improved if staff spend their time when not doing their specific duties 
smoking or drinking coffee in the staff room  

• owner-managers may, and usually do, put in hours that are not recorded 
• there is an overlap between the duties of care staff and domestic staff. 
 
 

3.2 Care hours in nursing homes 
 
3.2.1 Nursing hours in nursing homes 
 
Most nursing homes cater for more than one type of service user; only eight 
out of 26 cared for only one type of resident.  
 
The median reported number of nursing hours delivered per nursing resident 
per week by the 26 homes that answered this question was 10.0, with a 
weighted average of 9.7 hours prpw (Table 3.1).  
 
In nursing homes where the bulk of residents had dementia the median was 
9.7 hours and the weighted average was 8.8 hours. 
 
In nursing homes where the bulk of residents were frail older people the 
median was 10.3 hours and the weighted average was 9.7 hours, both 
figures being lower than the respective figures for care homes mostly 
catering for dementia. 
 
Table 3.1 Nursing hours per nursing resident per week by main 

resident disability in home 
 
Nursing hours in homes 
primarily for: Minimum Median Weighted 

average Maximum 

     
Frail older people  4.7 10.3 9.7 16.2 
Dementia 6.6 9.7 8.8 19.3 
Resident unspecified  20.2   
     
All residents 4.7 10.0 9.7 20.2 
     

 

P
age 65



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire            Staff hours 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  10 

The one care home that did not specify its residents reported nursing hours 
of 20.2 hours per week. This home was running at a very low occupancy 
rate. 
 
These figures for nursing hours record all the time they are on duty and 
include meetings, time spent in administration and handovers between 
shifts, but not training. Lincolnshire's reported figures are consistent with 
those we have seen in various Indicative Cost of Care analyses. 
 
3.2.2 Care assistant hours in nursing homes 
 
Most nursing homes offer care for nursing and care only residents; only one 
out of 26 cared only for nursing residents.  
 
The median reported number of non-nursing hours delivered per resident 
per week by the 26 homes that answered this question was 21.3, with a 
weighted average of 23.2 hours prpw (Table 3.2).  
 
In nursing homes where the bulk of residents had dementia the median was 
21.5 hours and the weighted average was 27.0 hours. 
 
In nursing homes where the bulk of residents were frail older people the 
median was 20.7 hours and the weighted average was 21.4 hours, both 
figures as one would expect being lower than the respective figures for care 
homes mostly catering for dementia. 
 
The one care home that did not specify its residents reported nursing hours 
of 31.4 hours per week. This home was running at a very low occupancy 
rate. 
 
It is not possible to separate out non-nursing care hours provided to nursing 
residents and care only ones in a home caring for both. These care hours 
are for a mixture of standard, high dependency, nursing and NHS continuing 

care residents (Table 3.2), although it is not possible for care homes to 
separate out how care staff time is allocated between resident types. 
 
These figures for care assistant hours record all the time they are on duty 
and include meetings, time spent in administration and handovers between 
shifts, but not training. Lincolnshire's reported figures are consistent with 
those we have seen in various Indicative Cost of Care analyses. 
 
Table 3.2 Care hours per resident per week by main resident 

disability in nursing homes 
 
Non-nursing care hours in 
homes primarily for: Minimum Median Weighted 

average Maximum 

     
Frail older people  18.1 20.7 21.4 24.8 
Dementia 15.6 21.5 27.0 41.3 
Resident unspecified  31.4   
     
All residents 15.6 21.3 23.2 41.3 
     

 
3.2.3 Care staff skill mix in nursing homes  
 
Responding nursing homes did not specify care staff qualifications for two-
thirds (65%) of non-nursing care hours, instead giving a combined figure for 
care staff with and without an NVQ2 (Table 3.3). In the second part of the 
Table we have re-allocated these combined hours according to the ratio of 
staff with and without NVQ2 in that class of home. 
 
Some managerial hours are rostered, and we have counted these as senior 
care hours.  
 
Although the methodology used to re-allocate combined hours is correct, we 
question whether the skill mix in nursing homes for frail older people is as 

P
age 66



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire            Staff hours 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  11 

weak as the statistics suggest; the care homes that did report NVQ2 status 
may not have been typical of those that did not. 
 
We would expect the skill mix in nursing homes to be weaker than care only 
homes because of the presence of highly qualified nurses in the former. It 
may also be the case that some care workers use a job in a nursing home 
to get sufficient qualifications and practical experience to apply for nurse 
training, and leave when they achieve it. 
 
Care homes accommodating mostly people with dementia had a richer skill 
mix than those with mostly frail older people; this is as expected as people 
with dementia frequently need support rather than personal care. Activities 
staff make up a higher percentage of hours in dementia homes, for a similar 
reason. 
 
Table 3.3 Skill mix in nursing homes by main resident disability 
 
 Dementia Frail older All homes 
    
Senior care worker 13% 16% 15% 
Care worker NVQ2 2% 2% 2% 
Care worker no NVQ2 1% 15% 10% 
Combined care staff 69% 61% 65% 
Activities staff 15% 6% 8% 
    
Re-allocating combined    
    
Senior care worker 13% 16% 15% 
Care worker NVQ2 48% 9% 13% 
Care worker no NVQ2 24% 69% 64% 
Activities staff 15% 6% 8% 
    
 

3.3 Care hours in care only homes 
 
3.3.1 Care assistant hours in care only homes 
 
Most care only homes cater for more than one type of resident; only ten out 
of 76 homes accommodated only one type of resident.  
 
The median reported number of non-nursing hours delivered per resident 
per week by the 56 homes that answered this question was 26.7, with a 
weighted average of 26.9 hours prpw (Table 3.4).  
 
In care only homes where the bulk of residents had dementia the median 
was 23.2 hours and the weighted average was 24.2 hours. 
 
In care only homes where the bulk of residents were frail older people the 
median was 23.4 hours and the weighted average was 23.6 hours, both 
figures as one would expect being lower than the respective figures for care 
homes mostly catering for dementia. 
 
In care only homes where the bulk of residents had mental health needs the 
median was 45.6 hours and the weighted average was 49.5 hours. 
 
In the one care only home where the bulk of residents had physical 
disabilities the median was 37.3 hours. 
 
In care only homes where the disabilities of residents were not specified the 
median was 28.4 hours and the weighted average was 26.9 hours. 
 
These care hours are for a mixture of standard, high dependency, dementia 
and NHS continuing care residents (Table 3.4), although it is not possible 
for care homes to separate out how care staff time is allocated between 
resident types. 
 

P
age 67



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire            Staff hours 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  12 

Table 3.4 Care hours per resident per week by main resident 
disability in care only homes 

 
Non-nursing care hours in 
homes primarily for: Minimum Median Weighted 

average Maximum 

 	 	 	 	
Frail older people  20.6 23.4 23.6 31.1 
Dementia 16.6 23.2 24.2 48.8 
Mental health 12.0 45.6 49.5 90.8 
Physical disabilities *  37.3   
Residents unspecified 19.0 28.4 26.9 30.3 
     
All residents 12.0 26.7 26.9 90.8 
 	 	 	 	

* Only one care home 
 
These figures for care assistant hours record all the time they are on duty 
and include meetings, time spent in administration and handovers between 
shifts, but not training. Lincolnshire's reported figures for older people and 
those with dementia are consistent with those we have seen in various 
Indicative Cost of Care analyses. 
 
3.3.2 Care staff skill mix in care only homes  
 
Responding nursing homes did not specify care staff qualifications for 29 
per cent of care hours, instead giving a combined figure mostly for care staff 
with and without NVQ2 (Table 3.5). In the second part of the Table we have 
re-allocated these combined hours according to the ratio of staff with and 
without NVQ2 in that class of home. 
 
Some managerial hours are rostered, and we have counted these as senior 
care hours.  
 

Across all care only homes 22 per cent of hours are delivered by senior care 
workers, more than in nursing homes. The presence of nurses usually 
makes senior care staff less necessary, so we expected to see more senior 
care worker hours in care only homes.  
 
Table 3.5 Skill mix of care assistant hours by main resident disability 

in care only homes 
 

As reported Dementia 
Frail 

older 
people 

Mental 
Health All homes 

     
Senior care worker 29% 24% 18% 22% 
Care worker NVQ2 22% 4% 12% 41% 
Care worker no NVQ2 6% 11% 5% 6% 
Combined care staff 39% 57% 65% 29% 
Activities staff 5% 4% 0% 3% 
     
Re-allocating 
combined     

     
Senior care worker 29% 24% 18% 22% 
Care worker NVQ2 53% 19% 58% 66% 
Care worker no NVQ2 14% 53% 24% 10% 
Activities staff 5% 4% 0% 3% 
     

 
The bulk of care hours in care only homes are delivered by care workers 
with an NVQ2, 66 per cent after re-allocation, which is much more than the 
13 per cent in nursing homes but explained by the presence of highly 
qualified nurses in the latter. It may also be the case that some care workers 
use a job in a nursing home to get sufficient practical experience to apply for 
nurse training, and leave when they achieve it. 
 

P
age 68



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire            Staff hours 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  13 

Care only homes have a lower percentage of hours delivered by activities 
staff, contrary to what one might expect considering that care only residents 
tend to be more active than nursing residents.  
 
In contrast to nursing homes, care only homes accommodating mostly 
people with dementia had the richest care skill mix, with 29 per cent of care 
hours being delivered by senior care workers. These homes also had the 
highest percentage of hours delivered by activities staff. 
 
Care only homes mostly for people with mental health needs had the 
weakest skill mix, reflecting the residents’ needs for support rather than 
personal care. They provided no hours delivered by activities staff. 
 
Combined care hours usually covers care staff with and without an NVQ2, 
so if combined hours are allocated between these two grades we derive the 
skill mix in the second part of Table 3.5. 
 

3.4 Care skill mix across all homes 
 
The bulk of care hours across all responding care homes in Lincolnshire was 
delivered by care staff with an NVQ2 (Table 3.6). 
 
Table 3.6 Skill mix of care assistant hours by main resident disability 

in all homes 
 
As reported    All homes 
     
Senior care worker    20% 
Care worker NVQ2    36% 
Care worker no NVQ2    5% 
Combined care staff    34% 
Activities staff    4% 
     
Re-allocating 
combined     

     
Senior care worker    20% 
Care worker NVQ2    66% 
Care worker no NVQ2    9% 
Activities staff    4% 
     

 

P
age 69



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire            Staff hours 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  14 

3.5 Use of agency staff 
 
Many care homes that spoke to our researcher reported the difficulty of 
recruiting nurses and care staff, but only five care homes reported the 
number of shifts covered by agency nurses and six reported the number of 
shifts covered by agency care staff. It appears that this difficulty recruiting 
nurses is a relatively recent occurrence. 
 
Nursing homes reported that seven per cent of nursing hours were delivered 
by agency staff and nursing and care only homes reported that one per cent 
of care staff were delivered by agency staff. This is equivalent to seven full 
time nurses and 13 full-time care assistants across the homes that 
responded, and perhaps half the number required across the county. 
 
At least one of the nursing homes is in the process of ceasing to provide 
nursing care due to the difficulty of recruiting nurses. 

3.6 Domestic and kitchen staff  
 
3.6.1 Housekeeping hours 
 
Housekeepers have become more common in care homes as the 
administrative workload of care home managers has increased, particularly 
due to the demands of CQC. Nine nursing homes and 17 care only homes 
reported employing a housekeeper. They are usually paid on an hourly basis 
at the same rate or slightly more than domestic staff. 
 
One or two homes reported employing housekeepers but used the term as 
a synonym for domestic staff, and we have counted them as such. 
 
Nursing homes that employed housekeepers did so for 0.7 hours (42 
minutes) prpw on a weighted average and care homes did so for 1.5 hours 
prpw (Table 3.7). There may be various explanations for this difference, 
including that the presence of a nurse reduces the care workload of a non-
nurse manager and therefore gives her more time for managing domestic 
staff. 
 
3.6.2 Chef & cook hours  
 
Three nursing homes reported outsourcing the meals function, including 
chefs. 
 
Nursing homes reported weighted average chef hours of 1.7 hours prpw and 
care only homes reported a weighted average of 1.8 hours prpw (Table 3.7). 
 
We did not ask about night chef hours in order to keep the survey form as 
easy to complete as possible. We recognise, however, that there a few care 
homes for people with dementia that do employ chefs overnight, as many of 
their residents do not distinguish day and night. 
 

P
age 70



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire            Staff hours 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  15 

3.6.3 Domestic and catering hours  
 
Eighteen of 26 nursing homes gave us their domestic and catering hours, 
with a weighted average of 3.9 hours prpw (Table 3.7). 
 
Table 3.7 Domestic, laundry & catering hours prpw  
 

Chef/cook hours Minimum Median Weighted 
average Maximum 

     
Care only homes 0.8 1.8 1.8 5.8 
     
Nursing homes 1.1 1.7 1.7 3.1 
     
All responding homes 0.8 1.6 1.7 5.8 
     
Domestic & catering hours     
     
Care only homes 0.8 2.0 2.5 6.7 
     
Nursing homes 2.2 3.7 3.9 6.4 
     
All responding homes 0.8 2.8 3.0 6.4 
     
Housekeeper      
     
Care only homes 0.6 1.6 1.5 2.9 
     
Nursing homes 0.5 0.8 0.7 1.1 
     
All responding homes 0.5 1.1 1.1 2.9 
     

 

Thirty-eight care only homes reported lower domestic and catering hours, a 
weighted average of 2.5 hours. 
 
Table 3.8 Domestic, laundry & catering hours prpw by main resident 

disability and registration category 
 
Chef/cook hours in homes primarily for: Care only Nursing 
 	 	
Frail older people  2.2 1.7 
Dementia 2.1 1.7 
Mental health * 5.8 - 
Physical disabilities * 3.5 - 
All residents 1.7 1.7 
   
Domestic & catering hours   
   
Frail older people  2.5 3.9 
Dementia 3.2 3.4 
Mental health * 0.8 - 
Physical disabilities * - - 
All residents 2.4 3.9 
   
Housekeeper   
   
Frail older people  1.4 0.7 
Dementia 1.9 0.8 
Mental health * 2.0 - 
Physical disabilities * 2.0 - 
All residents 1.5 0.7 
 	 	

* Only one care home 
 
Nursing homes therefore reported more domestic and catering hours than 
care only homes. There is an overlap between the duties of domestic and 

P
age 71



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire            Staff hours 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  16 

catering staff and the duties of care assistants, so the differences in 
domestic hours may be countered by the use of care staff. This is why the 
maximum numbers appear so great; domestic staff may be doing some of 
the tasks that care staff could do elsewhere. 
 
3.6.4 Domestic and kitchen hours by resident disability 
 
Table 3.8 illustrates the hours prpw for housekeeping, domestic, laundry and 
catering staff by whether nursing or care only and by resident category. As 
the numbers in each resident category are relatively small, and the numbers 
show no significant pattern, we have drawn no conclusions from these 
figures. 
 
 

3.7 Other non-managerial staff  
 
3.7.1 Administrative staff hours  
 
Previously we have collected administration and reception data separately, 
but the former are often better paid than the latter, with a broader range of 
responsibilities and wages, so we have collected them separately more 
recently. Some homes, however, were unable to separate them. 
 
Twenty-four care homes reported salaried administration staff. One group 
of homes reported employing hourly-paid hospitality assistants, whose role 
is a mixture of administrator, receptionist and guest relations. 
 
Care only homes reported the same number of hours, a weighted average 
of 0.9 hours (54 minutes) prpw and nursing homes 1.0 hour prpw 
(Table 3.9). 
 
There were no significant differences between homes primarily 
accommodating each of the resident disabilities (Table 3.9). 
 
3.7.2 Reception staff hours  
 
Reception staff generally have a narrower range of responsibilities than 
admin staff, although one group of homes reported employing hospitality 
assistants, whose role is a mixture of administrator, receptionist and guest 
relations. 
 
Care only homes reported a weighted average number of hours, 1.7 prpw, 
that was twice the 0.9 hours (54 minutes) prpw reported by nursing homes. 
Perusal of the data suggests that this is because the nursing homes that 
reported were larger than the care only homes that responded, and so could 
allocate one receptionist among more residents.   
 

P
age 72



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire            Staff hours 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  17 

The resident disability made little difference to the number of receptionist 
hours prpw, with the exception of care only dementia homes where a small 
number of homes gave an unrepresentative weighted average. 
 
Table 3.9 Admin, reception and handyman hours prpw  
 

Administration hours Minimum Median 
Weighted 

average Maximum 

     
Care only homes 0.4 0.9 1.0 2.5 
     
Nursing homes 0.6 0.9 0.9 1.5 
     
All responding homes 0.4 0.9 0.9 2.5 
     
Reception hours     
     
Care only homes 0.9 1.9 1.7 1.9 
     
Nursing homes 0.3 0.9 0.9 1.4 
     
All responding homes 0.3 1.9 15 1.9 
     
Handyman hours     
     
Care only homes 0.5 1.0 1.0 2.6 
     
Nursing homes 0.6 0.9 0.9 1.4 
     
All responding homes 0.5 0.9 1.0 2.6 
     

 

3.7.2 Employed handyman/gardener hours 
 
Table 3.10 Admin, reception and handyman/gardener hours prpw by 

main resident disability and registration category 
 
Administration hours in homes 
primarily for: Care only Nursing 

 	 	
Frail older people  1.0 0.9 
Dementia 0.9 0.8 
Mental health * - - 
Physical disabilities * - - 
All residents 0.9 0.9 
   
Reception hours   
   
Frail older people  - 0.9 
Dementia 0.9 - 
Mental health - - 
Physical disabilities * - - 
All residents 1.8 0.9 
   
Handyman/gardener   
   
Frail older people  1.2 0.9 
Dementia 1.3 0.7 
Mental health - - 
Physical disabilities * 1.0 - 
All residents 0.9 0.9 
 	 	

* Only one care home 
 
Care homes can arrange for minor repairs, maintenance and improvements 
to be done by employing a handyman or by calling in outside contractors. 

P
age 73



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire            Staff hours 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  18 

Fifty-eight care homes reported employing a handyman/gardener and 36 
care homes reported contracting for these services; some may do both. The 
following figures relate to those homes that did report hourly-paid 
handyman/gardener hours.  
 
The weighted average number of hours prpw for a handyman are 0.9 hours 
(54 minutes) in a nursing home and 1.0 hour in a care only home 
(Table 3.10). The reported range, 0.5 to 2.6 hours in care only homes, 
reflects the varying individual balance between in-house and contracted-in 
repairs, maintenance and improvements. 

3.8 Training days  
 
A nurse in a Lincolnshire nursing home is reported to receive between four 
and ten days of ongoing (ie not induction) training each year, with a weighted 
average of 7.2 (Table 3.11).  
 
A care assistant in a Lincolnshire home of either type is reported by 45 
homes to receive between two and 22 days of training each year, with a 
weighted average of 7.2. The home claiming to give 22 days may be 
including induction training, but as other homes offer 14 and 15 days it may 
be accurate.  
 
Table 3.11 Training days  
 
 Minimum Median Weighted 

average 
Maximum 

     
Nurse 4.0 6.5 6.7 10.0 
     
Care assistant  2.0 7.0 7.2 22.0 
     

 
Some homes send their staff away for training, but others do it in-house, a 
trend that seems to be increasing with the use of programs and internet 
training services. 
 
Five nursing homes reported employing a trainer, and these were equivalent 
to between 0.2 hours (12 minutes) prpw and 0.9 hours (54 minutes) prpw, 
with a weighted average of 0.4 hours (24 minutes) prpw (Table 3.12). 
 
Six care only homes reported trainer hours of between 0.1 hours (6 minutes) 
prpw and 0.6 hours (36 minutes) prpw, with a weighted average of 0.3 hours 
(18 minutes) prpw. 

P
age 74



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire            Staff hours 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  19 

Table 3.12 Trainer hours prpw by home type 
 

Trainer hours Minimum Median Weighted 
average Maximum 

     
Care only homes 0.1 0.4 0.3 0.6 
     
Nursing homes 0.2 0.4 0.4 0.8 
     
All responding homes 0.1 0.4 0.4 0.8 
     

 
The resident disability did not affect the number of trainer hours prpw (Table 
3.13). 
 
Table 3.13 Trainer hours prpw by resident disability and home type 
 

Trainer hours in homes primarily for: Care only Nursing 
 	 	
Frail older people  0.3 0.4 
Dementia 0.3 0.3 
Mental health - - 
Physical disabilities * - - 
All residents 0.3 0.4 
   

 

3.9 Staff qualifications 
 
Forty-nine homes reported the qualifications of their staff, either as numbers 
or percentages. Overall, staff were reported to be better qualified than three 
years ago. 
 
The lowest qualification, Preparing to Work in Adult Social Care, was the 
held by 99 staff in 13 care only homes, with another 65 people in 14 care 
only homes were training for it.  
 
The Level 2 Diploma in Health & Social Care has replaced the NVQ2; and 
was the highest qualification for 384 staff in 48 care homes and in 31 homes 
120 staff were training for it.  
 
The Level 3 Diploma in Health & Social Care, previously the NVQ3, was the 
highest qualification for 255 staff in 43 care homes and 79 staff in 29 homes 
were training for it. 
 
The snappily-titled Level 5 Diploma in Leadership for Health and Social Care 
and Children and Young People’s Services (the old NVQ4) had been 
achieved by at least 91 staff members in 27 homes and another 33 staff in 
23 homes were in training for it.  
 
One person held a Level 6 Graduate Diploma in Health and Social Care 
Management; no-one was training for it. 
 
Twenty-five staff in 12 homes had a relevant City & Guilds qualification; no-
one was training for it. 
 
There were 34 qualified nurses in six nursing homes, many fewer than the 
120 qualified nurses in 14 nursing homes that we found three years ago, 
confirming care homes’ claims that nurses are in very short supply. There 
were also 13 nurses in nine care only homes. Two people were training to 
become nurses in each of two care only homes.  

P
age 75



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire           Pay rates – care staff 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  20 

4. Care staff wages in care homes  
 
4.1 Nurses’ wages  
 
4.1.1 Nurses’ wages in 2017 
 
A nurse in Lincolnshire is reported to be paid between £12.00 and £17.00 
for a weekday daytime hour, with a weighted average of £14.63 (Table 4.1). 
 
Weekend rates are the same as weekday ones in all 21 nursing homes that 
reported nurses' pay rates, and all 21 nursing homes pay the same for a 
nurses' daytime and night pay.  
 
Bank holidays, however, command a significant premium in 16 nursing 
homes but five homes pay the same.  
 
Table 4.1 Nursing wages by time of week and day  
 

 Minimum Median Weighted 
average 

Maximum 

     
Weekday daytime  12.00 14.25 14.63 17.00 
Weekend daytime  12.00 14.25 14.83 21.00 
Bank holiday daytime  12.00 19.02 20.18 30.00 
Weekday night  12.00 14.31 14.66 17.00 
Weekend night  12.00 14.31 14.87 21.00 
Bank holiday night 12.00 19.02 20.21 30.00 
     

 
4.1.2 Nurses’ wages by economic zone 
 
The highest paid nurses are in Louth and Boston, followed by Grantham, all 
being paid a weighted average of at least £15 for a weekday daytime hour 

(Table 4.2). The poorest paid nurses work in Skegness, at £13.53, followed 
by Mablethorpe where pay is £14.02. 
 
Table 4.2 Nurses’ wages by economic zone 
 
Nurses’ wages in care homes in:  £ per hour 
 	  
Boston  15.43 
Bourne  14.80 
Gainsborough  14.50 
Grantham  15.00 
Horncastle   
Lincoln  14.16 
Louth  15.41 
Mablethorpe  14.02 
Market Rasen   
Skegness  13.53 
Sleaford   
Spalding and Holbeach  14.25 
Stamford  14.25 
   

Weighted average daytime weekday hour 
 
4.1.3 Nurses’ wages by resident disability 
 
Table 4.3 shows the analysis of nurses’ pay rates by the main resident 
disability in the care home. Although it would appear that nurses in dementia 
homes are better paid a study of the raw data suggests that there is more 
variability between homes within each category than there is between 
categories, and therefore no such conclusion should be drawn. 
 

P
age 76



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire           Pay rates – care staff 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  21 

Table 4.3 Nurses’ wages by resident disability and home type 
 

Nurses’ wages in homes primarily for:  Nursing 
 	  
Dementia  15.17 
Frail older people  14.36 
Mental health   
Physical disabilities *   
All residents  14.63 
   

Weighted average daytime weekday hour 
 
 

4.2 Care staff wages – no NVQ2 
 
4.2.1 Care assistant wages – no NVQ2 
 
An adult care assistant without an NVQ2 in Lincolnshire is reported to be 
paid between £7.40 (below the national living wage for 25 year olds) and 
£10.00 for a weekday daytime hour, with a weighted average of £7.54 (Table 
4.4).  
 
Table 4.4 Care assistant with no NVQ2 wages by time of week and 

day  
 
 Minimum Median Weighted 

average 
Maximum 

     
Weekday daytime  7.40 7.50 7.54 10.00 
Weekend daytime  7.40 7.50 7.60 10.00 
Bank holiday daytime  7.50 9.38 9.55 20.00 
Weekday night  7.40 7.50 7.59 8.88 
Weekend night  7.40 7.50 7.60 8.88 
Bank holiday night 7.50 9.38 10.13 17.76 
     

 
Weekend rates are the same as weekday ones in 57 care homes and in 18 
there is a premium for weekends.  
 
Fifty-seven care homes paid higher rates for bank holiday days and bank 
holiday nights and the other 18 paid the same. 
 
Eight care homes paid a premium for night working; the other 67 paid the 
same. The maximum figure in the table is lower at night only because the 
care home that paid £10 for a daytime hour does not employ staff with no 
NVQ2 at night. This is not unusual; several care homes employ only 
qualified care staff at night. 

P
age 77



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire           Pay rates – care staff 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  22 

One care home reported a night time hourly rate of £4.72 for all grades of 
care staff, which is below any adult minimum wage, and assuming no-one 
young enough to earn this lawfully would be a senior care worker we have 
excluded it as an outlier or error. 
 
4.2.2 Care staff with no NVQ2 wages by economic zone 
 
The highest paid care staff with no NVQ2 are in Mablethorpe, at a weighted 
average of £7.95, followed by Louth, Skegness, Market Rasen, 
Gainsborough and Bourne, all being paid more than the national living wage 
for a weekday daytime hour (Table 4.5). Care homes in all other zones pay 
the national living wage of £7.50. 
 
Table 4.5 Care assistant with no NVQ2 wages by economic zone 
 

Wages in care homes in:  £ per hour 
 	  
Boston  7.50 
Bourne  7.52 
Gainsborough  7.55 
Grantham  7.50 
Horncastle  7.52 
Lincoln  7.53 
Louth  7.77 
Mablethorpe  7.95 
Market Rasen  7.53 
Skegness  7.58 
Sleaford  7.50 
Spalding and Holbeach  7.50 
Stamford  7.50 
   

Weighted average daytime weekday hour 
 

4.2.3 Care staff with no NVQ2 wages by resident disability 
 
Care workers with no NVQ2 are better paid in homes that accommodate 
primarily people with mental health needs, but homes primarily for the other 
categories of resident disability pay effectively the same (Table 4.6). The 
higher pay in mental health care homes may reflect the sector; voluntary 
sector care homes generally pay better than voluntary sector ones, and 
most of the mental health homes are in the voluntary sector.  
 
Nursing and care only homes pay the same rates. 
 
Table 4.6 Care assistant with no NVQ2 wages by resident disability 

and home type 
 
Wages in homes primarily for: Care only Nursing 
 	 	
Dementia 7.51 7.57 
Frail older people 7.53 7.52 
Mental health 8.63  
Physical disabilities * 7.50  
All residents 7.55 7.54 
   

Weighted average daytime weekday hour 
* One care home 
 

P
age 78



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire           Pay rates – care staff 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  23 

4.3 Care assistant wages – with NVQ2 
 
4.3.1 Care assistant wages – with NVQ2 
 
A care assistant with an NVQ2 in Lincolnshire is paid between £7.34 (below 
the adult national living wage) and £10.00 for a weekday daytime hour, with 
a weighted average of £7.70 (Table 4.7). 
 
Weekend rates are the same as weekday ones in all but 15 of 83 care 
homes. 
 
Bank holiday rates are the same as weekday ones in all but 19 of 83 care 
homes. 
 
Twenty-five care homes paid a premium for night working; the other 54 paid 
the same. 
 
An NVQ2, therefore, earns its owner a weighted average weekday daytime 
premium of 16 new pence over someone with no NVQ2. 
 
Table 4.7 Care assistant with NVQ2 wages by time of week and day 
 

 Minimum Median Weighted 
average 

Maximum 

     
Weekday daytime  7.34 7.60 7.70 10.00 
Weekend daytime  7.34 7.60 7.75 10.00 
Bank holiday daytime  7.50 9.56 9.98 20.00 
Weekday night  7.34 7.65 7.85 9.45 
Weekend night  7.34 7.65 7.90 9.45 
Bank holiday night 7.50 9.56 10.21 18.90 
     

 

4.3.2 Care staff with NVQ2 wages by economic zone 
 
The highest paid care assistants with an NVQ2 are in Stamford and 
Mablethorpe, paying a weighted average of over £7.80, followed by Market 
Rasen and Bourne, at £7.75 for a weekday daytime hour (Table 4.8). The 
poorest paid care assistants with an NVQ2 work in Sleaford, at £7.50, the 
national living wage for people 25 and over. 
 
Table 4.8 Care assistant with NVQ2 wages by economic zone 
 
Wages in care homes in:  £ per hour 
 	  
Boston  7.72 
Bourne  7.75 
Gainsborough  7.71 
Grantham  7.62 
Horncastle  7.58 
Lincoln  7.68 
Louth  7.74 
Mablethorpe  7.81 
Market Rasen  7.75 
Skegness  7.68 
Sleaford  7.50 
Spalding and Holbeach  7.69 
Stamford  7.83 
   

Weighted average daytime weekday hour 
 
4.3.3 Care staff with NVQ2 wages by resident disability 
 
Care workers with an NVQ2 are better paid in homes that accommodate 
primarily people with mental health needs. The higher pay in mental health 
care homes may reflect the sector; voluntary sector care homes generally 

P
age 79



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire           Pay rates – care staff 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  24 

pay better than voluntary sector ones, and most of the mental health homes 
are in the voluntary sector. 
 
Homes primarily for frail older residents appear to pay slightly more, but it is 
questionable whether this premium would stand up to statistical analysis 
(Table 4.9). Care only homes appear to pay slightly higher rates than nursing 
home, and this may reflect the greater responsibilities in homes where there 
is no nurse in overall control. 
 
Table 4.9 Care assistant with NVQ2 wages by resident disability and 

home type 
 

Wages in homes primarily for: Care only Nursing 
 	 	
Dementia 7.56 7.64 
Frail older people 7.71 7.65 
Mental health 8.01  
Physical disabilities * 7.50  
All residents 7.72 7.64 
   

Weighted average daytime weekday hour 
* One care home 
 
 

4.4 Senior care assistant wages  
 
4.4.1 Senior care assistant wages  
 
A senior care assistant in Lincolnshire is paid between £7.50 (the adult 
national living wage) and £12.00 for a weekday daytime hour, with a 
weighted average of £8.44 (Table 4.10). 
 
Weekend rates are the same as weekday ones in all but 17 of 79 care 
homes. 
 
Bank holiday rates are the same as weekday ones in all but 20 of 79 care 
homes. 
 
Twenty-four care homes paid a premium for night working and two paid less; 
the other 55 paid the same. 
 
An NVQ2, therefore, earns its owner a weighted average weekday daytime 
premium of 90 new pence over someone with no NVQ2. 
 
Table 4.10 Senior care assistant wages by time of week and day 
 
 Minimum Median Weighted 

average 
Maximum 

     
Weekday daytime  7.50 8.55 8.44 12.00 
Weekend daytime  7.50 8.55 8.51 12.00 
Bank holiday daytime  7.50 10.69 10.92 24.00 
Weekday night  7.50 8.55 8.61 12.00 
Weekend night  7.50 8.55 8.68 12.00 
Bank holiday night 7.50 10.69 11.01 22.12 
     

 

P
age 80



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire           Pay rates – care staff 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  25 

4.4.2 Senior care staff wages by economic zone 
 
The highest paid senior care assistants are in Louth at a weighted average 
of £9.52 and Sleaford at £9.00 for a weekday daytime hour (Table 4.11). 
The poorest paid senior care assistants work in Sleaford, at £8.14, followed 
by Gainsborough where pay is £8.22. 
 
Table 4.11 Senior care assistant wages by economic zone 
 

Wages in care homes in:  £ per hour 
 	  
Boston  8.45 
Bourne  8.56 
Gainsborough  8.22 
Grantham  8.42 
Horncastle  8.37 
Lincoln  8.42 
Louth  9.52 
Mablethorpe  8.28 
Market Rasen  8.42 
Skegness  8.14 
Sleaford  9.00 
Spalding and Holbeach  8.43 
Stamford  8.80 
   

Weighted average daytime weekday hour 
 
4.4.3 Senior care staff wages by resident disability 
 
Senior care workers are better paid in homes that accommodate primarily 
people with mental health needs, although the sample here was small. The 
higher pay in mental health care homes may reflect the sector; voluntary 
sector care homes generally pay better than voluntary sector ones, and 
most of the mental health homes are in the voluntary sector. 

Care only homes primarily for frail older residents appear to pay slightly 
more than those for dementia, but it is questionable whether this premium 
would stand up to rigorous statistical analysis (Table 4.12). Care only homes 
appear to pay slightly higher rates than nursing home, and this may reflect 
the greater responsibilities in homes where there is no nurse in overall 
control. 
 
Table 4.12 Senior care assistant wages by resident disability and 

home type 
 
Wages in homes primarily for: Care only Nursing 
 	 	
Dementia 8.11 8.51 
Frail older people 8.54 8.36 
Mental health 10.03  
Physical disabilities * 9.00  
All residents 8.49 8.33 
   

Weighted average daytime weekday hour 
* One care home 
 

P
age 81



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire           Pay rates – care staff 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  26 

4.5 Activities co-ordinator wages 
 
4.5.1 Activities co-ordinator wages  
 
An activities co-ordinator in Lincolnshire is paid between £7.41 (below the 
adult national living wage) and £8.36 for a weekday daytime hour, with a 
weighted average of £7.70 (Table 4.13). 
 
Weekend rates are the same as weekday ones in all but 17 of 70 care 
homes. 
 
Bank holiday rates are the same as weekday ones in all but 13 of 70 care 
homes. 
 
An activities co-ordinator's wages, therefore, are comparable with a care 
assistant holding an NVQ2. 
 
Table 4.13 Activities co-ordinator wages by day of week  
 

 Minimum Median Weighted 
average 

Maximum 

     
Weekday daytime  7.41 7.65 7.70 8.36 
Weekend daytime  7.41 7.84 7.78 8.36 
Bank holiday daytime  7.50 9.80 9.81 16.72 
     

 
4.5.2 Activities co-ordinator wages by economic zone 
 
The highest paid activities co-ordinators are in Grantham at a weighted 
average of £7.81, followed by Bourne at £7.79 for a weekday daytime hour 
(Table 4.14). The poorest paid activities co-ordinators work in Mablethorpe, 
at £7.45, below the national living wage for people aged 25 and over. 

Table 4.14 Care assistant with no NVQ2 wages by economic zone 
 
Wages in care homes in:  £ per hour 
 	  
Boston  7.74 
Bourne  7.79 
Gainsborough  7.58 
Grantham  7.81 
Horncastle  7.52 
Lincoln  7.70 
Louth  7.50 
Mablethorpe  7.45 
Market Rasen  7.65 
Skegness  7.70 
Sleaford  7.60 
Spalding and Holbeach  7.75 
Stamford  7.76 
   

Weighted average daytime weekday hour 
 
4.5.3 Activities co-ordinator wages by resident disability 
 
An activities co-ordinator is paid approximately the same regardless of the 
primary disability of the residents (Table 4.15). 
 

P
age 82



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire           Pay rates – care staff 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  27 

Table 4.15 Activities co-ordinator wages by resident disability and 
home type 

 
Wages in homes primarily for: Care only Nursing 
 	 	
Dementia 7.67 7.63 
Frail older people 7.67 7.67 
Mental health   
Physical disabilities *   
All residents 7.73 7.65 
   

Weighted average daytime weekday hour 
* One care home 
 

4.6 Other care staff 
 
Sixteen homes reported hourly-paid deputy managers, earning a weighted 
average of £11.53 for a weekday daytime hour and other rates as shown in 
Table 4.16. 
 
Table 4.16 Deputy manager wages by time of week and day 
 
 Minimum Median Weighted 

average 
Maximum 

     
Weekday daytime  7.50 10.00 11.53 16.00 
Weekend daytime  7.50 10.00 11.53 16.00 
Bank holiday daytime  7.60 12.50 14.74 20.00 
Weekday night  7.60 10.00 12.05 16.00 
Weekend night  7.60 10.00 12.05 16.00 
Bank holiday night 7.60 12.50 14.88 20.00 
     

 
 
 
Table 4.17 Nurse deputy wages by time of week and day 
 
 Minimum Median Weighted 

average 
Maximum 

     
Weekday daytime  15.00 15.00 15.32 16.30 
Weekend daytime  15.00 15.00 15.32 16.30 
Bank holiday daytime  18.75 18.75 20.15 24.45 
Weekday night  15.00 15.00 15.32 16.30 
Weekend night  15.00 15.00 15.32 16.30 
Bank holiday night 18.75 18.75 20.15 24.45 
     

 

P
age 83



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire           Pay rates – care staff 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  28 

Five homes reported employing an hourly-paid nurse deputy, earning a 
weighted average of £15.32 for a weekday daytime hour and other rates as 
shown in Table 4.17. 
 
Other hourly-paid care roles reported, with their daytime weekday hourly 
rate, included: 
• care leader £8.97 
• floor leader £13.35 
• activities leader £12.45 
• head of care nurse £15.76 
• shift runners £7.60 
• hostesses £7.50 
• senior support £7.80 
• nutritional assistant £8.22. 
 
A few homes paid a small premium, around 30 new pence per hour, for staff 
who were working towards a higher qualification. 
 
 

4.7 Comparison of care staff wages in 2014 and 2017 
 
Nursing homes reported nurse wages in 2017 that were 17 per cent higher 
than in 2014 (Table 4.18). 
 
Care homes reported senior care staff wages that were 14 per cent higher 
in 2017 than in 2014 
 
Table 4.18 Weighted average nurse and senior care wages by year 
 
 2014 2017 
 Nurse Senior Nurse Senior 
     
Weekday daytime  12.52 7.40 14.63 8.44 
Weekend daytime  12.63 7.43 14.83 8.49 
Bank holiday daytime  12.54 7.43 20.18 12.30 
Weekday night  12.65 7.46 14.66 8.58 
Weekend night  17.38 9.30 14.87 8.61 
Bank holiday night 17.55 9.49 20.21 10.98 
     

 
Table 4.19 Weighted average care assistant wages by year 
 
 2014 2017 
 NVQ2 No NVQ2 NVQ2 No NVQ2 
     
Weekday daytime  6.66	 6.48	 7.70 7.54 
Weekend daytime  6.90	 6.72	 7.75 7.60 
Bank holiday daytime  6.67	 6.49	 9.98 9.55 
Weekday night  6.92 6.73 7.84 7.56 
Weekend night  8.45 8.23 7.89 7.57 
Bank holiday night 8.68 8.49 10.18 10.09 
     

Weighted average daytime weekday hour 

P
age 84



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire           Pay rates – care staff 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  29 

Care homes reported wages for care staff with an NVQ2 that were 16 per 
cent higher in 2017 than in 2014 (Table 4.19). 
 
Care homes reported wages for care staff without an NVQ2 that were 16 per 
cent higher in 2017 than in 2014. 
 

4.8 Ranking of care staff wages by economic zone 
 
We took the care staff skill in Table 3.5 and adjusted to remove the 
percentage where staff grade hours were combined. We then applied the 
percentage of care hours provided by each grade of care staff to that grade’s 
weighted average weekday daytime hourly rate, to give the care staff skill 
mix rates of pay in Table 4.20. 
 
This suggests that care staff pay rates are highest in Louth at £8.39 for a 
weekday daytime hour followed by Stamford and Bourne. The lowest care 
staff rates are in Horncastle at £7.92 followed by Skegness and 
Gainsborough. 
 
Table 4.20 Care staff all grades wages by economic zone 
 
Wages in care homes in:  £ per hour 
 	  
Boston  8.04 
Bourne  8.09 
Gainsborough  7.95 
Grantham  7.97 
Horncastle  7.92 
Lincoln  8.00 
Louth  8.39 
Mablethorpe  8.06 
Market Rasen  8.04 
Skegness  7.93 
Sleaford  8.07 
Spalding and Holbeach  8.02 
Stamford  8.21 
   

Weighted average daytime weekday hour 
Senior care staff, care staff with NVQ2, care staff without NVQ2 and 
activities co-ordinators. 

P
age 85



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire          Pay rates – non-care staff 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  30 

5. Non-care staff wages in care homes  
 
5.1 Chefs  
 
5.1.1 Chefs/cooks’ wages 
 
A chef or cook in Lincolnshire is paid between £7:50 (the national living 
wage) and £11.00 for a weekday daytime hour, with a weighted average of 
£8.51 (Table 5.1). 
 
Table 5.1 Chefs/cooks’ wages by day of week  
 

 Minimum Median Weighted 
average 

Maximum 

     
Weekday daytime  7.50 8.00 8.51 11.00 
Weekend daytime  7.50 8.20 8.57 11.00 
Bank holiday daytime  7.50 9.22 10.98 22.00 
     

 
Forty-five care homes reported paying the same for weekends as for 
weekdays, fifteen paid a premium and one reported a lower rate for weekend 
working; this may be one member of staff who works only weekends. 
Weighted average weekend rates are therefore slightly higher than weekday 
ones 
 
Eighteen care homes reported paying the same for bank holidays as for 
weekdays; 43 paid a premium for bank holidays that in some cases was also 
paid for weekends.  
 
A chef or cook, therefore, earns a little more than a senior care assistant. 
 

5.1.2 Chef wages by economic zone 
 
The highest paid chefs are in Grantham, at £9.04, followed by Stamford at 
a weighted average of £9.02 for a weekday daytime hour. The poorest paid 
chefs work in Mablethorpe at the national living wage for people aged 25 
and over, £7.50. 
 
Table 5.2 Chefs’ wages by economic zone 
 
Wages in care homes in:  £ per hour 
 	  
Boston  8.43 
Bourne  8.94 
Gainsborough  8.15 
Grantham  9.04 
Horncastle  8.13 
Lincoln  8.46 
Louth  8.83 
Mablethorpe  7.50 
Market Rasen  8.26 
Skegness  8.31 
Sleaford  8.00 
Spalding and Holbeach  8.49 
Stamford  9.02 
   

Weighted average daytime weekday hour 
 
5.1.3 Chef/cook wages by resident disability 
 
The higher pay for chefs in mental health care homes may reflect the sector; 
voluntary sector care homes generally pay better than voluntary sector 
ones, and most of the mental health homes are in the voluntary sector (Table 
5.3). 
 

P
age 86



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire          Pay rates – non-care staff 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  31 

Overall chefs in care only homes and nursing homes are paid the same. 
 
Table 5.3 Chefs’ wages by resident disability and home type 
 

Wages in homes primarily for: Care only Nursing 
 	 	
Dementia 7.91 8.38 
Frail older people 7.91 8.96 
Mental health 8.50  
Physical disabilities * 7.60  
All residents 8.51 8.51 
   

Weighted average daytime weekday hour 
* One care home 
 

5.2 Catering & domestic staff 
 
5.2.1 Domestic & catering wages 
 
A domestic, laundry or catering assistant in Lincolnshire is paid between 
£7.23 (less than the national living wage for 25 year olds) and £8.17 for a 
weekday daytime hour, with a weighted average of £7.57 (Table 5.4).  
 
Weekday rates are the same as weekend ones in all but 16 care homes, but 
bank holidays command a premium in 52 out of 70 care homes. 
 
Where domestic and catering staff are employed at night their pay rates are 
the same as during the day. 
 
A domestic or catering assistant, therefore, earns about the same as a care 
assistant with no NVQ2. 
 
Table 5.4 Domestic & catering wages by time and day of week  
 
 Minimum Median Weighted 

average 
Maximum 

     
Weekday daytime  7.23 7.50 7.57 8.17 
Weekend daytime  7.23 7.50 7.63 8.17 
Bank holiday daytime  7.50 9.38 9.74 16.34 
     

 
5.2.2 Domestic & catering staff wages by economic zone 
 
The highest paid domestic & catering staff are in Louth, Market Rasen and 
Skegness, all being paid a weighted average of at least £7.60 for a weekday 
daytime hour (Table 5.5). The poorest paid domestic & catering staff work 
in Horncastle at £7.50, the national living wage for people aged 25 and over. 

P
age 87



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire          Pay rates – non-care staff 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  32 

Table 5.5 Domestic & catering wages by economic zone 
 

Wages in care homes in:  £ per hour 
 	  
Boston  7.53 
Bourne  7.57 
Gainsborough  7.58 
Grantham  7.52 
Horncastle  7.50 
Lincoln  7.59 
Louth  7.69 
Mablethorpe  7.51 
Market Rasen  7.67 
Skegness  7.63 
Sleaford  7.50 
Spalding and Holbeach  7.56 
Stamford  7.66 
   

Weighted average daytime weekday hour 
 

5.2.3 Domestic & catering staff wages by resident disability 
 
The type of care home, or primary category of resident, does not appear to 
affect the rates of domestic and catering staff pay (Table 5.6). 
 
Table 5.6 Domestic & catering wages by resident disability and home 

type 
 
Nurses’ wages in homes primarily for: Care only Nursing 
 	 	
Dementia 7.51 7.55 
Frail older people 7.51 7.54 
Mental health 7.50  
Physical disabilities *   
All residents 7.59 7.54 
   

Weighted average daytime weekday hour 
 

P
age 88



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire          Pay rates – non-care staff 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  33 

5.3 Housekeepers 
 
5.3.1 Housekeepers' wages 
 
Fifty care homes employed housekeepers during the week and 46 employed 
them at weekends. A housekeeper in Lincolnshire is paid between the adult 
national living wage of £7.50 and £10.57 for a weekday daytime hour, with 
a weighted average of £7.80 (Table 5.7). 
 
No care homes reported paying a housekeeper less than their domestic and 
catering staff; all paid the same or more although the premium was 
frequently of on 10-20 new pence. That a housekeeper can earn the same 
as domestic staff may be counter-intuitive but we have observed the same 
in other local authorities.  
 
Weekend rates are the same as weekday ones in all but two care homes, 
but bank holidays command a premium in 37 out of 50 care homes. 
 
Table 5.7 Housekeepers' wages by time and day of week  
 

 Minimum Median Weighted 
average 

Maximum 

     
Weekday daytime  7.50 7.60 7.80 10.57 
Weekend daytime  7.50 7.65 7.82 10.57 
Bank holiday daytime  7.50 9.56 10.75 21.14 
     

 
5.3.2 Housekeepers' wages by economic zone 
 
The highest paid housekeepers are in Bourne at £8.58 for a weekday 
daytime hour, followed by Louth at £8.25. The poorest paid housekeepers 
work in Market Rasen for the national living wage, £7.50, followed by 
Horncastle where pay is £7.54. We do not know the pay rates in Sleaford. 

Table 5.8 Housekeepers' wages by economic zone 
 
Wages in care homes in:  £ per hour 
 	  
Boston  7.67 
Bourne  8.58 
Gainsborough  7.61 
Grantham  8.15 
Horncastle  7.54 
Lincoln  7.63 
Louth  8.25 
Mablethorpe  7.60 
Market Rasen  7.50 
Skegness  7.68 
Sleaford   
Spalding and Holbeach  7.62 
Stamford  7.65 
   

Weighted average daytime weekday hour 
 
5.3.3 Housekeeper wages by resident disability 
 
The primary category of resident does not appear to affect the rates of 
housekeeper pay, but it does appear that housekeepers in nursing homes 
are paid more than in care only homes, although the difference might not 
stand up to rigorous statistical analysis (Table 5.9). 
 
The higher pay for chefs in mental health care homes may reflect the sector; 
voluntary sector care homes generally pay better than voluntary sector 
ones, and most of the mental health homes are in the voluntary sector. 
 

P
age 89



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire          Pay rates – non-care staff 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  34 

Table 5.9 Housekeeper wages by resident disability and home type 
 

Wages in homes primarily for: Care only Nursing 
 	 	
Dementia 7.61 7.72 
Frail older people 7.60 7.99 
Mental health 8.06  
Physical disabilities * 7.50  
All residents 7.74 7.87 
   

Weighted average daytime weekday hour 
* One care home 
 
 

5.4 Administrative staff 
 
5.4.1 Admin staff 
 
An administrator in Lincolnshire care homes is paid between the adult 
national living wage of £7.50 and £12.57 for a weekday daytime hour, with 
a weighted average of £8.61, making their pay higher than care staff but 
lower than nurses. The range of skills is variable in this category; at the 
upper end of the scale full secretarial skills may be required (Table 5.10). 
 
All the care homes that reported weekend rates paid the same for a 
weekday, nearly half of homes did not state a weekend rate. Half of the 
homes that paid for bank holidays paid a premium for them. 
 
Table 5.10 Administrative staff wages by time and day of week  
 
 Minimum Median Weighted 

average 
Maximum 

     
Weekday daytime  7.50 8.14 8.61 12.57 
Weekend daytime  7.50 8.55 8.92 12.57 
Bank holiday daytime  7.50 10.69 11.80 25.14 
     

 
5.4.2 Administrative staff wages by economic zone 
 
The highest paid administrative staff are in Grantham at £10.05 for a 
weighted average weekday daytime hour, followed by Boston at £9.68 
(Table 5.11). The poorest paid administrative staff work in Mablethorpe 
where pay is £7.50, the national living wage. 
 

P
age 90



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire          Pay rates – non-care staff 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  35 

Table 5.11 Administrative staff wages by economic zone 
 

Wages in care homes in:  £ per hour 
 	  
Boston  9.68 
Bourne  8.41 
Gainsborough  8.91 
Grantham  10.05 
Horncastle  7.78 
Lincoln  8.25 
Louth  8.19 
Mablethorpe  7.50 
Market Rasen  7.88 
Skegness  8.20 
Sleaford  7.60 
Spalding and Holbeach  8.55 
Stamford  8.55 
   

Weighted average daytime weekday hour 
 
5.4.3 Administrator wages by resident disability 
 
The type of care home, or primary category of resident, does not appear to 
affect the rates of administrator pay. Nursing homes that identified their 
residents appear to pay more than care only homes, but when homes that 
did not identify their residents are taken into account care only homes pay 
more (Table 5.12). 
 

Table 5.12 Administrative wages by resident disability and home type 
 
Wages in homes primarily for: Care only Nursing 
 	 	
Dementia 8.30 8.54 
Frail older people 8.46 8.64 
Mental health   
Physical disabilities *   
All residents 8.67 8.49 
   

Weighted average daytime weekday hour 
* One care home 
 

P
age 91



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire          Pay rates – non-care staff 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  36 

5.5 Reception staff 
 
5.5.1 Reception staff 
 
A receptionist in Lincolnshire care homes is paid between the adult national 
living wage of £7.50 and £9.00 for a weekday daytime hour, with a weighted 
average of £7.52, making their pay comparable with care staff with no NVQ2 
(Table 5.13). The range is narrower than for administrative staff. 
 
Fourteen care homes that reported weekend rates paid a premium for a 
weekend; 15 paid the same.  
 
All 28 care homes that paid for bank holidays paid a premium for them. 
 
Table 5.13 Reception staff wages by time and day of week  
 

 Minimum Median Weighted 
average 

Maximum 

     
Weekday daytime  7.50 7.90 7.75 9.00 
Weekend daytime  7.50 8.10 7.82 8.10 
Bank holiday daytime  8.10 8.74 9.44 15.06 
     

 
5.5.2 Reception staff wages by economic zone 
 
The highest paid receptionists are in Boston at £8.05 for a weighted average 
weekday daytime hour, followed by Gainsborough, Market Rasen and 
Skegness, all being paid £7.90 (Table 5.14). The poorest paid receptionists 
work in Bourne, at £7.58, followed by Spalding and Holbeach where pay is 
£7.61. 
 

Table 5.14 Reception staff wages by economic zone 
 
Wages in care homes in:  £ per hour 
 	  
Boston  8.05 
Bourne  7.58 
Gainsborough  7.90 
Grantham  7.75 
Horncastle   
Lincoln  7.72 
Louth   
Mablethorpe   
Market Rasen  7.90 
Skegness  7.90 
Sleaford   
Spalding and Holbeach  7.61 
Stamford  7.78 
   

Weighted average daytime weekday hour 
 
5.5.3 Receptionist wages by resident disability 
 
The primary category of resident does not appear to affect the rates of 
administrator pay, but when homes that did not identify their residents are 
taken into account care only homes appear to pay more (Table 5.15). 
 

P
age 92



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire          Pay rates – non-care staff 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  37 

Table 5.15 Receptionist wages by resident disability and home type 
 

Wages in homes primarily for: Care only Nursing 
 	 	
Dementia 7.84 7.50 
Frail older people 7.50 7.60 
Mental health   
Physical disabilities *   
All residents 7.81 7.58 
   

Weighted average daytime weekday hour 
* One care home 
 

5.6 Handyman, maintenance man, gardener 
 
5.6.1 Handyman, maintenance man, gardener wages 
 
Some care homes employ a handyman and/or gardener but others use 
outside contractors; some use a mixture of both, calling in contractors for 
larger tasks. A handyman may also be the gardener or the driver.  
 
A handyman or maintenance man in the 67 Lincolnshire care homes that 
reported a figure is paid between the adult national living wage of £7.50 and 
£10.50 for a weekday daytime hour, with a weighted average of £8.16 
(Table 5.16).  
 
Fifty-two homes reported weekday pay rates, of which 15 paid a small 
premium over weekdays and 37 paid the same.  
 
Fifty-five reported bank holiday rates, of which 43 paid a premium and 12 
paid the same. 
 
Table 5.16 Handyman wages by day of week  
 
 Minimum Median Weighted 

average 
Maximum 

     
Weekday daytime  7.50 7.90 8.16 10.50 
Weekend daytime  7.50 8.10 8.22 10.50 
Bank holiday daytime  7.50 10.19 10.36 20.00 
     

 
5.6.2 Handymen and/or gardeners’ wages by economic zone 
 
The highest paid handymen and/or gardeners are in Louth at £8.83 for a 
weighted average weekday daytime hour followed by Grantham and Boston 
at £8.51 (Table 5.17).  

P
age 93



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire          Pay rates – non-care staff 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  38 

Table 5.17 Handyman/gardener wages by economic zone 
 

Wages in care homes in:  £ per hour 
 	  
Boston  8.51 
Bourne  8.01 
Gainsborough  8.34 
Grantham  8.51 
Horncastle  7.79 
Lincoln  8.04 
Louth  8.83 
Mablethorpe  7.95 
Market Rasen  7.84 
Skegness  8.11 
Sleaford  7.80 
Spalding and Holbeach  8.00 
Stamford  7.97 
   

Weighted average daytime weekday hour 
 
Table 5.18 Handyman/gardener wages by resident disability and 

home type 
 

Wages in homes primarily for: Care only Nursing 
 	 	
Dementia 8.22 8.45 
Frail older people 8.18 8.09 
Mental health   
Physical disabilities * 7.50  
All residents 8.14 8.19 
   

Weighted average daytime weekday hour 
* One care home 

The poorest paid handymen and/or gardeners work in Horncastle at £7.79, 
followed by Sleaford where the pay is £7.80. 
 
5.6.2 Handyman/gardener wages by resident disability 
 
The type of care home, or primary category of resident, does not appear to 
affect the rates of handyman/gardener pay (Table 5.18). 
 
 

P
age 94



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire          Pay rates – non-care staff 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  39 

5.7 Other non-care staff 
 
5.7.1 Deputy managers 
 
Most deputy managers are salaried, but 16 care homes reported hourly 
rates for deputy managers. 
 
A deputy manager can earn between the national living wage and £16.00 
per hour, with a weighted average of £11.44. He therefore earns more than 
a senior care worker but less than a nurse. 
 
Table 5.19 Deputy manager wages by day of week  
 

 Minimum Median Weighted 
average 

Maximum 

     
Weekday daytime  7.50 9.95 11.44 16.00 
Weekend daytime  7.50 9.95 11.44 16.00 
Bank holiday daytime  7.60 12.50 15.05 20.00 
     

 
5.7.2 Other non-care roles 
 
Other hourly-paid care roles reported, with their daytime weekday hourly 
rate, included: 
• trainer £9.00 
• gardener £7.75 
• cooks £7.89 (compared with £9.06 for chefs) 
• laundry assistant £7.73 
• assistant handyman £7.50 
• manager £11.50 
• operations officer £8.52. 
 

5.8 Comparison of non-care staff wages in 2014 and 2017 
 
Care homes reported chef wages that were 13 per cent higher in 2017 than 
in 2014 (Table 5.20). 
 
Care homes reported wages domestic staff that were 18 per cent higher in 
2017 than in 2014. 
 
Table 5.20 Weighted average chef and domestic wages by year 
 
 2014 2017 
 Chef Domestic Chef Domestic 
     
Weekday daytime  7.53 6.43 8.51 7.57 
Weekend daytime  7.51 6.40 8.57 7.64 
Bank holiday daytime  9.55 6.45 10.98 9.74 
     

 
Care homes reported the mean of administrator and receptionist wages that 
were 14 per cent higher in 2017 than in 2014 (Table 5.21). 
 
Care homes reported handyman/gardener wages that were 11 per cent 
higher in 2017 than in 2014. 
 
Table 5.21 Weighted average admin & reception and handyman 

wages by year 
 
 2014 2017 
 A & R Handyman A & R Handyman 
     
Weekday daytime  7.19 7.34 8.18 8.16 
Weekend daytime  7.18 7.37 8.37 8.22 
Bank holiday daytime  8.55 8.69 10.62 10.36 
     

P
age 95



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire          Pay rates – non-care staff 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  40 

5.9 Ranking of economic zones for non-care staff 
 
In Table 5.22 we have ranked each economic zone by its pay rate for the 
specified job, with the highest paying zone ranking 1 and the lowest 13, and 
where figures for receptionists were not provided ranking the gaps as 10. 
 

Although a crude measure, the zone with the lowest score, therefore, is likely 
to have the highest pay across these jobs.  
 
Grantham, Boston and Louth appear to be the zones where pay is the 
highest, and Sleaford followed by Horncastle and Mablethorpe appear to 
offer the lowest pay. 
 

 
Table 5.22 Non-care staff - ranking of economic zones by pay rates 
 

 Chef Housekeeper Domestic Administrative Receptionists Handyman Total 
        
Grantham 1	 3	 10	 1	 6	 2	 23	
Boston 7	 5	 9	 2	 1	 3	 27	
Louth 4	 2	 1	 9	 10	 1	 27	
Stamford 2	 6	 3	 5	 5	 9	 30	
Bourne 3	 1	 7	 6	 9	 7	 33	
Skegness 8	 4	 4	 8	 4	 5	 33	
Gainsborough 10	 9	 6	 3	 3	 4	 35	
Lincoln 6	 7	 5	 7	 7	 6	 38	
Spalding & Holbeach 5	 8	 8	 4	 8	 8	 41	
Market Rasen 9	 12	 2	 10	 2	 11	 46	
Mablethorpe 13	 10	 11	 13	 10	 10	 67	
Horncastle 11	 11	 12	 11	 10	 13	 68	
Sleaford 12	 13	 13	 12	 10	 12	 72	
        

1 represents the highest pay and 13 the lowest 
 

P
age 96



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire           Salaried staff 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  41 

6. Salaried staff 
 
6.1 Management 
 
6.1.1 Owners/proprietors' pay 
 
The question about ownership and management was answered by all 102 
respondents, of whom five said that the home was owner-managed.  
 
It is difficult to separate payment made to an owner for the time he spends 
working as a manager in the home and pay he receives for owning it. Nor 
do we know what drawings or dividends are paid in addition to a salary.  
 
We used our judgement in some individual cases; for instance a large home 
might require the services of an employed manager as well as the owner, 
but a small one would not. A nursing home needs a matron in addition to an 
unqualified owner, but this does not prove that the owner's input is 
necessary. 
 
Five care only homes reported the owner/proprietor's salary, ranging from 
£8,000 to £40,000 and with a weighted average of £19,900 (Table 6.1). No 
nursing homes reported owner-managers. 
 
6.1.2 Managers’ salaries  
 
Sixteen care homes did quote an hourly pay rate for a deputy manager and 
five a deputy nurse. 
 
Sixty-five Lincolnshire care only homes reported the annual pay for a 
salaried manager, including three where there is also a salary paid to the 
owner or proprietor. No homes reported a matron’s salary, although this may 
be because matrons are classified as managers. 
 

The median salary for an employed manager was £34,900 and the weighted 
average was £35,800 with the range shown in Table 6.1. Nursing homes 
paid their managers on a weighted basis 25 per cent more than care only 
homes. 
 
Forty Lincolnshire care homes reported the salary for a deputy manager, 
giving a weighted average of £23,000 with the range shown in Table 6.1. 
Reported nursing home salaries were an insignificant two per cent higher 
than care only homes. 
 
Only one Lincolnshire care homes reported the salary for a deputy matron 
of £35,400. We cannot tell how many deputy managers are actually qualified 
nurses and therefore the equivalent of a deputy matron. 
 
Table 6.1 Management salaries 
 
 Minimum Simple 

average 
Weighted 

average 
Maximum 

     
Owner/proprietor £8,000 £21,213 £19,898 £40,000 
Manager £8,064 £32,925 £35,803 £63,802 
Deputy manager £9,741 £22,093 £22,998 £30,791 
Deputy matron   £35,360  
     

 
Management salaries are higher than three years ago, and this is consistent 
with the national picture of a shortage of care home managers and salaries 
that have risen in response. The increase in the administrative burden on 
managers, and the reduction in care work and management has made the 
job less attractive. 
 

P
age 97



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire           Salaried staff 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  42 

6.1.3 Management salaries per resident per week 
 
Owners/proprietors paid themselves the equivalent of a weighted average 
of £21.03 per resident per week, although we were not given enough 
information on hours worked to determine whether this is salary for 
managing the homes or a reward for owning the business (Table 6.2).  
 
Table 6.2 Management salaries per resident per week 
 

 Minimum  Weighted 
average 

Maximum 

     
Owner/proprietor £7.33  £21.03 £76.92 
Manager £9.12  £19.63 £47.07 
Deputy manager £4.80  £13.36 £64.12 
Deputy matron   £12.83  
     

 
Managers were paid a weighted average of £19.63 prpw and deputy 
managers were paid a weighted average of £13.36 prpw, with the range 
shown in Table 6.2. 
 
The one deputy matron was paid equivalent to £12.83 prpw. 
 
 

6.2 Non-management salaried staff 
 
6.2.1 Administrators 
 
Although most administrators are hourly-paid 24 care homes did report 
employing salaried administrators. 
 
They were paid a weighted average of £17,900 with the range shown in 
Table 6.3. This was equivalent to £8.82 per resident per week. 
 
The weighted average administrator salary worked out at £9.16 per hour, 
assuming a working week of 37.5 hours. This is more than the £8.61 
weighted average hourly-paid administrator’s weekday daytime wage, but 
may include weekend or bank holiday working. 
 
Table 6.3 Administrator salaries  
 
 Minimum Simple 

average 
Weighted 

average 
Maximum 

     
Salary £9,500  £17,545 £17,860  £36,000  
     
Resident / week £4.74  £8.82 £19.23 
     

 
6.2.2 Bursar salaries 
 
Some homes reported employing bursars, but most were from one group of 
homes and so in order to maintain that group’s confidentiality we have not 
detailed its response. Bursars are paid more than administrators. 
 

P
age 98



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire            Payroll costs 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  43 

7. Payroll and contracted costs 
 
7.1 Shift & day weighted pay 
 
7.1.1 Units of measurement 
 
The best way to compare costs across care homes of various sizes and with 
different service user groups is to consider the weekly cost for each resident; 
that is per resident per week (prpw).  
 
In the following tables nursing cost is per nursing resident, other staff costs 
are per resident. Chefs embrace cooks, domestic includes laundry and 
catering staff and care staff include activities co-ordinators. Care only homes 
have no nursing residents, but all nursing homes bar three also had personal 
care only residents. 
 
On-costs include employers’ National Insurance (NI), annual leave 
entitlements, employers’ pension contribution, statutory sick pay and the 
part of statutory maternity pay that is not reclaimed from the government.  
 
7.1.2 Weighted shift pay  
 
Pay rates vary by time of day and time of week. We have adjusted for this, 
creating a shift-related rate of pay for each pay grade for each home, and in 
doing so we have used the weighted average number of bank holidays for 
2017/18, a 14-hour day and a ten-hour night shift. We have taken into 
account that staffing levels vary also by time of day and week. We have 
weighted this by the size of care home and have calculated the shift-
weighted pay rates in Table 7.1.  
 
We have then weighted care staff wages by skill mix across all care homes 
to obtain the skill-mix weighted care staff wage. 
 

7.1.3 Agency staff  
 
Seven responding care homes in Lincolnshire reported care assistant hours 
being filled by agency staff and six reported using agency nurses, 13 homes 
in total. Twenty-one per cent of nursing hours and one per cent of care hours 
were reported to be provided by agency staff. 
 
This confirms what we have been told by care homes: that agency nurses 
have to be used as it is increasingly difficult to recruit employed ones. 
 
Table 7.1 Shift-weighted, day-weighted and bed-weighted pay rates 

for hourly-paid staff  
 
Grade £ per hour Hourly pay Hourly pay 
   
Qualified nurse  £14.80 
• senior care worker £8.52  
• care assistant with NVQ2  £7.77  
• care assistant without NVQ2 £7.15  
• activities co-ordinator £7.53  
Skill-mix weighted care staff  £7.86 
Chef/cook  £8.57 
Cleaning, laundry and catering staff 
(excluding chefs/cooks) 

 £7.52 

Housekeeper  £7.79 
Administrator  £7.68 
Receptionist  £7.66 
Handyman  £7.80 
   

 

P
age 99



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire            Payroll costs 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  44 

7.2 Staff overheads 
 
7.2.1 Annual leave and bank holidays 
 
We did not ask about annual leave in the survey; the Working Time Directive 
and UK legislation require employers to give staff at least 5.6 normal weeks' 
paid leave per annum; for those who work the usual maximum of five days 
this equates to 28 days.  
 
Bank or public holidays do not have to be given as paid leave; an employer 
can choose to include bank holidays as part of a worker’s statutory annual 
leave. When a staff member is rostered to work on a bank holiday most care 
homes pay an enhanced rate for some or all those bank holidays.  
 
The number of bank holidays is usually eight but there are extra ones in 
some years. Eighty-three Lincolnshire care homes paid a weighted average 
of 5.9 days at bank holiday rates, with the distribution shown in Table 7.2; 
more homes paid all eight days than any other number put together. The 
weighted average of those that paid an enhancement (ie ignoring those that 
responded with zero days) was 6.8. 
 
Care homes are more generous with their bank holidays in 2017 than in 
2014, when they paid a weighted average of 2.7 days compared with 5.9 in 
2017, and of those that paid enhancements 5.6 days compared with 6.8. 
 
Table 7.2 Distribution of days paid with bank holiday enhancements 
 

 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 
          
Homes 11 1 7 9 2 0 2 1 50 
          

 

7.2.2 Sick pay 
 
Six of the 85 (93%) care homes reporting sick pay offer hourly-paid staff 
more than the statutory sick pay, the others offering only what legislation 
requires. The homes paying more than required by law are all in the 
voluntary sector. An employer’s ability to reclaim SSP from the government 
was removed in April 2014.   
 
Statutory sick pay costs employers the equivalent of a weighted average of 
£5.08 per resident per week (Table 7.3). 
 
Table 7.3 Statutory sick pay prpw 
 
 Minimum Simple 

average 
Weighted 
average 

Maximum 

     
SSP £0.34 £6.38 £5.08 £13.60 
     

 
7.2.3 Employer’s pension contribution 
 
Until auto-enrolment arrived care homes rarely provided an employer's 
pension contribution; it happened occasionally in the voluntary sector 
especially when the organisation was ex-local authority, but was almost 
unknown in the private sector. This has changed with auto-enrolment. 
 
Twenty-two care homes out of 85 (74%) reported paying hourly-paid staff 
an employer’s pension contribution that was more than the law required. 
 
Other than care homes that have started employing staff since April 2012 all 
care homes will have passed their staging date and should be auto-enrolling 
staff; some may have reached their three-yearly re-enrolling date. 
 

P
age 100



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire            Payroll costs 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  45 

Table 7.4 Minimum pension contributions 
 

 Employer Employee Total 
    
Until 5th April 2018 1% 1% 2% 
6th April 2018 – 5th April 2019 2% 3% 5% 
6th April 2019 onwards 3% 5% 8% 
    

 
All staff aged 22 to state pension age earning more than £833 per month 
(£9,993 pa) must be enrolled unless they opt out; staff from 16 to 22 have 
the right to opt in. In 2017/18 this is equivalent to a 25.5-hour week at the 
national living wage of £7.50 per hour for people aged 25 and over and the 
employer's contribution is one per cent of earnings between £5,876 and 
£45,000.  
 
For a full-time employee on the current adult national living wage this costs 
a care home £1.68 per week per employee, plus any ongoing costs from 
their pension provider. 
 

7.3. Non-employed labour costs 
 
7.3.1 Contract or external labour services 
 
Thirty-six care homes reported using external (ie not employed by the care 
home) handyman services or gardener, Most of the gardening costs were 
included in maintenance costs, but the reported figures for combined 
gardening or handyman were a weighted average cost of £3.34 prpw for the 
two (Table 7.5).  
 
These are in addition to the hours worked by employed handymen or 
gardeners. 
 
Table 7.5 Contracted or external labour services as £ prpw 
 
£ prpw Minimum Median Weighted 

average 
Maximum 

     
Outside handyman & 
gardener 0.06 2.74 3.34 22.60 
Cleaning, laundry, hotel 0.70 4.35 5.80 18.53 
Professional fees 0.17 4.64 5.36 54.19 
Contract catering 33.58 42.90 48.72 83.47 
     
 
Thirty-seven homes reported using external contractors for cleaning, 
laundry or other hotel services, with a weighted average of £5.80 prpw. This 
is in additional to any domestic staff employed. 
 
Thirty-nine homes reported professional fees, and we calculated a weighted 
average of £5.36 prpw (Table 7.5). The maximum figure was checked and 
we found that it accurately recorded an unusual requirement for planning, 
legal, IT, accountancy, book-keeping, quality audit or some other services. 

P
age 101



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire            Payroll costs 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  46 

We considered dismissing it as an outlier but decided that care homes do 
face these unusual costs every now and then, so it should remain. 
 
Some homes do not employ chefs or catering staff, but instead use contract 
caterers that provide the staff and the food. The homes that reported doing 
so spent a weighted average of £48.72 prpw. 
 
7.3.2 Volunteers 
 
Based on past experience we did not enquire about the cost of volunteers, 
although unpaid work by directors was reported.  

 
In the past it has been suggested that the costs we report should include the 
cost of replacing volunteers’ time with paid labour; we considered that even 
if we decided that this was the correct course we could not determine a 
figure objectively. 
 
 

P
age 102



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire          Non-staff revenue costs 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  47 

8. Other non-staff revenue costs 
 
8.1 Background 
 
8.1.1 Units of measurement 
 
The best way to compare costs across care homes of various sizes and with 
different service user groups is to consider the weekly cost for each resident; 
that is per resident per week (prpw) or per place per week (pppw).  
 
In earlier reports we have quoted minimum and maximum costs, but on an 
earlier occasion a Sunday paper journalist tried to make a story from one 
quoted minimum cost of food so we have discontinued that practice. 
 
8.1.2 Estimated and indicative costs 
 
Recognising that many care homes would not be able to provide exact 
management accounts of their costs we invited survey responders to state 
whether their figures were estimated or actual. Fifty-four per cent of the non-
staff revenue cost figures where accuracy was stated were reported to be 
actual figures and 46 per cent were estimated figures. 
 
Some figures are so outlying that they might be inaccurate; we phone the 
home to confirm where possible, but where we have been unable to check 
their veracity and they significantly affect the means and medians we have 
removed them from the calculation. We have not applied such a practice 
where wide variation would be expected, such as repairs and maintenance. 
 
 

8.2 Food and utilities costs 
 
8.2.1 Food costs 
 
Sixty-nine care homes reported food costs, and the reported cost prpw is a 
weighted average of £25.37 prpw (Table 8.1). It makes no significant 
difference whether the home is nursing or care only, or what the residents’ 
disability, other than physical disability which is based on only one unusually 
low home. 
 
The costs by economic zone are given in Table 8.3; as the number of 
responding homes is divided into 13 irregular batches some samples are 
too small to give a reliable zonal weighted average. Sleaford had the fewest 
figures for analysis, followed by Louth and Stamford. 
 
Table 8.1 Food costs by resident disability and home type in £ prpw 
 
Food in homes primarily for: Care only Nursing All homes 
 	 	 	
Dementia 23.71 23.37  
Frail older people 25.32 25.43  
Mental health 25.32   
Physical disabilities * 19.32   
All residents 25.58 24.84 25.37 
    

Weighted average daytime weekday hour 
* One care home 
 
8.2.2 Utilities 
 
Utility costs (gas, electricity, water, oil, telephone, essential mobile phones 
etc) are collected in various ways and so the Table 8.2 consolidates the 
main combinations reported to us. Council tax is not a utility, but is often 
recorded in the same cost heading in accounts packages.  

P
age 103



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire          Non-staff revenue costs 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  48 

The figures in Table 8.2 are derived from 70 care homes and indicate a 
weighted average of £22.06 prpw. The zones with the fewest figures for 
analysis are the same as for food. 
 
Except for the low figure for nursing homes for frail older people, type of care 
and resident disability do not affect the cost. 
 
Care only homes are more likely to be conversions and nursing homes 
purpose-built, so we would have expected revenue costs to be higher in care 
only homes; this is not the case.  
 

Table 8.2 Utility costs by resident disability and home type in £ prpw 
 
Utilities in homes primarily for: Care only Nursing All homes 
 	 	 	
Dementia 19.69 31.47  
Frail older people 21.50 16.80  
Mental health 21.50   
Physical disabilities * 20.53   
All residents 22.49 21.00 22.06 
    

Weighted average daytime weekday hour 
* One care home 

Table 8.3 Non-staff revenue costs by economic zone 
 
 Food Utilities Insurances CQC  Recruitment Training Marketing 
        
Boston 23.37 19.65 3.33 2.90 0.88 4.51 3.70 
Bourne 30.24 18.63 3.05 3.57 4.35 3.48 4.94 
Gainsborough 26.75 27.57 4.36 3.30 0.85 3.39 6.16 
Grantham 25.99 24.61 2.35 3.90 5.88 5.83 5.17 
Horncastle 22.26 24.24 3.84 3.73 1.05 1.86 7.51 
Lincoln 25.59 24.45 2.32 3.34 4.68 4.04 4.76 
Louth 17.35 38.13 1.89 3.66 0.55 3.41 0.84 
Mablethorpe 23.90 21.27 5.15 3.12  3.37 1.07 
Market Rasen 22.28 21.59 1.44 3.54 0.30 0.60 4.76 
Skegness 25.76 24.61 3.38 4.81 1.50 2.13 2.85 
Sleaford 17.69 20.16 2.80 3.67    
Spalding & Holbeach 27.36 12.14 2.53 2.96 4.77 1.32 2.43 
Stamford 26.83 19.52 1.72 3.12 0.88  5.61 
        
Weighted average costs 

P
age 104



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire           Other revenue costs 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  49 

8.3 Recruitment, training, fees & insurances 
 
8.3.1 Insurance costs  
 
A care home needs various insurances which may include the property 
owner's, operator’s contents, residents’ property, motor vehicle, employer’s 
liability, fees protection, business interruption and medical malpractice.  
 
Sixty-two homes reported their insurance costs, giving a weighted average 
of £2.86 prpw (Table 8.4). Care home type or resident disability do not 
appear to affect the costs. 
 
Sleaford provided the fewest figures for analysis. 
 
Table 8.4 Insurance costs by resident disability and home type in £ 

prpw 
 

In homes primarily for: Care only Nursing All homes 
 	 	 	
Dementia 3.85 2.28  
Frail older people 3.46 2.92  
Mental health 3.46   
Physical disabilities *    
All residents 2.91 2.73 2.86 
    

Weighted average daytime weekday hour 
* One care home 
 
8.3.2 Registration fees costs  
 
Since April 2014 the Care Quality Commission (CQC) has charged care 
homes by the maximum number of registered places they have (not the 
number of residents) in 18 bands shown in Table 8.6. The cost of registration 
per bed per week (pbpw) is therefore lower at the top end of the band than 

at the bottom; at the extreme a 91-place care home will pay £1,681 more 
per annum than a 90-place one. These differences are, however, less than 
before April 2014 when there were fewer bands. Table 27 shows the fees 
per bed per week at the top and bottom of each band, but a care home that 
was not full could have fewer residents than the bottom of its place band 
and so incur higher fees per resident per week. 
 
Sixty-five care homes were able to report registration fees and professional 
subscriptions and this gave a weighted average of £3.45 prpw (Table 8.5). 
The costs did not, and should not, differ by home type or resident disability. 
 
Sleaford provided the fewest figures for analysis. 
 
Table 8.5 Registration fees by resident disability and home type in £ 

prpw 
 
In homes primarily for: Care only Nursing All homes 
    
Dementia 3.36 3.26  
Frail older people 3.25 3.63  
Mental health 3.25   
Physical disabilities *    
All residents 3.42 3.55 3.45 
    

Weighted average daytime weekday hour 
* One care home 
 
8.3.3 Recruitment costs and DBS checks 
 
Twenty-seven care homes reported recruitment costs, but a number of 
others stated that they were included in central or head office costs. This 
number was much lower than three years ago, unlike most responses which 
were much better this year.  
These showed a weighted average of £3.43 prpw (Table 8.7).  

P
age 105



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire           Other revenue costs 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  50 

 
This variation is to be expected, considering the various ways in which staff 
can be recruited; word of mouth, newspapers, local radio, directly from 
employment agencies or by employing an agency worker. There are also, 
and perhaps more important, differences in staff turnover rates and 
locations, particularly rural ones, that make recruitment more difficult. 
 
Table 8.6 CQC registration fees since April 2017 
 

Size range Fee Lower end of band Upper end of 
band 

min max  pbpw pbpw 
     
1 3 £321  £6.17  £2.06  
4 10 £836  £4.02  £1.61  
11 15 £1,674 £2.93  £2.15  
16 20 £2,447  £2.94  £2.35 
21 25 £3,348  £3.07  £2.58  
26 30 £4,375 £3.24  £2.80  
31 35 £5,147  £3.19  £2.83 
36 40 £5,921  £3.16  £2.85  
41 45 £6,694  £3.14  £2.86  
46 50 £7,468  £3.12  £2.87  
51 55 £8,235 £3.11  £2.88  
56 60 £9,008  £3.09  £2.89 
61 65 £10,295  £3.25  £3.05  
66 70 £11,322 £3.30  £3.11  
71 75 £12,355  £3.35  £3.17 
76 80 £13,383  £3.39  £3.22  
81 90 £14,415 £3.42  £3.08  
91+  £16,096  £3.40  	
    

 

The seven nursing homes reported lower costs than the 20 care only ones; 
a weighted average of £2.96 compared with £3.68. We do not know whether 
this was caused by a higher staff turnover in care only homes, but similar 
findings in training costs suggests that this may be the case. Nursing homes 
also have a weaker skill mix, which might affect the ease of recruitment. 
 
There is no discernible pattern to the costs by economic zone. 
 
Table 8.7 Recruitment costs by resident disability and home type in £ 

prpw 
 
In homes primarily for: Care only Nursing All homes 
 	 	 	
Dementia 2.76 1.65  
Frail older people 4.69 3.86  
Mental health 4.69   
Physical disabilities *    
All residents 3.68 2.96 3.43 
    

Weighted average daytime weekday hour 
* One care home 
 
8.3.4 Direct training costs 
 
We would expect a range of direct training costs among care homes, due 
to:  
• the choice between  

o delivering training in-house, with or without internet-based 
support and  

o buying it in 
• differences in staff turnover 
• the complexity of cases; a nursing home with many NHS continuing 

health care patients would be expected to have more training costs than 
a care only home with only frail older people. 

P
age 106



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire           Other revenue costs 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  51 

 
Thirty-two care homes were able to provide direct training costs, that is 
external training, internet learning courses and training materials but not 
employed trainer’s time or staff time to be trained. They reported a weighted 
average of £3.40 prpw (Table 8.8).  
 
Nursing homes reported higher costs than care only ones; a weighted 
average of £3.92 compared with £3.07. We cannot tell whether this is a real 
difference or reflect variation in individual homes. 
 
Table 8.8 Training costs by resident disability and home type in £ 

prpw 
 

In homes primarily for: Care only Nursing All homes 
    
Dementia 2.56 4.01  
Frail older people 2.85 3.85  
Mental health 2.85   
Physical disabilities *    
All residents 3.07 3.92 3.40 
    

Weighted average daytime weekday hour 
* One care home 
 
8.3.5 Training backfill 
 
Training staff cover (backfill) is another training costs. Most workers who 
work a five-day week must receive at least 28 days’ paid annual leave per 
year. This is the equivalent of 5.6 weeks of holiday, leaving a working year 
of 46.4 five-day weeks or 232 days. 
 
The number of training days staff in a Lincolnshire care home are reported 
to receive is given in Table 3.11; a weighted average of 6.7 days of ongoing 

(ie not induction) training each year for nurses and 7.2 days per year for care 
staff.  
 
Training backfill, therefore, adds the equivalent of 6.7/232 to a nurse’s 
wages cost, 2.9 per cent, and 7.2/232 to a care worker’s wage cost, 3.1 per 
cent. 
 
 

P
age 107



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire           Other revenue costs 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  52 

8.4 Other costs 
 
8.4.1 Medical supplies costs 
 
The reported weighted average cost of medical supplies including 
continence products in 46 homes was £4.13 prpw. Fourteen nursing homes 
reported a weighted average of £7.77 and 32 care only homes reported a 
weighted average cost of £2.17. We would expect nursing homes to have 
higher costs. 
 
The NHS provides continence products but some homes report that they 
have to add to what the NHS provides. 
 
8.4.2 Domestic & cleaning supplies, uniforms, PPE, clinical & trade waste 
 
Sixty-four care homes reported the cost of supplies, PPE and waste. The 
weighted average was £7.19 prpw (Table 8.9). Fifteen nursing homes 
reported weighted average figures about 15 per cent higher than care only 
homes, as we would expect. 
 
Table 8.9 More revenue costs weighted average £ prpw 
 
 Care only Nursing All homes 
    
Medical supplies & rental 2.17 7.77 4.13 
Domestic & cleaning supplies, PPE, 
uniforms, clinical & trade waste 6.87 7.95 7.19 
Motoring, minibus, TV, outings, 
entertainment & travel 3.03 1.53 2.68 
Marketing 4.60 2.69 4.06 
Hire of equipment 2.62 3.22 2.75 
Sundries 6.22 5.18 5.69 
Bank charges 3.15 6.93 3.68 
    

8.4.3 Transport, motoring, outings, entertainment, TV licence, videos and 
DVD costs 
 
Forty-six care homes reported their travel, entertainment and outings costs. 
Previously we asked three separate questions relating to travel and outings 
but many care homes had difficulty in separating them. The reported 
weighted average was £2.68 prpw (Table 8.9).  
 
Nursing homes reported lower costs than care only ones; a weighted 
average of £1.53 compared with £3.03. This is because nursing residents 
are more dependent and so less likely to be able to go out for pleasure or 
health services. They are also less likely to be able to participate in 
entertainments. 
 
8.4.4 Marketing costs 
 
Fifty-five care homes reported figures for marketing, giving a weighted 
average of £4.06 prpw (Table 8.9). Occupancy rates of nursing homes and 
care only homes differed by only one per cent so there is no obvious reason 
for the difference. 
 
8.4.5 Hire of equipment 
 
Photocopiers, printers, laundry equipment, kitchen equipment, dishwasher, 
oven, laundry, and a lift were among the equipment hired by 34 care homes. 
Medical equipment rental is included in medical supplies. The reported 
weighted average cost was £2.75 prpw (Table 8.9). There is no obvious 
reason why nursing homes should spend more than care only homes. 
 
8.4.6 Sundries  
 
Sundries is a rather general term and may often include information that 
should have been reported under other cost headings. To simplify the 
survey form and so improve the response we did not ask what is covered, 

P
age 108



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire           Other revenue costs 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  53 

but in earlier years this category has included newspapers, flowers, the 
residents’ Christmas party, birthday presents, activities materials, wood 
pellets, rents on the care homes, bad debts and laundry.  
 
Thirty-two care homes reported sums under this category, with a weighted 
average of £5.69 prpw (Table 8.9). 
 
8.4.7 Bank charges 
 
We asked about bank charges; 29 care homes reported figures, including 
one whose charges were close to six figures and we think may include 
serious interest. Without this outlier the weighted average was £3.68.  
 
8.4.8 Bad debts 
 
Bad debts are a legitimate cost of running a care home; we were not given 
enough information to calculate a representative figure for them.  
 
 

8.5 Written-in costs 
 
In the following section we have not specified how many homes reporting 
these figures to avoid indicating which chains have reported them. 
 
8.5.1 Rent 
 
The model we use does not include rent, the equivalent being the return on 
the capital employed. Care homes often do not understand this and feel it 
important to ensure that rent is recognised. The care homes that reported 
their rent gave a weighted average of £115.22 prpw. 
 
8.5.2 Vehicle costs 
 
Although we intended all vehicle costs to be included in another question 
the homes that specified these gave a weighted average of £8.71 prpw. 
 
8.5.3 Postage & stationery 
 
This is usually included in the question on sundries but the care homes that 
reported these costs gave a weighted average of £36.57 prpw, which we 
consider to be unlikely. 
 
8.5.4 Depreciation 
 
The model we use does not include depreciation, including instead the 
maintenance cost of keeping the buildings at their original value. Care 
homes often do not understand this and feel it important to ensure that 
depreciation is recognised. 
 
The care homes that reported their depreciation gave a weighted average 
of £21.60 prpw. 

P
age 109



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire           Other revenue costs 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  54 

8.6 Repairs & maintenance costs 
 
8.6.1 Format of the question 
 
We enquired about repairs and maintenance, allowing respondents to be 
specific about repairs and maintenance to the building and grounds, 
domestic equipment and furniture & fittings. The responses frequently 
combined these, and we have only been able to analyse them in more detail 
under some cost heads.  
 
Respondents were asked not to include work undertaken by employed staff, 
who are covered elsewhere. 
 
8.6.2 Contract maintenance of equipment costs 
 
Some care homes repair and service equipment as required, whereas 
others have it looked after under a maintenance contract.  
 
Twenty-nine care homes reported the cost of contract maintenance of 
equipment, with a weighted average of £8.02 prpw (Table 8.10).  
 
Table 8.10 Repairs & maintenance as £ per resident per week 
 
  Weighted average 
   
Contract maintenance of equipment  8.02 
Replacement furniture and fittings  8.65 
Actual repairs & maintenance  3.50 
Major works  33.65 
Anticipated major works  12.80 
   

 

8.6.3 Replacement furniture and fittings 
 
Fifty-three homes reported replacing furniture and domestic furniture such 
as bedroom furniture, TVs, water heaters, hoists and drug cabinets. Some 
homes could not distinguish this expenditure from general repairs. We 
calculated a weighted average of £8.65 prpw. 
 
8.6.4 Major works, maintenance and repairs 
 
Thirty-five homes reported expenditure on repairs and maintenance, from 
which we calculated a weighted average of £3.29 (Table 8.10). This appears 
unrealistically low to us. 
 
Only one home reported major works, which cost a weighted average of 
£33.65, although there is no strict dividing line between repairs, 
maintenance and major works. 
 
We enquired about planned or anticipated major works during the 
forthcoming year. Ten care homes reported figures, including one replacing 
its lift, giving a weighted average of £12.80. A further two homes planned 
extensions, which should not be reflected in revenue costs. 
 

P
age 110



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire           Other revenue costs 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  55 

8.7 Group overheads 
 
Group overheads may be true costs associated with operating a group and 
which would not exist were the homes stand-alone (group costs), or they 
may be costs that the home would incur anyway, and which are handled 
centrally for economies of scale or convenience (centralised home costs). 
Group costs include the group's offices, its staff, group marketing, 
administrative supplies and services. Centralised homes’ costs may include 
training, homes marketing, CRB checks and insurance.  
 
Directors' expenses and their fees may be either, depending on how much 
time they spend running the homes and how much is spent running the 
group, and whether their fees reflect the market rates for the job or reflect 
the benefits of ownership. Furthermore, a decision must be made whether 
they are integral to the operation of the group or whether they are a way of 
taking profits from the business and therefore should be regarded as part of 
the return (profit/surplus) rather than as a cost.  
 
In order not to identify the groups that answered this question we will state 
only that 21 homes from more than one group reported central overheads 
that averaged £59.47 prpw.  
 
These 21 homes represented 21 per cent of the beds in the homes that we 
analysed, so this represents an average of £12.44 prpw across all the 
homes we analysed.  
 

P
age 111



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire         Modelling indicative cost of care 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  56 

9. Modelling indicative costs of care 
 
9.1 Reliability of our figures 
 
There is no such figure as the actual revenue costs of residential care in 
Lincolnshire. Each resident will incur different costs, and these will differ 
from day to day. Each care home will have different costs, and these too will 
vary from season to season and with its occupancy rate.  
 
We have analysed the survey forms, sometimes using the accounts to 
supplement missing figures. The request for accounts was also to reduce 
any suggestion that the figures we were given were 'massaged' in any way.  
 
We have attempted to detect and eliminate double-counting, and we have 
made adjustments for missing data. Where we have used average rather 
than median figures we have usually used weighted averages rather than 
simple averages, weighting by the number of residents or in some cases the 
number of usually-used beds. There will be some such inaccuracies that we 
were unable to detect, however, but the impact of these will be greatly 
reduced by the averaging processes. 
 
Our figures remain, however, entirely dependent on the accuracy of the 
information we were given. Although Table 1.1 suggests that the responding 
homes were representative of the universe of care homes, there was self-
selection by the decision whether or not to complete the survey. This may 
have been influenced by whether or not the care home does a significant 
volume of business with the Council. The large number of respondents, 
48 per cent, suggests that this effect would be small.  
 

9.2 Estimation methodology and principles 
 
Most care homes for older people accommodate more that one class of 
resident, nursing or personal care only, frail older or with dementia, and 
some have all four types of resident. Personal care service users can also 
be separated into high dependency and medium dependency. Care homes 
are not usually (if ever) able to allocate their care hours between classes of 
resident, so it is not possible to calculate the indicative cost of care on that 
basis.  
 
We have used the actual number of hours provided in each home and the 
shift-weighted and skill mix weighted pay rates for each home to calculate 
costs. 
 
To weight the pay, we: 
 
• calculated the hourly pay rate when adjusted for day and night, weekday 

and weekend, and bank holidays for each individual care home 
 
• differences in staffing levels at different times of the day and week. 
 
and for care assistants multiplied this shift-weighted hourly pay rate by the:  
 
• skill mix weighting for each care home; that is the proportion of hours 

provided by each of senior care worker, care assistant with NVQ2, care 
assistant without NVQ2 and activities staff. 

 
We multiplied the total hours of each type (nursing, care, chefs, domestics 
etc) in each home prpw by the weighted pay rates for each home, to obtain 
the wages paid for each category of care or service. 
 
 

P
age 112



Indicative Revenue Costs of Residential Care in Lincolnshire         Modelling indicative cost of care 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  57 

9.3 Other costs  
 
The costs in the above report are not the only costs involved in operating a 
care home; there are other costs that were outside the scope of our brief 
and so our figures do not include all the costs of operating a home. These 
include: 
 
• directors' fees, for reasons in Section 8.7 above 
 
• finance costs such as interest on overdrafts 
 
• finance payments for purchase of the homes; mortgage interest and 

mortgage capital repayments  
 
• rent of the land, buildings and equipment 
 
• a return on the owner's capital invested in the land, buildings and 

equipment. 
 

9.4 Capital costs 
 
In our view the allowance made for the operator’s capital tied up in the home, 
or the cost of financing its purchase, should not depend on the personal 
circumstances of the operator. The return should be the same whether the 
operator bought the home in the 1980s and has no debt, or whether he 
bought it last year with a 100 per cent mortgage. 
 
If we were modelling the total costs, rather than reporting the individual 
component costs, we would base the return on capital/financing on an 
operator-independent parameter such as the value of the property.  
 
For this reason in the survey we do not ask about debt, rent or mortgage 
costs, although these are written in by some care homes. 
 

 

P
age 113



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire 

 
 
 
 

Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire  
 
 

This report covering the care home market has been prepared by Philip Mickelborough  
as part of a project for Lincolnshire County Council. The lead researcher on the project was Estelle O'Neill 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

25th September 2017 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Philip Mickelborough 
Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited 
07941 331322 
pjm@kingsburyhillfox.com 
www.kingsburyhillfox.com 
 

 
  

K  H F

P
age 115



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    i 

Contents 
 
Summary ii 
  
1. Introduction  

1.1 Background 1 
1.2 Our brief 1 
1.3 Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited 2 
1.4 The project and reports 2 

  
2. Population growth in Lincolnshire  

2.1 Older population increase within Lincolnshire 3 
2.2 Population increase within the districts 4 
2.3 Population increase among working age adults 6 

  
3. Demand  

3.1 Concept of age-standardised demand 8 
3.2 ASD for older people in Lincolnshire 9 
3.3 ASD for older people in the districts 9 
3.4 Demand for care home beds for YDA 10 

  
4. Supply and profile of care homes   

4.1 Care homes for older people in the districts 13 
4.2 Care homes for older people in Lincolnshire 18 
4.3 Care homes for YDA in Lincolnshire 19 
4.4 Extra care housing in Lincolnshire 22 

  
5 Profile of care homes and residents  

5.1 Ownership type of care homes 22 
5.2 Age of care home stock in Lincolnshire 22 
5.3 Profile of residents 24 

  
 

6. Comparing supply and demand  
6.1 ASD and supply in Lincolnshire 26 
6.2 ASD and supply in the districts 26 
6.3 Demand and supply for LD adults in Lincolnshire 27 
6.6 The Council’s Better Care Fund projections 28 

  
7. Funding of care homes places in Lincolnshire  

7.1 Funding of older people 29 
7.2 Funding of working age disabled adults 30 

  
8 Fees for care home places  

8.1 Fees for older people 31 
8.2 Top-ups for older people 33 
8.3 Fees for working age disabled adults 33 

  
9. Benchmarking care homes   

9.1 Concept of nearest neighbour 34 
9.2 Unit costs by service user group 34 
9.3 Long-term care home costs by age band 35 
9.4 Hourly rates for external and internal homecare  36 
9.5 Costs for short term care to maximise independence 36 

  
10 Registrations 38 
  
11 Interviews  

11.1 Interviews with providers 41 
11.2 LCC manager interviews 44 

  
Appendices  

Appendix 1 Populations 47 
Appendix 2 Demand 55 
Appendix 3 Supply of care homes for older people 58 
Appendix 4 Supply of care homes for YDA 70 
Appendix 5 Funding sources 76 

P
age 116



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    ii 

Appendix 6 Residents 77 
Appendix 7 Fees 78 
Appendix 8 Benchmarking 79 
Appendix 9 Extra care in Lincolnshire 84 

 
 
While care has been taken to ensure accuracy, Kingsbury Hill Fox 

Limited can accept no responsibility for any losses  
arising directly or indirectly from any information or opinions given in 

this report, or omitted from it 
 

The source of some of the statistical data in this report is the 
National Statistics website: www.statistics.gov.uk.  

Crown copyright material is reproduced with the permission of the 
Controller of HMSO 

 
Some of the information in this report has been provided by NHS Digital, 

previously the Health & Social Care Information Centre. 
 

 
 

Summary 
 
Population 
 
The population aged 85 and over is projected to increase by 9,200 people 
over the next ten years, from 22,100 in 2017 to 31,300 in 2027. The number 
of people aged 75 to 84 will increase by 23,900 from 54,700 to 78,600 in 
2027, and the number of people aged 65 to 74 will increase by 3,200 from 
97,100 to 100,300 over the period.  
 
The greatest numerical increase is in people aged 80 to 84, followed by 
those aged 75-79. By contrast, the age band 70-74 shows a decrease in 
numbers during that ten-year period (Chart 1 and Table Appendix 1.1). This 
decrease may have implications for care demand in the more distant future 
as this smaller cohort works its way into the older age bands. 
 
When it comes to percentage growth, however, the pattern is somewhat 
different. The 80-84 age band shows the greatest percentage increase; at 
the end of the ten-year period it will be 55 per cent higher. The 90+ age 
band closely follows with a 54 per cent increase while the old age band, 70-
74, manages a two per cent decrease by the end of ten years. 
 
Age-standardised demand for care home places for older 
people 
 
Kingsbury Hill Fox projects the demand for care home places for older 
people by applying a formula reflecting the probability of being in a care 
home in the age bands 65-74, 75-84 and over 85 in the UK to the resident 
population of an area. 
 
We have applied our ASD formula to the Office for National Statistics’ older 
population projections for Lincolnshire. The ASD is projected to rise steadily 
from the current 6,200 to 8,600 in 2027. By 2027 the age-standardised 

P
age 117



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    iii 

demand for care home paces for older people is projected to be 38 per cent 
higher than now, at current patterns of care. 
 
The greatest demand as measured by ASD is in East Lindsey, currently 
being 1,400 care home places, followed by South Kesteven at 1,150. The 
lowest demand is in Boston at 550 followed by Lincoln at 590. 
 
Demand for care home places for working age disabled adults 
 
Projections of Demand for Social Care and Disability Benefits for Younger 
Adults in England - Report of Research Conducted for the Commission on 
Funding of Care and Support was prepared by Tom Snell et al and 
published as PSSRU Discussion paper 2800/3 in October 2011. 
 
That publication projects the growth rates of working age adults with 
disabilities between 2015 and 2025 to be: 
• working age adults with a (severe) learning disability - 17 per cent 
• working age adults with a physical or sensory impairment - six per cent 
• working age adults with mental health needs / other (service users only) 

- five per cent. 
 
Supply and profile of care homes for older people 
 
We identified 15 care homes for older people in Boston with a total of 647 
registered places; nine were nursing homes with 408 beds and seven 
offered care only with 239 beds. The main operator in Boston is Retirement 
Village Group. 
 
We identified 47 care homes for older people in East Lindsey with a total of 
1,581 registered places; 12 were nursing homes with 602 beds and 35 
offered care only with 979 beds. The main operators in East Lindsey are 
Tanglewood (Lincolnshire) and Prime Life. 
 

We identified 25 care homes for older people in Lincoln City, with a total of 
914 registered places; 12 were nursing homes with 431 beds and 13 offered 
care only with 483 beds. The main operators in Lincoln City are The Orders 
of St John Care Trust and County Court Care Homes. 
 
We identified 23 care homes for older people in North Kesteven with a total 
of 818 registered places; nine were nursing homes with 382 beds and 14 
offered care only with 436 beds. The predominant operator in North 
Kesteven is St Philips Care. 
 
We identified 21 care homes for older people in South Holland district with 
a total of 800 registered places; five were nursing homes with 262 beds and 
16 offered care only with 538 beds. The main operators in South Holland 
are Country Court Care Homes, Amber ARC, Tanglewood (Lincolnshire) 
and The Orders of St John Care Trust. 
 
We identified 30 care homes for older people in South Kesteven district with 
a total of 1,200 registered places; ten were nursing homes with 585 beds 
and 20 offered care only with 615 beds. The main operators in South 
Kesteven were Barchester Healthcare, The Orders of St John Care Trust 
and Country Court Care Homes.  
 
We identified 26 care homes for older people in West Lindsey district with a 
total of 1,027 registered places; 15 were nursing homes with 725 beds and 
11 offered care only with 302 beds. The main operator in West Lindsey 
district was The Orders of St John Care Trust. 
 
We identified 188 care homes for older people in Lincolnshire with a total of 
6,987 registered places; 73 were nursing homes with 3,396 beds and 115 
offered care only with 3,592 beds. The main operator in Lincolnshire was 
Orders of St John Care Trust, with 15 homes and 653 beds giving it 9.9 per 
cent of the total.  
 

P
age 118



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    iv 

Supply and profile of care homes for working age disabled 
adults 
 
We identified only one home primarily for working age disabled adults in 
Boston district, Parkcare Homes (No.2) Limited (previously Craegmoor 
Group's) for-profit care only home Ashridge with 18 beds for people with 
learning disabilities. 
 
We identified 36 care homes for working age disabled adults in East 
Lindsey, of which four accommodated people with MH needs, three people 
with sensory impairment and 28 were for people with learning disabilities, 
with a total of 396 beds. There were 79 beds for people with mental health 
needs, 19 for sensory-impaired adults and 298 for people with learning 
disabilities. 
 
We identified 10 care homes for working age disabled adults in Lincoln City, 
of which two accommodated people with MH needs, one people with 
acquired brain injury, one people with physical disabilities and six were for 
people with learning disabilities, with a total of 118 beds. There were 33 
beds for people with mental health needs, 12 for people with acquired brain 
injury, 15 for people with physical disabilities and 58 for people with learning 
disabilities. 
 
We identified 21 care homes for working age disabled adults in North 
Kesteven with 221 beds, one accommodating people with mental health 
needs with 29 beds and 20 homes for people with learning disabilities with 
192 beds.  
 
We identified eight care homes for working age disabled adults in South 
Holland, of which one accommodated people with MH needs, three people 
with sensory impairment and four were for people with LD, with a total of 75 
beds. There were eight beds for people with MH needs, 17 for people with 
sensory impairment and 50 for people with LD. 
 

We identified nine care homes for working age disabled adults in South 
Kesteven, of which five accommodated people with learning disabilities and 
four people with sensory impairment with a total of 78 beds. There were 20 
beds for people with sensory impairment and 58 for people with learning 
disabilities. 
 
We identified eight care homes for working age disabled adults in South 
Holland, of which one accommodated people with mental health needs, 
three people with sensory impairment and four were for people with learning 
disabilities, with a total of 75 beds. There were eight beds for people with 
mental health needs, 17 for people with sensory impairment and 50 for 
people with learning disabilities.  
 
We identified nine care homes for working age disabled adults in South 
Kesteven, of which five accommodated people with learning disabilities and 
four people with sensory impairment with a total of 78 beds. There were 20 
beds for people with sensory impairment and 58 for people with learning 
disabilities. 
 
We identified 18 care homes for working age disabled adults in West 
Lindsey, of which five accommodated people with mental health needs and 
13 were for people with learning disabilities, with a total of 335 beds. There 
were 179 beds for people with mental health needs and 156 for people with 
learning disabilities.  
 
The main operator in Lincolnshire is Prime Life Ltd, with eight homes and 
159 beds giving it 13 per cent of the total. The ten largest operators have a 
combined market share of 70 per cent of the market. 
 
Extra care housing 
 
We identified 18 developments that could be extra care housing in 
Lincolnshire, with a total of 577 dwellings. 
 

P
age 119



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    v 

The main provider was LACE Housing whose four schemes contained 129 
dwellings followed by Retirement Security with 82 dwellings in two schemes 
and Waterloo Housing Group with78 dwellings in two schemes. 
 
Ownership of care homes  
 
Sixty-eight per cent of care homes for older people reported that the home 
was privately-owned with an employed manager, 21 per cent were operated 
by a voluntary sector organisation, five per cent were owned by a private 
corporate operator, two per cent were owned by private equity and six per 
cent were owner-managed.  
 
Thirty-eight per cent of care homes for older people were part of a group 
that operated six to 99 homes, 27 per cent were single homes, 22 per cent 
were part of a group of two to five homes and 20 per cent were part of a 
group of 100 or more homes. 
 
Age of care homes 
 
The oldest home for older people was estimated to have been built in the 
1600s and the youngest in 2015. The average age of the homes was 66 
years, built in 1951, but this becomes 1959 if the home built in the 1600s is 
discounted. The median age is a better guide, as it is not affected by the 
very old homes, and this was 32 years (1985).  
 
Only three of the main parts of 43 homes for older people were built after 
April 2002, when the National Minimum Standards set standards for the 
sizes of care home rooms, for the provision of en-suite bathrooms and for a 
range of other environmental facilities. 
 
The average age of the homes for working age disabled adults was 71 
years, built in 1946. The median age is a better guide, as it is not affected 
by the very old homes, and this was 82 years (1935). All bar one of the 

homes were built before the National Minimum Standards came into force 
for care homes 
 
Profile of residents 
 
Two thousand five hundred and eighty-eight adults were living in the care 
homes for older people that responded, and we were given the care types 
for 2,585 and the disabilities of 1,992 of these. Forty per cent were receiving 
standard personal care, 40 per cent were receiving high dependency 
personal care and 20 per cent were receiving nursing care 
 
Frail older people and people with dementia accounted for 75 per cent of 
residents.  
 
Seven per cent of residents had been admitted for respite care. 
 
Five hundred and eighty-four working age disabled adults were living in the 
25 care homes that responded. Ninety-four per cent were receiving personal 
care and six per cent were receiving nursing care. Sixty-one per cent of 
residents had mental health needs, ten per cent were physically disabled 
and three per cent had dementia. Eight per cent had another disability and 
people whose needs were not specified accounted for 18 per cent. A little 
over two per cent were in the care home for respite care. 
 
Females predominate in care homes for older people, representing a little 
under three-quarters of residents (70%). Males predominated in care homes 
for working age disabled adults with 61 per cent of residents. 
 
Supply and demand 
 
Lincolnshire has 12 per cent more care home beds for older people than 
age-standardised demand would suggest. If a long-term sustainable 
occupancy rate of 90 per cent is desired then the supply is one per cent 
higher than the projected requirement. Our survey suggested that the 

P
age 120



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    vi 

occupancy rate is 92-93 per cent, indicating that supply is a fraction low for 
a sustainable occupancy rate of 90 per cent.  
 
Although the whole County is well balanced for a sustainable occupancy 
rate of 90 per cent for older people the same is not true of the districts. 
 
Funding of older people and dependency on the Council 
 
Lincolnshire County Council funded half (48%) of the residents in the care 
homes for older people who responded to our survey. Private self-funding 
residents accounted for 41 per cent, followed by the NHS with 6.3 per cent 
and other local authorities at 3.7 per cent.  
 
Fifty-four per cent of homes relied on the Council for half or more of their 
residents. The range of funding by the Council was from 7.7 per cent to 82 
per cent with an average of 48 per cent. 
 
The Council funded half of the residents in the nursing homes for older 
people who responded to our survey. Private self-funding residents 
accounted for 16 per cent, behind the NHS with 25 per cent and other local 
authorities at 5.4per cent.  
 
Lincolnshire County Council funded under half (47%) of the residents in the 
care only homes for older people who responded to our survey 
(Table Appendix 5.1). Private self-funding residents accounted for half 
(49%), other local authorities 3.2 per cent and the NHS less than one per 
cent.  
 
Lincolnshire County Council funded 48 per cent of the residents in the 16 
care homes for working age disabled adults who responded to our survey. 
People with direct payments were funded indirectly by the Council but 
accounted for less than one-half per cent. People with learning disabilities 
are frequently placed out-of-county, and 16 per cent of residents were 

placed by other local authorities. Private self-funding residents accounted 
for 31 per cent, followed by the NHS with four per cent.  
 
Fifty-three per cent of homes relied on the Council to pay for half or more 
their residents. The range of funding by the Council was from 23 per cent to 
100 per cent with an average of 56 per cent. 
 
Nursing fees for older people 
 
Twenty-one nursing homes answered this question on fees; two charged 
self-funding residents the same for nursing care as they charged the 
Council, one charged less and the others charged more.  
 
The Council was charged a weighted average of £668 compared with £822 
for private residents.  
 
Other local authorities sometimes paid the same and sometimes less than 
LCC, but one home charged other councils more than the Council for 
nursing places, resulting in a weighted average of £663.  
 
The NHS usually paid more, sometimes paid less and two homes charged 
the same as the Council for nursing places giving a weighted average of 
£927. The number of care and nursing hours may be higher for NHS 
continuing care patients so increasing costs. 
 
Two homes reported their fees for people with direct payments, in each case 
the same as the home would charge the Council, giving a weighted average 
of £497. 
 
High dependency fees for older people 
 
Sixty-two care homes answered this question on fees; two charged self-
funding residents the same for high dependency care as they charged the 
Council and all the others charged more.  

P
age 121



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    vii 

 
The Council was charged a weighted average of £505 compared with £755 
for private residents. This figure includes some top-ups. 
 
Other local authorities usually paid the same but two homes charged other 
councils less than the Council for high dependency places, resulting in a 
weighted average of £496. 
 
Only one care home reported its charges to the NHS, which at £557 was 
higher than it charged the Council.  
 
Three homes reported their fees for people with direct payments, all of £497, 
and in each case the same as the home would charge the Council. 
 
Care only fees for older people 
 
Sixty-four care homes answered this question on fees; one home charged 
self-funding residents the same for care as they charged the Council and all 
the others charged more.  
 
The Council was charged a weighted average of £492 compared with £682 
for private residents. This figure includes some top-ups. 
 
Other local authorities usually (58%) paid more than the Council, but 40 per 
cent of homes paid the same and one home charged other councils less 
than the Council, resulting in a weighted average of £518. 
 
Many care homes reported their charges to the NHS, which was higher than 
the Council was charged in every care, giving a weighted average of £715.  
 
Four homes reported their fees for people with direct payments, two 
charged the same as they would charge the Council, one charged less and 
one charged more, giving a weighted average of £735. 
 

Top-ups for older people 
 
Thirty-two care homes reported that they charged top-ups and 17 reported 
that they did not; 65 per cent did charge and 35 per cent did not.  
 
On a weighted average care homes that charged top-ups charged them to 
27 per cent of residents. 
 
The level of top-up ranged from £10 per week to a maximum of £218.  
 
The average of each home’s top-up ranged from £10 to £157 per week, with 
a weighted average of £31. 
 
Fees for working age disabled adults 
 
Only two homes reported high dependency fees charged to the Council, 
which ranged from £497 to £656 giving a weighted average of £598. 
 
Care only fees to the Council ranged from £506 to £637, with a weighted 
average of £604. 
 
Care only fees to other local authorities ranged from £506 to £683, with a 
weighted average of £625. 
 
Only one home reported care only fees to self-funding people, of £456 and 
is less than the fees that home charged to local authorities. 
 
Nine care homes reported charging no top-up and one reported charging all 
residents a top-up of £322 per week. 
 
Benchmarking against nearest neighbours 
 
CIPFA, the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy, has 
produced a 'Nearest neighbours' model that allows local authorities to 

P
age 122



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    viii 

identify and rank other local authorities in similarity to the original. Each local 
authority has a different set of nearest neighbours, rather than a set of local 
authorities that benchmark together. 
 
For unit costs by service user group Lincolnshire's reported costs are lower 
than its family's and England’s. 
 
For long-term care home costs by age band Lincolnshire's reported costs 
are lower than its family's and England’s. 
 
For hourly rates for homecare by external and internal provision Lincolnshire 
does not have an internal homecare service, but its costs for external 
provision were lower than its family’s and England’s. 
 
For costs for short term care to maximise independence Lincolnshire's 
reported costs are lower than its family's and lower than England's for short-
term care.  
 
Registrations 
 
We identified 13 care homes comprising 230 beds that had closed since our 
last report. As far as we can tell, six of these deregistered voluntarily, four 
deregistered as a result of enforcement action and three re-registered in a 
different form. 
 
We identified only two new care homes: 
• Tennyson Wharf, a 60 bed for profit nursing home in Bourne owned by 

Barchester Healthcare, and  
• Tallington Lodge Care Home, a 30-bed for profit care only home also in 

Bourne owned by Country Court Homes. 
 
We identified 45 care homes that had either changed their owner, changed 
their name or changed division within an owner. 
 

We identified nine care homes that had added 20 beds (and probably the 
same number of bedrooms), seven of which accompanied a change of 
name or owner.  
 
Two homes each closed two beds; we do not know whether these were 
beds not usually used and therefore this did not reduce the active stock, or 
not. 
 
 
 
 

P
age 123



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire         Introduction 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    1 

Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire 
 

 
 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 Background 
 
In October 2011, Lincolnshire County Council commissioned LaingBuisson 
to conduct an independent evaluation of the residential care market in 
Lincolnshire, a project led by Philip Mickelborough. This included mapping 
the market and identifying the costs in care homes. 
 
The process was repeated in 2014 with an expanded brief, to assist the 
Council in its planning for 2015/16 to 2017/18. 
 
Lincolnshire County Council decided to repeat this process in 2017 but with 
the difference that the costs of providing care in homes for people with 
learning disabilities should be derived from data provided by the Council. 
 
The Council issued a scoping document 'LaingBuisson Scope 2017 
V1.docx' which set out the Council's precise requirements. Philip ceased to 
be associated with LaingBuisson during the approval process and a less 
expensive proposal for the project to be undertaken directly by Philip’s own 
company, Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited, was accepted. 
 
This report addresses the aspects of the residential care market that are not 
directly related to costs and therefore do not appear in the September 
document Report on Indicative Revenue Costs of Care Home Places in 
Lincolnshire. 

1.2 Our brief 
 
Our brief from the Council for this section of the project was included in the 
extract below:  
 
“mapping the Lincolnshire Care Home Market across all service user 
groups. Analysis should include:- 
 

a. Analysis of Occupancy and Residents  
b. Age profile of Care Home Stock 
c. New Registrations and closures 
d. Analysis of self-funders within Lincolnshire 
e. Demand Analysis  
f. Procurement Sources – Other Interested Parties  
g. Out of County Placements within Lincolnshire 
h. Benchmarking Analysis against other Local Authorities 

 
The analysis should also identify variations in market capacity and 
demand due to geography analysed by district.” 

P
age 124



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire         Introduction 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    2 

1.3 Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited 
 
Founded by Philip Mickelborough in 2001, Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited is the 
vehicle which he has written his market reports and undertaken his 
consultancy work since then, including his three previous reports for 
Lincolnshire County Council.  
 
Although it was originally envisaged that the project would be undertaken 
by Philip under the LaingBuisson brand, during the scoping, proposal and 
go-ahead process Philip severed his relationship with LaingBuisson and 
offered to undertake the work under the Kingsbury Hill Fox brand. 
 
Recognising the fact that care homes, whose confidence and co-operation 
are essential to the project, recognise and know researcher Estelle O’Neill 
and Philip from past work the Council decided to maintain continuity and 
commissioned Kingsbury Hill Fox. Of secondary importance was the lower 
cost compared with LaingBuisson fees.  
 
Although not known at the time, during the course of the survey various care 
homes have indicated that the LaingBuisson brand is not popular in 
Lincolnshire because its published advice on care staffing levels has been 
used as a benchmark by CQC to the detriment of care home operators. 
Using the Kingsbury Hill Fox brand has probably improved the response 
rate. 
 
The number of responses to the survey was better than the last survey in 
2014, vindicating the Council’s decision to use Kingsbury Hill Fox. 

1.4 The project and reports 
 
The broad scope of the project we are undertaking for Lincolnshire County 
Council means that a single report covering the whole project would be 
unwieldy, difficult to navigate and contain much that was of interest only to 
sections of its readers.  
 
The project therefore has been fulfilled in the form of three reports: 
• Report on Indicative Revenue Costs of Care Home Places in 

Lincolnshire. 
• Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire 
• Review of Learning Disability Data in Lincolnshire. 
 
There is some overlap in the contents of these reports, as some topics are 
common to more than one report. 
 
 

P
age 125



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire         Populations 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    3 

2. Population growth in Lincolnshire 
 
The population figures herein are from the Office for National Statistics's 
2014-based Subnational Population Projections. While we have written of 
populations 'being' or 'will be' these are just projections based on current 
trends. 
 
2.1 Older population increase within Lincolnshire  
 

 
 
The population aged 85 and over is projected to increase by 9,200 people 
over the next ten years, from 22,100 in 2017 to 31,300 in 2027 (Chart 2.1 & 

Table Appendix 1.1). The number of people aged 75 to 84 will increase by 
23,900 from 54,700 to 78,600 in 2027, and the number of people aged 65 
to 74 will increase by 3,200 from 97,100 to 100,300 over the period.  
 
The greatest numerical increase is in people aged 80 to 84, followed by 
those aged 75-79. By contrast, the age band 70-74 shows a decrease in 
numbers during that ten-year period (Chart 1 and Table Appendix 1.1). This 
decrease may have implications for care demand in the more distant future 
as this smaller cohort works its way into the older age bands. 
 
 

 
 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Chart 2.1 Older population in Lincolnshire 2017-27

65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85-89 90+ -10% 

0% 

10% 

20% 

30% 

40% 

50% 

60% 

Chart 2.2 Growth of older population in Lincs 2017-27

65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85-89 90+ 

P
age 126



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire         Populations 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    4 

When it comes to percentage growth, however, the pattern is somewhat 
different. The 80-84 age band shows the greatest percentage increase; at 
the end of the ten-year period it will be 55 per cent higher. The 90+ age 
band closely follows with a 54 per cent increase while the old age band, 70-
74, manages a two per cent decrease by the end of ten years (Chart 2.2 
and Table Appendix 1.9). 
 

2.2 Population increase within the districts  
 
2.2.1 Age 65 to 74 band 
 
All districts except East Lindsey show an increase in population aged 65-74 
over the next few years, but East Lindsey finishes with a smaller population 
by the end of the ten-year period (Chart 2.3 & Tables Appendix 1.2 to 
Appendix 1.8). 
 
This age band has relatively little impact on demand for care services.  
 
 

 
 

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

Chart 2.3 Population 65-74 in Lincolnshire 2017-27

Boston East	Lindsey Lincoln

North	Kesteven South	Holland South	Kesteven

West	Lindsey

P
age 127



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire         Populations 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    5 

2.2.2 Age 75-84 band 
 
The 75-84 population increases over the ten-year period in all districts 
(Chart 2.4). The largest increase is in South Kesteven, up from 9,600 to 
15,000, followed by East Lindsey up 5,100 and North Kesteven up 3,600 
and West Lindsey up 3,500 (Tables Appendix 1.2 to Appendix 1.8). The 
smallest increase is Boston, up by 1,600. This age band is probably more 
likely to need homecare than a care home place.  
 

 
 

2.2.3 Age 85 and over 
 
Once again the districts follow fairly similar patters of growth, with the largest 
increase being in South Kesteven, up 2,000 from 4,200 to 6,200. The 
smallest increase is in Boston, up 600 people aged 85+ (Tables 
Appendix 1.2 to Appendix 1.8). North Kesteven and West Lindsey show the 
highest percentage increase, 52 per cent, followed by South Kesteven at 
48 per cent (Chart 2.5). The smallest percentage increase is 30 per cent in 
Boston.  
 

 

0.0

2.0

4.0

6.0

8.0

10.0

12.0

14.0

16.0

18.0

20.0

Chart 2.4 Population 75-84 in Lincolnshire 2017-27

Boston East	Lindsey Lincoln

North	Kesteven South	Holland South	Kesteven

West	Lindsey

0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0

7.0

8.0

Chart 2.5 Population 85+ in Lincolnshire 2017-27

Boston East	Lindsey Lincoln

North	Kesteven South	Holland South	Kesteven

West	Lindsey

P
age 128



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire         Populations 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    6 

2.3 Population increase among working age adults 
 
2.3.1 Working age adults in Lincolnshire 
 
The population figures in five-year bands for age 15-64 for Lincolnshire are 
illustrated in Chart 2.6 and Table Appendix 1.10. The 60-64 band shows the 
greatest increase in this age band over the ten years, 11,200, and the 50-
54 band shows the greatest decrease, 11,500. The working age adult 
population (15-64) shows a net increase of only 4,300 over the period. 
 
 

 
 

The greatest percentage growth is in the 60-64 age band, which is projected 
to increase by 24 per cent (Chart 2.7). By contrast, the greatest percentage 
decrease in population is in the 50-54 age band, which is projected to drop 
by 21 per cent.   
 
The population aged 15-64 shows a net increase of one per cent over the 
ten-year period. 
 
 

 
 

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

Chart 2.6 Population 15-64 in Lincolnshire 2017-27

15-19 20-24 25-29 30-34 35-39 

40-44 45-49 50-54 55-59 60-64 

-25% 
-20% 
-15% 
-10% 
-5% 
0% 
5% 

10% 
15% 
20% 
25% 
30% 

Chart 2.7 Growth in population 15-64 in Lincs 2017-27

15-19 20-24 25-29 30-34 35-39 

40-44 45-49 50-54 55-59 60-64 

P
age 129



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire         Populations 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    7 

2.3.2 Working age adults by district 
 
Boston shows the greatest increase in population aged 15 to 64, with an 
increase of 1,500 (Table Appendix 1.18 and Chart 2.8). The district with the 
greatest decrease in working age adult population is East Lindsey, which 
loses 1,200 adults between 2017 and 2027. 

 

Boston shows a four per cent increase in its working age adult (15-64) 
population over the next ten years, the largest growth of all districts. North 
Kesteven, South Holland and South Kesteven all also gain working age 
adult population. 
 
At the other end of the scale East Lindsey shows a 2.3 per cent decrease 
in working age adult (15-64) population. West Lindsey also shows a 
decrease in working age adult population.  
 
 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Chart 2.8 Population 15-64 in Lincolnshire 2017-27

Boston East	Lindsey Lincoln

North	Kesteven South	Holland South	Kesteven

West	Lindsey

P
age 130



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire         Demand 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    8 

3. Demand  
 
3.1 Concept of age-standardised demand  
 
Kingsbury Hill Fox projects the demand for care home places for older 
people by applying a formula reflecting the probability of being in a care 
home in the age bands 65-74, 75-84 and over 85 in the UK to the resident 
population of an area. As working age (young) physically disabled (YPD) 
people are frequently placed in the same homes we also apply a probability 
to the working age adult population. How the actual demand for care home 
places can differ from this projected demand is considered below. 
 
Age-standardised demand (ASD) is calculated by applying the probability of 
being in a care home for the whole of the UK to a local population, across 
various older age bands. Therefore actual demand will be different from 
age-standardised demand when local factors including the following differ 
from the current UK pattern:  
 
• if there is less or greater local use of homecare as an alternative to 

residential care  
 
• if fewer or more older people enter extra care housing instead of a care 

home  
 
• if an area attracts low-dependency older people who self-fund 

themselves in a care home  
 
• if particularly low or high mobility among a population results in lower or 

higher levels of informal care being available from relations  
 
• if prosperity or other factors make a population less or more healthy 

than average for its age  
 

• if the geographical area is small compared with care homes’ catchment 
areas  

 
• if there are an unusually high number of people with what were 

preserved rights. 
 
The major value of the ASD calculation is that it can be used to project future 
changes in demand, subject to patterns of care not changing over time. It is 
therefore a better measure of change in demand than it is of actual demand.  
 
As with any such projections, the further ahead one projects the greater the 
‘funnel of uncertainty’, that is, the less accurate the projection.  
 
This current and future demand for care home places for older and working 
age physically disabled people will not necessarily be met by care home 
placements. Intensive homecare or extra care housing provide alternative 
means to care for older people who might otherwise go into a care home.  
 
 

P
age 131



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire         Demand 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    9 

3.2 Age-standardised demand for older people in Lincolnshire 
 
We have applied our ASD formula to the older population projections for 
Lincolnshire. This has given the projected demand for care home places for 
older people at current patterns of care within Lincolnshire shown in 
Chart 3.1 and Table Appendix 2.1. The ASD is projected to rise steadily 
from the current 6,200 to 8,600 in 2027.  
 

 
 
By 2027 the age-standardised demand for care home paces for older 
people is projected to be 38 per cent higher than now, at current patterns of 
care (Table Appendix 2.2 and Chart 3.1, right hand scale).  

3.3 Age-standardised demand for older people in the districts  
 
3.3.1 Demand 
 
The greatest demand as measured by ASD is in East Lindsey, currently 
being 1,400 care home places, followed by South Kesteven at 1,150 
(Chart 3.2 and Table Appendix 2.1). The lowest demand is in Boston at 550 
followed by Lincoln at 590.  
 

 
 
Demand in all the districts rises, and the order by demand size is the same 
in 2027 as in 2017.  

0% 

5% 

10% 

15% 

20% 

25% 

30% 

35% 

40% 

0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0

7.0

8.0

9.0

10.0

Chart 3.1 ASD for beds for OP in Lincolnshire 2017-27

ASD Growth

0.0

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.4

1.6

1.8

2.0

Chart 3.2 ASD for beds for OP by district 2017-27

Boston East	Lindsey Lincoln

North	Kesteven South	Holland South	Kesteven

West	Lindsey

P
age 132



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire         Demand 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    10 

3.3.2 Growth in age-standardised demand in the districts  
 
The rate of increase in ASD for care home places within the districts are 
fairly close, ranging from 28 per cent in Boston to 45 per cent in South 
Kesteven and West Lindsey (Chart 3.3 and Table Appendix 2.2). For the 
County as a whole the ASD increases by 38 per cent over the ten years. 
 
 

 
 

3.4 Demand for care home places for young disabled adults 
 
3.4.1 Age-standardised method 
 
We could have requested the Council to supply us with the ages of its 
working age adult care home service users, from which we could have 
derived an age-standardised demand formula for supported living for the 
County. The numbers, however, are so low that it would not be accurate. 
 
Furthermore, demographic factors are not the only factors at work. The 
increasing longevity of people with learning disabilities will also increase 
demand. This projection, and the ASC area ones below, are based on an 
assumption that the Council does not change its commissioning practice. 
These factors are taken into account in PSSRU Discussion paper 2800/3 
discussed in Section 3.4.2. 
 
The ageing of parents who may cease to be able to care for their disabled 
child will increase the proportion of learning disabled working age adults 
who come to require local authority support. The Housing Timebomb - The 
housing crisis facing people with a learning disability and their older parents 
was published in 2002 by Mencap and warned about this issue. 
 
3.4.2 Projections from PANSI 
 
The Council has supplied us with the number of people aged 18-64 
predicted to have a moderate or severe learning disability, and hence likely 
to be in receipt of services, by age in Lincolnshire, taken from a projecting 
system known as PANSI operated by the Institute of Public Care at Brookes 
University, Oxford. The projected number of people in the above category 
is given by age band for the next four-years in Table Appendix 2.4.  
 
These projections are for there to be 2,362 such people in Lincolnshire in 
2017 rising to 2,366 in 2021, a negligible increase over the five years. Not 

0% 
5% 

10% 
15% 
20% 
25% 
30% 
35% 
40% 
45% 
50% 

Chart 3.3 ASD for OP beds growth by district 2017-27

Boston East	Lindsey Lincoln

North	Kesteven South	Holland South	Kesteven

West	Lindsey

P
age 133



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire         Demand 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    11 

all of these people are receiving support from Adult Social Services, 
however. 
 
3.4.3 Projections from Snell, Wittenberg, Fernandez et al 
 
Projections of Demand for Social Care and Disability Benefits for Younger 
Adults in England - Report of Research Conducted for the Commission on 
Funding of Care and Support was prepared by Tom Snell, Raphael 
Wittenberg, Jose-Luis Fernandez, Juliette Malley, Adelina Comas-Herrera 
and Derek King and published as PSSRU Discussion paper 2800/3 in 
October 2011. 
 
Table 1 of that publication (Table Appendix 2.3) projects the growth rates of 
working age adults with disabilities between 2015 and 2025 to be: 
• working age adults with a (severe) learning disability - 17 per cent 
• working age adults with a physical or sensory impairment - six per cent 
• working age adults with mental health needs / other (service users only) 

- five per cent. 
 
3.4.4 Considerations 
 
There are various factors that have to be considered when making 
projections, such as: 
• population growth by age band 
• the increase in longevity of people with learning disabilities 
• the willingness of parents to look after their adult children 
• the ethnicity of the population, for example, between 5 and 34 years of 

age, however, the apparent prevalence of severe learning disabilities is 
approximately three times higher among the Asian community when 
compared with the non- Asian community (Emmerson et al, 1997) 

• the severity; PANSI projected moderate or severe disabilities, Snell 
projected severe disability. 

 

Snell et al’s projected rates of growth are higher than those from PANSI, 
and the two projections probably address these issues differently, so giving 
different figures. Snell projects the 2,812 people projected by PANSI for 
2015 to increase by 17 per cent to 3,281 in 2025 (Chart 3.4 & Table 
Appendix 2.5 
 

 
 
3.4.5 Effect of Council commissioning practice on demand 
 
National policy and practice are to reduce the use of care homes for working 
age disabled people, and particularly those with learning disabilities, and 
instead use supported living. We understand that the Council's policy is 
similar.  

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

Chart 3.4 Projections of growth in LD 2015-25

PANSI	2017 Snell PANSI	2014

P
age 134



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire         Demand 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    12 

 
While, therefore at current patterns of care this increase in projected 
demand for care home places for working age disabled adults could lead to 
more placements, the changes in care patterns above and the ageing of the 
existing care home residents might lead to a reduction in the number of 
residents.  
 
On the other hand, the increase in survival rate of in particular people with 
learning disabilities means that average lengths of stay (AVLOS) will 
increase and that will act against any decrease in new placements. 
 
 

P
age 135



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire        Supply of care homes 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    13 

4. Supply and profile of care homes  
 
One aspect that has become obvious while writing this report is the decrease 
in the number of nursing homes and the marked increase in beds registered 
for dementia since the last report in 2014. 
 
4.1 Care homes for older people in the districts 
 
4.1.1 Dimensions in Boston district 
 
We identified 15 care homes for older people in Boston, listed in 
Table Appendix 3.1, with a total of 647 registered places: 
 
• nine were nursing homes with 408 beds 
• seven offered care only with 239 beds 
 
• one care only home (39 beds) was not-for-profit 
• eight nursing homes (368 beds) and six care only homes (200 beds) 

were privately run for profit 
 
• five care only homes (200 beds) and all nine nursing homes (408 beds) 

were registered for people with dementia 
• the other home was registered for frail older people. 
 
Care homes in Boston district ranged in size from 18 to 91 beds, with an 
average of 40 beds. 
 
4.1.2 Operators in Boston district 
 
The main operator in Boston is Retirement Villages Group, with two homes 
and 95 beds; no other organisation operates more than one home. The other 
operators in Boston are: 
• Country Court Care Homes with 35 beds 
• The Georgians (Bolton) with 40 beds 

• Greenhold Care Homes with 54 beds 
• Laudcare Limited with 38 beds 
• Leisure Care Homes with 30 beds 
• Leong E N T with 39 beds  
• Lifeline Nursing Services with 37 beds 
• Meadows Edge Care Home with 45 beds 
• Pearl Blossom Limited with 20 beds 
• Serving All with 33 beds 
• Tanglewood (Lincolnshire) with 91 beds 
• The Orders of St John Care Trust with 37 beds 
• Two private owners with 51 beds 
 
4.1.3 Dimensions in East Lindsey district 
 
We identified 47 care homes for older people in East Lindsey, listed in Table 
Appendix 3.2, with a total of 1,581 registered places: 
 
• 12 were nursing homes with 602 beds 
• 35 offered care only with 979 beds 
 
• two care only homes (72 beds) were not-for-profit 
• 12 nursing homes (602 beds) and 33 care only homes (907 beds) were 

privately run for profit 
 
• 27 care only homes (809 beds) and 11 nursing homes (554 beds) were 

registered for people with dementia 
• the other nine homes were primarily for older people. 
 
Care homes in East Lindsey district ranged in size from 14 to 86 beds, with 
an average of 34 beds. 
 

P
age 136



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire        Supply of care homes 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    14 

4.1.4 Operators in East Lindsey district 
 
The main operators in East Lindsey are Tanglewood (Lincolnshire) Limited, 
with three homes and 137 beds, and Prime Life with 130 beds in three 
homes. The other operators in East Lindsey with two homes are: 
• Doulton Court with 93 beds 
• Habilis Operations with 49 beds 
• Halcyon Care with 86 beds 
• Knightingale Care with 88 beds  
 
and with only one home: 
• 1st Care (UK) with 17 beds 
• Accredited Care with 26 beds  
• Amber Care (East Anglia) with 48 beds  
• Apex Care Centre with 40 beds 
• BSB Care with 18 beds 
• Burlington Care with 86 beds 
• Care Concept HCP with 22 beds  
• Care for Your Life with 38 beds 
• The Chimneys with 14 beds 
• Eastwood Lodge with 19 beds 
• The Grovecare (UK) with 19 beds 
• Gungah Care with 18 beds  
• Kesh-Care with 25 beds  
• Kodali Enterprise with 39 beds  
• The Leaders of Worship & Preachers Homes with 30 beds  
• Leisure Care Homes with 17 beds  
• Louth Care with 66 beds  
• Madeira Care Home with 51 beds  
• Mercer care with 23 beds 
• North Warren Care with 20 beds  
• Orchard House Nursing Home with 52 beds  
• The Orders of St John Care Trust with 42 beds  
• Phoenix Care Centre with 39 beds  

• SBL Care with 15 beds  
• Summerfield Rest Home with 35 beds  
• Syne Hills Care Home with 35 beds  
• Tinfloyd Healthcare with 27 beds  
• Willan Houise (Stainfield) with 20 beds 
• Five individuals with 97 beds. 
 
4.1.5 Dimensions in Lincoln City 
 
We identified 25 care homes for older people in Lincoln City, listed in 
Table Appendix 3.3, with a total of 914 registered places: 
 
• 12 were nursing homes with 431 beds 
• 13 offered care only with 483 beds 
 
• five care only homes (208 beds) were not-for-profit 
• 12 nursing homes (431 beds) and eight care only homes (275 beds) 

were privately run for profit 
 
• nine care only homes (319 beds) and nine nursing homes (311 beds) 

were registered for people with dementia 
• the other six homes were registered for frail older people. 
 
Care homes in Lincoln City district ranged in size from 18 to 63 beds, with 
an average of 37 beds. 
 
4.1.6 Operators in Lincoln City 
 
The main operators in Lincoln City are The Orders of St John Care Trust, 
with four homes and 166 beds and County Court Care Homes with three 
homes and 121 beds. The other operators in Lincoln City with two homes 
are: 
• St Philip's Care with 62 beds  
• Care for Your Life with 71 beds 

P
age 137



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire        Supply of care homes 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    15 

 
and with one home: 
• 1st Care (UK) with 18 beds 
• Allington Healthcare with 27 beds  
• BSB Care with 22 beds 
• Bupa Care Homes with 48 beds  
• Carecall with 22 beds  
• DES Healthcare with 35 beds 
• Four Seasons 2000 with 63 beds  
• Hayworth Care with 38 beds  
• Methodist Homes with 42 beds  
• Pearlcare with 33 beds  
• Premierbell with 47 beds  
• Roman Wharf with 24 beds  
• St Catherine’s Care Homes with 50 beds 
• One individual with 25 beds.  
 
4.1.7 Dimensions in North Kesteven district 
 
We identified 23 care homes for older people in North Kesteven, listed in 
Table Appendix 3.4, with a total of 818 registered places: 
 
• nine were nursing homes with 382 beds 
• 14 offered care only with 436 beds 
 
• one nursing home (58 beds) was not-for-profit 
• the other six nursing homes and 14 care only homes were for-profit 
 
• 11 care only homes (338 beds) and seven nursing homes (289 beds) 

were registered for people with dementia 
• the other five homes were registered for frail older people. 
 
Care homes in North Kesteven district ranged in size from 14 to 58 beds, 
with an average of 36 beds. 

 
4.1.8 Operators in North Kesteven district 
 
The predominant operator in North Kesteven is St Philips Care with 101 
beds in three homes. The other operators in North Kesteven, each with one 
home, are: 
• Ashdene Sleaford with 41 beds 
• BSB Care 40 beds 
• The Chestnuts Retirement homes with 14 beds 
• Country Court Care Homes with 23 beds 
• Greenacres Care Home 28 beds 
• HC-One with 55 beds 
• Jasmine Healthcare with 45 beds 
• Knightingale Care with 40 beds 
• LifeLine Nursing Services with 40 beds 
• Lincolnshire Licences with 44 beds 
• L I Care Homes with 16 beds 
• My Bassingham with 60 beds 
• Oakdene (Sleaford) with 35 beds 
• The Orders of St John Care Trust with 58 beds 
• Prime Life with 40 beds 
• Priory Adult Care with 20 beds 
• SSB Care Homes with 29 beds 
• Three individuals with 89 beds. 
 
4.1.9 Dimensions in South Holland district 
 
We identified 21 care homes for older people in South Holland district, listed 
in Table Appendix 3.5, with a total of 800 registered places: 
 
• five were nursing homes with 262 beds 
• 16 offered care only with 538 beds 
 

P
age 138



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire        Supply of care homes 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    16 

• two care only homes (62 beds) and one nursing home (39 beds) were 
not-for-profit 

• four nursing homes (223 beds) and 14 care only homes (476 beds) were 
privately run for profit 

 
• 11 care only homes (375 beds) and two nursing homes (130 beds) were 

registered for people with dementia 
• the other eight homes were registered for frail older people. 
 
Care homes in South Holland district ranged in size from 20 to 93 beds, with 
an average of 38 beds. 
 
4.1.10 Operators in South Holland district 
 
The main operators in South Holland district were Country Court Care 
Homes, with three homes and 140 beds, Amber ARC with one home and 
68 beds, Tanglewood (Lincolnshire) with one 93-bedded home and The 
Orders of St John Care Trust with 62 beds in two homes. The other 
operators in South Holland district were: 
• Abbeygate Rest Homes with 51 beds in two homes  
• AKD Care with 30 beds 
• Apex Care with 28 beds  
• The Bancroft Residential Home with 32 beds 
• Brun Lea Care with 20 beds 
• Farrington Care Homes with 28 beds 
• Holbeach & East Elloe Hospital Trust with 39 beds 
• Mayfield Residential Care with 29 beds 
• Nathu with 52 beds 
• Nutten Stoven Residential Home with 30 beds 
• Stonehaven Residential Home with 24 beds 
• Wellbeing Residential Group with 28 beds 
• One individual with 46 beds. 
 

4.1.11 Dimensions in South Kesteven district 
 
We identified 30 care homes for older people in South Kesteven district, 
listed in Table Appendix 3.6, with a total of 1,200 registered places: 
 
• ten were nursing homes with 585 beds 
• 20 offered care only with 615 beds 
 
• four care only homes (189 beds) were not-for-profit 
• all ten nursing homes and 16 care only homes (426 beds) were privately 

run for profit 
 
• eight nursing homes (448 beds) and 15 care only homes (486 beds) 

were registered for people with dementia 
• the other seven homes were registered for older people. 
 
Care homes in South Kesteven district ranged in size from ten to 126 beds, 
with an average of 40 beds. 
 
4.1.12 Operators in South Kesteven district 
 
The main operators in South Kesteven district were Barchester Healthcare, 
with two homes and 186 beds, The Orders of St John Care Trust with 189 
beds in four homes and 123 beds and Country Court Care Homes with five 
homes and 135 beds.  
 
The other operators in South Kesteven district, each with one home, were: 
• Amore Elderly Care with 88 beds 
• Avery Homes (Nelson) Limited with 60 beds 
• Avery Lodge with 67 beds 
• Barchester Healthcare Homes with 64 beds 
• Birchwood Retirement Home with 17 beds 
• Castlegate House Rest Home with 20 beds 
• Cedars Health Care with 56 beds 

P
age 139



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire        Supply of care homes 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    17 

• Compleat Care (UK) with 28 beds 
• Harrowby Lodge Nursing Home with 30 beds 
• Lifeline Nursing Services with 49 beds 
• Qu'Appelle Residential Care Home with 36 beds 
• Sycamore Meadows Homes with 29 beds 
• Wellbeing Residential Group with 16 beds 
• Willow Homes – Lincolnshire with 20 beds 
• The Willows Home with 30 beds 
• Yew Tree Residential Care Home with 18 beds 
• Three individuals with 62 beds. 
 
4.1.13 Dimensions in West Lindsey district 
 
We identified 26 care homes for older people in West Lindsey district, listed 
in Table Appendix 3.7, with a total of 1.027 registered places: 
 
• 15 were nursing homes with 725 beds 
• 11 offered care only with 302 beds 
 
• two care only homes (97 beds) were not-for-profit 
• all 15 nursing homes and nine care only homes (223 beds) were 

privately run for profit 
 
• 13 nursing homes (595 beds) and six care only homes (197 beds) were 

registered for people with dementia 
• the other seven homes were registered for frail older people. 
 
Care homes in West Lindsey district ranged in size from 15 to 80 beds, with 
an average of 40 beds. 
 

4.1.14 Operators in West Lindsey district 
 
The main operator in West Lindsey district was The Orders of St John Care 
Trust with 97 beds in two homes. The other operators in West Lindsey 
district, each with one home, are: 
• Barchester Healthcare with 60 beds 
• Carecall with 32 beds 
• Croft Carehomes with 36 beds 
• The Fountain Care Management with 43 beds 
• Foxby Hill Care Home with 47 beds 
• Gainsborough Care with 28 beds 
• Grosvenor House Care Homes with 39 beds 
• HC-One with 54 beds 
• Knights Care with 60 beds 
• Little Brocklesby House with 36 beds 
• M & M Care with 24 beds 
• Mariposa Care with 48 beds 
• MPS Care Homes with 29 beds 
• Platinum Care (Lincoln) with 35 beds 
• Plenus Care with 25 beds 
• Prime Life with 18 beds 
• Southwark Park Nursing Homes with 80 beds 
• The Serenity Care Company with 15 beds 
• SSB Carehomes with 26 beds 
• Staywood with 45 beds 
• United Health with78 beds 
• Vaghjiani with 30 beds 
• Wispington House with 26 beds 
• One individual with 16 beds. 
 

P
age 140



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire        Supply of care homes 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    18 

4.2 Care homes for older people in Lincolnshire 
 
4.2.1 Dimensions in Lincolnshire 
 
We identified 188 care homes for older people in Lincolnshire (2014: 184), 
listed in Tables Appendix 3.1 to Appendix 3.7, with a total of 6,987 registered 
places (2014: 6,692): 
 
• 73 were nursing homes (2014: 74) with 3,396 beds (2014: 3,393)  
• 115 offered care only (2014: 110) with 3,592 beds (2014: 3,299)  
 
• 16 care only homes (625 beds) and two nursing homes (97 beds) were 

not-for-profit 
• 71 nursing homes (3,299 beds) and 99 care only homes (2,967 beds) 

were privately run for profit 
 
• 86 care only homes (2,748 beds) and 58 nursing homes (2,512 beds) 

were registered for people with dementia 
• the other 44 homes were registered for frail older people. 
 
Thirteen per cent of beds for older people were in Lincoln City, 23 per cent 
in East Lindsey, 17 per cent in South Kesteven, 11 per cent in South 
Holland, nine per cent in Boston, 15 per cent in West Lindsey and 12 per 
cent in North Kesteven (Chart 4.1 & Table Appendix 3.9). 
 
Care homes in Lincolnshire ranged in size from ten to 126 beds, with an 
average of 37 beds. Care only homes ranged from ten to 68 beds with an 
average of 31 beds and nursing homes ranged from 16 to 126 beds with an 
average 48 beds. 
 
4.2.2 Operators in Lincolnshire 
 
The main operator in Lincolnshire was Orders of St John Care Trust, with 
15 homes and 653 beds giving it 9.9 per cent of the total (Table 4.1). The 

ten largest operators have a combined market share of 37 per cent of the 
market. 
 
 

 
 
The largest operator, The Orders of St John Care Trust is a not-for-profit 
organisation; the nine eight of the top ten are for-profit. Of the 109 
companies and 16 individuals that operate homes for older people in 
Lincolnshire only four are not-for-profit and they hold a total of 12 per cent 
of the market (Table Appendix 3.8). 
 
Sixteen homes were operated for-profit by named individuals, with a market 
share of 5.9 per cent. 

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

1,800

Chart 4.1 Older people's beds in Lincolnshire

Boston East	Lindsey Lincoln North	Kesteven

South	Holland South	Kesteven West	Lindsey

P
age 141



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire        Supply of care homes 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    19 

 
Table 4.1 Ten largest operators of care homes for older people 
 

Operator Homes Beds Share 
    
The Orders of St John Care Trust 15 653 9.8% 
Country Court Care Homes Group 13 454 6.8% 
Tanglewood (Lincolnshire) Ltd 5 321 4.8% 
Barchester Healthcare 3 310 4.6% 
Prime Life Ltd 5 188 2.8% 
St Philip's Care 5 163 2.4% 
Lifeline Nursing Services Ltd 3 126 1.9% 
Care for Your Life Ltd 3 109 1.6% 
HC-One Ltd 2 109 1.6% 
RV Care Homes Limited 2 95 1.4% 
    

 

4.3 Care homes for young disabled adults in Lincolnshire  
 
The terms YDA (young disabled adults) and working age adults are used 
interchangeably in this review for adults aged 18-64. 
 
4.3.1 Care homes for working age disabled adults in Boston 
 
We identified only one home primarily for working age disabled adults in 
Boston district. This was the Parkcare Homes (No.2) Limited (previously 
Craegmoor Group's) for-profit care only home Ashridge with 18 beds for 
people with learning disabilities in Boston at PE21 9AD. 
 
4.3.2 Care homes for YDA in East Lindsey 
 
We identified 36 care homes for YDA in East Lindsey, of which four 
accommodated people with mental health needs, three people with sensory 
impairment and 28 were for people with learning disabilities, with a total of 
396 beds. There were 79 beds for people with mental health needs, 19 for 
sensory-impaired adults and 298 for people with learning disabilities (Table 
Appendix 4.2).  
 
One care home for people with mental health needs offered nursing care; 
the others were care only. 
 
The main provider was the not-for-profit Linkage Community Trust whose 
16 homes and 152 beds gave it 38 per cent of the market. This was followed 
by the for-profit Boulevard Care Ltd whose seven homes and 75 beds gave 
it 19 per cent of the market, and the for-profit Prime Life Ltd whose three 
homes and 55 beds gave it 14 per cent of the market. 
 
4.3.3 Care homes for working age disabled adults in Lincoln City 
 
We identified ten care homes for working age disabled adults in Lincoln, of 
which two accommodated people with mental health needs, one people with 

P
age 142



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire        Supply of care homes 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    20 

acquired brain injury, one people with physical disabilities and six were for 
people with learning disabilities, with a total of 118 beds. There were 33 
beds for people with mental health needs, 12 for people with acquired brain 
injury, 15 for people with physical disabilities and 58 for people with learning 
disabilities (Table Appendix 4.3).  
 
One care home for people with learning disabilities offered nursing care; the 
others were care only. 
 
The main providers were the for-profit Prime Life Ltd whose two homes and 
34 beds gave it 29 per cent of the market followed by the for-profit United 
Health Ltd whose two homes and 33 beds gave it 28 per cent of the market. 
 
4.3.4 Care homes for working age disabled adults in North Kesteven 
 
We identified 21 care homes for working age disabled adults in North 
Kesteven with 221 beds, one accommodating people with mental health 
needs with 29 beds and 20 homes for people with learning disabilities with 
192 beds (Table Appendix 4.4). The home for mental health needs offered 
nursing care, as did two homes for learning disabilities with 33 beds. The 
other 18 homes offered care only. 
 
The main providers were the for-profit Autism Care (UK) with six homes and 
47 beds followed by four homes operated by Home from Home Care with 
34 beds.  
 
4.3.5 Care homes for working age disabled adults in South Holland 
 
We identified eight care homes for working age disabled adults in South 
Holland, of which one accommodated people with mental health needs, 
three people with sensory impairment and four were for people with learning 
disabilities, with a total of 75 beds. There were eight beds for people with 
mental health needs, 17 for people with sensory impairment and 50 for 

people with learning disabilities (Table Appendix 4.5). All homes offered 
care only. 
 
The main provider was the for-profit Agemco Limited whose one home and 
34 beds gave it 45 per cent of the market and the not-for-profit Sense whose 
three homes and 17 beds gave it 23 per cent of the market.  
 
4.3.6 Care homes for working age disabled adults in South Kesteven 
 
We identified nine care homes for working age disabled adults in South 
Kesteven, of which five accommodated people with learning disabilities and 
four people with sensory impairment with a total of 78 beds. There were 20 
beds for people with sensory impairment and 58 for people with learning 
disabilities (Table Appendix 4.6). All the homes offer care only. 
 
The main provider was the not-for-profit Grantham & District Mencap Ltd 
whose 22-bedded home gave it 28 per cent of the market followed by the 
not-for-profit Sense, whose four homes and 20 beds give it 26 per cent of 
the market.  
 
4.3.7 Care homes for working age disabled adults in West Lindsey 
 
We identified 18 care homes for working age disabled adults in West 
Lindsey, of which five accommodated people with mental health needs and 
13 were for people with learning disabilities, with a total of 335 beds. There 
were 179 beds for people with mental health needs and 156 for people with 
learning disabilities (Table Appendix 4.7).  
 
Two care homes for people with mental health needs and four for people 
with learning disabilities offered nursing care; the other 12 were care only. 
 
The main provider was the Howson Care Centre Ltd whose 83-bedded 
home gave it 25 per cent of the market, closely followed by the for-profit 
Prime Life Ltd whose three homes and 72 beds gave it a 21 per cent share.   

P
age 143



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire        Supply of care homes 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    21 

 
4.3.8 Operators for working age disabled adults in Lincolnshire 
 
The main operator in Lincolnshire is Prime Life Ltd, with eight homes and 
159 beds giving it 13 per cent of the total (Table 4.2). The ten largest 
operators have a combined market share of 70 per cent of the market. 
 
Table 4.2 Ten largest operators of care homes for working age 

disabled adults 
 

Operator Homes Beds Share 
    
Prime Life Ltd 8 159 13% 
Linkage Community Trust 16 152 13% 
Parkcare Homes (No.2) Limited 5 93 8% 
Howson Care Centre Ltd 1 83 7% 
Boulevard Care Ltd 7 75 6% 
Home from Home Care Limited 9 70 6% 
United Health Ltd 3 68 6% 
Sense 10 56 5% 
Autism Care (UK) Limited 6 47 4% 
CAS Care Services Limited 2 35 3% 
    

 
The second largest operator, Linkage Community Trust, and Sense are not-
for-profit organisations; the other eight of the top ten are for-profit. Of the 28 
companies that operate in Lincolnshire only six are not-for-profit and they 
hold a total of 24 per cent of the market (Table Appendix 4.8). 
 
Seven homes were operated for-profit by named individuals, with a market 
share of 4.9 per cent. 
 
Thirty-two per cent of beds for working age disabled adults were in East 
Lindsey, 27 per cent in West Lindsey, 18 per cent in North Kesteven, ten per 

cent in Lincoln City, six per cent in South Holland and in South Kesteven, 
and one per cent in Boston and (Chart 4.2 & Table Appendix 3.9). 
 
 

 
 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

Chart 4.2 Care home beds for YDA 

Boston East	Lindsey Lincoln North	Kesteven

South	Holland South	Kesteven West	Lindsey

P
age 144



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire        Supply of care homes 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    22 

4.4 Extra care housing in Lincolnshire 
 
Extra care housing is relevant to this review as it is a competitor to care 
homes for older people and therefore affect the supply and demand 
equation. A diversion of people to extra care from care homes, whether 
rented or leasehold, would affect the demand for care home places and 
therefore both the availability of care home places to the Council and the 
price it must pay. 
 
Without visiting a scheme it is difficult to tell whether it is extra care, or 
enhanced sheltered housing, and close care can be either. We identified 18 
developments that could be extra care housing in Lincolnshire, with a total 
of 577 dwellings (Table Appendix 9.1). 
 
The main provider was LACE Housing whose four schemes contained 129 
dwellings followed by Retirement Security with 82 dwellings in two schemes 
and Waterloo Housing Group with78 dwellings in two schemes. 
 

P
age 145



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire      Profiles of homes and residents 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    23 

5 Profile of care homes and residents 
 
5.1 Ownership type of care homes 
 
The analysis below is based on responses to our survey of Lincolnshire’s 
homes.  
 
The question about ownership and management in the survey was 
answered by 102 respondents:  
• 68 care homes (67%) reported that the home was privately-owned with 

an employed manager 
• 21 (21%) were operated by a voluntary sector organisation 
• five (5%) were owned by a private corporate operator 
• six (6%) were owner-managed 
• two (2%) were owned by private equity.  
 
Thirty-seven homes (38%) were part of a group that operated six to 99 
homes: 
• 27 (27%) were single homes 
• 22 (22%) were part of a group of two to five homes 
• 20 (20%) were part of a group of 100 or more homes. 
 
 

5.2 Age of care home stock in Lincolnshire 
 
5.2.1 Homes for older people 
 
Forty-three care homes out of 77 homes for older people responding to our 
survey reported the age of the main part of their home. A few gave a decade 
eg 1960s in which case we used the middle of the range. The oldest was 
estimated to have been built around 1650 and the youngest in 2015. 
 
The average age of the homes was 66 years, built in 1951, but this becomes 
1959 if the home built in the 1600s, which is probably a conversion, is 
discounted. The median age is a better guide, as it is not affected by the 
very old homes, and this was 32 years (1985).  
 
The National Minimum Standards, introduced in April 2002, set standards 
for the sizes of care home rooms, for the provision of en-suite bathrooms 
and for a range of other environmental facilities. The main parts of only three 
of 43 homes were built after April 2002. 
 
Twenty-five (47%) of these were built before the predecessor of the Care 
Standards Act 2000, the Registered Homes Act 1984. The average size of 
the 20 homes built before 1984 was 36 beds and the average size of the 23 
homes built after 1984 was 39 beds. Homes built during the 1960s and 
1970s were often purpose-built with a construction that is no longer 
economical to maintain and repair; seven homes were built during these 
decades and are likely to be in need of extensive repairs, replacement or 
closure.  
 
5.2.2 Homes for working age disabled adults 
 
Seventeen care homes out of 25 responding to our survey reported the age 
of the main part of their home. One gave a decade, 1700s, in which case 
we used the middle of the range. 
 

P
age 146



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire      Profiles of homes and residents 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    24 

The average age of the homes was 71 years, built in 1946. The median age 
is a better guide, as it is not affected by the very old homes, and this was 82 
years (1935).  
 
The National Minimum Standards, introduced by the Care Standards Act 
2000 in April 2002, set standards for the sizes of care home rooms, for the 
provision of en-suite bathrooms and for a range of other environmental 
facilities. All but one of the homes, built in 2003, were built before the Care 
Standards Act 2000 came into force for care homes, although some opened 
before the date may have been built to imminent standards.  
 

5.3 Profile of residents  
 
5.3.1 Residents' disabilities in homes for older people 
 
Two thousand five hundred and eighty-eight adults were living in the care 
homes for older people that responded, and we were given the care type for 
2,585 and disabilities of 1,992 of these:  

• 40 per cent were receiving standard personal care   
• 40 per cent were receiving high dependency personal care, and   
• 20 per cent were receiving nursing care (Table 5.1).   

Table 5.1 Residents of the responding homes for older people by type 
of care needs and category of service provided 

 
In care home primarily for 
older people 

Personal 
care 

High 
dependency 

Nursing 
 care 

    
Frail older people  559 158 242 
Dementia 422 370 174 
Physical disabilities under 65  11 0 16 
Mental health under 65 5 7  
Other 16 8 4 
Unspecified 23 498 72 
   8 
Total 1,036 1,041 508 
    

 
Frail older people and people with dementia accounted for 75 per cent of 
residents.  
 
Seven per cent of residents of care homes for older people had been 
admitted for respite care.  
 

P
age 147



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire      Profiles of homes and residents 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    25 

5.3.2 Residents' disabilities in homes for working age disabled adults 
 
Five hundred and eighty-four adults were living in the 25 care homes for 
working age disabled adults that responded, and we were given the care 
type for 148 and disabilities of 122 of these. Ninety-four per cent were 
receiving personal care and six per cent were receiving nursing care 
(Table 5.2).  
 
Table 5.2 Residents of the responding homes for young disabled 

adults by type of care needs and category of service provided 
 

 Personal care Nursing care 
   
Frail older people    
Dementia 4  
Physical disabilities under 65  15  
Mental health under 65 90  
Other 13  
Unspecified 17 9 
   
Total 139 9 
   

 
Sixty-one per cent of residents had mental health needs, ten per cent were 
physically disabled and three per cent had dementia. Eight per cent had 
another disability and people whose needs were not specified accounted for 
18 per cent. 
 
A little over two per cent were in the care home for respite care. 
 
5.3.3 Gender of residents of responding homes 
 
Fifty-nine care homes for older people reported details of their residents' 
gender. Unusually in care homes for older people females only just 

predominate, representing a little under three-quarters of residents (70%) 
(Chart 5.1). 
 
Seventeen care homes for working age disabled adults reported details of 
their residents' gender, and males predominated with 61 per cent of 
residents (Chart 5.2). 
 

 
 

 

Chart 5.1 Gender balance in 
care homes for older people

Males Females

Chart 5.2 Gender balance in 
care homes for YDA

Males Females

P
age 148



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire        Supply and demand 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    26 

6. Comparing supply and demand 
 
6.1 Age-standardised demand and supply for older people in 

Lincolnshire 
 
Lincolnshire has 12 per cent more care home beds for older people than 
age-standardised demand would suggest (Table Appendix 3.10). If a long-
term sustainable occupancy rate of 90 per cent is desired then the supply is 
one per cent higher than the projected requirement. Our survey suggested 
that the occupancy rate is 92-93 per cent, indicating that supply is a fraction 
low for a sustainable occupancy rate of 90 per cent.  
 

 

6.2 ASD and supply for older people in the districts 
 
Although the County as a whole is balanced for a sustainable occupancy 
rate of 90 per cent for older people the same is not true of the districts. 
 
Lincoln City has 1.5 times as many care home places for older people as 
ASD projects the number of residents, and at a sustainable occupancy rate 
of 90 per cent it has an extra 39 per cent as many places as required by 
ASD (Chart 6.1 & Table Appendix 3.10). Lincoln is clearly importing older 
people from surrounding districts, as one might expect of a County town. 
Lincolnshire's ASD is the second lowest after Boston; this may be due to the 
presence of the University and the job opportunities there. 
 
West Lindsey has 37 per cent more care home places as ASD projects the 
number of residents, and at a sustainable occupancy rate of 90 per cent it 
has 23 per cent more places than required by ASD – effectively in balance 
(Chart 16 & Table Appendix 3.10). 
 
Boston district has 1.18 times as many care home places as ASD projects 
the number of residents, and at a sustainable occupancy rate of 90 per cent 
it has six per cent more places than required by ASD (Chart 6.1 & 
Table Appendix 3.10).  
 
East Lindsey has 13 per cent more care home places as ASD projects the 
number of residents, and at a sustainable occupancy rate of 90 per cent it 
has two per cent fewer places than required by ASD – effectively in balance 
(Chart 16 & Table Appendix 3.10).  
 
The other districts have fewer beds than indicated by ASD at 90 per cent.  
 
South Kesteven, for example, has 104 per cent of the number of residents 
projected by ASD, and at a sustainable occupancy rate of 90 per cent it has 
six per cent fewer places than required by ASD. 
 

550

1,400

590

950
850

1,150

750
647

1,581

914

818 800

1,200

1,027

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

1,800

Chart 6.1 ASD and supply of beds for OP

P
age 149



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire        Supply and demand 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    27 

South Holland has 94 per cent of the number of residents projected by ASD, 
and at a sustainable occupancy rate of 90 per cent it has 15 per cent fewer 
places than required by ASD. 
 
North Kesteven has three-quarters (77%) the number of places that ASD 
would suggest after allowing for an occupancy rate of 90 per cent.  
 

6.3 Demand and supply for learning disabled adults in 
Lincolnshire 

 
We identified 1,241 places in care homes for people with learning 
disabilities, mental health needs, sensory impairment or physical disabilities 
not related to age in Lincolnshire, of which 830 are for adults with learning 
disabilities (Tables Appendix 4.1-4.7). We have not distinguished between 
homes for older adults and those for working age adults, as working age 
disabled adults are usually accommodated in specialist homes until, and 
often beyond when, their age-related needs exceed their needs from their 
main disability. 
 
Our survey found that care homes for learning disabled adults in 
Lincolnshire were operating close to full capacity, 98%, indicating that 
approximately 813 such adults are in care homes. 
 
There were a projected 2,812 moderately or severely learning disabled 
adults in 2015, indicating that approximately 24 per cent of learning disabled 
adults were in care homes (Table Appendix 2.4). If patterns of care do not 
change, the 2017 PANSI projections suggest that this number will not 
change in the period to April 2019. 
 
Patterns of care, however, are changing, with a diversion of people with 
learning disabilities from care homes to supported living, and so we 
envisage a reduction in demand and therefore a need for fewer, not more, 
care home places. It is likely that there will be an increase in the demand for 
care home places for people whose disability is so great that they cannot go 
into supported housing, and a sharp reduction in demand for care homes for 
less disabled adults with learning disabilities. 

P
age 150



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire        Supply and demand 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    28 

6.6 The Council’s Better Care Fund projections 
 
For Better Care Fund purposes the Council has made estimates of future 
demand for care home places based on the ratio of older people supported 
in care homes per 100,000 older people, and applying this ratio to the 
number of older people projected by the Office for National Statistics’ 2014-
based subnational population projections (the denominator) for the number 
of older people in 2016/17, 2017/18 and 2018/19. 
 
This is a similar methodology to our age standardised demand formula, 
except that we used the three older population bands and different ratios for 
each. 
 
The Council’s numerator does vary, however, making the Council’s figures 
more sophisticated and therefore a forecast rather than the projection that 
our method uses. 
 
Table 6.1 Forecast/projected demand by two methods 
 

 15/16 Actual 16/17 Plan 17/18 Plan 18/19 Plan 
     
LCC 613.7 574.4 648.7 648.8 
     
KHF 613.7 632.1 650.5 668.9 
     

 
Factors that would increase demand include: 

• demographics – particularly the growing 85+population 
• increased longevity 
• a shortage of homecare workers 
• any reduction in informal care 

and those that would decrease it include: 

• diversion to extra care housing 
• increased awareness of intensive homecare as an alternative 
• an increase in preventative care 

and the factors that affect eligibility for support: 

• changes in capital wealth, mostly housing equity 
• changes in the incidence of occupational pensions 
• changes in the value of investments or their rate of return. 

 

P
age 151



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire        Funding sources 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    29 

7. Funding of care homes places in Lincolnshire 
 
7.1 Funding of older people  
 
We undertook a survey of care homes in Lincolnshire, with an emphasis on 
collecting costs but also asking some additional information used in this 
Section. 
 
Lincolnshire County Council funded half (48%) of the residents in the care 
homes for older people who responded to our survey (Chart 7.1 & 
Table Appendix 5.1). Private self-funding residents accounted for 41 per 
cent, followed by the NHS with 6.3 per cent and other local authorities at 
3.7 per cent.  
 
Fifty-four per cent of homes relied on the Council for half or more of their 
residents. The range of funding by the Council was from 7.7 per cent to 82 
per cent with an average of 48 per cent. 
 
Lincolnshire County Council funded half (51%) of the residents in the 
nursing homes for older people who responded to our survey 
(Table Appendix 5.1). Private self-funding residents accounted for 16 per 
cent, behind the NHS with 25 per cent but more than other local authorities 
at 5.4 per cent.  
 
Lincolnshire County Council funded under half (47%) of the residents in the 
care only homes for older people who responded to our survey 
(Table Appendix 5.1). Private self-funding residents accounted for half 
(49%), other local authorities 3.2 per cent and the NHS less than one per 
cent.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Chart 7.1 Funding sources of older people

Lincolnshire County 
Council
Other local authority

Direct payments

Self-funding

NHS

Intermediate care

Other

P
age 152



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire        Funding sources 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    30 

7.2 Funding of working age disabled adults 
 
Lincolnshire County Council funded 48 per cent of the residents in the 16 
care homes for working age disabled adults who responded to our survey 
(Chart 7.2 & Table Appendix 5.2). People with direct payments were funded 
indirectly by the Council but accounted for less than one-half per cent. 
People with learning disabilities are frequently placed out-of-county, and 16 
per cent of residents were placed by other local authorities. Private self-
funding residents accounted for 31 per cent, followed by the NHS with four 
per cent.  
 
 
Sixty-five per cent of homes relied on the Council to pay at a basic or 
individually-negotiated rate for more than half their residents. Four homes 
(24%) were totally funded by the Council and two homes had no Council-
funded residents at a basic or individually-negotiated rate but did have 
residents funded by pilot direct payments. 
 
Lincolnshire County Council funded at a basic rate all the residents in the 
one nursing home for working age disabled adults that responded to our 
survey, and it relied on the Council for 61 per cent of residents (Chart 19 & 
Table Appendix 5.2).  
 
Lincolnshire County Council funded at a basic rate 41 per cent of the 
residents in the 14 care only homes for working age disabled adults who 
responded to our survey, 14 per cent at an individually negotiated rate and 
seven per cent via pilot direct payments (Chart 18 & Table Appendix 5.2). 
Other local authorities, followed at 37 per cent Private self-funding residents 
accounted for 0.6 per cent and the NHS with 0.3 per cent.  
 
 
Fifty-three per cent of homes relied on the Council to pay for half or more 
their residents. The range of funding by the Council was from 23 per cent to 
100 per cent with an average of 56 per cent. 

 
 

Chart 7.2 Funding sources of YDA

Lincolnshire County 
Council
Other local authority

Direct payments

Self-funding

NHS

Intermediate care

Other

P
age 153



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire         Weekly fees 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    31 

8 Fees for care home places 
 
The following fee information comes from our survey of care home costs. 
 
8.1 Fees for older people 
 
8.1.1 Nursing fees for older people 
 
Twenty-one nursing homes answered this question on fees; two charged 
self-funding residents the same for nursing care as they charged the 
Council, one charged less and the others charged more.  
 
 

The Council was charged a weighted average of £668 compared with £822 
for private residents (Chart 8.1 & Table Appendix 7.1). This figure includes 
some top-ups; this is technically correct as the care home does charge the 
Council for the top-up and then the Council collects the top-up from the 
resident. 
 
Other local authorities sometimes paid the same and sometimes less than 
LCC, but one home charged other councils more than the Council for 
nursing places, resulting in a weighted average of £663.  
 

 
The NHS usually paid more, sometimes paid less and two homes charged 
the same as the Council for nursing places giving a weighted average of 
£927. The number of care and nursing hours may be higher for NHS 
continuing care patients so increasing costs. 

£0

£200

£400

£600

£800

£1,000

£1,200

Lincolnshire	CC Other	local	
authorities

Direct	
payments

Self-funding NHS

Chart 8.1 Nursing fees for older people

Minimum Weighted average Maximum

£0

£100

£200

£300

£400

£500

£600

£700

£800

£900

£1,000

Lincolnshire	CC Other	local	
authorities

Direct	
payments

Self-funding NHS

Chart 8.2 High dependency fees for older people

Minimum Weighted average Maximum

P
age 154



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire         Weekly fees 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    32 

Two homes reported their fees for people with direct payments, in each case 
the same as the home would charge the Council, giving a weighted average 
of £497. 
 
8.1.2 High dependency fees for older people 
 
Sixty-two care homes answered this question on fees; two charged self-
funding residents the same for high dependency care as they charged the 
Council and all the others charged more.  
 
The Council was charged a weighted average of £505 compared with £755 
for private residents (Chart 8.2 & Table Appendix 7.2). This figure includes 
some top-ups; this is technically correct as the care home does charge the 
Council for the top-up and then the Council collects the top-up from the 
resident. 
 
Other local authorities usually paid the same but two homes charged other 
councils less than the Council for high dependency places, resulting in a 
weighted average of £496. 
 
Only one care home reported its charges to the NHS, which at £557 was 
higher than it charged the Council.  
 
Three homes reported their fees for people with direct payments, all of £497, 
and in each case the same as the home would charge the Council. 
 
8.1.3 Care only fees for older people 
 
Sixty-four care homes answered this question on fees; one home charged 
self-funding residents the same for care as they charged the Council and all 
the others charged more.  
 
The Council was charged a weighted average of £492 compared with £682 
for private residents (Chart 8.3 & Table Appendix 7.3). This figure includes 

some top-ups; this is technically correct as the care home does charge the 
Council for the top-up and then the Council collects the top-up from the 
resident. 

 
Other local authorities usually (58%) paid more than the Council, but 40 per 
cent of homes paid the same and one home charged other councils less 
than the Council, resulting in a weighted average of £518. 
 
Many care homes reported their charges to the NHS, which was higher than 
the Council was charged in every care, giving a weighted average of £715.  
 
Four homes reported their fees for people with direct payments, two charged 
the same as they would charge the Council, one charged less and one 
charged more, giving a weighted average of £735. 

£0

£100

£200

£300

£400

£500

£600

£700

£800

£900

£1,000

Lincolnshire	CC Other	local	
authorities

Direct	
payments

Self-funding NHS

Chart 8.2 High dependency fees for older people

Minimum Weighted average Maximum

£0

£200

£400

£600

£800

£1,000

£1,200

Lincolnshire	CC Other	local	
authorities

Direct	
payments

Self-funding NHS

Chart 8.3 Care fees for older people

Minimum Weighted average Maximum

P
age 155



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire         Weekly fees 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    33 

8.2 Top-ups for older people 
 
The following top-up information comes from our survey of care home costs. 
These were called third-party top-ups when people were not allowed to top-
up their own fees.  
 
Thirty-two care homes reported that they charged top-ups and 17 reported 
that they did not; 65 per cent did charge and 35 per cent did not.  
 
On a weighted average care homes that charged top-ups charged them to 
27 per cent of residents (Table Appendix 7.4).  
 
The level of top-up ranged from £10 per week to a maximum of £218.  
 
The average of each home’s top-up ranged from £10 to £157 per week, with 
a weighted average of £31.  
 
 

8.3 Fees for working age disabled adults 
 
The following fee information comes from our survey of care home costs. 
 
No care homes reported nursing fees. 
 
Only two homes reported high dependency fees charged to the Council, 
which ranged from £497 to £656 giving a weighted average of £598. 
 
Care only fees to the Council ranged from £506 to £637, with a weighted 
average of £604. 
 
Care only fees to other local authorities ranged from £506 to £683, with a 
weighted average of £625. 
 
Only one home reported care only fees to self-funding people, of £456 and 
is less than the fees that home charged to local authorities. 
 
Nine care homes reported charging no top-up and one reported charging all 
residents a top-up of £322 per week. 
 
 

P
age 156



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire        Benchmarking 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    34 

9. Benchmarking care homes  
 
9.1 Concept of nearest neighbour 
 
CIPFA, the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy, has 
produced a 'Nearest neighbours' model that allows local authorities to 
identify and rank other local authorities in similarity to the original. Each local 
authority has a different set of nearest neighbours, rather than a set of local 
authorities that benchmark together. 
 
Table 9.1 Lincolnshire's family of nearest neighbours 
 
Position Neighbour authorities Statistical distance 
   
1 Norfolk 0.106 
2 Derbyshire 0.137 
3 Cumbria 0.157 
4 Nottinghamshire 0.175 
5 Suffolk 0.178 
6 Somerset 0.184 
7 Worcestershire 0.186 
8 Devon 0.211 
9 Staffordshire 0.247 
10 Warwickshire 0.249 
11 Gloucestershire 0.250 
12 Lancashire 0.270 
13 Essex 0.289 
14 North Yorkshire 0.297 
15 East Sussex 0.307 
   

 
There are 45 variables that can be chosen, and we used CIPFA's standard 
'family group' with the addition of 'Population aged 65-74' and we limited the 
comparator group to county councils. This gave us the family in Table 9.1. 

9.2 Unit costs by service user group 
 
The collection of data by the Department of Health has changed since our 
last report in 2014 and we have selected the most relevant of what is 
available. 
 
Lincolnshire reported unit costs for long-term support of people with physical 
needs of £473.65, less than the £581.83 spent in its comparator group and 
the £563.69 spent across England (Chart 9.1 & Table Appendix 8.1). 
 
Lincolnshire reported unit costs for long-term support of people with sensory 
needs of £465.45, more than the £451.80 spent in its comparator group but 
less than the £577.79 spent across England (Chart 9.1 & Table 
Appendix 8.1). 
 
Lincolnshire reported unit costs for long-term support of people with 
dementia needs of £465.83, less than the £490.54 spent in its comparator 
group and the £548.62 spent across England (Chart 9.1 & Table 
Appendix 8.1). 
 
Lincolnshire reported unit costs for long-term support of people with learning 
disabilities of £933.19, less than the £1,254.57 spent in its comparator group 
and the £1,264.64 spent across England (Chart 9.1 & Table Appendix 8.1). 
 
Lincolnshire reported unit costs for long-term support of people with mental 
health needs of £456.65, less than the £817.81 spent in its comparator 
group and the £628.41 spent across England (Chart 9.1 & Table 
Appendix 8.1). 
 
Lincolnshire's reported costs, therefore, are lower than its family's and 
England’s. 
 

 

P
age 157



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire        Benchmarking 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    35 

 
 
9.3 Long-term care home costs by age band 
 
Lincolnshire reported long-term adult care only home costs of £542.54, less 
than the £717.42 spent in its comparator group and the £716.35 spent 
across England (Chart 9.2 & Table Appendix 8.2). 
 
Lincolnshire reported long-term young adult care only home costs of 
£796.55, less than the £1,246.20 spent in its comparator group and the 
£1,205.41 spent across England (Chart 9.2 & Table Appendix 8.2). 
 
Lincolnshire reported long-term older person care only home costs of 
£482.68, less than the £546.29 spent in its comparator group and the 
£548.64 spent across England (Chart 9.2 & Table Appendix 8.2). 

Lincolnshire reported long-term adult nursing home costs of £534.98, less 
than the £597.94 spent in its comparator group and the £596.09 spent 
across England (Chart 9.2 & Table Appendix 8.2). 
 
Lincolnshire reported long-term young adult nursing home costs of £760.14, 
less than the £872.73 spent in its comparator group and the £870.96 spent 
across England (Chart 9.2 & Table Appendix 8.2). 
 
Lincolnshire reported long-term older person nursing home costs of 
£490.74, less than the £570.59 spent in its comparator group and the 
£563.43 spent across England (Chart 9.2 & Table Appendix 8.2). 
 
Lincolnshire's reported costs, therefore, are lower than its family's and 
England’s. 

£0

£200

£400

£600

£800

£1,000

£1,200

£1,400

Long	Term	- Physical	Support Long	Term	- Sensory	Support Long	Term	- Support	- Memory	&	
Cognition

Long	Term	- Learning	Disability	
Support

Long	Term	- Mental	Health	
Support

Chart 9.1 Unit costs by support type and primary support reason 

Lincolnshire Comparator	group England

P
age 158



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire        Benchmarking 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    36 

 
 

 
 
9.4 Hourly rates for homecare by external and internal provision 
 
Lincolnshire does not have an internal homecare service. It reported 
homecare costs delivered by external providers of £13.11, less than the 
£14.67 spent in its comparator group and the £14.28 spent across England 
(Chart 9.3 & Table Appendix 8.3). 
 
Only six of its comparator family reported in-house homecare costs. 
 

9.5 Costs for short term care to maximise independence  
 
Lincolnshire reported the cost of providing all adults with short-term care in 
order to maintain their independence – we assume brief homecare 
packages - of £394.86, less than the £764.23 spent in its comparator group 
and the £523.26 spent across England (Chart 9.4 & Table Appendix 8.4). 
 
Lincolnshire reported the cost of providing young adults with short-term care 
in order to maintain their independence of £370.93, less than the £716.04 
spent in its comparator group and the £531.29 spent across England 
(Chart 9.4 & Table Appendix 8.4). 
 

£0

£200

£400

£600

£800

£1,000

£1,200

£1,400

Residential	Care	- Total Residential	Care	- 18	to	64 Residential	Care	- 65	and	
over

Nursing	Care	- Total Nursing	Care	- 18	to	64 Nursing	Care	- 65	and	over

Chart 9.2 Long-term care home costs by age band

Lincolnshire Comparator	group England

P
age 159



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire        Benchmarking 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    37 

Lincolnshire reported the cost of providing older people with short-term care 
in order to maintain their independence of £396.59, less than the £753.79 
spent in its comparator group and the £522.02 spent across England 
(Chart 9.4 & Table Appendix 8.4). 
 
Lincolnshire's reported costs, therefore, are lower than its family's and lower 
than England's for short-term care.  
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

£0

£5

£10

£15

£20

£25

£30

£35

In-house External

Chart 9.3 Homecare hourly rates by provider

Lincolnshire Comparator	group England

£0

£100

£200

£300

£400

£500

£600

£700

£800

£900

Total Age	18-64 Age	65	and	over

Chart 9.4 Cost of short-term care to maintain 
independence

Lincolnshire Comparator	group England

P
age 160



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire        Registrations 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    38 

10 Registrations 
 
We identified changes to 63 care homes comprising 1,889 beds since our 
last report in 2014 (Table 10.1). This was done by comparing CQC’s list of 
regstered homes in July 2014 with the same in 2017. 
 
10.1 Closures 
 
We identified 13 care homes comprising 230 beds that had closed since our 
last report. As far as we can tell, six of these deregistered voluntarily, four 
deregistered as a result of enforcement action and three re-registered in a 
different form. 
 
10.2 Openings 
 
We identified only two new care homes: 
 
• Tennyson Wharf, a 60 bed for profit nursing home in Bourne owned by 

Barchester Healthcare, and  
 

• Tallington Lodge Care Home, a 30-bed for profit care only home also in 
Bourne owned by Country Court Homes. 

 
10.3 Change of owner or name 
 
We identified 45 care homes that had either changed their owner, changed 
their name or changed division within an owner. 
 
10.4 Adding or reducing bedrooms 
 
We identified nine care homes that had added 20 beds (and probably the 
same number of bedrooms), seven of which accompanied a change of 
name or owner.  
 
Two homes each closed two beds; we do not know whether these were 
beds not usually used and therefore this did not reduce the active stock, or 
not. 
 
 
 

Table 10.1 Homes that have changed since our last report 
 
Name Date Beds change 
    
14 Belisana Road 17/11/2016 1 closed 
Altham Court Care Home  48 changed owner or division within owner, or owner has changed name 
Apex Care Centre  40 changed owner or division within owner, or owner has changed name 
Bank House R C H  30 changed owner or division within owner, or owner has changed name 
Beech Lodge N H  37 changed owner or division within owner, or owner has changed name 
Belton Lodge N H 14/09/2015 13 closed 
Bernadette House  35 changed owner or division within owner, or owner has changed name, added 1 bedroom 
Birchwood R H   17 changed owner or division within owner, or owner has changed name 
Bramhall  23 changed owner or division within owner, or owner has changed name 
Canwick House C H  20 closed two bedrooms 

P
age 161



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire        Registrations 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    39 

Name Date Beds change 
    
Cathedral Nursing Home  38 changed owner or division within owner, or owner has changed name 
Cedar House  7 changed owner or division within owner, or owner has changed name, added 1 bedroom 
Cedars, The  56 changed owner or division within owner, or owner has changed name 
Cedars, The 03/12/2014 35 closed 
Charlotte Rose House 14/11/2014 20 closed 
Cheyne House Nursing 07/08/2017 26 closed 
Chimneys C H, The  14 changed name 
Crowtree House R H 03/12/2014 30 closed 
Eastholme Care Home  31 changed owner or division within owner, or owner has changed name 
Eccleshare Court  46 changed owner or division within owner, or owner has changed name 
Elms Care Home, The  86 purchased from four seasons 
Elmwood House N H  48 changed owner or division within owner, or owner has changed name 
Foxby Hill Care Home  47 changed owner or division within owner, or owner has changed name 
Gardens R H, The  47 changed owner or division within owner, or owner has changed name 
Grenoble Rest Home 18/05/2016 13 closed 
Grosvenor Hall C H  40 changed owner or division within owner, or owner has changed name 
Grove Care Centre, The  31 changed owner or division within owner, or owner has changed name 
Heatherlea House R C H  17 changed owner or division within owner, or owner has changed name 
Holland House  10 changed owner or division within owner, or owner has changed name, added 3 beds 
Hovenden  10/08/2017 32 closed 
Kimberley Care Village  68 changed name, formerly Adderley House 
Limes Care Home, The 14/03/2017 40 closed 
Manor Gate Care Home  18 changed owner or division within owner, or owner has changed name 
Martin Hall N H  40 changed owner or division within owner, or owner has changed name 
Neale Court  23 changed owner or division within owner, or owner has changed name 
Owls Barn 21/01/2015 6 closed 
Priory Court  60 changed owner or division within owner, or owner has changed name, added 2 bedrooms 
Prospect House 23/03/2017 6 closed 
Rayleigh House  15 changed owner or division within owner, or owner has changed name, closed two beds 
Red House, The  23 changed division within owner 
Redcote House R C H  18 changed owner or division within owner, or owner has changed name 
Russell Green C H  18 changed owner or division within owner, or owner has changed name 

P
age 162



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire        Registrations 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    40 

Name Date Beds change 
    
Sandbeck House R H  38 changed owner or division within owner, or owner has changed name 
Seacroft Court N H  50 changed owner or division within owner, or owner has changed name 
SENSE - 36 Bramley Rd 29/08/2017 3 closed 
South Farm R H 11/05/2015 5 closed 
St John's Care Home  56 changed owner or division within owner, or owner has changed name, added 1 bedroom 
St Paul's Care Home  24 changed owner or division within owner, or owner has changed name 
Swallow Lodge  8 changed owner or division within owner, or owner has changed name, added 1 bedroom 
Tallington Care Home  39 changed owner or division within owner, or owner has changed name 
Tallington Lodge C H 15-8-2017 30 opened 
Tennyson Wharf February 2015 60 opened  
Victoria House R H  20 added 4 bedrooms 
Wainfleet Care Home  43 changed owner or division within owner, or owner has changed name 
Welbourn Hall N H  40 changed owner or division within owner, or owner has changed name 
Welbourn Manor Care C   31 changed owner or division within owner, or owner has changed name 
Westerley R C H  30 added 4 bedrooms 
Westfield Nursing Home  35 changed owner or division within owner, or owner has changed name, added 3 bedrooms 
White Gables C H  20 changed owner or division within owner, or owner has changed name 
Willan House  20 changed owner or division within owner, or owner has changed name 
Willoughby Grange C H  38 changed owner or division within owner, or owner has changed name 
Wispington House   26 changed owner or division within owner, or owner has changed name 
    

  

P
age 163



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire        Interviews 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    41 

11. Interviews 
 
11.1 Interviews with providers 
 
We are stating below what providers told us, and we make no judgement 
about whether the comments are justified. They do reflect, however, the 
opinions of the care homes spoken to. 
 
11.1.1 Money and fees 
 
It will not surprise the Council that care homes are not happy with the fees 
that the Council pays. The points made to us are: 
 
• Inadequate funding is the biggest problem they have 
 
• Low funding leads to sub-optimal staffing which affects the quality of 

care they can deliver  
 
• Recruitment and retention of staff is difficult as they can pay only the 

national living wage 
 
• They struggle to fund the NVQ training of staff, and then those staff 

leave for better-paid jobs in the hospital 
 
• A large proportion of care homes in Lincolnshire are converted old, and 

sometimes listed, properties, and the Council’s fees do not allow for the 
maintenance of these 

 
• Such older homes require higher staffing levels than modern purpose-

built ones 
 
• Threshold funding is becoming a problem; this charity has used 

charitable funds to subsidise some Council-supported older residents 
but now finds itself having to subsidise previously self-funding older 

people. As a result the charity is considering not taking supported 
residents in future 

 
• Some homes find it morally unacceptable to charge self-funding 

residents more than supported ones, and so do not benefit from the 
cross-subsidy that others do 

 
• Some homes find it morally unacceptable to charge self-funding 

residents more than supported ones, and so charge supported 
residents top-ups 

 
• Top-ups themselves can cause huge administrative problems when 

things go wrong as the legal responsibilities are complicated 
 
• The Council did not adequately cover the increases in national minimum 

wage and then the introduction of the national living wage and its 
upgrade 

 
• Many homes are staffing to the fees they receive, and not to the staff 

they need, with the inevitable impact on the quality of care 
 
• The Council has not recognised that the higher dependency levels of 

service users these day leads to higher care costs than previously 
 
• CQC is demanding higher, and therefore more expensive, staffing 

levels than previously 
 
• There is a vicious circle whereby care homes deteriorate due to lack of 

funding, and therefore lose their self-funders, which exacerbates the 
lack of funding and they are forced to close 

 
• Banks will not lend money to homes that rely on LCC residents 
 
• New homes are only viable if built for self-funding residents 

P
age 164



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire        Interviews 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    42 

 
• One chain is planning to be fully private within three years, closing any 

homes that cannot achieve this 
 
• External operators are unlikely to develop new homes in Lincolnshire 

as there are many more attractive local authority fee rates 
 
• A two-tier system will develop, with poor homes for Council clients and 

luxurious ones for self-funders 
 
• The Council will take no action to improve the quality of care in 

Lincolnshire, as doing so would increase costs 
 
11.1.2 Payment and bad debts 
 
• The NHS places people in care homes and then decides that the 

Council should pay for them; the Council declines. A home is therefore 
caring for someone that no-one will pay for, and so at least one will no 
longer take NHS admissions 

 
• Late payment by the Council is a problem for cash flow and makes 

lenders nervous 
 
• The Council is slow to arrange individual forms of agreement (IFAs); it 

can take six or eight months, during which the home is not being paid 
for the care it is delivering. This is complicated when it leads to a six-
month accumulation of top-ups or service user contribution to be paid. 
This complaint was echoed by several homes 

 
• One homes has refused admission to new LCC residents until the IFA 

is complete; the paperwork is then completed very quickly, although 
possibly at the expense of delay for another home 

 
• Bad debts are a problem for some homes, but not for others 

 
11.1.3 Regulation 
 
• CQC keep moving the goalposts 
 
• The amount of paperwork required by CQC has doubled in the last four 

years 
 
• CQC and the Council sometimes have different, and sometimes 

contradictory, expectations of care homes 
 
• Inspection by the Council and CQC is a waste of taxpayers’ money and 

care home staff time. Only LCC should inspect as they have more 
involvement 

 
• A home manager’s job has changed from a caring one to a bureaucratic 

one, but here is no money for assistance on the administrative aspects 
 
• A care home can become non-compliant and lose its reputation due to 

difference in opinion between the Council and CQC (eg Deprivation of 
Liberty paperwork) 

 
• LCC is demanding in its standards, a feature seen as positive by the 

home reporting it 
 
• The increasing demand for dementia care over the last 10-15 years has 

led to many homes becoming registered for it without having the 
systems or training to deliver proper dementia care 

 
11.1.4 Staff recruitment and retention 
 
• One charitable home reported that it subsidises staff pay with charitable 

funds, pays staff well, and staff recruitment and retention is not a 
problem 

P
age 165



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire        Interviews 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    43 

• Another in a holiday resort is one of the few year-round employers and 
therefore has no difficulty in recruiting and retaining staff 

 
• Nurses are very difficult to recruit, and demand high wages if available; 

higher wages that a home receiving LCC fees can afford 
 
• One home that does not rely on LCC fees and so can pay well admits 

being guilty of poaching staff that poorer homes have trained to NVQ 
levels 

 
• The only solution to the nurse problem for some homes is to de-register 

for nursing care 
 
• Staff shortages lead to the use of crippling expensive agency staff 
 
• The quality of applicants for care staff is getting poorer.  Staff can earn 

more working in a supermarket; the applicants who apply for care jobs 
are frequently those who have applied for, and been rejected for, jobs 
at the supermarkets 

 
• There is a staff shortage, and the few staff available are gravitating 

towards homes with self-funders who can pay more 
 
11.1.5 Equipment 
 
• The Integrated Equipment Service needs to be more flexibile  
 
• The acquisition of equipment in the first place is a pain and can take far 

longer than it should  
 
• At the other end of the scale, getting equipment collected when it is no 

longer needed is even worse  
 

• Many older homes which are not purpose-built have nowhere to store 
unused equipment and it can end up in areas where people with 
dementia are wandering round which is a hazard and could end up with 
someone getting hurt.  

 
Transparency 
 
• A greater level of transparency about what LCC wishes to achieve is 

needed 
 
• Providers need to know what the 2 year plans are so they can prepare 

for changes. The market could be much more plug and play rather than 
reactive to a tender which needs to be submitted 6 weeks from the time 
they first hear about it. This would lead to far more innovative services. P

age 166



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire        Interviews 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    44 

11.2 LCC manager interviews 
 
We spoke to senior managers within LCC in order to put our findings on 
demand, supply etc into perspective. Some of the comments we received 
have been incorporated above, but the key ones are mentioned below. 
 
11.2.1 Modes of care 
 
• The council does not have a preference for any particular mode of care 

for older people and adults with physical disabilities, learning disabilities 
or autism. Generally, it depends on looking at the individual and how 
their needs would be best met cost-effectively 

 
• For LD and autism the modes of care are mainly supported living and 

independent sector care homes, although there are still a few old LCC-
run group homes 

 
11.2.2 Supply of care home places for older people 
 
• There are plenty of care only beds for older people in the east of the 

county 
 
• In the west of the county there is only adequate provision 
 
• In the south of the county finding both nursing and care only placements 

at expected cost is very challenging. All homes charge top-ups 
 
• Nursing care is challenging all over the county as the supply of nursing 

beds is decreasing as homes close or deregister for nursing care. This 
is a nationwide problem caused by a shortage of nurses 

 

11.2.3 Supported living for young disabled adults 
 
• Supported living isn’t always the cheapest option, some large packages 

can work out more expensive than care home placements 
 
• One of the advantages of supported living is that the council only pay 

for the wrap around care, and not the hotel costs they cover in care 
homes 

 
• There will always be a need for care homes and the council are 

projecting a small growth in the residential and nursing care needs in 
the coming years 

 
11.2.4 Extra care housing 
 
• The Council would like to see the development of extra care schemes 

specifically for people with LD and Autism in the future 
 
• The supply of extra care housing for older people is limited in 

Lincolnshire and the Council is investing additional resources into the 
sector to encourage development of more. It is currently in the early 
stages of talks with a provider about building more  

 
• Through LINCA and its own commissioning teams, the Council is 

working with local and national providers to encourage the development 
of more extra care 

 
11.2.5 Placement of people with LD or autism 
 
• Although the Council always manages to place people with LD or autism 

within county (unless the resident wishes otherwise), for the past 18 
months or more it has found it more challenging to place people with 
more complex needs 

 

P
age 167



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire        Interviews 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    45 

• There is currently not a serious shortage of places for complex needs 
but more capacity would be welcome but not essential, as at this time it 
is just getting more difficult to place 

 
The main reasons for the difficulties are: 
 
• Currently almost all social services funded people have more complex 

needs as the Council is no longer able to support adults with more 
general needs 

 
• there are still people with general needs in homes from the days when 

social services were able to support people with lower needs  
 
• With advances in medicine, people are living longer 
 
• There is a section 75 agreement in Lincolnshire that requires the 

Council to find places for the CCGs as well 
 
11.2.6 Placement of older people 
 
• The problems in the South are not necessarily caused by a shortage of 

beds, although the South does have the lowest vacancy rates 
 
• The problem is the top-ups. The Council has to pay them as the law 

states they must, although each case is looked at on an individual basis. 
If the resident’s family are in London or a distance away and have to 
travel anyway, a few extra miles to the East or West is not a big deal 
and so they will place the resident there instead. Whereas a relation, 
perhaps elderly, who lives in the south of the county and relies on buses 
to visit must keep the resident local and he will pay the top-up 

 
• For every one person placed in residential care a further two remain in 

the community 
 

• The number of placements has remained static over the past few years 
in both care only and nursing care 

 
• Older people’s service consider that they have a really good relationship 

with LINCA and work well together for the good of providers and 
residents 

 
• The regular Provider Forums that give a voice to the providers are 

considered to be very helpful, and it is felt that this level of cooperation 
is better than in many other counties  

 
11.2.7 Packages of care for people with LD or autism 
 
• The Council’s ‘expected costs’ need to be looked at. As people have 

varying degrees of complexity and needs, expected costs need to be 
more flexible and able to reflect that 

  
• Commissioning should be done for the long-term rather than just to 

meet the short, immediate needs, particularly for young people 
transitioning 

 
• Most commissioning is done very quickly and whatever package is put 

in place tends to stay in place. There should be more care and planning 
for the future involved in the initial package 

 
11.2.8 The market and the future for LD and autism 
 
• Dialogue is the key to the future. Providers for should talk to LCC, be 

more flexible and come up with innovative ideas 
 
• Providers for LD and autism must continue to be competitive and offer 

good value for money. The council wishes to pay a FAIR price for care 
and hopes the providers will co-operate this time 

 

P
age 168



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire        Interviews 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    46 

• There are opportunities for LD providers to develop the right services 
using council-owned land, and the council may be able to help with 
capital funding 

 
11.2.9 Nursing care for older people 
 
• Older people’s services would like to see more stable nursing provision, 

but accepts that achieving it would not be easy  
 
• With LINCA, OP services are looking at the possibility of providing 

enhanced home care to help with the nursing bed shortage 
 
• Finding ways of supporting nurses to return to the profession after a 

career break and enter the residential or community sectors is a positive 
step they are looking at 

 
• The possibility of having Nursing Associates equivalent to the old SENs 

may have to be looked at. 
 
 

P
age 169



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire       Appendix 1 Populations 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    47 

Appendices 
 
Appendix 1 Populations 
 
Table Appendix 1.1 Older population within Lincolnshire 2017-27 
 
000’s 65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85-89 90+ 
       
2017 50.0 47.1 31.9 22.8 14.2 7.9 
2018 48.4 49.3 33.3 23.5 14.5 8.2 
2019 47.9 49.8 35.0 24.5 14.7 8.5 
2020 47.4 50.4 36.6 25.1 15.1 8.9 
2021 47.4 50.3 38.7 25.4 15.5 9.3 
2022 47.9 47.8 42.2 26.2 16.1 9.7 
2023 48.7 46.4 44.3 27.4 16.8 10.1 
2024 49.6 46.0 44.8 29.0 17.6 10.5 
2025 50.9 45.6 45.4 30.4 18.1 11.0 
2026 52.6 45.6 45.4 32.2 18.4 11.5 
2027 54.1 46.2 43.3 35.3 19.1 12.2 
       

 
 

Table Appendix 1.2 Older population within Boston district 2017-27 
 
000’s 65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85-89 90+ 
       
2017 4.1 3.8 2.6 2.0 1.3 0.7 
2018 4.0 3.9 2.7 2.0 1.3 0.7 
2019 4.0 3.9 2.9 2.0 1.4 0.7 
2020 4.0 4.0 2.9 2.1 1.4 0.8 
2021 4.0 4.0 3.1 2.1 1.4 0.8 
2022 4.0 3.8 3.3 2.2 1.4 0.8 
2023 4.1 3.7 3.5 2.2 1.5 0.9 
2024 4.1 3.7 3.5 2.4 1.5 0.9 
2025 4.0 3.7 3.5 2.5 1.6 0.9 
2026 4.2 3.7 3.5 2.6 1.6 1.0 
2027 4.3 3.7 3.4 2.8 1.6 1.0 
       

 
Table Appendix 1.3 Older population within East Lindsey district 2017-

27 
 
000’s 65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85-89 90+ 
       
2017 11.9 11.5 7.6 5.2 3.1 1.7 
2018 11.4 11.9 7.9 5.3 3.2 1.7 
2019 11.2 12.0 8.3 5.6 3.2 1.8 
2020 11.0 12.0 8.7 5.7 3.3 1.9 
2021 10.9 11.9 9.2 5.8 3.4 1.9 
2022 11.0 11.3 9.9 6.0 3.5 2.0 
2023 11.2 10.9 10.4 6.3 3.6 2.1 
2024 11.4 10.7 10.4 6.6 3.8 2.2 
2025 11.6 10.5 10.5 6.9 3.9 2.3 
2026 11.9 10.5 10.4 7.3 4.0 2.4 
2027 12.2 10.6 9.9 8.0 4.2 2.5 
       

P
age 170



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire       Appendix 1 Populations 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    48 

Table Appendix 1.4 Older population within Lincoln district 2017-27 
 
000’s 65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85-89 90+ 
       
2017 4.5 3.8 2.6 2.0 1.4 0.8 
2018 4.4 3.9 2.7 2.1 1.4 0.8 
2019 4.4 4.0 2.8 2.1 1.4 0.9 
2020 4.4 4.1 2.9 2.2 1.4 0.9 
2021 4.3 4.2 3.1 2.2 1.4 0.9 
2022 4.4 4.1 3.3 2.2 1.5 1.0 
2023 4.4 4.1 3.5 2.3 1.5 1.0 
2024 4.5 4.1 3.6 2.4 1.6 1.0 
2025 4.7 4.0 3.7 2.5 1.6 1.1 
2026 4.9 4.0 3.8 2.7 1.6 1.1 
2027 5.0 4.0 3.7 2.9 1.7 1.2 
       

 
Table Appendix 1.5 Older population within North Kesteven district 

2017-27 
 
000’s 65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85-89 90+ 
       
2017 7.4 7.2 5.3 3.5 2.1 1.2 
2018 7.1 7.6 5.4 3.7 2.1 1.2 
2019 7.0 7.6 5.7 3.9 2.2 1.3 
2020 6.9 7.6 5.9 4.1 2.3 1.3 
2021 6.9 7.6 6.2 4.2 2.4 1.4 
2022 7.0 7.2 6.7 4.4 2.5 1.5 
2023 7.1 6.9 7.0 4.5 2.6 1.5 
2024 7.3 6.8 7.1 4.8 2.8 1.6 
2025 7.5 6.8 7.1 5.0 2.9 1.7 
2026 7.8 6.8 7.1 5.2 3.0 1.8 
2027 8.1 6.9 6.7 5.7 3.1 1.9 
       

Table Appendix 1.6 Older population within South Holland district 
2017-27 

 
000’s 65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85-89 90+ 
       
2017 6.2 6.0 4.2 3.2 2.0 1.1 
2018 6.0 6.3 4.3 3.3 2.1 1.1 
2019 5.9 6.4 4.5 3.4 2.1 1.2 
2020 5.9 6.5 4.6 3.4 2.1 1.3 
2021 5.9 6.5 4.8 3.4 2.1 1.3 
2022 5.9 6.1 5.4 3.4 2.2 1.4 
2023 6.1 5.9 5.7 3.5 2.3 1.5 
2024 6.2 5.8 5.8 3.7 2.4 1.5 
2025 6.3 5.8 5.9 3.8 2.5 1.6 
2026 6.5 5.8 5.9 4.0 2.5 1.6 
2027 6.7 5.9 5.6 4.5 2.5 1.7 
       

 

P
age 171



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire       Appendix 1 Populations 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    49 

Table Appendix 1.7 Older population within South Kesteven district 
2017-27 

 
000’s 65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85-89 90+ 
       
2017 9.2 9.0 9.0 8.9 8.9 9.1 
2018 8.6 9.1 9.2 9.4 9.4 8.9 
2019 5.6 5.9 6.3 6.7 7.2 7.9 
2020 4.0 4.2 4.3 4.5 4.5 4.8 
2021 2.6 2.6 2.7 2.8 2.9 3.0 
2022 1.6 1.7 1.7 1.8 1.9 2.0 
2023 9.2 9.0 9.0 8.9 8.9 9.1 
2024 8.6 9.1 9.2 9.4 9.4 8.9 
2025 5.6 5.9 6.3 6.7 7.2 7.9 
2026 4.0 4.2 4.3 4.5 4.5 4.8 
2027 2.6 2.6 2.7 2.8 2.9 3.0 
       

 

Table Appendix 1.8 Older population within West Lindsey district 
2017-27 

 
000’s 65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85-89 90+ 
       
2017 6.8 6.3 4.0 2.9 1.7 0.8 
2018 6.6 6.6 4.3 2.9 1.8 0.9 
2019 6.5 6.6 4.6 3.1 1.8 0.9 
2020 6.4 6.7 4.8 3.1 1.9 1.0 
2021 6.5 6.7 5.1 3.2 1.9 1.0 
2022 6.5 6.4 5.6 3.3 2.0 1.1 
2023 6.6 6.2 5.9 3.5 2.1 1.1 
2024 6.7 6.2 5.9 3.7 2.2 1.1 
2025 6.9 6.1 6.1 4.0 2.2 1.2 
2026 7.1 6.2 6.1 4.2 2.3 1.3 
2027 7.4 6.2 5.8 4.6 2.4 1.4 
       

 

P
age 172



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire       Appendix 1 Populations 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    50 

Table Appendix 1.9 Growth in older population within Lincolnshire 
2017-27 

 
 65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85-90 90+ 
       
2017 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
2018 -3% 5% 4% 3% 2% 4% 
2019 -4% 6% 10% 7% 4% 8% 
2020 -5% 7% 15% 10% 6% 13% 
2021 -5% 7% 21% 11% 9% 18% 
2022 -4% 1% 32% 15% 13% 23% 
2023 -3% -1% 39% 20% 18% 28% 
2024 -1% -2% 40% 27% 24% 33% 
2025 2% -3% 42% 33% 27% 39% 
2026 5% -3% 42% 41% 30% 46% 
2027 8% -2% 36% 55% 35% 54% 
       

 
Table Appendix 1.10 Working age population in Lincolnshire 2017-27 
 
 15-19 20-29 30-39 40-49 50-59 60-64 15-64 
        
2017 40.6 84.7 81.8 91.7 106.4 47.2 452.4 
2018 39.8 84.1 83.7 89.5 107.3 48.0 452.4 
2019 39.1 83.7 84.8 87.7 108.3 48.8 452.4 
2020 38.9 82.7 85.9 86.4 108.9 50.0 452.8 
2021 39.4 81.6 86.7 85.2 109.1 51.6 453.6 
2022 40.4 80.0 87.6 84.3 108.7 53.1 454.1 
2023 41.6 78.8 88.3 84.2 107.5 54.5 454.9 
2024 42.6 77.9 88.9 84.7 105.2 56.1 455.4 
2025 43.7 77.3 89.1 85.8 102.8 57.4 456.1 
2026 44.7 77.3 89.0 87.3 100.1 58.0 456.4 
2027 45.8 77.3 89.0 88.8 97.4 58.4 456.7 
        

 
Table Appendix 1.11 Growth in older population within Boston district 

2017-27 
 
 65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85-89 90+ 
       
2017 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
2018 -2% 3% 4% 0% 0% 0% 
2019 -2% 3% 12% 0% 8% 0% 
2020 -2% 5% 12% 5% 8% 14% 
2021 -2% 5% 19% 5% 8% 14% 
2022 -2% 0% 27% 10% 8% 14% 
2023 0% -3% 35% 10% 15% 29% 
2024 0% -3% 35% 20% 15% 29% 
2025 -2% -3% 35% 25% 23% 29% 
2026 2% -3% 35% 30% 23% 43% 
2027 5% -3% 31% 40% 23% 43% 
       

 

P
age 173



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire       Appendix 1 Populations 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    51 

Table Appendix 1.12 Growth in older population within East Lindsey 
district 2017-27 

 
 65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85-89 90+ 
       
2017 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
2018 -4% 3% 4% 2% 3% 0% 
2019 -6% 4% 9% 8% 3% 6% 
2020 -8% 4% 14% 10% 6% 12% 
2021 -8% 3% 21% 12% 10% 12% 
2022 -8% -2% 30% 15% 13% 18% 
2023 -6% -5% 37% 21% 16% 24% 
2024 -4% -7% 37% 27% 23% 29% 
2025 -3% -9% 38% 33% 26% 35% 
2026 0% -9% 37% 40% 29% 41% 
2027 3% -8% 30% 54% 35% 47% 
       

 

Table Appendix 1.13 Growth in older population within Lincoln district 
2017-27 

 
 65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85-89 90+ 
       
2017 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
2018 -2% 3% 4% 5% 0% 0% 
2019 -2% 5% 8% 5% 0% 13% 
2020 -2% 8% 12% 10% 0% 13% 
2021 -4% 11% 19% 10% 0% 13% 
2022 -2% 8% 27% 10% 7% 25% 
2023 -2% 8% 35% 15% 7% 25% 
2024 0% 8% 38% 20% 14% 25% 
2025 4% 5% 42% 25% 14% 38% 
2026 9% 5% 46% 35% 14% 38% 
2027 11% 5% 42% 45% 21% 50% 
       

 

P
age 174



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire       Appendix 1 Populations 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    52 

Table Appendix 1.14 Growth in older population within North 
Kesteven district 2017-27 

 
 65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85-89 90+ 
       
2017 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
2018 -4% 6% 2% 6% 0% 0% 
2019 -5% 6% 8% 11% 5% 8% 
2020 -7% 6% 11% 17% 10% 8% 
2021 -7% 6% 17% 20% 14% 17% 
2022 -5% 0% 26% 26% 19% 25% 
2023 -4% -4% 32% 29% 24% 25% 
2024 -1% -6% 34% 37% 33% 33% 
2025 1% -6% 34% 43% 38% 42% 
2026 5% -6% 34% 49% 43% 50% 
2027 9% -4% 26% 63% 48% 58% 
       

 

Table Appendix 1.15 Growth in older population within South Holland 
district 2017-27 

 
 65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85-89 90+ 
       
2017 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
2018 -3% 5% 2% 3% 5% 0% 
2019 -5% 7% 7% 6% 5% 9% 
2020 -5% 8% 10% 6% 5% 18% 
2021 -5% 8% 14% 6% 5% 18% 
2022 -5% 2% 29% 6% 10% 27% 
2023 -2% -2% 36% 9% 15% 36% 
2024 0% -3% 38% 16% 20% 36% 
2025 2% -3% 40% 19% 25% 45% 
2026 5% -3% 40% 25% 25% 45% 
2027 8% -2% 33% 41% 25% 55% 
       

 

P
age 175



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire       Appendix 1 Populations 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    53 

Table Appendix 1.16 Growth in older population within South 
Kesteven district 2017-27 

 
 65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85-89 90+ 
       
2017 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
2018 -2% 6% 5% 5% 0% 6% 
2019 -2% 7% 13% 8% 4% 6% 
2020 -3% 9% 20% 13% 8% 13% 
2021 -3% 9% 29% 13% 12% 19% 
2022 -1% 3% 41% 20% 15% 25% 
2023 1% 1% 50% 25% 19% 25% 
2024 3% 2% 52% 35% 27% 31% 
2025 7% 1% 54% 43% 31% 38% 
2026 11% 1% 54% 53% 31% 50% 
2027 13% 3% 46% 70% 42% 56% 
       

 

Table Appendix 1.17 Growth in older population within West Lindsey 
district 2017-27 

 
 65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85-89 90+ 
       
2017 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
2018 -3% 5% 8% 0% 6% 13% 
2019 -4% 5% 15% 7% 6% 13% 
2020 -6% 6% 20% 7% 12% 25% 
2021 -4% 6% 28% 10% 12% 25% 
2022 -4% 2% 40% 14% 18% 38% 
2023 -3% -2% 48% 21% 24% 38% 
2024 -1% -2% 48% 28% 29% 38% 
2025 1% -3% 53% 38% 29% 50% 
2026 4% -2% 53% 45% 35% 63% 
2027 9% -2% 45% 59% 41% 75% 
       

P
age 176



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire       Appendix 1 Populations 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    54 

Table Appendix 1.18 Working age adult population aged 15-64, by district 2017-27 
 

000’s Lincolnshire Boston East Lindsey Lincoln North Kesteven South Holland South Kesteven West Lindsey 
         
2017 452.4 42.2 78.1 67.4 68.2 55.2 85.9 55.9 
2018 452.4 42.2 77.7 67.1 68.3 55.5 85.8 55.8 
2019 452.4 42.3 77.5 67.0 68.4 55.5 85.9 55.7 
2020 452.8 42.5 77.4 67.0 68.7 55.4 86.2 55.6 
2021 453.6 42.7 77.5 66.7 68.9 55.7 86.4 55.6 
2022 454.1 42.8 77.4 66.8 69.1 55.8 86.5 55.8 
2023 454.9 43.0 77.4 66.8 69.2 56.0 86.7 55.8 
2024 455.4 43.1 77.2 66.9 69.3 56.1 86.8 55.6 
2025 456.1 43.4 77.1 67.2 69.4 56.3 87.0 55.8 
2026 456.4 43.6 77.1 67.3 69.3 56.4 86.7 55.6 
2027 456.7 43.7 76.9 67.7 69.3 56.6 87.1 55.6 
         

 
Table Appendix 1.19 Growth in working age adult population aged 15-64, by district 2017-27 
 

 Lincolnshire Boston East Lindsey Lincoln North Kesteven South Holland South Kesteven West Lindsey 
         
2017 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
2018 0% 0% -1% 0% 0% 1% 0% 0% 
2019 0% 0% -1% -1% 0% 1% 0% 0% 
2020 0% 1% -1% -1% 1% 0% 0% -1% 
2021 0% 1% -1% -1% 1% 1% 1% -1% 
2022 0% 1% -1% -1% 1% 1% 1% 0% 
2023 1% 2% -1% -1% 1% 1% 1% 0% 
2024 1% 2% -1% -1% 2% 2% 1% -1% 
2025 1% 3% -1% 0% 2% 2% 1% 0% 
2026 1% 3% -1% 0% 2% 2% 1% -1% 
2027 1% 4% -2% 0% 2% 3% 1% -1% 
         

 

P
age 177



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire        Appendix 2 Demand 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    55 

Appendix 2 Demand 
 
Table Appendix 2.1 Age-standardised demand for care home places for older people, by district 2017-27 
 

000’s Lincolnshire Boston East Lindsey Lincoln North Kesteven South Holland South Kesteven West Lindsey 
         
2017 6.23 0.55 1.40 0.59 0.95 0.85 1.15 0.75 
2018 6.41 0.55 1.43 0.59 0.97 0.88 1.19 0.79 
2019 6.58 0.57 1.47 0.61 1.02 0.90 1.22 0.81 
2020 6.79 0.59 1.51 0.62 1.05 0.92 1.28 0.85 
2021 7.01 0.60 1.55 0.63 1.09 0.93 1.33 0.86 
2022 7.31 0.61 1.61 0.67 1.15 0.98 1.39 0.91 
2023 7.60 0.65 1.67 0.68 1.18 1.03 1.43 0.95 
2024 7.87 0.66 1.73 0.70 1.24 1.05 1.50 0.97 
2025 8.11 0.68 1.78 0.73 1.28 1.09 1.55 1.00 
2026 8.31 0.70 1.82 0.74 1.32 1.10 1.60 1.05 
2027 8.58 0.70 1.88 0.78 1.36 1.13 1.67 1.08 
         

 

P
age 178



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire        Appendix 2 Demand 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    56 

Table Appendix 2.2 Growth in age-standardised demand for care home places for older people, by district 2017-27 
 

 Lincolnshire Boston East Lindsey Lincoln North Kesteven South Holland South Kesteven West Lindsey 
         
2017 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
2018 3% 1% 2% 1% 1% 3% 3% 6% 
2019 6% 5% 5% 5% 6% 6% 6% 8% 
2020 9% 9% 9% 6% 10% 8% 11% 13% 
2021 12% 10% 11% 7% 14% 9% 15% 15% 
2022 17% 12% 16% 14% 20% 15% 21% 22% 
2023 22% 19% 20% 16% 23% 21% 25% 27% 
2024 26% 20% 24% 20% 30% 24% 31% 30% 
2025 30% 24% 27% 24% 34% 28% 35% 35% 
2026 33% 28% 31% 26% 38% 29% 39% 40% 
2027 38% 28% 35% 32% 42% 32% 45% 45% 
         

 
Table Appendix 2.3 Projections from PSSRU Discussion paper 2800/3 
 

 2010 2015 2020 2025 2030 % rise 2010-13 
       
Adults with a (severe) learning disability 220,000 240,000 260,000 280,000 290,000 32.2% 
Increase 2015-25    17%   
       
Adults with a physical or sensory impairment  2,890,000 2,930,000 3,030,000 3,110,000 3,110,000 7.5% 
Increase 2015-25    6%   
       
Adults with mental health needs / other (service users only) 210,000 210,000 220,000 220,000 220,000 7.3% 
Increase 2015-25    5%   
       

 

P
age 179



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire        Appendix 2 Demand 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    57 

Table Appendix 2.4 PANSI projections of people with moderate and severe LD, supplied by Lincolnshire County Council 
 

 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 
      

People aged 18-24 predicted to have a moderate or severe learning disability 368 363 356 348 343 
People aged 25-34 predicted to have a moderate or severe learning disability 452 456 460 461 461 
People aged 35-44 predicted to have a moderate or severe learning disability 500 500 503 510 521 
People aged 45-54 predicted to have a moderate or severe learning disability 557 551 539 526 512 
People aged 55-64 predicted to have a moderate or severe learning disability 486 496 508 520 530 
      
Total population aged 18-64 predicted to have a moderate or severe learning disability 2,362 2,365 2,366 2,365 2,366 
            

 
Table Appendix 2.5 Comparison of people with moderate or severe LD projected using PSSRU Discussion paper 2800/3 and PANSI projections 
 

   2015 2020 2025  
       
Using PSSRU Discussion paper 2800/3 projections   2,812 3,046  3,281  3,398 
       
Using 2014 PANSI projections   2,812 2,864 2,912 2,984 
       
Using 2017 PANSI projections    2,365   
       

 
 
 

P
age 180



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire      Appendix 3 Supply for older people 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    58 

Appendix 3 Supply of care homes for older people 
 
Table Appendix 3.1 Care homes for older people in Boston district 
 

Name Postcode Operator group Places Dementia Registration Sector 
       
OSJCT Skirbeck Court PE21 9NU The Orders of St John Care Trust 39  Care only Not for profit 
Westfield Nursing Home PE21 8EU Country Court Care Homes 2 Ltd 35 Y Nursing For profit 
Manor Gate Care Home PE21 7BS Dr B Sinha & Dr M Sinha 18 Y Care only For profit 
Woodlands Court Care Home PE20 1DS Greenhold Care Homes Ltd 54 Y Nursing For profit 
Willoughby Grange Care Home PE21 9EG Laudcare Limited 38 Y Nursing For profit 
Frampton House Residential Care Home PE20 1BT Leisure Care Homes Limited 30 Y Care only For profit 
Ralphland Care Home PE20 1QU Leong E N T Limited 39 Y Care only For profit 
St John's Nursing Home PE21 0BE Lifeline Nursing Services Limited 37 Y Nursing For profit 
Meadows Edge Care Home PE21 7JU Meadows Edge Care Home Ltd 45 Y Nursing For profit 
The Minstrels Residential Home PE22 9AJ Mr Deva Samat Keshwara 33 Y Care only For profit 
White Gables Care Home PE20 1EP Pearl Blossom Limited 20 Y Nursing For profit 
The Georgians PE21 6RY Georgians (Boston) Limited (The) 40 Y Nursing For profit 
Elmwood House Nursing Home PE21 8EY RV Care Homes Limited 48 Y Nursing For profit 
The Gardens Residential Home PE21 8EY RV Care Homes Limited 47 Y Care only For profit 
Vauxhall Court Care Home PE21 0JW Serving All Limited 33 Y Care only For profit 
Hunters Creek Care Home with Nursing PE21 7HB Tanglewood (Lincolnshire) Limited 91 Y Nursing For profit 
       

 

P
age 181



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire      Appendix 3 Supply for older people 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    59 

Table Appendix 3.2 Care homes for older people in East Lindsey district 
 

Name Postcode Operator group Places Dementia Registration Sector 
       
Ashtree House LN13 0NG Tinfloyd Healthcare Limited 27 Y Care only For profit 
Sandpiper Care Home LN13 9AQ Tanglewood (Lincolnshire) Limited 30 Y Care only For profit 
The Chimneys Care Home LN13 9HY The Chimneys Care Home 14  Care only For profit 
Victoria House Residential Home LN13 9JB Mrs Reepaben Patel 20 Y Care only For profit 
Newhaven Residential Home LN13 9RF Mr E W, Mr S & Mrs C E Brown 25  Care only For profit 
Toray Pines Care Home with Nursing LN4 4SJ Tanglewood (Lincolnshire) Limited 52 Y Care only For profit 
The Fountains Care Centre DN36 5JX Halcyon Care Limited 45 Y Nursing For profit 
Tanglewood Care Home with Nursing LN9 5EN Tanglewood (Lincolnshire) Limited 55 Y Nursing For profit 
The Grove Residential Care Home LN9 5PT The Grovecare (UK) Limited 19 Y Care only For profit 
South Wold Nursing Home LN9 6QB Mr & Mrs S Munnien 16 Y Nursing For profit 
Nightingale House Care Centre LN10 5DT Knightingale Care Limited 45 Y Care only For profit 
Eastwood Lodge LN10 6SP Eastwood Lodge Residential Home  19 Y Care only For profit 
Bramhall LN4 4NL Mercer Care Ltd 23 Y Care only For profit 
The Elms Care Home LN11 0DE Burlington Care Limited 86 Y Nursing For profit 
Madeira House LN11 0HD Madeira Care Home Limited 51 Y Nursing For profit 
The Wolds Care Centre LN11 0JF Louth Care Limited 66 Y Nursing For profit 
Fotherby House LN11 0UG North Warren Care Limited 20  Care only For profit 
Stewton House LN11 8RZ Amber Care (East Anglia) Ltd 48  Nursing For profit 
The Beeches LN11 9JT Care Concept HCP Ltd 22  Care only For profit 
Fir Close LN11 9YH Prime Life Limited 36 Y Care only For profit 
Apex Care Centre LN12 1BP Apex Care Centre Limited 40 Y Nursing For profit 
Orchard House Care Home LN12 1EL Orchard House Nursing Home Ltd 52 Y Nursing For profit 
Wyngate Residential Care Home LN12 1PX Habilis Operations Limited 25 Y Care only For profit 
Sutton Lodge Residential Care Home LN12 2HR Habilis Operations Limited 24  Care only For profit 
Summerfield Rest Home LN12 2NL Summerfield Rest Home Limited 35 Y Care only For profit 
Willan House LN8 5JL Willan House (Stainfield) Limited 20 Y Care only For profit 
The Old Rectory PE22 8AY Prime Life Limited 44 Y Care only For profit 
Manor Care Centre PE23 4DB Halcyon Care Limited 41 Y Care only For profit 
OSJCT Eresby Hall PE23 5HT The Orders of St. John Care Trust 42 Y Care only Not for profit 
The Old Hall Residential Care Home PE23 5NZ Kesh-Care Limited 25 Y Care only For profit 
Wainfleet Care Home PE24 4DS Knightingale Care Limited 43 Y Care only For profit 
Noss Mayo Residential Home PE24 5DY Mr & Mrs P C Kadchha 14 Y Care only For profit 
Meadows Court Care Home PE24 5PA Mr Nilesh Shah 22 Y Care only For profit 
Phoenix Care Centre PE24 5SN Phoenix Care Centre Limited 39 Y Care only For profit 

P
age 182



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire      Appendix 3 Supply for older people 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    60 

Name Postcode Operator group Places Dementia Registration Sector 
Seathorne Court Residential Home PE25 1RW Gungah Care Limited 18  Care only For profit 
Woodside Care Home PE25 2EA Kodali Enterprise Limited 39 Y Care only For profit 
Aspen Lodge Care Home PE25 2NX Doulton Court Limited 52 Y Nursing For profit 
Seacroft Court Nursing Home PE25 3BE Prime Life Limited 50 Y Nursing For profit 
Rayleigh House PE25 3DH SBL Care Ltd 15 Y Care only For profit 
Syne Hills Care Home Limited PE25 3DJ Syne Hills Care Home Limited 35 Y Care only For profit 
Westcotes Residential Care Home PE25 3HP Leisure Care Homes Limited 17  Care only For profit 
Meadows Sands Care Home PE25 3HR Accredited Care Limited 26 Y Care only For profit 
Sandbeck House Residential Home PE25 3JX Care for Your Life Ltd 38 Y Care only For profit 
Doulton Court Care Home LN12 2HF Doulton Court Limited 41 Y Nursing For profit 
Heatherlea House Residential Care Home LN10 6SD 1st Care (UK) Limited 17 Y Care only For profit 
Russell Green Care Home LN10 6SP BSB Care Ltd 18 Y Care only For profit 
Westerley Residential Care Home for 
Elderly - Woodhall Spa LN10 6SQ The Leaders of Worship & 

Preachers Homes 30  Care only Not for profit 

       
 P

age 183



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire      Appendix 3 Supply for older people 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    61 

Table Appendix 3.3 Care homes for older people in Lincoln City 
 

Name Postcode Operator group Places Clients Registration Sector 
       
Ridgeway Care Centre LN1 1PB St Philips Care Limited 32 Y Care only For profit 
Roman Wharf Nursing Home LN1 1SN Roman Wharf Limited 24 Y Nursing For profit 
Harvest House Nursing Home LN1 1SP Carecall Limited 22 Y Nursing For profit 
Woodview LN4 1NT Four Seasons 2000 Limited 63 Y Nursing For profit 
Beckfield House Residential Home LN4 1QJ Allington Healthcare Limited 27 Y Care only For profit 
Ruckland Court LN1 3TP Country Court Care Homes Ltd 50 Y Care only For profit 
Cathedral Nursing Home LN2 1RQ Hayworth Care Limited 38 Y Nursing For profit 
OSJCT Ermine House LN2 2EX The Orders Of St. John Care Trust 45  Care only Not for profit 
Greetwell House Nursing Home LN2 4BA Dr Sharaf Abd El Monem Salem 25  Nursing For profit 
Homer Lodge Care Centre LN5 7RZ Premierbell Limited 47  Nursing For profit 
Monson Retirement Home LN5 7RZ St. Catherine's Care Homes Ltd 50 Y Care only For profit 
Canwick Court Care Centre LN5 8ES St Philips Care Limited 30 Y Care only For profit 
Eastholme Care Home LN5 8ES Care For Your Life Ltd 31 Y Nursing For profit 
Bernadette House LN5 8EW DES Healthcare Limited 35  Care only For profit 
Grosvenor Hall Care Home LN5 8QJ Care For Your Life Ltd 40 Y Nursing For profit 
Brantley Manor Care Home LN5 8RX Pearlcare (Lincoln) Limited 33 Y Care only For profit 
St Paul's Care Home LN5 9RF BSB Care Ltd 22 Y Nursing For profit 
Eccleshare Court LN6 0ED Country Court Care Homes Ltd 46 Y Nursing For profit 
OSJCT Hartsholme House LN6 0ED The Orders Of St. John Care Trust 44 Y Care only Not for profit 
Swanholme Court LN6 0ED Country Court Care Homes Ltd 25 Y Nursing For profit 
Stones Place LN6 0PA Methodist Homes 42  Care only Not for profit 
Redcote House Residential Care Home LN6 7HQ 1st Care (UK) Limited 18 Y Care only For profit 
OSJCT Boultham Park House LN6 7PH The Orders Of St. John Care Trust 35 Y Care only Not for profit 
Altham Court Care Home LN6 7SP Bupa Care Homes Limited 48  Nursing For profit 
OSJCT Fosse House LN6 8AA The Orders Of St. John Care Trust 42  Care only Not for profit 
       

 
  

P
age 184



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire      Appendix 3 Supply for older people 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    62 

Table Appendix 3.4 Care homes for older people in North Kesteven district 
 

Name Postcode Operator group Places Clients Registration Sector 
       
York House LN4 4BU LJ Care Homes Ltd 16 Y Care only For profit 
Eagle Nursing Home LN6 9DL SSB Carehomes Limited 29 Y Nursing For profit 
The Cottage Residential Home LN4 2BA BSB Care Ltd 40 Y Care only For profit 
The Haven Care Home LN4 3EF Mrs M A Dobbs 29 Y Care only For profit 
St Michaels LN5 9RF Prime Life Limited 40 Y Care only For profit 
Martin Hall Nursing Home LN4 3QY Knightingale Care Limited 40 Y Nursing For profit 
Bassingham Care Centre LN5 9HE My Bassingham Limited 60 Y Nursing For profit 
St Claire's Nursing Home LN6 0QT Lifeline Nursing Services Limited 40  Care only For profit 
White Gables LN6 5SA HC-One Limited 55 Y Nursing For profit 
The Grove Care Centre LN6 5UW St Philips Care Limited 31 Y Care only For profit 
OSJCT Beckside LN6 9QX The Orders of St. John Care Trust 58  Nursing Not for profit 
Neale Court LN6 9UA Country Court Care Homes Limited 23 Y Care only For profit 
Canwick House Care Home LN4 2RG Miss Catherine Elizabeth Paul 20 Y Care only For profit 
Holmleigh Care Home LN5 0LA Lincolnshire Licences Limited 44  Care only For profit 
Welbourn Manor Care Centre LN5 0NH St Philips Care Limited 31 Y Care only For profit 
Welbourn Hall Nursing Home LN5 0NN Mr N Thakerar & Mr K Thakerar 40 Y Nursing For profit 
Chestnuts Retirement Home NG34 9DE The Chestnuts Retirement Home  14  Care only For profit 
Oakdene Care Home NG34 7DJ Oakdene Sleaford Limited 35  Nursing For profit 
Ashfield Lodge NG34 7DZ Priory Adult Care 20 Y Nursing For profit 
Ashdene Care Home NG34 7EE Ashdene Sleaford Limited 41 Y Care only For profit 
Roxholm Hall Care Centre NG34 8ND St Philips Care Limited 39 Y Care only For profit 
St Andrew's Nursing and Care Home NG34 9PL Jasmine Healthcare Limited 45 Y Nursing For profit 
Greenacres Care Home NG34 9RP Greenacres Care Home Limited 28 Y Care only For profit 
       

 
  

P
age 185



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire      Appendix 3 Supply for older people 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    63 

Table Appendix 3.5 Care homes for older people in South Holland district 
 

Name Postcode Operator group Places Clients Registration Sector 
       
Abbeygate Rest Home PE6 0EG Abbeygate Rest Homes Limited 24  Care only For profit 
OSJCT Patchett Lodge PE12 7LJ The Orders Of St. John Care Trust 30  Care only Not for profit 
Nutten Stoven Residential Home PE12 8AA Nutten Stoven Residential Home 30  Care only For profit 
St John's Care Home PE11 1JQ Country Court Care Homes 2 Limited 56 Y Care only For profit 
OSJCT Southfield House PE11 1PS The Orders Of St. John Care Trust 32 Y Care only Not for profit 
The Bungalow Retirement Home PE11 1QZ Apex Care Limited 28 Y Care only For profit 
Southernwood House PE11 2PN Wellbeing Residential Ltd 28 Y Care only For profit 
Cedar Falls Care Home with Nursing PE11 2UA Tanglewood (Lincolnshire) Limited 93 Y Nursing For profit 
Ashwood Nursing Home - Spalding PE11 3AU Country Court Care Homes Limited 47  Nursing For profit 
Brun Lea Care PE11 3XY Brun Lea Care Ltd 20 Y Care only For profit 
Gosberton House Care Home PE11 4EW Mr & Mrs GT Lee 46  Nursing For profit 
Bank House Residential Care Home PE11 4PB AKD Care Limited 30 Y Care only For profit 
Stonehaven PE11 4PJ Stonehaven Residential Home Ltd 24 Y Care only For profit 
Abbeygate Retirement Home PE12 6QB Abbeygate Rest Homes Limited 27  Care only For profit 
Mayfield Residential Home PE12 7AG Mayfield Residential Care Ltd 29 Y Care only For profit 
Holbeach and East Elloe Hospital Trust PE12 8AQ Holbeach & East Elloe Hospital Trust 39  Nursing Not for profit 
Field House PE12 8LL Farrington Care Homes Limited 28 Y Care only For profit 
Beech Lodge Nursing Home PE12 8QJ Country Court Care Homes 2 Limited 37 Y Nursing For profit 
The Bancroft Residential Home Limited PE12 9DF The Bancroft Residential Home Ltd 32 Y Care only For profit 
Kimberley Care Village PE12 9EA Amber ARC Limited 68 Y Care only For profit 
Nene Lodge Retirement Home PE12 9SG Nathu Limited 52  Care only For profit 
       

 

P
age 186



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire      Appendix 3 Supply for older people 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    64 

Table Appendix 3.6 Care homes for older people in South Kesteven district  
 

Name Postcode Operator group Places Clients Registration Sector 
       
The Willows PE10 0SX The Willows Home Limited 30 Y Care only For profit 
Yew Tree Residential Care Home PE10 0TL Yew Tree Residential Care Home Ltd 18 Y Care only For profit 
Chevington House PE10 9AS Wellbeing Residential Ltd 16  Care only For profit 
OSJCT Digby Court PE10 9AZ The Orders of St. John Care Trust 36  Care only Not for profit 
Qu'Appelle Care Home PE10 9HA Qu'Appelle Residential Care Home  36 Y Care only For profit 
The Cedars PE10 9UQ Cedars Health Care Limited 56 Y Nursing For profit 
Kings Court Nursing Home NG31 6RR Sycamore Meadows Homes Ltd 29 Y Nursing For profit 
Castlegate House Residential Home NG31 6SN Castlegate House Rest Home Ltd 20 Y Care only For profit 
Apple Trees Care & Reablement Centre NG31 7GQ The Orders of St. John Care Trust 64 Y Care only Not for profit 
Newton House NG31 8AF Barchester Healthcare Homes Ltd 126 Y Nursing For profit 
OSJCT Gregory House NG31 8BN The Orders of St. John Care Trust 32  Care only Not for profit 
St Edmunds Nursing Home NG31 8SF Lifeline Nursing Services Limited 49  Nursing For profit 
Birchwood Retirement Home NG31 9AA Birchwood Retirement Home Ltd 17 Y Care only For profit 
Avery Lodge NG31 9DN Avery Lodge Limited 67 Y Care only For profit 
Harrowby Lodge Nursing Home NG31 9HX Harrowby Lodge Nursing Home Ltd 30 Y Nursing For profit 
Caythorpe Residential Home NG32 3DP Mrs Christine Lyte 14 Y Care only For profit 
Holland House PE6 8AN Country Court Care Homes 2 Ltd 10 Y Care only For profit 
Rose Lodge PE6 8AN Country Court Care Homes 2 Ltd 33 Y Care only For profit 
The Laurels PE6 8ED Mr D Shiels and Mrs J Shiels 23 Y Care only For profit 
Braeburn Lodge PE6 8GP Barchester Healthcare Homes Ltd 60 Y Nursing For profit 
Abbey Court Care Home PE10 0GT Amore Elderly Care Limited 88  Nursing For profit 
The Old Hall NG34 0QA Willow Homes-Lincs Limited 20  Care only For profit 
Five Bells Residential Care Home NG34 0SF Compleat Care (UK) Limited 28 Y Care only For profit 
The Red House PE9 1QP Country Court Care Homes Ltd 23 Y Nursing For profit 
OSJCT Whitefriars PE9 1UN The Orders of St. John Care Trust 57 Y Care only Not for profit 
Priory Court PE9 2EU Avery Homes (Nelson) Limited 60 Y Nursing For profit 
Braceborough Hall Retirement Home PE9 4NT Mrs S L Burcham 25  Care only For profit 
Tallington Care Home PE9 4RP Country Court Care Homes 3 OpCo  39 Y Care only For profit 
Tallington Lodge Care Home PE9 4RP Country Court Care Homes 3 OpCo  30 Y Care only For profit 
Woodgrange PE10 9TU Barchester Healthcare Homes Ltd 64 Y Nursing For profit 
       

 

P
age 187



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire      Appendix 3 Supply for older people 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    65 

Table Appendix 3.7 Care homes for older people in West Lindsey district 
 

Name Postcode Operator group Places Clients Registration Sector 
       
Drovers Call DN21 1AN Knights Care Limited 60 Y Nursing For profit 
Ferndene Care Home DN21 1NY Mariposa Care Limited 48 Y Nursing For profit 
Foxby Hill Care Home DN21 1PN Foxby Hill Care Home Limited 47 Y Nursing For profit 
OSJCT Foxby Court DN21 1QR The Orders of St. John Care Trust 46  Care only Not for profit 
North Warren House DN21 2TU The Serenity Care Company Ltd 15  Care only For profit 
Eliot House DN21 3AH MPS Care Homes Limited 29 Y Nursing For profit 
The Manor Nursing Home DN21 3BB SSB Carehomes Limited 26 Y Nursing For profit 
Grosvenor House Care Home DN21 3DL Grosvenor Care Homes Limited 39 Y Nursing For profit 
Laughton Croft Care Home with Nursing DN21 3JF Croft Carehomes Limited 36 Y Nursing For profit 
Holly Tree Lodge Care Home DN21 3QR Staywood Limited 45 Y Nursing For profit 
The Manor DN21 3UD Plenus Care Ltd 25 Y Care only For profit 
Redcote Residential Home DN21 5HR Gainsborough Care Ltd 28  Care only For profit 
Blenheim Care Centres DN21 5TJ Southwark Park Nursing Homes Ltd 80  Nursing For profit 
Little Brocklesby House DN37 8JL Little Brocklesby House Limited 36 Y Care only For profit 
The Old Rectory LN1 2PG M & M Care Limited 24 Y Care only For profit 
Wispington House Limited LN1 2QD Wispington House Limited 26 Y Care only For profit 
Tennyson Wharf LN1 2ZD Barchester Healthcare Homes Ltd 60 Y Nursing For profit 
St Luke's Nursing Home LN2 2UJ Carecall Limited 32  Nursing For profit 
Willow Court LN3 4JW HC-One Limited 54 Y Nursing For profit 
Bunkers Hill Care Home LN2 4WQ United Health Limited 78 Y Nursing For profit 
Nettleton Manor Nursing Home LN7 6HX The Fountain Care Management Ltd 43 Y Nursing For profit 
Greenacres Care Home LN7 6QY T A Shepherdson 16  Care only For profit 
Glengarriff House Nursing Home LN8 3BB Prime Life Limited 18 Y Nursing For profit 
OSJCT The Poplars LN8 3DS The Orders of St. John Care Trust 51 Y Care only Not for profit 
Waterloo House LN8 3EX Platinum Care (Lincoln) Ltd 35 Y Care only For profit 
The Laurels Nursing Home LN8 5NG Vaghjiani Limited 30 Y Nursing For profit 
       

 

P
age 188



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire      Appendix 3 Supply for older people 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    66 

Table Appendix 3.8 Care home operators for older people in Lincolnshire 
 

Operator group Homes Nursing Care only All beds Sector Districts 
       
1st Care (UK) Ltd 2  35 35 For-profit East Lindsey, Lincoln 
Abbeygate Rest Homes Ltd 2  51 51 For-profit South Holland 
Accredited Care Ltd 1  26 26 For-profit East Lindsey 
AKD Care Ltd 1  30 30 For-profit South Holland 
Allington Healthcare Ltd 1  27 27 For-profit Lincoln 
Amber ARC Ltd 1  68 68 For-profit South Holland 
Amber Care (East Anglia) Ltd 1 48  48 For-profit East Lindsey 
Amore Elderly Care Limited 1 88  88 For-profit South Kesteven 
Apex Care Ltd 1 40 28 68 For-profit South Holland, East Lindsey 
Ashdene Sleaford Ltd 1  41 41 For-profit North Kesteven 
Avery Homes (Nelson) Ltd 1 60  60 For-profit South Kesteven 
Avery Lodge Limited 1  67 67 For-profit South Kesteven 
The Bancroft Residential Home Ltd 1  32 32 For-profit South Holland 
Barchester Healthcare 4 310  310 For-profit South Kesteven, West Lindsey 
Birchwood Retirement Home Limited 1  17 17 For-profit West Lindsey 
Brun Lea Care Ltd 1  20 20 For-profit South Holland 
BSB Care Ltd 3 22 58 80 For-profit Lincoln, North Kesteven 
Bupa Care Homes 1 48  48 For-profit Lincoln 
Burlington Care Limited 1 86  86 For-profit East Lindsey 
Care Concept HCP Ltd 1  22 22 For-profit East Lindsey 
Care for Your Life Ltd 3 71 38 109 For-profit Lincoln, East Lindsey 
Carecall Ltd 2 54  54 For-profit Lincoln, West Lindsey 
Castlegate House Rest Home Limited 1  20 20 For-profit South Kesteven 
Cedars Health Care Limited 1 56  56 For-profit South Kesteven 
The Chestnuts Retirement Home LLP 1  14 14 For-profit North Kesteven 
The Chimneys Care Home 1  14 14 For-profit East Lindsey 
Compleat Care (UK) Ltd 1  28 28 For-profit South Kesteven 

Country Court Care Homes Group 13 213 241 454 For-profit South Kesteven, South Holland, Boston, Lincoln, 
North Kesteven 

Croft Carehomes Limited 1 36  36 For-profit West Lindsey 
DES Healthcare Limited 1  35 35 For-profit Lincoln 
Doulton Court Ltd 2 93  93 For-profit East Lindsey 
Eastwood Lodge Residential Home Ltd 1  19 19 For-profit East Lindsey 
Farrington Care Homes Ltd 1  28 28 For-profit South Holland 

P
age 189



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire      Appendix 3 Supply for older people 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    67 

Operator group Homes Nursing Care only All beds Sector Districts 
       
The Fountain Care Management Ltd 1 43  43 For-profit West Lindsey 
Four Seasons 2000 Limited 1 63  63 For-profit Lincoln 
Foxby Hill Care Home Ltd 1 47  47 For-profit West Lindsey 
Gainsborough Care Ltd 1  28 28 For-profit West Lindsey 
The Georgians (Boston) Limited 1 40  40 For-profit Boston 
Greenacres Care Home Ltd 1  28 28 For-profit North Kesteven 
Greenhold Care Homes Ltd 1 54  54 For-profit Boston 
Grosvenor House Care Homes Ltd 1 39  39 For-profit West Lindsey 
The Grovecare (UK) Limited 1  19 19 For-profit East Lindsey 
Gungah Care Ltd 1  18 18 For-profit East Lindsey 
Habilis Operations Ltd 2  49 49 For-profit East Lindsey 
Halcyon Care Group 2 45 41 86 For-profit East Lindsey 
Harrowby Lodge Nursing Home Ltd 1 30  30 For-profit South Kesteven 
Hayworth Care Limited 1 38  38 For-profit Lincoln 
HC-One Ltd 2 109  109 For-profit North Kesteven, West Lindsey 
Holbeach & East Elloe Hospital Trust 1 39  39 Not-for-profit South Holland 
Jasmine Healthcare Ltd 1 45  45 For-profit North Kesteven 
Kesh-Care Ltd 1  25 25 For-profit East Lindsey 
Knightingale Care Limited 3 40 88 128 For-profit East Lindsey, North Kesteven 
Knights Care Ltd 1 60  60 For-profit West Lindsey 
Kodali Enterprise Ltd 1  39 39 For-profit East Lindsey 
Laudcare Ltd 1 38  38 Not-for-profit Boston  
The Leaders of Worship & Preachers 
Homes  1  30 30 Not-for-profit East Lindsey 

Leisure Care Homes Ltd 2  47 47 For-profit Boston, East Lindsey 
Leong E N T Ltd 1  39 39 For-profit Boston 
Lifeline Nursing Services Ltd 3 86 40 126 For-profit Boston, North Kesteven, South Kesteven 
Lincolnshire Licences  1  44 44 For-profit North Kesteven 
Little Brocklesby House Ltd 1  36 36 For-profit West Lindsey 
LJ Care Homes Ltd 1  16 16 For-profit North Kesteven 
Louth Care Ltd 1 66  66 For-profit East Lindsey 
M & M Care Ltd 1  24 24 For-profit Lincoln 
Madeira Care Home Ltd 1 51  51 For-profit East Lindsey 
Mariposa Care Ltd 1 48  48 For-profit West Lindsey 
Mayfield Residential Care Ltd 1  29 29 For-profit South Holland 
Meadows Edge Care Home Ltd 1 40  40 For-profit Boston 
Methodist Homes 1  42 42 Not-for-profit Lincoln 

P
age 190



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire      Appendix 3 Supply for older people 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    68 

Operator group Homes Nursing Care only All beds Sector Districts 
       
MPS Care Group Ltd 2 29  29 For-profit West Lindsey 
My Bassingham Limited 1 60  60 For-profit North Kesteven 
Nathu Ltd 1  52 52 For-profit South Holland 
North Warren Care Ltd 1  20 20 For-profit East Lindsey 
Nutten Stoven Residential Home 1  30 30 For-profit South Holland 
Oakdene (Sleaford) Ltd 1 35  35 For-profit North Kesteven 
Orchard House Nursing Home Ltd 1 52  52 For-profit East Lindsey 

The Orders of St John Care Trust 15 58 595 653 Not-for-profit South Kesteven, West Lindsey, Boston, East 
Lindsey, Lincoln, South Holland 

Pearl Blossom Limited 1 20  20 For-profit Boston 
Pearlcare Ltd 1  33 33 For-profit Lincoln 
Phoenix Care Centre Ltd 1  39 39 For-profit East Lindsey 
Platinum Care (Lincoln) Ltd 1  35 35 For-profit West Lindsey 
Plenus Care Ltd 1  25 25 For-profit West Lindsey 
Premierbell Limited 1 47  47 For-profit Lincoln 
Prime Life Ltd 5 68 120 188 For-profit East Lindsey, North Kesteven, West Lindsey 
Priory Adult Care  1 20  20 For-profit North Kesteven 
Qu'Appelle 1  36 36 For-profit South Kesteven 
Roman Wharf Limited 1 24  24 For-profit Lincoln 
RV Care Homes Limited 2 48 47 95 For-profit Boston 
SBL Care Ltd 1  15 15 For-profit East Lindsey 
The Serenity Care Company Ltd 1  15 15 For-profit West Lindsey 
Serving All Ltd 1  33 33 For-profit Boston 
Southwark Park Nursing Homes Limited 1 80  80 For-profit West Lindsey 
SSB Carehomes Ltd 2 55  55 For-profit North Kesteven, West Lindsey 
St Catherine's Care Homes Ltd 1  50 50 For-profit Lincoln 
St Philip's Care 5  163 163 For-profit Lincoln, North Kesteven 
Staywood Ltd 1 45  45 For-profit West Lindsey 
Stonehaven Residential Home Ltd 1  24 24 For-profit South Holland 
Summerfield Rest Home Ltd 1  35 35 For-profit East Lindsey 
Sycamore Meadows Homes Ltd 1 29  29 For-profit South Kesteven 
Syne Hills Care Home Ltd 1  35 35 For-profit East Lindsey 
Tanglewood (Lincolnshire) Ltd 5 239 82 321 For-profit Boston, East Lindsey, South Holland 
Tinfloyd Healthcare Ltd 1  27 27 For-profit East Lindsey 
United Health Ltd 1 78  78 For-profit West Lindsey 
Vaghjiani Ltd 1 30  30 For-profit West Lindsey 
Wellbeing Residential Group 2  44 44 For-profit South Holland, South Kesteven 

P
age 191



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire      Appendix 3 Supply for older people 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    69 

Operator group Homes Nursing Care only All beds Sector Districts 
       
Willan House (Stainfield) Ltd 1  20 20 For-profit West Lindsey 
Willow Homes - Lincolnshire Ltd 1  20 20 For-profit South Kesteven 
The Willows Home Ltd 1  30 30 For-profit South Kesteven 
Yew Tree Residential Care Home Ltd 1  18 18 For-profit South Kesteven 
       
Individuals 16 127 259 386 For-profit All 
       

Table Appendix 3.9 Summary of supply of care home places  
 
  Older people Young disabled adults  
   
Lincolnshire  6,987 1,241 
   
Boston  647 18 
East Lindsey 1,581 396 
Lincoln  914 118 
North Kesteven  818 221 
South Holland  800 75 
South Kesteven  1,200 78 
West Lindsey 1,027 335 
   

 

Table Appendix 3.10 Comparison of age-standardised demand with 
supply of care home places for older people 

 
  ASD  Supply  Ratio 
    
Lincolnshire  6,230 6,987 112% 
    
Boston  550 647 118% 
East Lindsey 1,400 1,581 113% 
Lincoln  590 914 155% 
North Kesteven  950 818 86% 
South Holland  850 800 94% 
South Kesteven  1,150 1,200 104% 
West Lindsey 750 1,027 137% 
    

 
 
 

P
age 192



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire    Appendix 4 Supply for working age disabled adults 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    70 

Appendix 4 Supply of care homes for working age disabled adults 
 
Table Appendix 4.1 Care homes primarily for working age disabled adults in Boston district 
 

Name Postcode Operator group Places Clients Registration Sector 
       
Ashridge PE21 9AD Parkcare Homes (No.2) Limited 18 LD Care only For profit 
       

 
Table Appendix 4.2 Care homes primarily for working age disabled adults in East Lindsey district 
 

Name Postcode Operator group Places Clients Registration Sector 
       
The Sycamores LN13 9AN Linkage Community Trust 8 LD Care only Not for profit 
Swallowdale LN13 9EW Linkage Community Trust 8 LD Care only Not for profit 
The Gables LN13 9LF Mrs A D Pennington 9 LD Care only For profit 
Clarence House & The Granary LN9 5JE Prime Life Limited 21 LD Care only For profit 
Netherlands LN9 6AL Prime Life Limited 11 LD Care only For profit 
Riverside LN11 0NJ Linkage Community Trust 9 LD Care only Not for profit 
The Rowans LN11 8DJ Boulevard Care Limited 12 LD Care only For profit 
Seaton House LN11 9AJ Linkage Community Trust 9 LD Care only Not for profit 
Beech Lodge - Mablethorpe LN12 1DP Linkage Community Trust 9 LD Care only Not for profit 
Livingstone Court LN12 1DP Linkage Community Trust 13 LD Care only Not for profit 
Oak Lodge LN12 1DP Linkage Community Trust 9 LD Care only Not for profit 
Waverley LN12 1EJ Mrs Sara Gibson 14 LD Care only For profit 
Boulevard House LN12 2AD Boulevard Care Limited 15 LD Care only For profit 
Scott's View at South Farm LN12 2RU Mrs Beverley Dorne Cundliffe 5 LD Care only For profit 
Scremby Grange PE23 5RW Linkage Community Trust 17 LD Care only Not for profit 
Orby House PE23 5SW Boulevard Care Limited 7 LD Care only For profit 
St Andrews Drive PE25 1DL Linkage Community Trust 6 LD Care only Not for profit 
Rosslyn PE25 2AJ Linkage Community Trust 10 LD Care only Not for profit 
The Palms PE25 3BT Linkage Community Trust 7 LD Care only Not for profit 
Melody Lodge PE23 4BJ Skitini Care Homes Limited 11 LD Care only For profit 
Desboro House PE23 5AE Linkage Community Trust 8 LD Care only Not for profit 
Keal View PE23 5AE Linkage Community Trust 11 LD Care only Not for profit 
Spencers Lodge PE23 5AE Linkage Community Trust 8 LD Care only Not for profit 
Vale View PE23 5AE Linkage Community Trust 10 LD Care only Not for profit 
Ashby Court PE23 5DR Boulevard Care Limited 11 LD Care only For profit 

P
age 193



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire    Appendix 4 Supply for working age disabled adults 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    71 

Name Postcode Operator group Places Clients Registration Sector 
       
Dunsford PE23 5EH Linkage Community Trust 10 LD Care only Not for profit 
Welham House PE23 5LP Boulevard Care Limited 14 LD Care only For profit 
Willoughby House LN12 2NF Boulevard Care Limited 8 LD Care only For profit 
Link House LN13 0NB Boulevard Care Limited 8 LD Care only For profit 
Alderson House LN12 1PH Alderson Limited 18 MH Care only For profit 
Saxilby House LN1 2QP Norens Limited 10 MH Care only For profit 
Byron House PE25 3EH Prime Life Limited 23 MH Care only For profit 
Miramar Nursing Home LN12 2LT Super Care Limited 28 MH Nursing For profit 
SENSE - 25 Old Mill Park LN11 0NY Sense 6 SI Care only Not for profit 
SENSE - 54 Monks Dyke Road LN11 9AN Sense 6 SI Care only Not for profit 
SENSE - 56 Monks Dyke Road LN11 9AN Sense 7 SI Care only Not for profit 
       

 
Table Appendix 4.3 Care homes primarily for working age disabled adults in Lincoln City 
 

Name Postcode Operator group Places Clients Registration Sector 
       
The Laurels LN2 4JX Stillness 929 Limited 12 ABI Care only For profit 
The Hawthorns LN3 5UD Home from Home Care Limited 9 LD Care only For profit 
An Caladh House LN4 1EH Kisimul Group Limited 10 LD Care only For profit 
Tigh Allene LN4 1EH Kisimul Group Limited 5 LD Care only For profit 
Tamar House LN1 3SN Prime Life Limited 13 LD Care only For profit 
122 Scorer Street LN5 7SX A O'Brien & R A O'Brien 2 LD Care only For profit 
Cherry Tree Lodge Nursing Home LN2 4ET Prime Life Limited 19 LD Nursing For profit 
West Dean Care Home LN1 1HS United Health Limited 16 MH Care only For profit 
Lindum Park House Care Home LN2 1NN United Health Limited 17 MH Care only For profit 
Ashley Court LN5 8PQ Longhurst & Havelok Homes Ltd 15 PD Care only Not for profit 
       

 
  

P
age 194



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire    Appendix 4 Supply for working age disabled adults 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    72 

Table Appendix 4.4 Care homes primarily for working age disabled adults in North Kesteven 
 

Name Postcode Operator group Places Clients Registration Sector 
       
The Barn LN4 3JD Autism Care (UK) Limited 10 LD Care only For profit 
The Cottage LN4 3JD Autism Care (UK) Limited 10 LD Care only For profit 
The Croft LN4 3JD Autism Care (UK) Limited 6 LD Care only For profit 
The Farmhouse LN4 3JD Autism Care (UK) Limited 8 LD Care only For profit 
The Holt LN4 3JD Autism Care (UK) Limited 6 LD Care only For profit 
The Paddocks LN4 3JD Autism Care (UK) Limited 7 LD Care only For profit 
Kirk House LN4 3PT Home from Home Care Limited 11 LD Care only For profit 
Orchard Lodge LN4 3PT Home from Home Care Limited 6 LD Care only For profit 
The Reeds LN4 3PT Home from Home Care Limited 8 LD Care only For profit 
Swallow Lodge LN6 8UZ Making Space 8 LD Care only Not for profit 
Village Farm LN6 9JS Mrs Gemma Collins 6 LD Care only For profit 
Tigh Coilean LN6 9NW Kisimul Group Limited 6 LD Care only For profit 
Broughton House and College LN5 0SL CAS Care Services Limited 30 LD Care only For profit 
Broughton House and College LN5 0SL CAS Care Services Limited 5 LD Care only For profit 
An Darach House LN6 9EY Kisimul Group Limited 6 LD Care only For profit 
Cherry Tree Lodge NG34 9DA Home from Home Care Limited 9 LD Care only For profit 
Suillean House NG34 9QP Kisimul Group Limited 9 LD Care only For profit 
Byards Keep NG34 8XT Voyage 1 Limited 8 LD Care only For profit 
Blair House LN4 4AY Parkcare Homes (No.2) Limited 27 LD Nursing For profit 
Chesterfield House LN6 9SP Healthlinc Individual Care Limited 6 LD Nursing For profit 
Courtlands Lodge LN6 9RX Life Care (UK) Limited 29 MH Nursing For profit 
       

 
  

P
age 195



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire    Appendix 4 Supply for working age disabled adults 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    73 

Table Appendix 4.5 Care homes primarily for working age disabled adults in South Holland 
 

Name Postcode Operator group Places Clients Registration Sector 
       
Bay Lodge PE12 8QA The Regard Partnership Limited 5 LD Care only For profit 
Cedar House PE11 1QF Making Space 7 LD Care only Not for profit 
Anton House  PE12 7NX Leonard Cheshire Disability 4 LD Care only Not for profit 
Capricorn Cottage PE12 8ND Agemco 34 LD Care only For profit 
Genesis Residential Home PE11 4UQ Mr B & Mrs R S Oozageer 8 MH Care only For profit 
SENSE - 21a and 21b Johnson Avenue PE11 2QE Sense 6 SI Care only Not for profit 
SENSE - 38 Church Street PE11 3UB Sense 6 SI Care only Not for profit 
SENSE - 18 Water Gate PE11 4PY Sense 5 SI Care only Not for profit 
       

 
Table Appendix 4.6 Care homes primarily for working age disabled adults in South Kesteven 
 

Name Postcode Operator group Places Clients Registration Sector 
       
Harrow Street NG31 6HF Heritage Care Limited 5 LD Care only For profit 
Fairview Farm NG31 8RJ Grantham and District Mencap Ltd 22 LD Care only Not for profit 
Millfield House NG33 5NJ Hopscotch Solutions Limited 8 LD Care only For profit 
Ayrshire House NG23 5EH Ms S J Wright 15 LD Care only For profit 
20 Towngate East PE6 8DR Voyage 1 Limited 8 LD Care only For profit 
SENSE The Manor House PE6 8AL Sense 7 SI Care only Not for profit 
SENSE - 25 Horsegate PE6 8EN Sense 5 SI Care only Not for profit 
SENSE - 92 Black Prince Avenue PE6 8LU Sense 2 SI Care only Not for profit 
SENSE - 32a Broadgate Lane PE6 8NW Sense 6 SI Care only Not for profit 
       

 
  

P
age 196



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire    Appendix 4 Supply for working age disabled adults 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    74 

Table Appendix 4.7 Care homes primarily for working age disabled adults in West Lindsey 
 

Name Postcode Operator group Places Clients Registration Sector 
       
Blythe House LN8 3SF Kisimul Group Limited 10 LD Care only For profit 
The Old Hall LN3 4HD Home from Home Care Limited 13 LD Care only For profit 
Tigh Bruadair DN21 1HQ Kisimul Group Limited 13 LD Care only For profit 
Kingsway Clayton House Care Home DN21 1LW Kingsway (Clayton House) 16 LD Care only For profit 
The Cottage Specialist Residential Service LN2 3JP Healthlinc Individual Care Limited 4 LD Care only For profit 
Brambles LN3 5UD Home from Home Care Limited 6 LD Care only For profit 
The Hollies LN3 5UD Home from Home Care Limited 2 LD Care only For profit 
The Oaks LN3 5UD Home from Home Care Limited 6 LD Care only For profit 
Middlegate Lodge LN7 6JG Parkcare Homes (No.2) Limited 6 LD Care only For profit 
Middlefield House Nursing Home DN21 1TY Prime Life Limited 18 LD Nursing For profit 
Gables Manor LN1 2PQ Making Space 20 LD Nursing Not for profit 
Healthlinc Apartments LN2 3JN Healthlinc Individual Care Limited 7 LD Nursing For profit 
Hill House Care Home LN8 3TE United Health Limited 35 LD Nursing For profit 
St Oggs DN21 3AA Prime Life Limited 21 MH Care only For profit 
Glebe House LN7 6LS Parkcare Homes (No.2) Limited 24 MH Care only For profit 
Chestnut House DN21 5AW Prime Life Limited 33 MH Care only For profit 
Blyton Court DN21 3LG Parkcare Homes (No.2) Limited 18 MH Nursing For profit 
Howson Care Centre DN21 5JU Howson Care Centre Limited 83 MH Nursing For profit 
       

 
  

P
age 197



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire    Appendix 4 Supply for working age disabled adults 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    75 

Table Appendix 4.8 Care home operators for working age disabled adults in Lincolnshire 
 

Operator group Homes Nursing Care only All beds Sector Districts 
       
Agemco Limited 1  34 34 For-profit South Holland 
Alderson Ltd 1  18 18 For-profit East Lindsey 
Autism Care (UK) Limited 6  47 47 For-profit North Kesteven 
Boulevard Care Ltd 7  75 75 For-profit East Lindsey 
CAS Care Services Limited 2  35 35 For-profit North Kesteven 
Grantham and District Mencap Ltd 1  22 22 Not for profit South Kesteven 
Healthlinc Individual Care Limited 3 13 4 17 For profit West Lindsey, North Kesteven 
Heritage Care Limited 1  5 5 For profit South Kesteven 
Home from Home Care Limited 9  70 70 For-profit Lincoln, North Kesteven, West Lindsey 
Hopscotch Solutions Ltd 1  8 8 For-profit South Kesteven 
Howson Care Centre Ltd 1 83  83 For-profit West Lindsey 
Kingsway 1  16 16 For-profit West Lindsey 
Kisimul Group Limited 1  13 13 For-profit West Lindsey 
Leonard Cheshire Disability 1  4 4 Not-for-profit South Holland 
Life Care (UK) Ltd 1 29  29 For-profit North Kesteven 
Linkage Community Trust 16  152 152 Not-for-profit East Lindsey 
Longhurst & Havelok Homes Ltd 1  15 15 Not-for-profit Lincoln 
Making Space 3 20 15 35 Not-for-profit North Kesteven, South Holland, West Lindsey 
Norens Ltd 1  10 10 For-profit East Lindsey 
Parkcare Homes (No.2) Limited 5 45 48 93 For-profit West Lindsey, Boston, North Kesteven 
Prime Life Ltd 8 37 122 159 For-profit Lincoln, East Lindsey, West Lindsey 
The Regard Partnership Limited 1  5 5 For-profit South Holland 
Sense 10  56 56 Not-for-profit South Holland, South Kesteven, East Lindsey 
Skitini Care Homes Ltd 1  11 11 For-profit East Lindsey 
Stillness 929 Limited 1  12 12 For-profit Lincoln 
Super Care Ltd 1 28  28 For-profit East Lindsey 
United Health Ltd 3 35 33 68 For-profit Lincoln, West Lindsey 
Voyage 1 Limited 2  16 16 For-profit South Kesteven, North Kesteven 
       

Individuals 7  59 59 For-profit South Kesteven, East Lindsey, North Kesteven, 
Lincoln, South Holland 

       
 

P
age 198



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire       Appendix 5 Funding sources 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    76 

Appendix 5 Funding sources 
 
Table Appendix 5.1 Funding of older people 
 
Source Nursing Care only  All 
    
Lincolnshire County Council 50.5% 47.2% 48.0% 
Other local authority 5.4% 3.2% 3.7% 
Direct payments 1.3% 0.1% 0.4% 
Self-funding 16.1% 48.6% 41.0% 
NHS 24.7% 0.7% 6.3% 
Intermediate care  0.2% 0.2% 
Other 2.0%  0.5% 
    

 
 
Table Appendix 5.2 Funding of working age disabled adults 
 
Source Nursing Care only  All 
    
Lincolnshire County Council 55.6% 47.8% 48.1% 
Other local authority 11.1% 15.6% 15.5% 
Direct payments  0.3% 0.3% 
Self-funding  32.2% 31.3% 
NHS 11.1% 4.0% 4.0% 
Intermediate care    
Other 22.2%  0.6% 
    

 

P
age 199



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire       Appendix 6 Residents 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    77 

Appendix 6 Residents 
 
Table Appendix 6.1 Residents of the responding homes for older 

people by type of care needs and category of service  
 
In care home primarily for 
older people 

Personal 
care 

High 
dependency 

Nursing 
 care 

    
Frail older people  559 158 242 
Dementia 422 370 174 
Physical disabilities under 65  11 0 16 
Mental health under 65 5 7  
Other 16 8 4 
Unspecified 23 498 72 
    
Total 1,036 1,041 508 
    

 

Table Appendix 6.2 Residents of responding homes for working age 
disabled adults by type of care need and category of service  

 
 Personal care Nursing care 
   
Frail older people    
Dementia 4  
Physical disabilities under 65  15  
Mental health under 65 90  
Other 13  
Unspecified 17 9 
   
Total 139 9 
   

 
 
 

P
age 200



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire        Appendix 7 Fees 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    78 

Appendix 7 Fees 
 
Table Appendix 7.1 Weekly nursing fees for older people 
 
 Lincolnshire CC Other local authorities Direct payments Self-funding NHS 
      
Minimum 640 577 650 655 578 
Median 645 650 693 837 700 
Simple average 667 659 693 816 717 
Weighted average 668 663 711 822 715 
Maximum 752 735 735 985 927 
      

Where stated direct payment fees are the same as local authority fees 
Rounded to nearest £ 
 
Table Appendix 7.2 Weekly high dependency fees for older people 
 
 Lincolnshire CC Other local authorities Direct payments Self-funding NHS 
      
Minimum 456 460 497 497  
Median 497 497 497 704  
Simple average 504 500 497 730 557 
Weighted average 505 496 497 755  
Maximum 632 580 497 939  
      

3 homes reported direct payment fees which were the same as local authority fees 
Rounded to nearest £ 
 

P
age 201



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire        Appendix 7 Fees 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    79 

Table Appendix 7.3 Weekly care only fees for older people 
 
 Lincolnshire CC Other local authorities Direct payments Self-funding NHS 
      
Minimum 456 439 446 486 576 
Median 458 488 458 652 600 
Simple average 491 510 491 670 606 
Weighted average 492 518 507 682 606 
Maximum 734 600 600 993 730 
      

3 homes reported direct payment fees that were the same as local authority fees, one charged self-pay fees 
Rounded to nearest £ 
 
Table Appendix 7.4 Weekly top-ups for older people 
 
 Minimum Median Weighted average Maximum 
     
No. of homes responding  49   
No. of homes with top-ups  32   
Percentage of homes  65%   
Percentage of residents 3.7% 23.8% 27.3% 25.9% 
Range from £10 £30 £43 £190 
Average £10 £25 £31 £157 
Range to £20 £60 £82 £218 
     

Rounded to nearest £ 

P
age 202



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire       Appendix 8 Benchmarking 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    80 

Appendix 8 Benchmarking 
 
Table Appendix 8.1 Total unit costs by support type and primary support reason 
 

Neighbour £ per week Long Term - Physical 
Support 

Long Term - Sensory 
Support 

Long Term - Support - 
Memory & Cognition 

Long Term - Learning 
Disability Support 

Long Term - Mental 
Health Support 

      
Lincolnshire £473.65 £465.45 £465.83 £933.19 £456.65 
           
Norfolk £592.14 £655.20 £585.07 £1,148.41 £687.03 
Derbyshire £551.01 £507.70 £514.37 £1,253.69 £581.94 
Cumbria £607.26 £691.17 £614.25 £1,193.31 £602.44 
Nottinghamshire £532.17 £510.11 £542.46 £1,231.45 £649.95 
Suffolk £693.16 £472.60 £521.82 £1,264.42 £800.96 
Somerset £521.69 £531.88 £553.72 £1,684.28 £625.99 
Worcestershire £533.18 £492.39 £502.91 £1,398.50 £780.46 
Devon £651.13 £536.80 £655.79 £972.63 £516.32 
Staffordshire £428.74 £525.65 £381.01 £1,352.60 £702.70 
Warwickshire £525.71 £542.36 £519.97 £1,333.53 £484.57 
Gloucestershire £640.43 £0.00 £624.04 £1,356.06 £1,988.40 
Lancashire £464.93 £487.67 £479.90 £941.27 £655.62 
Essex £828.72 £577.75 £270.16 £1,427.41 £596.58 
North Yorkshire £664.15 £1,037.78 £404.03 £1,136.16 £545.39 
East Sussex £519.06 £763.62 £619.48 £1,373.86 £601.32 
           
Comparator group £581.83 £451.80 £490.54 £1,254.57 £817.81 
England £563.69 £577.79 £548.62 £1,264.64 £628.41 
      

Source: NHS Digital 
 
 

P
age 203



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire       Appendix 8 Benchmarking 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    81 

Table Appendix 8.2 Long term unit costs by support setting and age band 
 

Neighbour £ per week 
Residential Care - 

Total 
Residential Care - 

18 to 64 
Residential Care -  

65 and over 
Nursing Care -  

Total 
Nursing Care -  

18 to 64 
Nursing Care -   

65 and over 
       
Lincolnshire £542.54 £796.55 £482.68 £534.98 £760.14 £490.74 
             
Norfolk £707.29 £1,117.82 £588.00 £607.61 £813.89 £577.30 
Derbyshire £682.37 £1,334.26 £531.12 £569.37 £729.81 £537.58 
Cumbria £671.64 £1,019.97 £623.07 £566.00 £713.15 £548.53 
Nottinghamshire £684.08 £1,191.52 £526.73 £572.13 £857.22 £534.77 
Suffolk £774.46 £1,434.18 £637.37 £582.99 £918.08 £550.01 
Somerset £690.00 £1,397.43 £460.04 £636.63 £908.88 £623.65 
Worcestershire £764.16 £1,411.77 £498.60 £642.52 £1,139.54 £599.44 
Devon £693.50 £995.59 £624.75 £632.68 £893.06 £618.49 
Staffordshire £670.09 £1,281.45 £450.50 £487.46 £926.38 £431.95 
Warwickshire £671.81 £1,288.74 £517.77 £495.87 £603.00 £485.49 
Gloucestershire £860.86 £1,458.19 £600.17 £664.55 £808.47 £652.24 
Lancashire £513.15 £913.77 £453.22 £530.69 £664.92 £515.95 
Essex £848.34 £1,373.87 £679.01 £731.83 £1,073.76 £690.58 
North Yorkshire £724.13 £1,171.83 £609.84 £562.27 £981.70 £535.73 
East Sussex £786.27 £1,344.78 £520.05 £575.21 £912.38 £550.86 
             
Comparator group £717.42 £1,246.20 £546.29 £597.94 £872.73 £570.59 
England £716.35 £1,205.41 £548.64 £596.09 £870.96 £563.43 
       

Source: NHS Digital 
 
 

P
age 204



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire       Appendix 8 Benchmarking 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    82 

Table Appendix 8.3 Hourly rates for home care by external and internal provision 
 
Neighbour £ per week Internal £/hour External £/hour 
   
Lincolnshire  £13.11 
     
Norfolk  £16.20 
Derbyshire £21.00 £13.00 
Cumbria £26.00 £13.74 
Nottinghamshire  £14.20 
Suffolk  £14.94 
Somerset  £16.00 
Worcestershire £21.89 £15.65 
Devon £19.08 £15.76 
Staffordshire  £15.41 
Warwickshire  £12.57 
Gloucestershire  £17.67 
Lancashire £16.99 £12.17 
Essex  £13.49 
North Yorkshire £22.50 £17.20 
East Sussex  £15.00 
     
Comparator group £19.32 £14.67 
England £30.75 £14.28 
   

Source: NHS Digital 
 
 

P
age 205



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire       Appendix 8 Benchmarking 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    83 

Table Appendix 8.4 Unit costs for short term care to maximise independence by age group 
 
Neighbour £ per week Total 18 to 64 65 and over 
    
Lincolnshire £394.86 £370.93 £396.59 
       
Norfolk £500.48 £500.21 £500.51 
Derbyshire £106.06 £99.26 £106.59 
Cumbria £612.05 £612.05 £612.05 
Nottinghamshire £579.99 £548.43 £592.55 
Suffolk £167.98 £211.89 £156.50 
Somerset £324.80 £324.83 £324.80 
Worcestershire £1,265.75 £1,296.33 £1,263.77 
Devon £476.94 £562.24 £378.82 
Staffordshire £590.49 £379.22 £607.12 
Warwickshire £310.32 £272.39 £314.65 
Gloucestershire £690.71 £725.04 £676.03 
Lancashire £1,726.52 £1,488.05 £1,747.32 
Essex £288.86 £289.03 £288.85 
North Yorkshire £748.26 £1,981.62 £575.65 
East Sussex £1,034.35 £807.89 £1,049.55 
       
Comparator group £764.23 £716.04 £753.79 
England £523.26 £531.29 £522.02 
    

Source: NHS Digital 
 
  

P
age 206



Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire       Appendix 8 Benchmarking 

Kingsbury Hill Fox    84 

Appendix 9 Extra care in Lincolnshire 
 
Table 9.1 Putative extra care housing in Lincolnshire 
 

Name Town Postcode Service Manager Bed-
rooms Built Beds RSL 

rent 
Private 

rent 
Shared 

ownership 
Lease-

hold 
            

Barratt Court Skegness PE25 2PQ ECH  Waterloo Housing 
Group 

40 2013 1, 2 x    

Brick Kiln Place Grantham NG31 7GJ ECH  Lace Housing 48 2010 2 x  x  
Browning Court Bourne PE10 9FA ES  Kingsdale Group 45 2008 1, 2    x 

Elizabeth Court Louth LN11 9BP ECH  Waterloo Housing 
Group 38 2005 1, 2 x    

Ferguson House Lincoln LN6 0TH. CC MHA 16 2003     x 
Longhurst Lodge Skegness PE25 2JJ ES  Longhurst & Havelok  33 1985 0 x    

Mayall Court Waddington LN5 9RF CC Waddington Sheltered 
Housing  22 1995 2    x 

Mayfields Boston PE21 8DY. ECH  Boston Mayflower  40 2011 1, 2 x  x x 
Minster Court Lincoln LN4 2TS ES  Retirement Security  54 1998 2    x 
Olsen Court No. 1 - 38 Lincoln LN2 4UZ. ECH  Lace Housing 38 2006 2 x    
Olsen Court No. 60-68 Lincoln LN2 4UZ ES  Lace Housing 9 2009 2 x    
Park Place Boston PE21 8EY CC Retirement Security  28 1989 2    x 
Reverend Bill Baker 
Court 

Mablethorpe LN12 2FH ECH  Anchor 36 2001 1, 2 x    

St Claire's Retirement 
Bungalows Lincoln LN6 0QR ES/CC Lifeline	Nursing	Services 10 2002 1, 2    x 

St Edmund's 
Retirement Bungalows Grantham NG31 8SA ES/CC Lifeline	Nursing	Services 11 2002 1, 2    x 

Tannery Lane Sleaford NG34 0SF ECH  Inclusion	Housing 60 2015 1, 2 x    
The Old Rectory Bassingham LN5 9HE CC  Cornward	Ltd 15 1983 2    x 
Worth Court Bourne PE10 9LD ECH Lace	Housing 34 2008 2 x    
    	 	 	  	    

Key: ECH =extra care housing, ES = enhanced sheltered housing, CC = close care 
 

P
age 207



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Revenue Costs of LD Residential Care in Lincolnshire 

 
 
 
 

Revenue Costs of Care Home Places for Learning Disabilities 
in Lincolnshire 

 
 
 

This report covering the residential care market costs has been prepared by Philip Mickelborough  
as part of a project for Lincolnshire County Council. The lead researcher on the project was Estelle O'Neill 

 
 
 
 

24th October 2017 
 
 
 

 
Philip Mickelborough 
 
Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited 
 
07941 331322 
 
pjm@kingsburyhillfox.com 
 
www.kingsburyhillfox.com 
  

K  H F

P
age 209



Revenue Costs of LD Residential Care in Lincolnshire 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  i 

Contents 
 

Section Page 
  
1. Introduction  

1.1 The background 1 
1.2 Our brief 1 
1.3 Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited 2 
1.4 The collected data 2 

  
2. Occupancy rates and residents  

2.1 Residents 3 
2.2 Occupancy rates 3 
2.3 Management and ownership 3 

  
3. Staff hours   

3.1 Units of measurement  4 
3.2 Care hours for serviced users 4 
3.3 Additional hours 4 
3.4 Day & night staffing 5 
3.5 Care home staffing ratios 5 
3.6 Service users’ staffing levels 5 
  

  
  

4. Wages in care homes   
4.1 Care/support staff wages before on-costs 6 
4.2 Care staff wages with on-costs 6 
4.3 Wage rates of other care staff 7 
4.4 Wages of administration staff 7 

  
5. Care/support costs  

5.1 Cost of Duties under the Expected Cost Provision 8 
5.2 Additional hours 8 
5.3 Cost of support under other formats 8 

  
6. Other care home costs  

6.1 Food 9 
6.2 Cleaning staff costs 9 
6.3 Cleaning equipment 9 
6.4 Social activities, transport & holidays 9 
6.5 Repairs & maintenance 9 
6.6 Utilities 9 
6.7 Management & administration costs 9 
6.8 Other revenue costs written in 10 

  
  

P
age 210



Revenue Costs of LD Residential Care in Lincolnshire        Introduction 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  1 

Revenue Costs of Care Home Places for Learning Disability in Lincolnshire 
 
 
1. Introduction  
 
1.1 The background  
 
In October 2014, Lincolnshire County Council commissioned LaingBuisson 
to conduct an independent evaluation of the residential care market in 
Lincolnshire, a project led by Philip Mickelborough with Estelle O’Neill as the 
lead researcher. This was then used in conjunction with other data in the 
Council's own model to calculate the expected cost for residential providers 
for older people over a three-year period from 2015/16 to 2017/18. 
 
The Council had commissioned Philip through LaingBuisson to undertake 
similar surveys in 2008 and 2011. 
 
Lincolnshire County Council has decided to repeat this process in 2017 to 
inform care home fee levels for the three-year period beginning in April 2018. 
This project includes young disabled adults other than those with learning 
disabilities. 
 
The Council issued a preliminary scoping document in January 2017 
followed by a detailed scoping document in March 2017 that set out the 
Council's precise requirements. Kingsbury Hill Fox provided a final proposal 
for this work in April 2017 and the go-ahead was given in late May 2017. 
 
The Council will use the data on costs that we provide in its own model to 
determine the fees that the Council will pay, and it is not our role to suggest 
a price. 

1.2 Our brief 
 
With respect to the analysis of providers of residential care for people with 
Learning Disabilities, Lincolnshire County Council has already collected a 
significant amount of data relating to the costs incurred in providing those 
services. In analysing these data the Council will be looking to identify a 
suitable expected cost and be looking to separately identify additional one 
to one costs that providers incur in providing services to those with 
particularly challenging behaviours. 
 
However in recognising the importance that the Council and Provider hold 
in having an independent view of those cost, Lincolnshire County Council 
has commissioned Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited to conduct its own analysis of 
the data collected and where possible provide a report similar to previous 
reports detailing:- 
 

a. Fee analysis (including analysis of third party top ups, and 
fees for self-funders) 

b. Analysis of Care Hours Provided 
c. Analysis of Wage Rates (including the implication of recent 

legislative changes in relation to pensions) 
d. Analysis of staff qualifications 
e. Analysis of staffing ratio per service user 
f. Payroll costs 
g. Other cost (including but not limited to:) 
h. Food 
i. Utilities 
j. Repair & Maintenance (including handyman costs) 
k. Medical Supplies 
l. Domestic Cleaning 
m. Trade Clinical Waste 

P
age 211



Revenue Costs of LD Residential Care in Lincolnshire        Introduction 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  2 

n. Recruitment 
o. Registration 
p. Training 
q. Insurance 
r. Advertising & Marketing 
s. Uniforms 
t. Issues reported by care homes 
u. Benchmarking Analysis against other Local Authorities for LD 

rates 
 
 

1.3 Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited 
 
Founded by Philip Mickelborough in 2001, Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited is the 
vehicle which he has written his market reports and undertaken his 
consultancy work since then, including his three previous reports for 
Lincolnshire County Council.  
 
Although it was originally envisaged that the project would be undertaken by 
Philip under the LaingBuisson brand, during the scoping, proposal and go-
ahead process Philip severed his relationship with LaingBuisson and offered 
to undertake the work under the Kingsbury Hill Fox brand. 
 
Recognising the fact that care homes, whose confidence and co-operation 
are essential to the project, recognise and know researcher Estelle O’Neill 
and Philip from past work the Council decided to maintain continuity and 
commissioned Kingsbury Hill Fox. Of secondary importance was the 
substantial reduction in cost compared with LaingBuisson’s fees.  
 
Although not known at the time, during the course of the survey various care 
homes have indicated that the LaingBuisson brand is not popular in 
Lincolnshire because its published advice on care staffing levels has been 
used as a benchmark by CQC to the detriment of care home operators.  
 

Using the Kingsbury Hill Fox brand has improved the response rate. The 
number of responses to this survey was better than the last survey in 2014, 
vindicating the Council’s decision to use Kingsbury Hill Fox. 
 
 
1.4 The collected data  
 
Under a written confidentiality agreement we were supplied with data 
collected from nine care home groups that accommodate people with a 
learning disability. They were asked to provide information on sufficient 
service users to give a representative picture of care home costs in 
Lincolnshire. We were able to extract usable information on 44 individual 
service users for our analysis. 
 
The Council had prepared a survey form in Excel, comprising two parts; one 
part on the care home’s costs and the second on individual service users’ 
costs. Some providers completed and returned the survey forms in Excel as 
sent out.  
 
One provider completed the forms and then appear to have embedded an 
image of their return into a .pdf file, which unfortunately could not be optically 
character recognised owing to the fuzzy nature of the print. These figures 
had to be transcribed by hand. 
 
Other providers sent the data back in different formats, and these had to be 
transferred to a spreadsheet for analysis. Their cost heads frequently did 
not match the Council’s preferred cost heads, but we assume matched their 
own management accounting system. 
 
While the providers were clearly willing for the Council to know their costs 
we have assumed they would not wish their competitors to know these, and 
so we have avoided identifying which groups responded and what their data 
were. To ensure confidentiality we have used the phrase “a few” to mean 
fewer than ten, “some” for 10-20 and “many” for over 20.

P
age 212



Revenue Costs of LD Residential Care in Lincolnshire             Occupancy 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  3 

2. Occupancy rates and residents 
 
2.1 Residents 
 
The bulk of the data analysed stemmed from information provided and 
owned by the Council and released to Kingsbury Hill Fox under a written 
confidentiality agreement as a necessary part of the work.  
 
As far as we were able to ascertain from the information provided, the data 
all related to service users with a learning disability, all living in homes that 
were exclusively for that service user category.  
 
There was a question in the survey that asked the number of rooms, which 
often exceeded the number of residents. This suggests either that the 
responder was counting all rooms in the home, or that they were counting 
bedrooms and there were other service user categories. We think the former 
is more likely, but because of this doubt we have not analysed that question. 
 
 
2.2 Occupancy rates 
 
When considering occupancy rates we recognise that some rooms may be 
registered as doubles but only ever used as singles (unless a couple want 

them); we have considered occupancy to be based on the number of places 
usually available, not the registered number. We have taken the responses 
to the question on target occupancy to be equivalent to usually-used places. 
 
Seventeen homes told us their occupancy rates, which averaged 90 per 
cent. More than half (9 homes, 53%) of the homes were full with 100 per 
cent occupancy but one medium-sized home was operating at only 72 per 
cent occupancy. 
 
 
2.3 Management and ownership of responding homes 
 
Seven groups that responded were in the private sector and three were in 
the voluntary sector. 
 
Three were primarily Lincolnshire-based and seven were national 
organisations, one of which operated learning disability services only in 
Lincolnshire. 
 
 

P
age 213



Revenue Costs of LD Residential Care in Lincolnshire             Staff hours 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  4 

3. Staff hours  
 
3.1 Units of measurement  
 
The best way to compare costs across care homes of various sizes and with 
different user groups is to consider the weekly cost for each service user. 
 
The following are some of the reasons and factors that might account for the 
variation between homes in their provision of care hours per service user 
per week:  
• voluntary sector homes tend to provide more hours than private sector 

ones 
• converted homes can be less efficient to staff than purpose-built ones 
• small care homes can be overmanned because it is not possible to staff 

a home with part-people 
• staff may be managed less efficiently 
• more care staff, if they spend their spare time talking to residents, can 

offer a better quality of care. On the other hand, the quality of care is not 
improved if staff spend their time when not doing their specific duties 
smoking or drinking coffee in the staff room  

• owner-managers may, and usually do, put in hours that are not 
recorded. 

 
 
3.2 Care hours for service users 
 
One group provided the number of care hours needed on a good day, a 
difficult day and an average day for some service users: 
• the minimum ranged from 5.5 hours/week to 10.2, with an average of 

7.8 hours/week 
• the maximum ranged from 16.3 hours/week to 22.9, with an average of 

19.6 hours/week.  
• the average of the number of hours required on an average day across 

all that group’s reported service users was 11.1 hours/week.  

Another group gave us staffing ratios by time of day, which enabled us to 
calculate the weekly number of care hours for each of a few residents: 
• a minimum of 81 hours/week 
• a maximum of 193 hours/week 
• an average of 145 hours/week. 
 
A group gave us the average weekly number of care hours per service user 
in a few homes: 
• in one home, 1.48 registered manager hours, 1.39 deputy manager 

hours, 12.44 daytime support worker hours, 6.22 night support worker 
hours, 1.85 daytime nurse hours and 3.11 night nurse hours. Each 
service user benefitted from 5.07 ancillary staff hours per week 

• in the other home, 2.11 registered manager hours, 1.97 deputy manager 
hours, 18.61 daytime support worker hours, 13.26 night support worker 
hours, 2.63 daytime nurse hours and 4.42 night nurse hours. Each 
service user benefitted from 10.68 ancillary staff hours per week. 

 
 
3.3 Additional hours 
 
Most groups, however, appear to have a core number of care hours for each 
service user and then provide additional hours on a one-to-one, two-to-one 
or three-to-one basis. The core hours were not specified in the data we 
received, but additional hours for those who received them were reported 
as: 
• one-to-one hours from 8.5 to 219 with an average of 60.7 additional 

hours/week 
• two-to-one hours were required by one service user who needed six 

additional hours/week. 
 
No service user required three-to-one hours. 
 
The cost of these additional hours is analysed in the chapter on care costs. 
 

P
age 214



Revenue Costs of LD Residential Care in Lincolnshire             Staff hours 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  5 

3.4 Day and night staffing  
 
When we added the numbers of day staffing hours and the numbers of night 
staffing hours for each home we sometimes found that they added to more 
than 24; we put this down to an overlap to allow for shift-changing duties. 
 
Units were staffed for 14.6 hours during the day, on average, with a 
minimum of 12.5 hours and a maximum of 16 hours. A long day is a good 
sign, implying that service users have more control over their waking hours. 
 
Units were staffed for 9.6 hours during the night, on average, with a 
minimum of eight hours and a maximum of 12 hours. A short night is a good 
sign, implying that service users have more control over their waking hours, 
but it is expensive because daytime staffing ratios are higher. 
 
Night staffing levels were lower than daytime ones. Seventeen homes 
reported their night staffing levels, ranging from one waking member to three 
waking staff, with an average of exactly two waking staff.  
 
A few homes reported one sleeping night staff member, supplementing one 
or two waking staff; across all the homes this averaged 0.3 sleeping staff 
members. 
 
 
3.5 Care home staffing ratios 
 
The Council’s survey form asked about daytime staffing ratios, but it appears 
that some respondents may have reversed the ratio, which is usually 
presented as care staff to service users. We have interpreted the figures in 
the most likely way. 
 
Nineteen homes reported their staffing ratios, with a range from one worker 
to four service users to one staff to one service user, with an average of one 
staff member to 1.9 service users. 

3.6 Service users’ staffing ratios 
 
Some groups reported individual service user’s care/support ratios rather 
than the care home’s. 
 
One group reported a core staffing ratio of four to one, which we interpret as 
four service users to one member of staff. 
 
Another two groups gave the following ratios for individual service users: 
• 1:1 during the day with an additional 2 hours of an additional staff 

member per day for external activities; nights are staffed at 1:1 
• 1:1 during daytime hours and 1:1 waking night staff hours. and an 

additional 25 hours out and about in the community 
• 1:1 during day time hours and 1:2 waking night staff hours, reported for 

two service users 
• 14 hours per day at 1:2 and 10 hours at night with a one-seventh share 

of one waking and one sleeping staff member.  
 
Some homes reported care/support hours from each grade of staff per 
service user: 
• 4.7 hours of care manager support, 58.5 hours of daytime support and 

18.7 hours of night care support per week. 
  

P
age 215



Revenue Costs of LD Residential Care in Lincolnshire            Pay rates for staff 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  6 

4. Wages in care homes  
 
4.1 Care/support staff wages before on-costs 
 
These wage rates were collected before the increase in the national living 
wage in April 2017, and so some rates are below the current level for adults 
over 25. In our experience care homes tend to pay the over-25 rate to all 
staff, considering it to be too divisive not to. 
 
In the 14 homes that answered this question, a basic care worker was paid 
between £7.20 (the national living wage at the time) and £8.98, with a 
weighted average of £7.89 (Table 4.1). 
 
A senior care worker was paid £0.71 more per hour than a basic grade 
support on a weighted basis, with a minimum that was only £0.50 more but 
a maximum that was £1.37 more. 
 
A nurse was paid between £10.22 and £14.27 per hour, with a weighted 
average rate of £13.42. 
 
Table 4.1 Care staff hourly wage rates before on-costs 
 

 Minimum Average Weighted 
average 

Maximum 

     
Basic support worker £7.20 £7.85 £7.89 £8.98 
     
Senior support worker £7.70 £8.98 £8.60 £10.35 
     
Nurse £10.22 £13.82 £13.42 £14.27 
     

 
 

4.2 Care staff wages with on-costs 
 
The hourly wage rates for care staff including on-costs are shown in 
Table 4.2, and need no further explanation. 
 
Table 4.2 Care staff hourly wage rates with on-costs 
 
 Minimum Average Weighted 

average 
Maximum 

     
Basic support worker £8.16 £10.05 £10.29 £14.40 
     
Senior support worker £9.41 £11.38 £11.17 £16.09 
     
Nurse £15.21 £17.83 £16.79 £19.08 
     

 
On-costs include annual leave, sick pay, maternity pay and national 
insurance. Employer’s pension contribution until recently has usually been 
a cost only for salaried staff, but since auto-enrolment came in it has been 
an on-cost for all staff.  
 
Table 4.3 Care staff on-costs as a %age of hourly wage rates  
 
 Minimum Average Weighted 

average 
Maximum 

     
Basic support worker 13% 28% 30% 64% 
     
Senior support worker 12% 26% 28% 57% 
     
Nurse 19% 29% 25% 36% 
     

 

P
age 216



Revenue Costs of LD Residential Care in Lincolnshire            Pay rates for staff 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  7 

The variation in percentages in Table 4.3 mostly reflect different employers’ 
ways of measuring on-costs and what they include in that category, but they 
also reflect the use of part-time staff, some of whom may not work sufficient 
hours to qualify for national insurance contributions. 
 
 
4.3 Wage rates of other care staff 
 
The other care/support staff whose pay rate were reported were: 
• dual-registered team managers, who were paid a basic £11.76 per hour 

which became £13.97 with on-costs 
• an activity co-ordinator whose basic £7.40 per hour became £9.39 with 

on-costs 
• sleep-in staff, whose hourly pay rates of £3.50 and £4.13 became £4.20 

and £4.96 with on-costs. 

4.4 Wages of administration staff 
 
One group reported a series of improbable pay rates for administration staff, 
and another the total annual cost, from which we could not work out the 
hourly pay without knowing how many hours were worked each week. 
 
From the figures we could analyse we calculated administration staff to earn 
between £7.50 and £21.52 per hour, with a weighted average of £10.33 per 
hour. 
 
With on-costs these figures became £10.69, £27.97 and £13.16 
respectively. 
 

P
age 217



Revenue Costs of LD Residential Care in Lincolnshire            Care/support costs 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  8 

5. Care/support costs  
 
5.1 Cost of Duties under the Expected Cost Provision  
 
The Council’s survey form had a question titled “Cost of Duties under the 
Expected Cost Provision” for each service user. We have interpreted this to 
mean core staffing costs; it appears to be the same for all service users in 
each home but to vary between homes within a group. The homes that 
completed this section did so whether or not additional hours were provided. 
 
This question was answered for 17 service users with a range from £204.45 
per week to £1,101.95 and an average of £541.68 per week. 
 
 
5.2 Additional hours 
 
Most groups appear to have a core number of care hours for each service 
user (Section 5.1) and then provide additional hours on a one-to-one, two-
to-one or three-to-one basis. The cost of additional hours for those who 
received them were reported as: 
• one-to-one hours from £168 to £2,694 with an average of £1,121.33 per 

week for 17 service users 
• two-to-one hours were required by one service user who needed six 

additional hours/week at a weekly cost of £126. 
 
No service user required three-to-one hours. The numbers of these 
additional hours is analysed in Section 3.3 on care/support hours. 
 
These additional hours cost between £10.48 and £18.77 per hour, with an 
average of £12.92 per hour. 
 
The seventeen service users whose core costs were reported in this format 
received Cost of Duties and additional hours costing between £204.45 and 
£2,212 with an average cost of £905.93 per week. 

If, however, an assumption is made that service users whose additional 
hours were recorded but core cost were not did not have core costs the 
minimum becomes £204.45, the maximum £2,693.70 and the average 
£1,092.20. 
 
 
5.3 Cost of support under other formats 
 
One group reported the care and support costs for a few more dependent 
service users in a different format; ranging from £1,671.92 to £2,532.20 with 
an average cost of £2,013.96. 
 
Another group reported staffing costs for some service users broken down 
by heads, and summarised in Table 5.1.  
 
Table 5.1 Staffing costs in one group 
 
 Minimum Average Maximum 
    
Day & night care staff  698.25 1,163.62 1,985.34 
Management 101.52 105.30 131.75 
Staffing other 145.58 170.05 232.24 
    

Staffing other includes HR centrally and at home level, recruitment & 
training, disciplinaries, maternity, injuries, on-call allowance and the extra 
cost of agency staff 
 
We have not analysed care costs as a whole regardless of how they were 
reported as the final figure would have little meaning as it would be an 
average of many different service users with very different needs and in any 
case would require too many subjective assumptions. 
 

P
age 218



Revenue Costs of LD Residential Care in Lincolnshire             Other costs 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  9 

6. Other care home costs 
 
6.1 Food 
 
Food and catering costs range between £21.50 per service user per week 
to £63.00, but with a reasonable average of £40.15 per service user per 
week, assuming support staff and/or the service users do the cooking and 
serving, but if it includes catering staff costs it is modest (Table 6.1). These 
figures came from 41 service users. 
 
Table 6.1 Non-staff revenue costs 
 

 Minimum Average Maximum 
    
Food & catering 21.50 40.15 63.00 
Cleaning staff costs 5.00 25.55 91.19 
Cleaning equipment  1.55 8.84 22.12 
Social activities, transport, 
holidays 6.50 50.96 118.30 
Repairs and Maintenance 6.44 28.33 58.23 
Utilities 13.89 31.78 46.00 
Management & administration 20.00 135.76 246.73 
    

 
 
6.2 Cleaning staff costs 
 
Twenty-one care homes reported their cleaning staff costs, which ranged 
from £5 per service user per week to £91.19 per week, with an average of 
£25.55 per week (Table 6.1). The costs may vary to this degree as some 
service users will require much clearing and cleaning, whereas others may 
be able to do most of the work themselves. 

6.3 Cleaning equipment 
 
Twenty-five care homes reported their cleaning equipment costs, which 
ranged from £1.55 per service user per week to £22.12 per week, with an 
average of £8.84 per week (Table 6.1). 
 
 
6.4 Social activities, transport & holidays 
 
Thirty-eight care homes reported their costs for social activities, transport & 
holidays, which ranged from £6.50 per service user per week to £118.30 per 
week, with an average of £50.96 per week (Table 6.1). 
 
 
6.5 Repairs & maintenance 
 
Thirty-six care homes reported their repairs & maintenance costs, which 
ranged from £6.44 per service user per week to £58.23 per week, with an 
average of £30.03 per week (Table 6.1). 
 
 
6.6 Utilities 
 
Thirty-six care homes reported their gas, oil, electricity, council tax and water 
costs, which ranged from £13.89 per service user per week to £46.00 per 
week, with an average of £31.78 per week (Table 6.1). 
 
 
6.7 Management & administration costs 
 
Thirty-nine care homes reported their management & administration costs, 
which ranged from £20.00 per service user per week to £246.73 per week, 
with an average of £139.37 per week (Table 6.1). 
 

P
age 219



Revenue Costs of LD Residential Care in Lincolnshire             Other costs 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  10 

6.8 Other revenue costs written in 
 
The Council’s data collection process allowed care homes to write in costs 
that were not covered by its specific questions. 
 
Some care homes reported the cost of stationery, TV, printing, health & 
safety etc, which ranged from £28.73 per service user per week to £62.59 
per week, with an average of £39.98 per week. 
 
Some care homes reported a category titled “lease equivalent & 
depreciation” which ranged from £464.30 per service user per week to 
£516.44 per week, with an average of £477.04 per week. 
 
Some care homes reported group & divisional costs which ranged from 
£102.56 per service user per week to £246.61 per week, with an average of 
£215.74 per week. Despite the category name, much of this is probably 
operational expenditure that is organised by head offices rather than at 
home level. 
 
One group of care homes reported training, recruitment and human 
resources costs of £39.98 per week.  
 
Some care homes reported depreciation costs which ranged from £5.00 per 
service user per week to £52.13 per week, with an average of £31.87 per 
week.  
 
A few care homes reported rent that ranged from £125.42 per service user 
per week to £225.00 per week, with an average of £175.21 per week.  
 
A few care homes reported costs for: 
• staff travel, subsistence & training which averaged £35.00 per week 
• business & central charges that averaged £73.00 per week 
• professional fees that averaged £20.00 per week 
• equipment costs that averaged £11.00 per week 

• accommodation costs of £357.00 per week 
• fixed costs that averaged £81.58 per week. 
 
A few homes reported: 
• medical costs that averaged £6.75 per week 
• day service costs that averaged £344.08 per week. 
 
Many homes reported unspecified costs, which ranged from £4.73 to 
£452.65 with an average £126.99. 
 
A few homes reported a profit margin that ranged from £317.76 to £471.52 
with an average of £369.28. 
 
 P

age 220



 

Kingsbury Hill Fox Limited  11 

 

P
age 221



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Wellbeing Service Equality Impact Analysis, 5 December 2017 v0.12        1 
 

 

 

  

Equality Impact Analysis to enable informed decisions 
 
The purpose of this document is to:- 

I. help decision makers fulfil their duties under the Equality Act 2010 and  
II. for you to evidence  the positive and adverse impacts of the proposed change on people with protected characteristics and ways to 

mitigate or eliminate any adverse impacts. 
 
Using this form 
This form must be updated and reviewed as your evidence on a proposal for a project/service change/policy/commissioning of a service or 
decommissioning of a service evolves taking into account any consultation feedback, significant changes to the proposals and data to support 
impacts of proposed changes. The key findings of the most up to date version of the Equality Impact Analysis must be explained in the report 
to the decision maker and the Equality Impact Analysis must be attached to the decision making report. 

 
**Please make sure you read the information below so that you understand what is required under the Equality Act 2010** 

 
Equality Act 2010 
The Equality Act 2010 applies to both our workforce and our customers. Under the Equality Act 2010, decision makers are under a personal 
duty, to have due (that is proportionate) regard to the need to protect and promote the interests of persons with protected characteristics.  
 
Protected characteristics 
The protected characteristics under the Act are: age; disability; gender reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy and maternity; 
race; religion or belief; sex; sexual orientation. 
 
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 
Section 149 requires a public authority to have due regard to the need to: 

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation, and any other conduct that is prohibited by/or under the Act 

 Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share relevant protected characteristics and persons who do not share those 
characteristics                                           

 Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. 
 

P
age 223



 

Wellbeing Service Equality Impact Analysis, 5 December 2017 v0.12        2 
 

 

  

The purpose of Section 149 is to get decision makers to consider the impact their decisions may or will have on those with protected 
characteristics and by evidencing the impacts on people with protected characteristics decision makers should be able to demonstrate 'due 
regard'. 
 
Decision makers duty under the Act 
Having had careful regard to the Equality Impact Analysis, and also the consultation responses, decision makers are under a personal duty to 
have due regard to the need to protect and promote the interests of persons with protected characteristics (see above) and to:-     

(i) consider and analyse how the decision is likely to affect those with protected characteristics, in practical terms, 
(ii) remove any unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other prohibited conduct, 
(iii) consider whether practical steps should be taken to mitigate or avoid any adverse consequences that the decision is likely to  have, for 

persons with protected characteristics and, indeed, to consider whether the decision should not be taken at all, in the interests of 
persons with protected characteristics, 

(iv)  consider whether steps should be taken to advance equality, foster good relations and generally promote the interests of persons with 
protected characteristics, either by varying the recommended decision or by taking some other decision. 

 

Conducting an Impact Analysis 
 

The Equality Impact Analysis is a process to identify the impact or likely impact a project, proposed service change, commissioning, 
decommissioning or policy will have on people with protected characteristics listed above. It should be considered at  the beginning of the 
decision making process. 
  
The Lead Officer responsibility  
This is the person writing the report for the decision maker. It is the responsibility of the Lead Officer to make sure that the Equality Impact 
Analysis is robust and proportionate to the decision being taken. 
 
Summary of findings 
You must provide a clear and concise summary of the key findings of this Equality Impact Analysis in the decision making report and attach 
this Equality Impact Analysis to the report.   

 

P
age 224



 

Wellbeing Service Equality Impact Analysis, 5 December 2017 v0.12        3 
 

 

  

Impact – definition 
 

An impact is an intentional or unintentional lasting consequence or significant change to people's lives brought about by an action or series of 
actions. 
 

How much detail to include?  
The Equality Impact Analysis should be proportionate to the impact of proposed change. In deciding this asking simple questions “Who might 
be affected by this decision?” "Which protected characteristics might be affected?" and “How might they be affected?”  will help you consider 
the extent to which you already have evidence, information and data, and where there are gaps that you will need to explore. Ensure the 
source and date of any existing data is referenced. 
You must consider both obvious and any less obvious impacts. Engaging with people with the protected characteristics will help you to identify 
less obvious impacts as these groups share their perspectives with you. 
 
A given proposal may have a positive impact on one or more protected characteristics and have an adverse impact on others. You must 
capture these differences in this form to help decision makers to arrive at a view as to where the balance of advantage or disadvantage lies. If 
an adverse impact is unavoidable then it must be clearly justified and recorded as such, with an explanation as to why no steps can be taken 
to avoid the impact. Consequences must be included. 

Proposals for more than one option If more than one option is being proposed you must ensure that the Equality Impact Analysis covers all 
options. Depending on the circumstances, it may be more appropriate to complete an Equality Impact Analysis for each option. 
 

The information you provide in this form must be sufficient to allow the decision maker to fulfil their role as above. You must include 
the latest version of the Equality Impact Analysis with the report to the decision maker. Please be aware that the information in this 

form must be able to stand up to legal challenge. 
 

P
age 225



 

Wellbeing Service Equality Impact Analysis, 5 December 2017 v0.12        4 
 

Title of the policy / project / 
service being considered  

Residential Rate Review 2018  Person / people completing analysis Alex Craig 

Service Area 
 

Adult Care and Community Wellbeing Lead Officer Justin Hackney and Carolyn 
Nice 

Who is the decision maker? 

 
Councillor Patricia Bradwell How was the Equality Impact Analysis undertaken? • Desktop Exercise 

Date of meeting when decision 
will be made 

 

14/02/2018 Version control 0.12 

Is this proposed change to an 
existing policy/service/project 
or is it new? 

Existing policy/service/project LCC directly delivered, commissioned, re-
commissioned or de-commissioned? 

Re-commissioned 

Describe the proposed change Service Description 

 Lincolnshire County Council needs to ensure that it delivers its statutory obligations to people who are eligible for 
social care   

 ASC supports people who have had their care needs assessed as substantial or critical. When those care needs are 
to be met by residential or nursing placements the care provider should offer a quality services. Quality is determined 
as providing a service which is safe, effective and delivers a positive experience of care. This is encompassed within 
regulatory standards 

 We currently have 3278 people paced in long term care 
 

Service Users by Age Band Female Male Grand Total 

18 - 24 4 17 21 

25 - 34 34 62 96 

35 - 44 52 72 124 

45 - 54 80 101 181 

55 - 64 93 150 243 

Background Information 
 

P
age 226



 

Wellbeing Service Equality Impact Analysis, 5 December 2017 v0.12        5 
 

65 - 74 190 167 357 

75 - 84 482 328 810 

85 + 1121 325 1446 

Grand Total 2056 1222 3278 

  

Service User by Service Type LTC Nursing LTC Residential Grand Total 

A - Learning Disability Support 82 412 494 

A - Mental Health Support 97 254 351 

A - Physical Support: Access & mobility only 16 89 105 

A - Physical Support: Personal care support 605 1555 2160 

A - Sensory Support: Support for dual impairment 2 1 3 

A - Sensory Support: Support for hearing impairment 1 1 

A - Sensory Support: Support for visual impairment 
 

2 2 

A - Social Support: Support for social isolation / other 5 23 28 

A - Support with Memory and Cognition 32 102 134 

Grand Total 839 2439 3278 
 

 Lincolnshire County Council currently holds contracts with 277 Care Homes within Lincolnshire and 172 agreements 
with individual providers 

 Lincolnshire County Council is required to set Usual Costs that it expects to pay for particular categories of care 

 The current fee levels were set in 2015 with inflationary increase each year to 2018. 

 New fee rates are required for April 2018  in line with the revised framework agreement  

 In setting rates the Council must have due regard for the cost of providing care in Lincolnshire and the existing market 
conditions 

 
Proposed Changes 
 

 A proposed increase in residential fees will support Care Homes providers in Lincolnshire  to continue to provide a 
good quality service to residents  

 It is proposed that there is an average 2.85% increase to the current fee rates for Adult Frailty and Long Term 
Conditions in the first year and a cumulative average of 6.86% over the next three years 

 A new cost model is proposed for LD residential services which would allow for greater recognition of the more 
variable degree of complexity, and cost, across LD provision.  

P
age 227



 

Wellbeing Service Equality Impact Analysis, 5 December 2017 v0.12        6 
 

 

 

  

 The proposed fee levels allow Providers a rate of return of 6% which will allow them to offer beds to residents without 
the need for third party top ups. 

 The Kingsbury Hill Fox reports were commissioned to understand the current  costs of delivering care in Lincolnshire 

 The findings and recommendations in the KHF report (November 2017) was informed by responses from Care Homes 
with a response rate of 48%.  It is assumed that this is a representative sample of the care market in Lincolnshire 

 Responses were for LD residential services were completed via a Council led exercise over the last 18 months to 
ensure sufficient engagement from the sector following the lack of response from LD providers in 2015 

 The proposed rates assume that there will be no further unanticipated increases in costs for care providers over the 
next three years. 

Evidencing the impacts 
In this section you will explain the difference that proposed changes are likely to make on people with protected characteristics. 
To help you do this  first consider the impacts the proposed changes may have on people without protected characteristics before then 
considering the impacts the proposed changes may have on people with protected characteristics. 
 
You must evidence here who will benefit and how they will benefit. If there are no benefits that you can identify please state 'No perceived 
benefit' under the relevant protected characteristic. You can add sub categories under the protected characteristics to make clear the impacts. 
For example under Age you may have considered the impact on 0-5 year olds or people aged 65 and over, under Race you may have 
considered Eastern European migrants, under Sex you may have considered specific impacts on men. 
 
Data to support impacts of proposed changes  
When considering the equality impact of a decision it is important to know who the people are that will be affected by any change. 
 
Population data and the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 
The Lincolnshire Research Observatory (LRO) holds a range of population data by the protected characteristics. This can help put a decision 
into context. Visit the LRO website and its population theme page by following this link: http://www.research-lincs.org.uk  If you cannot find 
what you are looking for, or need more information, please contact the LRO team. You will also find information about the Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment on the LRO website. 
 
Workforce profiles 
You can obtain information by many of the protected characteristics for the Council's workforce and comparisons with the labour market on the 
Council's website.  As of 1st April 2015, managers can obtain workforce profile data by the protected characteristics for their specific areas 
using Agresso. 
 
 

P
age 228

http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/
http://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/residents/community-and-living/equality-and-diversity/a-strategic-approach-equality-and-diversity/valuing-our-workforce/community-and-workforce-statistics/52342.article


 

Wellbeing Service Equality Impact Analysis, 5 December 2017 v0.12        7 
 

 

 

 

Age The increased funding to care providers should provide additional assurance that there is sufficient capacity 
within Lincolnshire for quality residential services 
 
Changes to the Terms and Conditions are also proposed in order to provide greater clarity to Service Users and 
their families when entering into agreements with the Council and/or Provider on financial matters. By fixing Top 
Up prices and further clarifying how deferred payments are handled Service Users and their families will be able 
to better plan for the future and avoid situations wherein costs may change year by year. 

Disability The increased funding to care providers should provide additional assurance that there is sufficient capacity 
within Lincolnshire for quality residential services. In addition to this the new model recognises they key 
challenges within LD provision, namely the high variability of complexity in care needs, which will further support 
providers as well as allow the Council to undertake new initiatives. 
 
Changes to the Terms and Conditions are also proposed in order to provide greater clarity to Service Users and 
their families when entering into agreements with the Council and/or Provider on financial matters. By fixing Top 
Up prices and further clarifying how deferred payments are handled Service Users and their families will be able 
to better plan for the future and avoid situations wherein costs may change year by year. 

Gender reassignment No unique positive impact for this protected characteristic  
 

Marriage and civil partnership No unique positive impact for this protected characteristic  

Pregnancy and maternity No unique positive impact for this protected characteristic  
 

Race No unique positive impact for this protected characteristic  
 
 

Positive impacts 
The proposed change may have the following positive impacts on persons with protected characteristics – If no positive impact, please state 
'no positive impact'. 
 

P
age 229



 

Wellbeing Service Equality Impact Analysis, 5 December 2017 v0.12        8 
 

Religion or belief No unique positive impact for this protected characteristic  
 
 

Sex No unique positive impact for this protected characteristic  
 

Sexual orientation No unique positive impact for this protected characteristic  
 
 

 

If you have identified positive impacts for other groups not specifically covered by the protected characteristics in the Equality Act 
2010 you can include them here if it will help the decision maker to make an informed decision. 

 
 

  

P
age 230



 

Wellbeing Service Equality Impact Analysis, 5 December 2017 v0.12        9 
 

 

 

 

 

Age 
 
 
 
 
Age 

 
 
 
 
 
Adult Care services and budgets continue to be pressured and while the measures in the new contracts have 
been put forward to directly address this there are concerns that ongoing pressures in the wider Health and 
Social Care system fee rate may impact on the availability and quality of the care which is provided 
There are concerns that the fee rate impacts on the viability of the providers  
If Providers decide to increase their prices above expected costs then there is the risk that service users could 
be required to find a third party to pay the additional amount. 
If there is no third party available then service users could be asked to move to an alternative home which could 
cause distress. 
 
The increased funding and improved terms offered through the new contracts represents the best proposal the 
Council can offer to address these potential negative impacts 
 
 

Disability  
Adult Care services and budgets continue to be pressured and while the measures in the new contracts have 
been put forward to directly address this there are concerns that ongoing pressures in the wider Health and 
Social Care system fee rate may impact on the availability and quality of the care which is provided 
There are concerns that the fee rate impacts on the viability on some of the Council's providers to deliver 
services. 
If Providers decide to increase their prices above expected costs then there is the risk that service users could 
be required to find a third party to pay the additional amount. 
If there is no third party available then service users could be asked to move to an alternative home which could 
cause distress. 
 
 
The increased funding and improved terms offered through the new contracts represents the best proposal the 

Negative impacts of the proposed change and practical steps to mitigate or avoid any adverse consequences on people with 
protected characteristics are detailed below. If you have not identified any mitigating action to reduce an adverse impact please 
state 'No mitigating action identified'. 
 

Adverse/negative impacts  
You must evidence how people with protected characteristics will be adversely impacted and any proposed mitigation to reduce or eliminate 
adverse impacts. An adverse impact causes disadvantage or exclusion. If such an impact is identified please state how, as far as possible, it 
is justified; eliminated; minimised or counter balanced by other measures.  
If there are no adverse impacts that you can identify please state 'No perceived adverse impact' under the relevant protected characteristic. 
 

P
age 231



 

Wellbeing Service Equality Impact Analysis, 5 December 2017 v0.12        10 
 

Council can offer to address these potential negative impacts 
 
 

Gender reassignment This proposal is related to the residential care rate for Lincolnshire which is not specific to gender reassignment 
 

Marriage and civil partnership This proposal is related to the residential care rate for Lincolnshire which is not specific to marriage or civil 
partnership 
 

Pregnancy and maternity This proposal is related to the residential care rate for Lincolnshire which is not specific to pregnancy or 
maternity 
 

Race This proposal is related to the residential care rate for Lincolnshire which impacts on all placements and not 
specific to person's race. 
 

Religion or belief This proposal is related to the residential care rate for Lincolnshire which impacts on all placements and is not 
specific to a person's religion/belief  
 
Currently the largest numbers of people in long term care in Lincolnshire are of Christian denominations  
 

Sex This proposal is related to the care fee rate for Lincolnshire, which is not specific to sex. However data also 
shows that  the rate will have a greater impact on woman as they have a longer life expectancy and therefore 
proportionality more likely to receive residential or nursing care 
 

Sexual orientation This proposal is related to the residential care rate for Lincolnshire which impacts on all placements and is not 
specific to a person's sexual orientation 
 

 

If you have identified negative impacts for other groups not specifically covered by the protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 you 
can include them here if it will help the decision maker to make an informed decision. 

P
age 232



 

Wellbeing Service Equality Impact Analysis, 5 December 2017 v0.12        11 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Age  

 
 

Disability  
 

Objective(s) of the EIA consultation/engagement activity 
Who was involved in the EIA consultation/engagement activity? 
 

 

Engagement on the new model has been directly with Care Providers as the changes proposed are commercial in nature. There are no 
proposed changes on how Service Users will access or receive care services differently and it is hoped that with the increased funding 
available through the proposal services in both Specialist Adults Services and Adult Frailty and Long Term Conditions shall improve.  

Stakeholders 

Stake holders are people or groups who may be directly affected (primary stakeholders) and indirectly affected (secondary stakeholders) 

P
age 233



 

Wellbeing Service Equality Impact Analysis, 5 December 2017 v0.12        12 
 

Gender reassignment  
 

Marriage and civil partnership  
 

Pregnancy and maternity  
 

Race  
 

Religion or belief  
 

Sex  
 

Sexual orientation  
 

Are you confident that everyone who 
should have been involved in producing 
this version of the Equality Impact 
Analysis has been involved in a 
meaningful way? 
The purpose is to make sure you have got 
the perspective of all the protected 
characteristics. 

Yes. 

  

P
age 234



 

Wellbeing Service Equality Impact Analysis, 5 December 2017 v0.12        13 
 

Once the changes have been 
implemented how will you undertake 
evaluation of the benefits and how 
effective the actions to reduce adverse 
impacts have been? 

 
As all residential providers are already managed closely further meetings with the care providers will be undertaken to 
address the implementation of the new contracts, particularly with regard to the new Learning Disability model. These 
meetings will consider whether there are any emerging impacts against individual service users, particularly those who are 
protected under the Equality Act 2010.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Are you handling personal data?  No 
 
The provider will handle personal data and will comply to with the data protection legislation and their and LCC's data 
protection policies.  

  

Actions required 
Include any actions identified in this 
analysis for on-going monitoring of 
impacts. 

Action Lead officer Timescale 

   

Signed off by  Date Click here to enter a date. 

 

 

 

Further Details 

P
age 235



T
his page is intentionally left blank



SPECIALIST ADULTS SERVICES PROVIDER FEEDBACK  

SPECIFIC QUERIES ON THE APPLICATION OF THE MODEL TO INDIVIDUAL SERVICE USER PACKAGES NOT INCLUDED 

Feedback Proposed response 

Provider A 

 
We consider the proposal to develop a pricing framework to cover the next 3 years as 
a very positive step. Attempting to provide some certainty at a time of political and 
economic uncertainty is laudable, challenging and greatly appreciated. The 
opportunity to comment on the draft proposals is reflective of what we consider to be 
the partnership working and transparency in our dealings over the past few years.  
 
We believe the basic principles on which the model is based being the needs of 
service users (high, medium and low) and the number of residents in a setting 
(smallest, smaller and standard) is appropriate and recognises both staffing needs to 
support individual needs and the capital and revenue requirements of running such 
operations and the economies of scale gained through larger units. 

 
N/A 

We believe this proposed framework clearly reflects the need to fund sustainable 
services as indicated in the Care Act and reflects some historical under-funding in 
relation to ourselves. We recognise the challenges we all face in providing quality 
services against an uncertain economic environment, however, for sustainability to 
continue we would suggest that inflation increases year on year should reflect 80% of 
any national living wage increase on the basis that 80% of our costs are staffing. 

The recommendation is that the Usual Cost should be set for 3 years 2018/19, 
2019/20 and 2020/21. To achieve this work has been done to anticipate how 
providers’ costs are likely to increase in those years rates as a result of inflationary 
increases based upon: 
 
Staffing Wage Costs- The majority of staffing cost increases are based on an 
assessment of the impact of increases in NMW for workers aged 18-24 and NLW 
for those aged 25+.   This calculation also takes the age profile of workers into 
account, producing an average rate increase across all groups.  This results in an 
inflation increase of 4.62% across all work groups (with the exception of managers) 
in 2019/20 and 4.93% in 2020/21 
 
Non Staffing Costs – These costs are increases by 2% per annum both in 2019/20 
and 2020/21.  These increase was based on predicted inflation targets as published 
by the Office of Budget Responsibility in their report entitled “Economic & fiscal 
Outlook” dated November 2017. 
 
New rates also take into consideration legislative changes to employer's pension 
obligations which have now increased to 3% and have been applied in the model 
from 18/19 onwards. 

P
age 237



As part of this review it would be helpful to provide guidance/agreement as to some 
other issues including the question as to what may be considered as reasonable “top-
up charges”; this could take the form of a menu of extra charges to service users for 
particular services, for example, travel costs to access leisure, to visit family, social 
opportunities – i.e. an agreed mileage contribution. 

Many of the charges outlined here are already covered within the contract as 
'Extras' and can be utilised by providers now and in the new contracts. While there 
is no exhaustive definition of what may constitute a cost that would be attributable 
to a top up it can be considered as the difference in cost between what the Service 
Users assessed needs require and what the home or service use may wish to 
receive in addition. This could be a larger room, enhanced views or aesthetics or 
more expensive meals.  

The provider also referenced the specific costs of their business model, individual 
packages of care, and specific application of the model to individuals which has 
relevance in how the new model is applied but is not materially linked to the model 
itself notwithstanding the separate comments already noted. 

 

Provider B 

We are fully behind the principles behind the LD review and are pleased to see the 
pro-active approach you're taking albeit there is much analysis to do before matters 
fully conclude. 

N/A 

We would request additional information regarding the increased staffing 
requirements at higher bands, so  that we can accurately review any additional 
staffing cost that will be associated to the increased funding available 

TBC – JT, SH and AC to meet.  
 
Proposed response –  
The hours as described in each band within the new model has fundamentally been 
used to calculate the rate for each band and not necessarily as a strict rule in how 
many hours must be in place for each service users or as a whole within a home. 
The hours per band should be used as a benchmark that sets out what the Council 
expects are necessary for the care of that individual with the expectation that their 
outcomes are being met. We believe that the existing provision in the settings we 
have analysed are not significantly different to the resources that are required 
under the new model when taking all commissioned hours into account.  

 

 We would not accept any 1:1 charges being made at £10.71, it is simply not cost 
effective and the rate of £X has been agreed previously. 

The Council intends to make payment to them on the principle of the bandings and 
rates we have identified and also based on the jointly agreed application of these 
rates to individual packages. For cases where there may be a dispute as to the final 
settlement we will make payment but will pay retrospectively (if need be) on the 
outcome of the negotiations. It is important to note that the Council does 
not  anticipate to be in dispute over many cases as we will be tying the assessed 
care needs for the basis of these  cost decisions. 

The provider also referenced the specific costs of their business model, individual 
packages of care, and specific application of the model to individuals which has 
relevance in how the new model is applied but is not materially linked to the model 
itself notwithstanding the separate comments already noted. 

 

Provider C 

P
age 238



We are pleased that the LD sector has wider recognition from the Council and is now 
more distinguishable from other Adult areas. If adopted your proposals will produce 
greater transparency of and within the market over the next three years.  

N/A 

To some extent you have acknowledged differences in need amongst the individuals 
whose care your commission. We concur with the concept of bandings however there 
is a 4th band that is missing which is one for the most complex individuals. 

The Council believes that the model has sufficient clarity and flexibility to manage 
the varied levels of complexity across LD. However, as always, the Council reserves 
the right to consider and new or additional measures that would be necessary if 
circumstances dictate.  

To set an increase now of 2% for 19/20 and 20/21 when inflation and the increased 
costs of applying the minimum wage, together with other unknown costs including 
Brexit which will come into play, is, we suggest, simplistic and highly risky. Our 
forecast for 2018/19 costs give a much more realistic increase of 4.58% to cover 
pension and living wage increases with their knock on effect on differentials between 
grades of support workers.  
 
 

The recommendation is that the Usual Cost should be set for 3 years 2018/19, 
2019/20 and 2020/21. To achieve this work has been done to anticipate how 
providers’ costs are likely to increase in those years rates as a result of inflationary 
increases based upon: 
 
Staffing Wage Costs- The majority of staffing cost increases are based on an 
assessment of the impact of increases in NMW for workers aged 18-24 and NLW 
for those aged 25+.   This calculation also takes the age profile of workers into 
account, producing an average rate increase across all groups.  This results in an 
inflation increase of 4.62% across all work groups (with the exception of managers) 
in 2019/20 and 4.93% in 2020/21 
 
Non Staffing Costs – These costs are increases by 2% per annum both in 2019/20 
and 2020/21.  These increase was based on predicted inflation targets as published 
by the Office of Budget Responsibility in their report entitled “Economic & fiscal 
Outlook” dated November 2017. 
 
New rates also take into consideration legislative changes to employer's pension 
obligations which have now increased to 3% and have been applied in the model 
from 18/19 onwards. 

We would like to suggest that you consider commissioning a risk register to look at 
the each high acuity in terms of what would happen if the placement fails both in 
terms of impact to the Service User and their family and also cost to the 
commissioner.  

The Council agrees this would be a sensible step to take in an event such as this.  

In the context of your offering, our accounting profit would be eroded to an 
unsustainable level which would further worsen over the subsequent 2 years.  If your 
current proposal is adopted without sensitivity to historic placements like many of 
ours, this will result in the reduction of providers able to offer higher acuity care than 
your costing bands and blanket approach to increases allow for… Whilst you are 
looking at supported living services to reduce the council's cost, although necessarily 
the tax payers costs, you run the very real risk that such services will simply not be 

The Council is fully aware of the need for high complex care and it is the intention 
that under this proposed model the Council and the Market will have a stronger 
foundation to develop new capacity across the sector as well as undertake new 
commissioning objectives to address the full spectrum of LD provision, including 
supported living. This proposals being put forward under the LD cost model 
represent a significant increase in Council spending and cannot be considered as a 
cost saving exercise.  

P
age 239



able to support the most complex individuals 
 

The provider also referenced the specific costs of their business model, individual 
packages of care, and specific application of the model to individuals which has 
relevance in how the new model is applied but is not materially linked to the model 
itself notwithstanding the separate comments already noted. 
 

 

 

 

ADULT FRAILTY AND LONG TERM CONDITIONS FEEDBACK 

 

Comment Response 

Provider D 

Statistical Accuracy of Actual Revenue costs – Is it 48% of providers or 48% of 
available beds 

Given that the responses covered 3,536 beds (Page 3) and there are approximately 
7192 beds registered for older people and physical disabilities.  We believe that 48% 
could apply to both the number of homes and number of beds and can be 
considered a representative sample.   

Why has the Council used an alternative model when the Laing Buisson model is a 
recognised model in determining the cost of care 

The Councils model is similar to that used by LaingBuisson but has number of 
differences.   
 
The Laing and Buisson model uses a 12% return on capital set by reference to the 
opportunity costs of not utilising the capital in other ways measured by what Laing 
and Buisson considered at the time could have reasonably been expected by selling 
out. The JRF toolkit suggests that “an adequate return on capital is the key to 
achieving a stable independent sector of sufficient size and appropriate quality to 
meet the commissioning needs of councils and their NHS partners.  On the 
assumption that new and/or replacement care home capacity is required councils 
throughout the country need to set fee rates such as to (a) incentivise existing 
operators to continue to offer services and to upgrade the physical assets where 
they are below NMS for newly registered homes; (b) attract investment in new care 
home capacity to meet increasing underlying demand driven by the ageing 
population; and (c) compete with private payers and residents funded by other 
public sector agencies for available home care places.” 
 

P
age 240



The JRF toolkit also establishes a value of a bed based on the cost of building a new 
care home that meets basic specifications around size and building cost, with the 
cost of land also taken into account. The model uses this information to help 
establish a “floor” (minimum) and “ceiling” (maximum) weekly rate which is 
influenced both by rate of and on an assessment of how many homes meet specific 
physical and environmental standards for “new” homes as defined in the 
Department of Health publication Care Homes for Older People (DH, 2003). 
 
The Lincolnshire County Council model does not seek to establish “floor” or “ceiling” 
rate but rather a single rate based upon the average room value within Lincolnshire, 
recognising that the majority of homes within Lincolnshire are based within 
buildings that were built prior to 2003 and are not purpose built.  Consequently the 
approach more closely reflects local factors in Lincolnshire. 
 
Current market indicators as published by property advisors Knight Frank suggest 
that the rate of return for care homes is currently 6.3%. This compares to UK 10 
year Interest Rate Swaps at 1.45% and 30 Year Interest Rate Swaps at 1.90% and 
current London Inter-Banking Offered Rates (LIBOR) at 0.79% over 12 months.   
Interest Rate Swaps and Libor represent low risk investments 
 
As the Council buys a substantial amount of placements (48% based on the 2017 
Kingsbury Hill Fox Lincolnshire survey) which it has the resources to pay for, this 
significantly reduces the risk to providers businesses and the beneficial impact of 
this should be reflected through a return which reflects a low/medium business risk 
for providers. Further evidence that the sector is not high risk is the lack of 
providers falling into financial distress, with a good balance between Council and 
self-funded and with the predicted demand for care home places remaining 
buoyant. 
 
In addition to the position on risk set out above, incorporating the rate of return of 
12% as quoted in the JRF model into the costs model, risks building into the rate 
inefficiency as there is no incentive on providers to manage cost efficiently.  It also 
incorporates pure profit, as distinct from cost which is what the Council is obliged to 
have regard to, into the model as the operating profit figure used in the calculation 
includes this.  
 
The return on capital should reflect all these factors making 6% an appropriate rate. 
This is consistent with some returns elsewhere should the providers choose to sell 

P
age 241



up and invest elsewhere in particular the 6.3% return on the Secondary Healthcare 
market. 
 
For these reasons the Council chooses to use its own model 

The Council's model is a one size fits all for care hours which lends itself to homes 
that have occupancy of greater than 40 residents.  Our analysis would indicate that 
where homes have either less than 40 residents or more significantly support 
residents with high dependency care needs including dementia the care hours are 
underestimated and below that which would be sage under the regulations. 

The care hours are based on the responses from providers covering all sizes of 
homes.   

No allowance for provider profit Profit is included in the final line of the model – Unit Cost for Lane & Buildings (Rate 
of Return) and is calculated at 6%  

No provision for night time or weekend enhancements to the pay rates This is covered on Page 22 of the report 

The costs exclude time that is required to be backfilled for individuals to meet their 
training compliance 

This is covered on page 50 of the report 

Repairs and maintenance costs The figures are taken from the returns from providers 

Excluding repairs and maintenance running expenses are circa 20 percentage points 
lower than the L&B model 

The figures are taken from the returns from providers 

No allowance is made for corporate overheads This is covered on page 7.  Allowances are made under management, administration 
and other non-staff items 

Pay rate differentials – Our experience is that recruiting at LCC rates is not achievable 
in the current competitive environment 

The rates are based on what providers are currently paying.  The nature of an 
average rate is that some providers will pay more and others will pay less.   

Annual Leave  Included in Working time on-cost @ 12% 

Care Hours - We believe the Council has underestimated the paid care hours 
required to run a service with high dependency 

The council has not estimated the care hours.  The figures are based on the returns 
of providers.  It has been recognised that care hours have increased over the last 
three years and the model adequately reflects those increases 

Better Care Fund – We welcome an understanding how this additional funding is 
benefiting providers in covering its cost pressures. 

The Council has directly transferred Better Care Fund money to providers, including 
£1.5million in the last year to residential providers in the form of grants.  The better 
care fund is time limited and therefore must be treated separately from the 
Councils Usual Costs.  Lincolnshire County Council has increased spend on 
residential care by 16% in the last 4 years at a time when the Council Revenue 
Service Grant from central government has reduced by 67% in the same time frame 

 

 

Comment Response 

Provider E 

We do not agree with the clause of 3rd Party Top Ups having no increase during the 3- The model allows for inflation over the next three years using the best estimates 

P
age 242



year period of the contract.  The reasoning behind this is that at these uncertain times in 
the care industry we have no idea what further costs we will have to find during this 
period 

of the Office for Budget Responsibility.  If there is a significant policy change 
(such as the introduction of the National Living Wage in 2015) we will review the 
impact on our expected costs and amend those rates where necessary. 

The survey figures show £247.66 for nursing and personal care costs yet you have 
offered a lower basic rate for nursing residents 

The difference in rates is due to respondents to the survey reporting a lower 
number of hours for non-care staff in nursing homes (1.7 hours for nursing 
compared to 2.1 hours for high dependency).  It is unclear why this should be the 
case and the reasons are not reflected by the Kingsbury Hill Fox report.   

The FNC nursing cost element per resident in your model is priced at £190.89 (2018) 
rising again next two years - this is using out of date nursing hourly rates which have 
increased dramatically during the last few months (see comment below) - yet we are 
only receiving FNC at  £155.05 so we are already £35.84 in 2018 per week underfunded. 
We certainly do not have knowledge of any uplift and cannot sign up to this price for 
Nursing care without this uplift. 

The Council does not set the FNC rate.  
 
The hours for nurses reflect the responses that we had to the survey. 

What element of profit or surplus do the figures include - these are crucial to maintain 
the viability of the business and the service (as per CQC and Care Act etc) and the 
constant reinvestment needed to replace and refurbish the home and equipment 
etc.  What other business can operate on nil profit - none. 
 

Profit is included in the final line of the model – Unit Cost for Lane & Buildings 
(Rate of Return) and is calculated at 6% 

The wages in the review for nurses is now outdated (see comment above)  Nurses are 
now demanding at least £16 per hour as they know they are and know that they are in 
short supply - agency hourly rates for Mablethorpe can be as much as £35 per hour plus 
travelling.  The average nursing agency hourly rate for much of Lincolnshire is £25.00 
per hour plus travelling Also to recruit a nurse through recruitment agencies whether Uk 
or Eastern European Nurses the fee is now a minimum of £3000 plus VAT = £3600 as 
care homes are not VAT registered we cannot claim VAT back. 

The hours and wage rates for nurses reflect the responses that we had to the 
survey.  Allowance is specifically made for agency use in the model 

Why is the catering, cleaning and laundry less per resident for a nursing resident that a 
residential or high dependency resident - again this is flawed and is definitely not the 
case. 
 

The figure is based on the survey responses received. 
 
It is unclear why this should be the case and the reasons are not reflected by the 
Kingsbury Hill Fox report.   

Why is the management/administration etc more for a residential resident - again this is 
flawed and I would argue there is more to manage for a nursing resident because of the 
more complex cases. 

The figure is based on the survey responses received. 
 

What does the figure £58.82 cost of capital include? The cost of capital is the capital cost of a room in Lincolnshire (£46,000) 
multiplied by the chosen rate of return (6%) based on the occupancy level (90%) 
and is the level which the Council believe is sufficient for the recoupment of an 
investment over a reasonable period of time.  Rate of return on capital is a 
generic term describing the return providers derive from capital assets invested 
in the business. 

P
age 243



 
Multiplying the value of a room at £46,000 by the nominal 6% rate of return 
provides a payment of £58.82 per person per week.    
 
In a 30 bed home it amounts to a payment to cover the cost of the 
accommodation of approximately £92,006 (£58.82 x 30 x 52.14) per annum to 
the Provider.  
 
The money can be used to pay existing mortgages/business loans or where the 
cost of the capital asset has already been defrayed to reinvest in the business or 
elsewhere or to take out as profit. 

We cannot see any provision for mortgage/loan or leasing payments The cost of capital is used an estimate of the cost of making the assets available 
in terms of rent or mortgage and interest. This is described above. 

 

 

Comment Response 

Provder F 

The specification page 11 clause 4.4.2 refers to 2.5 nurse hours daily is this a specific requirement for a 
nursing placement or is this overridden if any of the procedures listed in clause 3 apply. We are currently 
working our staffing levels on the L&B staffing calculator which gives slightly over 1 nurse hours daily are 
we correct in using this calculator. 
 

The definition at clause 4.4.2 is the wording used by Continuing 
Healthcare and is used in making a determination as to whether 
or not somebody is entitled to funded or fully-funded nursing 
care..   
 
The amount of nursing for each individual resident will depend 
entirely on their assessed needs. 

 

 

 

 

Comment Response 

Provider G 

Two of our long term nurse have retired and looking at the market, we cannot seem to attract any nurses to 
Boston.  However we are alarmed to find pay rates now in the 16-16.50/hr 
 

The nursing figures in the report are taken from 
responses provided through the survey. 
 

P
age 244



In addition agency rates are creeping up alarmingly to around £29/hr for a weekday day rate The FNC rate is the responsibility of NHS England. 

 

Comment Response 

Provider H 

 2018/19 (April 2018 to March 2019) – We would be happy to accept the fees 
which are included in the table below and have no further comments. 

  

 In regards to 2019/20 and 2020/21, whilst we acknowledge the Council’s 
efforts to understand the impact of National Living Wage and other 
associated cost pressures, at this time we would be anxious to accept these 
fees until such time that the actual impact of the cost increases related to 
NLW etc. are released and in that we can then undertake our own cost impact 
calculations for each of these years. 

 

The model allows for inflation over the next three years using the best 
estimates of the Office for Budget Responsibility.  If there is a significant policy 
change (such as the introduction of the National Living Wage in 2015) we will 
review the impact on our expected costs and amend those rates where 
necessary. 

 

 

Comment Response 

Provider I 

 We would like further clarity on why the HD residential rate is higher than the 
nursing rate. It appears from the cost breakdown this is driven by costs for non 
personal care i.e. domestic and kitchen etc. We disagree with this. The cost of 
providing non-care services to a residential and nursing resident are the same. 

 The rate for a nursing bed should be the same if not higher than the price of a HD 
bed. 

 

The difference in rates is due to respondents to the survey reporting a lower 
number of hours for non-care staff in nursing homes (1.7 hours for nursing 
compared to 2.1 hours for high dependency).  It is unclear why this should be 
the case and the reasons are not reflected by the Kingsbury Hill Fox report.   
 
The overall rate for a nursing bed includes the Funded Nursing Care rate and 
therefore the total price is higher than HD 

We understand that the council would like to fix the top-up for the 3 year period. We 
disagree with this approach as it is difficult to forecast costs pressures for the period 
ahead due to current economic uncertainty. We also feel it would be likely that homes 
may put top-ups at the maximum from the start. This may lead to service users and their 
families having to pay higher top-up to start with. 

The model allows for inflation over the next three years using the best 
estimates of the Office for Budget Responsibility.  If there is a significant policy 
change (such as the introduction of the National Living Wage in 2015) we will 
review the impact on our expected costs and amend those rates where 
necessary. 
 
The reason for fixing third party top ups is to provide security for service users 
and their families 

As an alternative would it be possible to set a maximum top-up in that period e.g.£50 
which could be varied per year of contract as required. This would provide certainty to 

This shall be considered however it would still present some uncertainty for the 
service user as the maximum amount may be unaffordable and this may affect 

P
age 245



the top-up payer that the maximum would be say £50 over the whole period but could be 
lower in some years.  
 

their decision even if the first year was affordable 

In Clause 39.4 – the last part states “This Third Party Waiver Form shall remain in place 
for the duration of the contract”. Please can you clarify if the home signs a third party 
waiver does that remain in place for just the IFA (i.e. for that specific resident) or does 
that impact the agreed top-up for that room during the whole 3 year contract with the 
council. i.e. would that wavier apply to the next user of that room as well 

The third party waiver form in on a placement by placement basis therefore it 
applies only to the specific resident 

Paperwork in respect of Top-ups must be signed by social worker and home. It should be 
the responsibility of the social worker to ensure that this is done.  
 

This is the process in the contract.  The social worker should also ensure that 
the service user and their representative understand the third party process. 

Please can you clarify what steps will be taken to ensure that IFAs are sent to the home 
within 7 days 
 

Operations to respond 

 

 

Comment Response 

Provider J 

3 years ago when the rates were fixed and afterwards either 
LinCa did act in the best interests of the providers or County 
council did not act fairly. 
Hence 1. low rates were fixed, 2. rates were fixed for 3 years, 
3. increases afterwards were not commensurate with 
inflation and effects of National minimum wage increase. 
 
As per the Lincolnshire County Council commissioned 
Kingsbury Hill Fox report, our/LCC rates of 2017 are very 
much below the average of the rates of comparable counties.  
 
My request/suggestion: 
1. I would urge not to fix rates for 3 years, but only for one 
year at a time. Inflation prediction is most likely to go wrong. 
2. It is fair to increase the rates on par with the average rates 
of comparable counties in 2017 plus rate of inflation of 2017. 
 

 
In 2015 we increased our rates by between 2.6-2.8% on top of our annual inflationary increase as a direct 
result of the increase in the National Living Wage. 
 
The recommendation is that the Usual Cost should be set for 3 years 2018/19, 2019/20 and 2020/21. To 
achieve this work has been done to anticipate how providers’ costs are likely to increase in those years rates 
as a result of inflationary increases based upon: 
 
Staffing Wage Costs- The majority of staffing cost increases are based on an assessment of the impact of 
increases in NMW for workers aged 18-24 and NLW for those aged 25+.   This calculation also takes the age 
profile of workers into account, producing an average rate increase across all groups.  This results in an 
inflation increase of 4.62% across all work groups (with the exception of managers) in 2019/20 and 4.93% in 
2020/21 
 
Non Staffing Costs – These costs are increases by 2% per annum both in 2019/20 and 2020/21.  These 
increase was based on predicted inflation targets as published by the Office of Budget Responsibility in their 
report entitled “Economic & fiscal Outlook” dated November 2017. 
 

P
age 246



New rates also take into consideration legislative changes to employers pension obligations which have now 
increased to 3% and have been applied in the model from 18/19 onwards. 
 
Please see Q&A 2 of Provider D as to the reason why the Council has chosen to utilise the current model.  

 

 

Comment Response 

Provider K 

LaingBuisson conducted a comprehensive survey of all care home services in United 

Kingdom for 2016/17.  This report identified regional costings as a guide, which 

established fees of £578 for Residential and £725 for Nursing placements in East 

Midlands.  This true reflection of cost is 18% higher than the review of homes in 

Lincolnshire.  We would expect Lincolnshire County Council to establish a minimum 

fee rate which is in line with this reporting, rather than a smaller study conducted 

with only 50% of responders in Lincolnshire. 

 

Lincolnshire County Council is responsible for setting a rate for Lincolnshire 
providers and therefore we need to understand the specific costs of providers 
within the county.   
 
Our rates are based on actual figures from Lincolnshire Providers and also take in 
to account the security of placements made by the local authority as opposed to 
self-funded placements which traditionally are at a higher rate. 

From reviewing information provided, this exercise has focused on determining a 

market position, this report and subsequent suggested fees does not establish a 

quality framework and ensuring that outcomes are reached by people using these 

services. Barchester prides itself on being both financially viable and proving a high 

quality service to our residents, this is reflected in our scorings on the independent 

site CareHomes.co.uk and also through all of our CQC reporting 

 

We believe that the proposed rates enable providers to meet the CQC regulations.  
Our commercial team work alongside the sector on a number of initiatives e.g. 
Workforce Development to allow providers to strive for an outstanding rating.   
 
Over the last year we have seen an increase in providers rated as good and 
outstanding.  

Due to success with prevention work in Lincolnshire and other similar areas, we have 

established that when people enter residential and nursing placements, they may 

have delayed admission to the service, but the needs they present with tend to be 

higher, this is a continuing trends and therefore the current state of the market, when 

reviewing fees, does not reflect the change in support needs for people within 

residential and nursing care.  Barchester would like this to be taken into account 

when determining new fee rates. 

 

We recognise that there is a trend for service users to come in to residential care at 
a later stage.  The criteria for standard residential and high dependency has not 
changed and therefore there may be a higher proportion of resident's coming in to 
homes at the higher level.   
 
However, we believe that the High Dependency rate reflects the level of care 
needed for these residents as it based on actual feedback from providers.  The High 
Dependency rate reflects that there has been an increase in care hours over the 
last three years.  In 2015 High dependency residents received approximately 21 
hours of personal care per week and in 2018 this has increased to approximately 24 
hours.  This increase is incorporated in to the rates. 

P
age 247



  

 

Comment Response 

Provider L 

The increasing rise in costs of running, staffing and maintaining a high 
standard of care in our care centres, whilst adhering to the standards 
stipulated in LCC framework and in the Care Quality Commission’s framework 
(KLOES), are making it increasingly difficult and challenging to make a 
reasonable profit for the business.  Your proposed changes, do not appear to 
take in to full account the knock on effect of the increases in NMW and NLW 
which have greatly increased our outgoings.  The increase in Utility bills, food 
costs and consumables have also added to the increase in expenditure. 
 

The figures are based on the returns from Lincolnshire providers and therefore we 
believe that the rates adequately reflect the actual costs incurred by providers.  
 
The model allows for inflation over the next three years using the best estimates of 
the Office for Budget Responsibility.   

We would like explanation on why the personal care rate for nursing is below 
OP HD.  This surely should be the same at least.  Also in your proposals, 
nursing homes do not seem to be getting the required rate.  Could you please 
explain why this is? 
 

The difference in rates is due to respondents to the survey reporting a lower 
number of hours for non-care staff in nursing homes (1.7 hours for nursing 
compared to 2.1 hours for high dependency).  It is unclear why this should be the 
case and the reasons are not reflected by the Kingsbury Hill Fox report.   
 
The Council does not set the FNC rate.  
 
The hours for nurses reflect the responses that we had to the survey. 
 

We would like to raise the question as to why LCC should be able to request 
we determine top up rates for three years, when  these are independent 
businesses. 
 

Top ups apply to residents that are placed under the Council's residential 
framework.  Over the last three years we have experienced some providers 
introducing or increasing top ups which have meant that placements have become 
unaffordable to some residents.  This has created uncertainty and, in some cases, 
has resulted in residents having to move to alternative homes. 
 
We believe that by setting top ups for three years this will enable new residents to 
be secure in their placements. 

Although Ed Baker said at the meeting that there were a lot of homes in 
Lincolnshire who do  not have a top up, we have found it to be necessary to 
supplement the fee rates received from LCC to cover costs in running our care 
centres. 
 

A third party top up can only be put in place where there is a third party willing and 
able to pay the supplement.  If there is no third party willing and able to pay a top 
up then the social worker must either propose an alternative or seek a waiver. 
 
A social worker absolutely cannot put undue pressure on anybody to agree to a 
third party payment  

P
age 248



Our experiences have led us to feel that social workers do not try that hard to 
get the top up if the resident's family say they are unable to pay. 
 

It is concerning that your projection of an increase in demand for beds as 38% 
when there are care homes closing down because they are no longer able to 
sustain them due to increase in costs and fees not increasing in line with this. 
 

Whilst we have seen a number of home closures in the last three years these have 
not all been related to financial issues. We recognise that there has been a decline 
in the number of registered nursing beds and this is down to the difficulties in 
recruiting nurses experienced by the whole sector. 
 
The Council's commissioning team constantly reviews demand projections and is 
actively working on innovative solutions to meet the demands of an aging 
population. 

These are challenging times for everyone, but at the end of the day, surely the 
standard of care and environment is to the fore front, which all costs 
money.  The local authority surely has some responsibility in ensuring that the 
fees- rates they pay are in line with the increase is costs that providers have to 
face.  If profits continue to fall, more and more homes will be forced to close. 
 

The model has an allowance for profit built in.  
 
We believe that the proposed rates enable providers to meet the CQC regulations.  
Our commercial team work alongside the sector on a number of initiatives e.g. 
Workforce Development to allow providers to strive for an outstanding rating.   
 
Over the last year we have seen an increase in providers rated as good and 
outstanding. 

 

Comment Response 

Anonymous 

With regards the fees, I appreciate these are sensitive time and budget and 
constraint pressures however, we are starting from a position of lower fees 
over several year and so whilst the increase may seem high, we are talking from 
a position where historically the increases have been slight. 
 

We believe that the proposed fees reflect the responses received through the 
consultation 

I feel the rate of return of 6% is low as from the number businesses need to pay 
corporation tax at 20% thus reducing any return to 4.8% and then from this 
lower number we need to pay ourselves / head office functions along with 
paying for our buildings so the return is not high enough. 
 
The inflation rate used of CPI at 2% is not really the inflation we actually pay for 
good and service. This is calculated in a way to always be below RPI and will 
naturally be 1% lower due to the way it is calculated. 
 

Current market indicators as published by property advisors Knight Frank suggest that the 
rate of return for care homes is currently 6.3%. This compares to UK 10 year Interest Rate 
Swaps at 1.45% and 30 Year Interest Rate Swaps at 1.90% and current London Inter-
Banking Offered Rates (LIBOR) at 0.79% over 12 months.   Interest Rate Swaps and Libor 
represent low risk investments 
As the Council buys a substantial amount of placements (48% based on the 2017 
Kingsbury Hill Fox Lincolnshire survey) which it has the resources to pay for, this 
significantly reduces the risk to providers businesses and the beneficial impact of this 
should be reflected through a return which reflects a low/medium business risk for 
providers. Further evidence that the sector is not high risk is the lack of providers falling 

P
age 249



into financial distress, with a good balance between Council and self-funded and with the 
predicted demand for care home places remaining buoyant. 
In addition to the position on risk set out above, incorporating the rate of return of 12% 
as quoted in the JRF model into the costs model, risks building into the rate inefficiency as 
there is no incentive on providers to manage cost efficiently.  It also incorporates pure 
profit, as distinct from cost which is what the Council is obliged to have regard to, into the 
model as the operating profit figure used in the calculation includes this. The return on 
capital should reflect all these factors making 6% an appropriate rate. This is consistent 
with some returns elsewhere should the providers choose to sell up and invest elsewhere 
in particular the 6.3% return on the Secondary Healthcare market. 
 
The recommendation is that the Usual Cost should be set for 3 years 2018/19, 2019/20 
and 2020/21. To achieve this work has been done to anticipate how providers’ costs are 
likely to increase in those years rates as a result of inflationary increases based upon: 
 
Staffing Wage Costs- The majority of staffing cost increases are based on an assessment 
of the impact of increases in NMW for workers aged 18-24 and NLW for those aged 25+.   
This calculation also takes the age profile of workers into account, producing an average 
rate increase across all groups.  This results in an inflation increase of 4.62% across all 
work groups (with the exception of managers) in 2019/20 and 4.93% in 2020/21 
 
Non Staffing Costs – These costs are increases by 2% per annum both in 2019/20 and 
2020/21.  These increase was based on predicted inflation targets as published by the 
Office of Budget Responsibility in their report entitled “Economic & fiscal Outlook” dated 
November 2017. 
 
New rates also take into consideration legislative changes to employers pension 
obligations which have now increased to 3% and have been applied in the model from 
18/19 onwards. 

We are seeing real inflation pressures in food, utilities, insurance and a large 
increase in staffing costs with the NMW increasing again further. We are also 
seeing nurse wage inflation running much higher than this and causing 
recruitment issues and problems with higher pay or terms and conditions 
needed. 
 

The model allows for inflation over the next three years using the best estimates of the 
Office for Budget Responsibility.  If there is a significant policy change (such as the 
introduction of the National Living Wage in 2015) we will review the impact on our 
expected costs and amend those rates where necessary. 
 
We recognise the particular challenges faced in recruiting nurses however these are 
funded through NHS England and are therefore outside of our fee setting process. 

I notice there is an enhanced rate but this is rarely used and suggest the social 
care teams start to utilise this rate to allow more scope to differentiate and 

The High Dependency rate is used where applicable.   
 

P
age 250



allow fees to be paid to those that need. Can I ask for a criteria for the enhance 
rate to be shared so we can look to assess our resident group or indeed future 
residents. 
 

A manager can request a review of needs at any time.   
 
The criteria for high dependency has always been included in the contract. 
 
 

 

LINCOLNSHIRE CARE ASSOCIATION FEEDBACK 

LinCA  

The model indicates nursing costs of more than £190.80. To date there is no indication 
that FNC is to increase to this level (if at all), leaving a potential shortfall of £35per bed per 
week before the impact of continually escalating nursing pay rates. 
Whilst nursing costs are not the subject of this contract, this anomaly calls into question 
the sustainability of nursing beds.  
 

It was agreed that LinCA would raise this with system leaders including Glen 
Garrod in his capacity as DASS. 
 

There was also a discrepancy between the costing model which includes 10 hours of 
nursing care per week, and the service specification which requires 2.5 hours per day. 
 

The definition on required nursing hours will be verified to ensure that it aligns 
with the NHS definition of FNC. 

 
Whilst it was acknowledged that there needed to be certainty around the cost to service 
users, LinCA feels that committing to a fixed fee for 3 years is unreasonable, particularly in 
view of the current political uncertainty. We proposed that a link to wage inflation be 
included in this clause.  
The perceived attitude to top-ups within staff arranging placements was also discussed 
and a joint approach to confirming good practice was agreed. 
 

 
The model allows for inflation over the next three years using the best 
estimates of the Office for Budget Responsibility.  If there is a significant policy 
change (such as the introduction of the National Living Wage in 2015) we will 
review the impact on our expected costs and amend those rates where 
necessary. 

We proposed that the emphasis in the clause relating to Toiletries be reversed so that 
service users are encouraged to continue to use the toiletries which they prefer, but 
providers will make them available if needed. 
 

 LinCA agreed to put forward proposed wording for this clause. 

There are a number of clauses in the contract which set out the boundaries of the items 
covered by the fee (eg escorts, activities with an entry charge).  
Providers have indicated that custom and practice does not always match the contractual 
position. 
 

It was agreed that a leaflet for new residents will be co-developed with a wide 
range of stakeholders to set out responsibilities of various parties. 
Included in this leaflet will be the requirement to make personal allowances 
available to individuals to spend as they wish 
 
– in the meantime, providers are asked to refer any instances where this is not 
the case to the social work team. 

P
age 251



It was confirmed that incontinence wear should not be paid for by care 
providers (except CHC funded residents). LCC suggested a number of NHS 
colleagues to contact with regard to long delays in the provision of 
incontinence wear. LinCA to feed back to future liaison meetings on the 
response. 
 

The difficulties in collecting service user contributions was raised – particularly when IFA s 
are delayed and sometimes received post mortem. Lincolnshire is unusual in paying 
providers net and expecting them to collect service user contributions. 
 
 

It was confirmed that the move to gross payments is being considered and a 
paper will be presented to Adult Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee in 
February. Ultimately this is a decision to be taken by Lincolnshire County 
Council members. 
 

A number of issues within the specification were discussed including 
 

1. Care Home Trusted Assessor service to be encouraged rather than contractual as 
this is in keeping with the spirit of the service 

2. Safeguarding Ambassadors to be included as an example of best practice 
3. Clauses mentioning Care Certificate are potentially contradictory 
4. CRB is referred to rather than DBS 

 

 
Agreed to review and amend clauses as necessary to reflect these points 

Whilst the proposed fee structure for the following 3-year period is based on a 
representation of the current situation with an adjustment for the following periods; there 
is some concern the underlying base survey fees are not in themselves fully reflective of a 
stable supply condition. 
 
Looking at staff costs, there is some concern that expressed as a % of total fees; these 
costs cannot in general go above 60% of total fees for this kind of care, in order that 
homes are sustainable 
 
The reason for this are: 

(1) Lenders generally do not accept business models for this kind of care in older 
homes (not brand new large homes – there models often reflect a 50% staff 
costs) when staff costs are not kept to a ratio equal to or lower than 60% of 
income. In order to alter this ratio, either the aggregated fees including top-ups; 
private fees; nursing fees need to be reflected in the proposed fee structure; or 
the hours/resident/week reduced, and these costs moved into an “investment” 
category or other categories. If a care home’s business model is not acceptable 
to lenders, the home is not sustainable. 

(2) The general level of acuity of care of residents and frequency of this occurrence 

On points 1,2 and 3 the Council acknowledge these concerns and while staff 
productivity, use of technology and other investment opportunities are valid 
issues they are not in scope for the cost model per se. The Council intends to 
continue to pursue new initiatives over and above that of the Framework to 
help address these issues. 
 
On point 4, While there may be difference in the ratio of supply and demand 
within Lincolnshire the cost data provided via market research did not 
establish a geographic variance in the costs of delivering care. Where there are 
instances of imbalance in the County the Council intends to address this 
through strategic commissioning activities. 

P
age 252



is increasing, and likely to keep on increasing. 
(3) There is a need for care homes to maintain high investment levels particularly in 

systems which allow for greater productivity of labour; and deliver better safer 
outcomes. Such items may cover, Wi-Fi throughout the building; automatic 
movement sensing beds/devises; the use of acoustic monitoring in residents’ 
rooms where appropriate; the use of cctv in communal areas etc; improved 
moving and handling devices; communication equipment etc. Many care 
providers are concerned that availability of suitable labour is becoming 
increasingly problematic, and this is likely to increase going forward. Therefore, 
staff productivity/costs is a significant concern, which is not reflected in the 
proposed fees. 

(4) There is wide variance across the county in terms of actual fees paid including 
top ups etc; and this is mostly explained by the supply and demand ratios for 
beds varying across the county. The proposed fees reflect areas of the county 
where supply far out strips demands. This situation is also unstable, and a net 
reduction in available beds v demand for those beds is not reflected in this 
proposed pricing model. 

 

 

P
age 253



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Band 1 Band 2 Band 3

Std £859 £686 £599

Smaller £902 £729 £642

Smallest £945 £773 £686

Band 1 Band 2 Band 3

Std £893 £711 £619

Smaller £937 £755 £663

Smallest £980 £799 £707

Band 1 Band 2 Band 3

Std £924 £733 £637

Smaller £969 £778 £682

Smallest £1,013 £823 £727

Unit Rates

Unit Rates

Unit Rates

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

Page 255



Band 1 Band 2 Band 3 Band 1 Band 2 Band 3 Band 1 Band 2 Band 3

Cost per 

Resident per 

Week

Cost per 

Resident per 

Week

Cost per 

Resident per 

Week

Cost per 

Resident per 

Week

Cost per 

Resident per 

Week

Cost per 

Resident per 

Week

Cost per 

Resident per 

Week

Cost per 

Resident per 

Week

Cost per 

Resident per 

Week

Care Assistant Staff Cost per Resident (including activities) £481.95 £310.59 £224.91 £508.09 £327.43 £237.11 £531.56 £342.56 £248.06

Catering, Cleaning and Laundry Staff Cost per Resident £52.97 £52.97 £52.97 £55.42 £55.42 £55.42 £57.98 £57.98 £57.98

Management / Administration / Reception Staff Cost per Resident £34.07 £34.07 £34.07 £35.71 £35.71 £35.71 £36.86 £36.86 £36.86

Agency Staff Addition - Care Assistants £9.64 £6.21 £4.50 £10.16 £6.55 £4.74 £10.63 £6.85 £4.96

Total Unit Staffing Cost £578.64 £403.85 £316.46 £609.38 £425.11 £332.98 £637.04 £444.26 £347.87

Calculated Unit Running Expenses

Food £37.79 £37.79 £37.79 £38.55 £38.55 £38.55 £39.32 £39.32 £39.32

Utilities (gas, oil, electicity, water, telephone) £36.81 £36.81 £36.81 £37.55 £37.55 £37.55 £38.30 £38.30 £38.30

Insurance £4.88 £4.88 £4.88 £4.98 £4.98 £4.98 £5.08 £5.08 £5.08

Medical Supplies £3.16 £3.16 £3.16 £3.22 £3.22 £3.22 £3.29 £3.29 £3.29

Trade & Clinical Waste £3.04 £3.04 £3.04 £3.10 £3.10 £3.10 £3.16 £3.16 £3.16

Registration Fees £1.18 £1.18 £1.18 £1.20 £1.20 £1.20 £1.23 £1.23 £1.23

Domestic Cleaning £3.42 £3.42 £3.42 £3.49 £3.49 £3.49 £3.56 £3.56 £3.56

Recruitment Costs £6.72 £6.72 £6.72 £6.85 £6.85 £6.85 £6.99 £6.99 £6.99

Additional Training Costs £9.82 £9.82 £9.82 £10.02 £10.02 £10.02 £10.22 £10.22 £10.22

Training Backfill £1.14 £0.77 £0.77 £1.16 £0.79 £0.79 £1.19 £0.80 £0.80

Uniforms £0.70 £2.24 £2.24 £0.71 £2.28 £2.28 £0.73 £2.33 £2.33

Bedding £0.82 £3.08 £3.08 £0.84 £3.14 £3.14 £0.85 £3.20 £3.20

Garden Supplies £0.49 £0.30 £0.30 £0.50 £0.31 £0.31 £0.51 £0.31 £0.31

Stationary £1.28 £1.30 £1.30 £1.31 £1.33 £1.33 £1.33 £1.35 £1.35

Subscriptions £0.16 £0.60 £0.60 £0.16 £0.61 £0.61 £0.17 £0.62 £0.62

TV License £0.15 £0.43 £0.43 £0.15 £0.44 £0.44 £0.16 £0.45 £0.45

IT Supplies £2.48 £0.60 £0.60 £2.53 £0.61 £0.61 £2.58 £0.62 £0.62

Motoring £18.36 £18.36 £18.36 £18.73 £18.73 £18.73 £19.10 £19.10 £19.10

Maintenance (Including Contract Maintenance on Equipment) £39.02 £39.02 £39.02 £39.80 £39.80 £39.80 £40.60 £40.60 £40.60

Total Unit Running Expenses (use for Space Premium @ 50%) £171.42 £173.52 £173.52 £174.85 £176.99 £176.99 £178.35 £180.53 £180.53

Total Unit Cost of Capital £108.68 £108.68 £108.68 £108.68 £108.68 £108.68 £108.68 £108.68 £108.68

Total Unit Cost of Providing Care £858.75 £686.06 £598.66 £892.91 £710.79 £618.66 £924.07 £733.47 £637.09

Unit Cost - Standard Home (13+ Residents) £859.00 £686.00 £599.00 £893.00 £711.00 £619.00 £924.00 £733.00 £637.00

Space Premium (Between 7 & 12 Residents) add 25% of Hotel Costs) £43.00 £43.00 £43.00 £44.00 £44.00 £44.00 £45.00 £45.00 £45.00

Unit Costs (Smaller Home) £902.00 £729.00 £642.00 £937.00 £755.00 £663.00 £969.00 £778.00 £682.00

Space Premium (Below7 Residents) add 50% of Hotel Costs) £86.00 £87.00 £87.00 £87.00 £88.00 £88.00 £89.00 £90.00 £90.00

Unit Costs (Smallest Home) £945.00 £773.00 £686.00 £980.00 £799.00 £707.00 £1,013.00 £823.00 £727.00

1:1 Staffing Premium (per hour) £10.71 £11.29 £11.81

Add Additional 1:1 Hours 105 35 35

Total Unit Cost (Standard Home) £1,983.56 £1,810.56 £1,288.18 £1,337.43

Total Unit Cost (Smaller Home) £2,026.56 £1,853.56 £1,332.18 £1,382.43

Total Unit Cost (Smallest Home) £2,069.56 £1,897.56 £1,375.18 £1,426.43

Unit Cost of Capital as % of Running Expenses 14.49% 18.82% 22.18% 13.86% 18.05% 21.31% 13.33% 17.39% 20.57%

Unit Cost of Capital as Profit Proxy 12.65% 15.84% 18.14% 12.17% 15.29% 17.56% 11.76% 14.83% 17.06%

£51.52 £41.16 £35.92 £53.57 £42.65 £37.12 £55.44 £44.01 £38.23

£801.59 £837.81 £870.83

6% 6% 6%

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

P
age 256



Band 1 Band 2 Band 3 Band 1 Band 2 Band 3 Band 1 Band 2 Band 3

Residential Residential Residential Residential Residential Residential Residential Residential Residential

Assumptions
Day Time Ratio 1:3 1:5 1:7 1:1 1:5 1:7 1:1 1:5 1:7

Night Time Ratio 1:5 1:7 1:9 1:3 1:7 1:9 1:3 1:7 1:9

Occupancy Rate

Rate of Return 90% 90% 90% 90% 90% 90% 90% 90% 90%

6% 6% 6% 6% 6% 6% 6% 6% 6%

 

Care Staff

Care Assistant Hours (per resident per week) 45 29 21 45 29 21 45 29 21

NVQ Not Specified 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 3%

Non NVQ2 and above as % of all care assistant hours 10% 10% 10% 10% 10% 10% 10% 10% 10%

NVQ2 and above as % of all care assistant hours 60% 60% 60% 60% 60% 60% 60% 60% 60%

Senior Care Assistant & Team Leader as % of all care assistant hours 22% 22% 22% 22% 22% 22% 22% 22% 22%

Nursing Staff 4% 4% 4% 4% 4% 4% 4% 4% 4%

Other Roles 4% 4% 4% 4% 4% 4% 4% 4% 4%

Care assistants - NVQ2 £7.77 £7.77 £7.77 4.62% £8.13 £8.13 £8.13 4.42% £8.50 £8.50 £8.50

Care assistants Non NVQ £7.77 £7.77 £7.77 4.62% £8.13 £8.13 £8.13 4.42% £8.50 £8.50 £8.50

Senior Care Assistants £9.03 £9.03 £9.03 4.62% £9.45 £9.45 £9.45 4.42% £9.88 £9.88 £9.88

NVQ Not Specified £7.75 £7.75 £7.75 4.62% £8.11 £8.11 £8.11 4.42% £8.48 £8.48 £8.48

Nursing Staff £13.76 £13.76 £13.76 4.62% £14.40 £14.40 £14.40 4.42% £15.06 £15.06 £15.06

Average Hourly Rates Care Staff £8.21 £8.21 £8.21 £8.59 £8.59 £8.59 £8.98 £8.98 £8.98

Working Time Regulations on-cost 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0%

Employer's National Insurance on-cost 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0%

Statutory Sick Pay on-cost 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%

Employer's pension contribution on-cost 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%

Total on-costs 30.5% 30.5% 30.5% 31.5% 31.5% 31.5% 31.5% 31.5% 31.5%

Care assistant staff cost per resident (including Nursing) 481.95 310.59 224.91 508.09 327.43 237.11 531.56 342.56 248.06

% of shifts assumed to be filled by agency staff (care assistants) 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%

Agency staff addition - care assistants 9.64 6.21 4.50 10.16 6.55 4.74 10.63 6.85 4.96

Non Care Staff

Catering 1.6 1.6 1.6 1.6 1.6 1.6 1.6 1.6 1.6

Domestic hours per resident per week 2.8 2.8 2.8 2.8 2.8 2.8 2.8 2.8 2.8

Handyman Hours 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7

Chef/Cooks £7.95 £7.95 £7.95 4.62% £8.32 £8.32 £8.32 4.42% £8.70 £8.70 £8.70

Domestic & Catering Staff £7.95 £7.95 £7.95 4.62% £8.32 £8.32 £8.32 4.42% £8.70 £8.70 £8.70

Handyman £8.03 £8.03 £8.03 4.62% £8.40 £8.40 £8.40 4.42% £8.79 £8.79 £8.79

Working Time Regulations on-cost 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0%

Employer's National Insurance on-cost 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0%

Statutory Sick Pay on-cost 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%

Employer's pension contribution on-cost 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%

Total on-costs 30.5% 30.5% 30.5% 30.5% 30.5% 30.5% 30.5% 30.5% 30.5%

Catering, cleaning and laundry staff cost per resident 52.97 52.97 52.97 55.42 55.42 55.42 57.98 57.98 57.98

Management, & Adminstrative Staff

Manager salary, before on-costs £18.29 £18.29 £18.29 4.62% £19.14 £19.14 £19.14 4.42% £20.02 £20.02 £20.02

Other management, administration, reception salaries, before on-costs £7.82 £7.82 £7.82 £8.23 £8.23 £8.23 £8.23 £8.23 £8.23

Working Time Regulations on-cost 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0%

Employer's National Insurance on-cost 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0%

Statutory Sick Pay on-cost 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%

Employer's pension contribution on-cost 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%

Total on-costs 30.5% 30.5% 30.5% 30.5% 30.5% 30.5% 30.5% 30.5% 30.5%

Management / administration / reception staff cost per resident 34.07 34.07 34.07 35.71 35.71 35.71 36.86 36.86 36.86

Non Staff Items

Food £37.79 £37.79 £37.79 2.00% £38.55 £38.55 £38.55 2.00% £39.32 £39.32 £39.32

Utilities (gas, oil, electicity, water, telephone) £36.81 £36.81 £36.81 2.00% £37.55 £37.55 £37.55 2.00% £38.30 £38.30 £38.30

Insurance £4.88 £4.88 £4.88 2.00% £4.98 £4.98 £4.98 2.00% £5.08 £5.08 £5.08

Medical supplies £3.16 £3.16 £3.16 2.00% £3.22 £3.22 £3.22 2.00% £3.29 £3.29 £3.29

Trade Clinical Waste £3.04 £3.04 £3.04 2.00% £3.10 £3.10 £3.10 2.00% £3.16 £3.16 £3.16

Registration fees £1.18 £1.18 £1.18 2.00% £1.20 £1.20 £1.20 2.00% £1.23 £1.23 £1.23

Domestic Supplies & Cleaning £3.42 £3.42 £3.42 2.00% £3.49 £3.49 £3.49 2.00% £3.56 £3.56 £3.56

Recruitment Costs £6.72 £6.72 £6.72 2.00% £6.85 £6.85 £6.85 2.00% £6.99 £6.99 £6.99

Additional training costs £9.82 £9.82 £9.82 2.00% £10.02 £10.02 £10.02 2.00% £10.22 £10.22 £10.22

Activities £7.35 £7.35 £7.35 2.00% £7.50 £7.50 £7.50 2.00% £7.65 £7.65 £7.65

Training Backfill £1.14 £0.77 £0.77 2.00% £1.16 £0.79 £0.79 2.00% £1.19 £0.80 £0.80

Uniforms £0.70 £2.24 £2.24 2.00% £0.71 £2.28 £2.28 2.00% £0.73 £2.33 £2.33

Bedding £0.82 £3.08 £3.08 2.00% £0.84 £3.14 £3.14 2.00% £0.85 £3.20 £3.20

Garden Supplies £0.49 £0.30 £0.30 2.00% £0.50 £0.31 £0.31 2.00% £0.51 £0.31 £0.31

Stationary £1.28 £1.30 £1.30 2.00% £1.31 £1.33 £1.33 2.00% £1.33 £1.35 £1.35

Subscriptions £0.16 £0.60 £0.60 2.00% £0.16 £0.61 £0.61 2.00% £0.17 £0.62 £0.62

TV License £0.15 £0.43 £0.43 2.00% £0.15 £0.44 £0.44 2.00% £0.16 £0.45 £0.45

IT Supplies £2.48 £0.60 £0.60 2.00% £2.53 £0.61 £0.61 2.00% £2.58 £0.62 £0.62

Transport £18.36 £18.36 £18.36 2.00% £18.73 £18.73 £18.73 2.00% £19.10 £19.10 £19.10

Sub total £139.75 £141.85 £141.85 £142.55 £144.69 £144.69 £145.40 £147.58 £147.58

Maintenance Expenditure

Unit weekly cost Revenue £14.33 £14.33 £14.33 2.00% £14.62 £14.62 £14.62 2.00% £14.91 £14.91 £14.91

Unit weekly cost Capital £21.21 £21.21 £21.21 2.00% £21.63 £21.63 £21.63 2.00% £22.07 £22.07 £22.07

Contract maintenance of equipment £3.48 £3.48 £3.48 2.00% £3.55 £3.55 £3.55 2.00% £3.62 £3.62 £3.62

Sub Total £39.02 £39.02 £39.02 £39.80 £39.80 £39.80 £40.60 £40.60 £40.60

Total Non Staff Items £178.77 £180.87 £180.87 £182.35 £184.49 £184.49 £186.00 £188.18 £188.18

Value of Land & Buildings

Valuation per Room £85,000.00 £85,000.00 £85,000.00 £85,000.00 £85,000.00 £85,000.00 £85,000.00 £85,000.00 £85,000.00

The value of Land & Building are taken from a survey conducted by LCC of the

average valuation of freehold properties in Lincolnshire as advertised in three

web based Property Agents as at 14th February 2012

Unit cost of Land & Building (Rate of Return £108.68 £108.68 £108.68 £108.68 £108.68 £108.68 £108.68 £108.68 £108.68

2019 2.0%

2020 2.0%

NLW/NMW Wage Increase Estimate

19/20 4.62%

20/21 4.42%

Information taken from LD Provider Survey (see "Workings" sheet)

Information taken from 2014 Op Survey and updated for inflation

Information taken from 2016 NLW Composite Rate Calculation

CPI Inflationary Measure (OBR Estimates 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Page 257



Band 1 Band 2 Band 3

Very intensive 

, high levels 

of care, very 

complex 

needs by 

exception

Medium for 

substantial needs

Moderate for 

appreciable 

needs:

1:7 21

1:5 29

1:3 45

SU's Cost per SU Total Cost SU's Cost per SU Total Cost

4 £43.19 £172.76 68 £0.32 £21.76

2 £28.50 £57.00 9 £1.67 £15.03

1 £13.85 £13.85 17 £2.35 £39.95

9 £9.67 £87.03 12 £1.92 £23.04

8 £7.53 £60.24 11 £1.36 £14.96

12 £4.81 £57.72 24 £3.33 £79.92

4 £3.46 £13.84 70 £0.29 £20.30

27 £3.45 £93.15 7 £0.29 £2.03

14 £2.86 £40.04 8 £3.00 £24.00

13 £2.46 £31.98

81 £117.32 £595.63 6 £2.67 £16.02

£7.35

245 £19.66 £288.99

£1.18

SU's Cost per SU Total Cost

4 £146.62 £586.48

9 £28.56 £257.04 SU's Cost per SU Total Cost

12 £14.88 £178.56 9 £3.00 £27.00

27 £4.45 £120.15 17 £5.47 £92.99

2 £51.50 £103.00 12 £2.25 £27.00

8 £12.09 £96.72 24 £3.71 £89.04

11 £4.72 £51.92 13 £7.62 £99.06

1 £21.44 £21.44 70 £0.03 £2.10

4 £4.12 £16.48 13 £8.38 £108.94

6 £8.67 £52.02

78 £288.38 £1,431.79

£18.36 164 £39.13 £498.15

£3.04

Rooms Cost per room Total Cost

28 £42.97 £1,203.16 SU's Cost per SU Total Cost

28 £22.82 £638.96 13 £8.34 £108.42

20 £16.76 £335.20 24 £7.59 £182.16

75 £3.59 £269.25 8 £6.66 £53.28

13 £9.88 £128.44 6 £5.92 £35.52

12 £9.75 £117.00 70 £0.04 £2.80

9 £7.71 £69.39

9 £6.44 £57.96 121 £28.55 £0.00

6 £7.71 £46.26 £0.00

Medical Supplies

Total

Average

Total

Total

Repairs & Maintenance

Registrations

Total

Average

Trade & Clinical Waste

Total Number of Hours

Total

Average

Total

Staffing Ratio

Average

Activities

Average

Transport

P
age 258



200 £127.63 £2,865.62

£14.33

SU's Cost per SU Total Cost

68 £0.65 £44.20

9 £3.00 £27.00

SU's Cost per SU Total Cost 17 £4.88 £82.96

27 £24.10 £650.70 12 £2.17 £26.04

8 £67.28 £538.24 24 £7.69 £184.56

4 £104.00 £416.00 13 £10.77 £140.01

9 £41.89 £377.01 7 £1.11 £7.77

11 £22.97 £252.67

12 £20.60 £247.20 150 £30.27 £512.54

2 £96.75 £193.50 £3.42

14 44.94 £629.16

6 34.98 £209.88

93 £457.51 £3,514.36 SU's Cost per SU Total Cost

£37.79 13 £43.54 £566.02

6 £43.50 £261.00

11 £4.55 £50.05

13 £3.23 £41.99

SU's Cost per SU Total Cost 7 £1.86 £13.02

4 £83.62 £334.48 7 £1.71 £11.97

8 £70.48 £563.84 24 £1.46 £35.04

2 £62.50 £125.00 68 £0.32 £21.76

9 £40.00 £360.00

11 £35.41 £389.51 149 £100.17 £1,000.85

1 £34.85 £34.85 £6.72

27 £29.75 £803.25

12 £19.23 £230.76

4 £7.43 £29.72

SU's Cost per SU Total Cost

78 £383.27 £2,871.41 6 £52.83 £316.98

£36.81 13 £52.77 £686.01

11 £6.36 £69.96

7 £2.43 £17.01

7 £2.14 £14.98

SU's Cost per SU Total Cost 70 £0.21 £14.70

13 £15.63 £203.19

6 £13.99 £83.94 114 £116.74 £1,119.64

17 £11.00 £187.00 £9.82

9 £4.44 £39.96

12 £3.33 £39.96

7 £1.70 £11.90

7 £1.70 £11.90

68 £1.29 £87.72

11 £6.05 £66.55

150 £59.13 £732.12

£4.88

Average

Total

Utilities

Recruitment

Total

Domestic Supplies & Cleaning

Average

Average

Training

Total

Total

Food

Average

Average

Insurance

Average

Total

Total

Average

P
age 259



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Residential Nursing
High 

Dependency
Residential Nursing

High 

Dependency
Residential Nursing

High 

Dependency

Cost per 

Resident per 

Week

Cost per 

Resident per 

Week

Cost per 

Resident per 

Week

Cost per 

Resident per 

Week

Cost per 

Resident per 

Week

Cost per 

Resident per 

Week

Cost per 

Resident per 

Week

Cost per 

Resident per 

Week

Cost per 

Resident per 

Week

Qualified Nurse Staff Cost per Resident £190.89 £194.27 £196.22

Care Assistant Staff Cost per Resident (including activities) £211.54 £247.66 £247.66 £223.01 £261.08 £261.08 £234.00 £273.95 £273.95

Catering, Cleaning and Laundry Staff Cost per Resident £76.85 £76.85 £89.01 £81.02 £81.02 £93.83 £85.01 £85.01 £98.46

Management / Administration / Reception Staff Cost per Resident £20.43 £19.31 £19.31 £21.54 £20.35 £20.35 £22.60 £21.35 £21.35

Agency Staff Addition - Nurses £0.00 £4.77 £0.00 £0.00 £4.86 £0.00 £0.00 £4.91 £0.00

Agency Staff Addition - Care Assistants £4.23 £4.95 £4.95 £4.46 £5.22 £5.22 £4.68 £5.48 £5.48

Total Unit Staffing Cost £313.05 £544.43 £360.93 £330.02 £566.80 £380.49 £346.29 £586.92 £399.25

Calculated Unit Running Expenses

Food £25.37 £25.37 £25.37 £25.88 £25.88 £25.88 £26.39 £26.39 £26.39

Utilities (gas, oil, electicity, water, telephone) £22.06 £22.06 £22.06 £22.50 £22.50 £22.50 £22.95 £22.95 £22.95

Insurance £2.86 £2.86 £2.86 £2.92 £2.92 £2.92 £2.98 £2.98 £2.98

Medical supplies £2.17 £7.77 £2.17 £2.21 £7.93 £2.21 £2.26 £8.08 £2.26

Domestic, cleaning, PPE, Uniform, clinical & trade waste, Moring, TV, Outings £7.19 £7.95 £7.19 £7.33 £8.11 £7.33 £7.48 £8.27 £7.48

Registration fees £3.45 £3.55 £3.45 £3.52 £3.62 £3.52 £3.59 £3.69 £3.59

Recruitment Costs £2.96 £2.96 £2.96 £3.02 £3.02 £3.02 £3.08 £3.08 £3.08

Training £3.40 £3.92 £3.40 £3.47 £4.00 £3.47 £3.54 £4.08 £3.54

Marketing £4.06 £4.06 £4.06 £4.14 £4.14 £4.14 £4.22 £4.22 £4.22

Sundries £5.69 £5.69 £5.69 £5.80 £5.80 £5.80 £5.92 £5.92 £5.92

Other Equipment Hire £2.75 £3.22 £2.75 £2.81 £3.28 £2.81 £2.86 £3.35 £2.86

Maintenance (Including Contract Maintenance on Equipment) £29.47 £29.47 £29.47 £29.63 £29.63 £29.63 £30.22 £30.22 £30.22

Total Unit Running Expenses £111.43 £118.88 £111.43 £113.23 £120.83 £113.23 £115.49 £123.25 £115.49

Total Unit Cost of Capital £58.82 £58.82 £58.82 £58.82 £58.82 £58.82 £58.82 £58.82 £58.82

Nursing Element £0.00 -£190.89 £0.00 £0.00 -£194.27 £0.00 £0.00 -£196.22 £0.00

Total Unit Cost of Providing Care £483.30 £531.24 £531.18 £502.07 £552.17 £552.53 £520.60 £572.76 £573.56

Usual Cost £483.00 £531.00 £531.00 £502.00 £552.00 £553.00 £521.00 £573.00 £574.00

Inflation Increase 5.92% 9.48% 6.84% 3.87% 3.91% 4.11% 3.78% 3.80% 3.80%

£722.12 £746.45 £768.98

£722.00 £746.00 £769.00

Care Group 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

OP Std. Res £456.00 £483.00 £502.00 £521.00

OP Nursing £485.00 £531.00 £552.00 £573.00

OP HD £497.00 £531.00 £553.00 £574.00

PD Std. £588.00 £623.00 £647.00 £671.00

MH Std. £475.00 £503.00 £522.00 £542.00

MH Nursing £485.00 £531.00 £552.00 £573.00

2018/19

Calculated Unit Staffing Costs

2019/20 2020/21

P
age 261



Residential Nursing High Dependency Inlation Residential Nursing High Dependency Inlation Residential Nursing High Dependency

Assumptions

Occupancy Rate 90% 89% 90% 90% 89% 90% 90% 89% 90%

Rate of Return 6% 6% 6% 6% 6% 6% 6% 6% 6%

Nursing Pay

Qualified Nurse Hours (per resident per week) 10.0 0.0 10.0 0.0 0.0 10.0 0.0

Qualified Nurses £14.63 2.00% £0.00 £14.78 £0.00 2.00% £0.00 £14.92 £0.00

Working Time Directive on-cost 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0%

Employer's National Insurance on-cost 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0%

Statutory Sick Pay on-cost 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%

Employer's pension contribution on-cost 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%

Total on-costs 30.5% 30.5% 30.5% 31.5% 31.5% 31.5% 31.5% 31.5% 31.5%

Qualified nurse staff cost per resident (excludes supernumerary managers) 0.00 190.89 0.00 0.00 194.27 0.00 0.00 196.22 0.00

% of shifts assumed to be filled by agency staff (nurses) 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5%

Agency staff addition - nurses 0.00 4.77 0.00 0.00 4.86 0.00 0.00 4.91 0.00

 

Care Staff

Care Assistant Hours (per resident per week) 20.5 24 24 20.5 24 24 20.5 24 24

Non NVQ2 and above as % of all care assistant hours 64% 64% 64% 64% 64% 64% 64% 64% 64%

NVQ2 and above as % of all care assistant hours 13% 13% 13% 13% 13% 13% 13% 13% 13%

Senior Care Worker 15% 15% 15% 15% 15% 15% 15% 15% 15%

Activities Staff 8% 8% 8% 8% 8% 8% 8% 8% 8%

Care assistants - NVQ2 £7.77 £7.77 £7.77 4.62% £8.13 £8.13 £8.13 4.93% £8.53 £8.53 £8.53

Care assistants Non NVQ £7.83 £7.83 £7.83 4.62% £8.19 £8.19 £8.19 4.93% £8.60 £8.60 £8.60

Senior Care Assistants £8.44 £8.44 £8.44 4.62% £8.83 £8.83 £8.83 4.93% £9.27 £9.27 £9.27

Activities Staff £7.77 £7.77 £7.77 4.62% £8.13 £8.13 £8.13 4.93% £8.53 £8.53 £8.53

Average Hourly Rates Care Staff £7.91 £7.91 £7.91 £8.27 £8.27 £8.27 £8.68 £8.68 £8.68

Working Time Regulations on-cost 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0%

Employer's National Insurance on-cost 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0%

Statutory Sick Pay on-cost 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%

Employer's pension contribution on-cost 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%

Total on-costs 30.5% 30.5% 30.5% 31.5% 31.5% 31.5% 31.5% 31.5% 31.5%

Care assistant staff cost per resident (including activities) 211.54 247.66 247.66 223.01 261.08 261.08 234.00 273.95 273.95

% of shifts assumed to be filled by agency staff (care assistants) 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%

Agency staff addition - care assistants 4.23 4.95 4.95 4.46 5.22 5.22 4.68 5.48 5.48

Non Care Staff

Catering Hours 2.2 2.2 2.1 2.2 2.2 2.1 2.2 2.2 2.1

Domestic hours per resident per week 2.5 2.5 3.2 2.5 2.5 3.2 2.5 2.5 3.2

Handyman Hours 1.2 1.2 1.3 1.2 1.2 1.3 1.2 1.2 1.3

Housekeeper 1.4 1.4 1.9 1.4 1.4 1.9 1.4 1.4 1.9

Chef/Cooks £8.51 £8.51 £8.51 4.62% £8.90 £8.90 £8.90 4.93% £9.34 £9.34 £9.34

Domestic & Catering Staff £7.77 £7.77 £7.77 4.62% £8.13 £8.13 £8.13 4.93% £8.53 £8.53 £8.53

Handyman £8.16 £8.16 £8.16 4.62% £8.54 £8.54 £8.54 4.93% £8.96 £8.96 £8.96

Housekeeper £7.83 £7.83 £7.83 4.62% £8.19 £8.19 £8.19 4.93% £8.60 £8.60 £8.60

Working Time Regulations on-cost 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0%

Employer's National Insurance on-cost 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0%

Statutory Sick Pay on-cost 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%

Employer's pension contribution on-cost 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%

Total on-costs 30.5% 30.5% 30.5% 31.5% 31.5% 31.5% 31.5% 31.5% 31.5%

Catering, cleaning and laundry staff cost per resident 76.85 76.85 89.01 81.02 81.02 93.83 85.01 85.01 98.46

Management, & Adminstrative Staff

Adminstration Hours 1.0 0.9 0.9 1.0 0.9 0.9 1.0 0.9 0.9

Reception Hours 0.9 0.9 0.9 0.9 0.9 0.9 0.9 0.9 0.9

Management Hours 1.0 0.9 0.9 1.0 0.9 0.9 1.0 0.9 0.9

Manager £18.61 £18.61 £18.61 2.00% £18.98 £18.98 £18.98 2.00% £19.36 £19.36 £19.36

Adminstration Staff £8.61 £8.61 £8.61 4.62% £9.01 £9.01 £9.01 4.93% £9.45 £9.45 £9.45

Reception Staff £7.83 £7.83 £7.83 4.62% £8.19 £8.19 £8.19 4.93% £8.60 £8.60 £8.60

Working Time Regulations on-cost 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0%

Employer's National Insurance on-cost 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 12.0%

Statutory Sick Pay on-cost 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%

Employer's pension contribution on-cost 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%

Total on-costs 30.5% 30.5% 30.5% 31.5% 31.5% 31.5% 31.5% 31.5% 31.5%

Management / administration / reception staff cost per resident per week 20.43 19.31 19.31 21.54 20.35 20.35 22.60 21.35 21.35

Non Staff Items

Food £25.37 £25.37 £25.37 2.00% £25.88 £25.88 £25.88 2.00% £26.39 £26.39 £26.39

Utilities (gas, oil, electicity, water, telephone) £22.06 £22.06 £22.06 2.00% £22.50 £22.50 £22.50 2.00% £22.95 £22.95 £22.95

Insurance £2.86 £2.86 £2.86 2.00% £2.92 £2.92 £2.92 2.00% £2.98 £2.98 £2.98

Medical supplies £2.17 £7.77 £2.17 2.00% £2.21 £7.93 £2.21 2.00% £2.26 £8.08 £2.26

Domestic, cleaning, PPE, Uniform, clinical & trade waste, Motoring, TV, Outings £7.19 £7.95 £7.19 2.00% £7.33 £8.11 £7.33 2.00% £7.48 £8.27 £7.48

Registration fees £3.45 £3.55 £3.45 2.00% £3.52 £3.62 £3.52 2.00% £3.59 £3.69 £3.59

Recruitment Costs £2.96 £2.96 £2.96 2.00% £3.02 £3.02 £3.02 2.00% £3.08 £3.08 £3.08

Training £3.40 £3.92 £3.40 2.00% £3.47 £4.00 £3.47 2.00% £3.54 £4.08 £3.54

Marketing £4.06 £4.06 £4.06 2.00% £4.14 £4.14 £4.14 2.00% £4.22 £4.22 £4.22

Sundries £5.69 £5.69 £5.69 2.00% £5.80 £5.80 £5.80 2.00% £5.92 £5.92 £5.92

Other Equipment Hire £2.75 £3.22 £2.75 2.00% £2.81 £3.28 £2.81 2.00% £2.86 £3.35 £2.86

Sub total £81.96 £89.41 £81.96 £83.60 £91.20 £83.60 £85.27 £93.02 £85.27

Maintenance Expenditure

Unit weekly cost Revenue £8.65 £8.65 £8.65 2.00% £8.65 £8.65 £8.65 2.00% £8.82 £8.82 £8.82

Unit weekly cost Capital £12.80 £12.80 £12.80 2.00% £12.80 £12.80 £12.80 2.00% £13.06 £13.06 £13.06

Contract maintenance of equipment £8.02 £8.02 £8.02 2.00% £8.18 £8.18 £8.18 2.00% £8.34 £8.34 £8.34

Sub Total £29.47 £29.47 £29.47 £29.63 £29.63 £29.63 £30.22 £30.22 £30.22

Total Non Staff Items £111.43 £118.88 £111.43 £113.23 £120.83 £113.23 £115.49 £123.25 £115.49

Value of Land & Buildings

Valuation per Room £46,000.00 £46,000.00 £46,000.00 £46,000.00 £46,000.00 £46,000.00 £46,000.00 £46,000.00 £46,000.00

The value of Land & Building are taken from a survey conducted by LCC of the

average valuation of freehold properties in Lincolnshire as advertised in three

web based Property Agents as at 14th February 2012

Unit cost of Land & Building (Rate of Return £58.82 £58.82 £58.82 £58.82 £58.82 £58.82 £58.82 £58.82 £58.82

£483.30 £722.12 £531.18 £502.07 £746.45 £552.53 £520.60 £768.98 £573.56

2019 2.0%

2020 2.0%

NLW/NMW Wage Increase Estimate

19/20 4.62%

20/21 4.42%

2018/19 2019/20

CPI Inflationary Measure (OBR Estimates 

2020/21

P
age 262



National Data set <24 % NMW/NLW Rates 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21

18 to 19 9% 18 to 20 £5.30 £5.60 £5.76 £5.87 £5.99

20 to 24 91% 21 to 24 £6.70 £7.05 £7.25 £7.40 £7.54

25+ £7.20 £7.50 £7.90 £8.30 £8.75

Care Worker Total % New Rate 16/17 New Rate 17/18 New Rate 18/19 New Rate 19/20 New Rate 20/21 Care Worker Total % New Rate

<24 1359 16% <24 98 19%

18 to 19 122 1% 18 to 19 9 2%

20 to 24 1237 15% 20 to 24 89 17%

25+ 7140 84% 25+ 413 81%

Total 8499 100% £7.10 £7.41 £7.77 £8.13 £8.53 Total 511 100% £7.08

Senior Care Worker Total % New Rate 16/17 New Rate 17/18 New Rate 18/19 New Rate 19/20 New Rate 20/21 Senior Care Worker Total % New Rate

<24 25 9% <24 0 0%

18 to 19 2 1% 18 to 19 0

20 to 24 23 9% 20 to 24 0

25+ 241 91% 25+ 33 100%

Total 266 100% £7.14 £7.45 £7.83 £8.20 £8.20 Total 33 100% £7.20

Other Care Role Total % New Rate 16/17 New Rate 17/18 New Rate 18/19 New Rate 19/20 New Rate 20/21 Total Total % New Rate

<24 9 10% <24 98 18%

18 to 19 1 1% 18 to 19 9 2%

20 to 24 8 9% 20 to 24 89 16%

25+ 83 90% 25+ 446 82%

Total 92 100% £7.14 £7.44 £7.82 £8.19 £8.62 Total 544 100% £7.09

Total Total % New Rate 16/17 New Rate 17/18 New Rate 18/19 New Rate 19/20 New Rate 20/21

<24 1393 16%

18 to 19 125 1%

20 to 24 1268 14%

25+ 7464 84%

Total 8857 100% £7.10 £7.41 £7.78 £8.14 £8.54

Care Worker Total % New Rate 16/17 New Rate 17/18 New Rate 18/19 New Rate 19/20 New Rate 20/21 Care Worker Total % New Rate

<24 1895 20% <24 739 23%

18 to 19 171 2% 18 to 19 67 2%

20 to 24 1724 18% 20 to 24 672 21%

25+ 7608 80% 25+ 2531 77%

Total 9503 100% £7.08 £7.38 £7.74 £8.09 £8.48 Total 3270 100% £7.06

Senior Care Worker Total % New Rate 16/17 New Rate 17/18 New Rate 18/19 New Rate 19/20 New Rate 20/21 Senior Care Worker Total % New Rate

<24 104 6% <24 43 9%

18 to 19 9 1% 18 to 19 4 1%

20 to 24 95 6% 20 to 24 39 8%

25+ 1574 94% 25+ 449 91%

Total 1678 100% £7.16 £7.46 £7.85 £8.24 £8.67 Total 492 100% £7.14

Activities Coordinator Total % New Rate 16/17 New Rate 17/18 New Rate 18/19 New Rate 19/20 New Rate 20/21 Activities Coordinator Total % New Rate

<24 19 10% <24 3 20%

18 to 19 2 1% 18 to 19 0 0%

20 to 24 17 9% 20 to 24 3 20%

25+ 163 90% 25+ 12 80%

Total 182 100% £7.13 £7.44 £7.82 £8.19 £8.61 Total 15 100% £7.10

Domiciliary Sector Roles OP CSL Roles LD

Residential Sector Roles OP Residential Sector Roles LD

P
age 263



Administrative / office staff Total % New Rate 16/17 New Rate 17/18 New Rate 18/19 New Rate 19/20 New Rate 20/21 Administrative / office staff Total % New Rate

<24 34 9% <24 10 15%

18 to 19 3 1% 18 to 19 1 2%

20 to 24 31 8% 20 to 24 9 14%

25+ 341 91% 25+ 56 85%

Total 375 100% £7.14 £7.45 £7.83 £8.21 £8.63 Total 66 100% £7.10

Ancillary Staff Total % New Rate 16/17 New Rate 17/18 New Rate 18/19 New Rate 19/20 New Rate 20/21 Ancillary Staff Total % New Rate

<24 447 12% <24 32 9%

18 to 19 40 1% 18 to 19 3 1%

20 to 24 407 11% 20 to 24 29 8%

25+ 3238 88% 25+ 313 91%

Total 3685 100% £7.12 £7.43 £7.80 £8.17 £8.59 Total 345 100% £7.14

Total Total % New Rate 16/17 New Rate 17/18 New Rate 18/19 New Rate 19/20 New Rate 20/21 Total Total % New Rate

<24 2499 28% <24 827 9%

18 to 19 225 1% 18 to 19 75 2%

20 to 24 2274 15% 20 to 24 752 18%

25+ 12924 84% 25+ 3361 80%

Total 15423 100% £7.10 £7.41 £7.77 £8.13 £8.53 Total 4188 100% £7.08

4.96% 4.61% 4.93%

P
age 264



Survey taken on 24 October 2017 Area County Cost Registered Places Price Per Place

East Midlands Lincolnshire £1,100,000 23 47826.09

East Midlands Nottinghamshire £500,000 8 62500.00

Eastern England Cambridgeshire £1,800,000 29 62068.97

Yorkshire & Humber East Riding £699,950 20 34997.50

Carehome.co.uk

East Midlands Lincolnshire £420,000 10 42000.00

East Midlands Lincolnshire £575,000 16 35937.50

East Midlands Lincolnshire £500,000 12 41666.67

East Midlands Leicestershire £500,000 12 41666.67

East Midlands Derbyshire £1,150,000 26 44230.77

East Midlands Derbyshire £795,000 20 39750.00

Yorkshire & Humber East Riding £1,550,000 59 26271.19

Yorkshire & Humber East Riding £1,425,000 25 57000.00

Yorkshire & Humber East Riding £700,000 21 33333.33

Eastern England Norfolk £720,000 20 36000.00

Yorkshire & Humber North Yorkshire £695,000 17 40882.35

Yorkshire & Humber North Yorkshire £535,000 11 48636.36

East Midlands Northamptonshire £675,000 26 25961.54

East Midlands Northamptonshire £1,050,000 26 40384.62

East Midlands Nottinghamshire £1,400,000 30 46666.67

East Midlands Nottinghamshire £1,200,000 14 85714.29

Yorkshire & Humber South Yorkshire £1,400,000 19 73684.21

Yorkshire & Humber South Yorkshire £1,100,000 22 50000.00

Yorkshire & Humber South Yorkshire £4,000,000 50 80000.00

West Midlands Warwickshire £900,000 7 128571.43

West Midlands Unspecified £1,300,000 24 54166.67

West Midlands Unspecified £1,400,000 29 48275.86

West Midlands Unspecified £1,450,000 33 43939.39

West Midlands Unspecified £2,250,000 29 77586.21

West Midlands Unspecified £540,000 21 25714.29

West Midlands Unspecified £975,000 20 48750.00

West Midlands Unspecified £2,000,000 20 100000.00

East Midlands Unspecified £790,000 20 39500.00

Eastern England Unspecified £590,000 25 23600.00

West Midlands Unspecified £1,250,000 26 48076.92

East Midlands Northamptonshire £675,000 26 25961.54

East Midlands Unspecified £1,050,000 26 40384.62

West Midlands Unspecified £595,000 21 28333.33

East Midlands Unspecified £1,500,000 30 50000.00

East Midlands Nottinghamshire £1,500,000 39 38461.54

West Midlands Unspecified £1,850,000 47 39361.70

West Midlands Birmingham £1,250,000 26 48076.92

Yorkshire & Humber South Yorkshire £2,000,000 60 33333.33

Yorkshire & Humber Unspecified £1,180,000 28 42142.86

Yorkshire & Humber Unspecified £1,495,000 38 39342.11

East Midlands Unspecified £1,100,000 23 47826.09

East Midlands Derbyshire £1,150,000 26 44230.77

West Midlands Unspecified £1,900,000 37 51351.35

County Number of Home Average Value per Registered Place

Lincolnshire 4 41857.56

Nottinghamshire 4 58335.62

Leicestershire 1 41666.67

South Yorkshire 4 59254.39

East Riding 4 37900.50

Derbyshire 3 42737.18

North Yorkshire 2 44759.36

Birmingham 1 48076.92

Cambridgeshire 1 62068.97

Northamptonshire 3 30769.23

Warwickshire 1 128571.43

Norfolk 1 36000.00

Unspecified 18 47130.63

Total 47 48173.74

Yorkshire & Humber 12 46635.27

West Midlands 13 57092.62

East Midlands 19 44245.75

Eastern England 3 40556.32

Total 47 48173.74

P
age 265



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Survey taken on 24 October 2017 Area County Cost Registered Places Price Per Place

East Midlands Lincolnshire £1,100,000 23 47826.09

East Midlands Nottinghamshire £500,000 8 62500.00

Eastern England Cambridgeshire £1,800,000 29 62068.97

Yorkshire & Humber East Riding £699,950 20 34997.50

Carehome.co.uk

East Midlands Lincolnshire £420,000 10 42000.00

East Midlands Lincolnshire £575,000 16 35937.50

East Midlands Lincolnshire £500,000 12 41666.67

East Midlands Leicestershire £500,000 12 41666.67

East Midlands Derbyshire £1,150,000 26 44230.77

East Midlands Derbyshire £795,000 20 39750.00

Yorkshire & Humber East Riding £1,425,000 25 57000.00

Yorkshire & Humber East Riding £700,000 21 33333.33

Eastern England Norfolk £720,000 20 36000.00

Yorkshire & Humber North Yorkshire £695,000 17 40882.35

Yorkshire & Humber North Yorkshire £535,000 11 48636.36

East Midlands Northamptonshire £1,050,000 26 40384.62

East Midlands Nottinghamshire £1,400,000 30 46666.67

East Midlands Nottinghamshire £1,200,000 14 85714.29

Yorkshire & Humber South Yorkshire £1,400,000 19 73684.21

Yorkshire & Humber South Yorkshire £1,100,000 22 50000.00

Yorkshire & Humber South Yorkshire £4,000,000 50 80000.00

West Midlands Unspecified £1,300,000 24 54166.67

West Midlands Unspecified £1,400,000 29 48275.86

West Midlands Unspecified £1,450,000 33 43939.39

West Midlands Unspecified £2,250,000 29 77586.21

West Midlands Unspecified £975,000 20 48750.00

East Midlands Unspecified £790,000 20 39500.00

West Midlands Unspecified £1,250,000 26 48076.92

East Midlands Unspecified £1,050,000 26 40384.62

East Midlands Unspecified £1,500,000 30 50000.00

East Midlands Nottinghamshire £1,500,000 39 38461.54

West Midlands Unspecified £1,850,000 47 39361.70

West Midlands Birmingham £1,250,000 26 48076.92

Yorkshire & Humber South Yorkshire £2,000,000 60 33333.33

Yorkshire & Humber Unspecified £1,180,000 28 42142.86

Yorkshire & Humber Unspecified £1,495,000 38 39342.11

East Midlands Unspecified £1,100,000 23 47826.09

East Midlands Derbyshire £1,150,000 26 44230.77

West Midlands Unspecified £1,900,000 37 51351.35

County Number of Home Average Value per Registered Place

Lincolnshire 4 41857.56

Nottinghamshire 4 58335.62

Leicestershire 1 41666.67

South Yorkshire 4 59254.39

East Riding 3 41776.94

Derbyshire 3 42737.18

North Yorkshire 2 44759.36

Birmingham 1 48076.92

Cambridgeshire 1 62068.97

Northamptonshire 1 40384.62

Norfolk 1 36000.00

Unspecified 14 47907.41

Total 39 48198.78

Yorkshire & Humber 11 48486.55

West Midlands 9 51065.00

East Midlands 17 46396.84

Eastern England 2 49034.48

Total 39 48198.78

Page 267



This page is intentionally left blank



Survey taken on 24 October 2017 Area County Cost Registered Places Price Per Place

Carehome.co.uk East Midlands Nottinghamshire £500,000 8 62500.00

East Midlands Lincolnshire £750,000 16 46875.00

East Midlands Leicestershire £975,000 10 97500.00

East Midlands Derbyshire £1,000,000 5 200000.00

East Midlands Derbyshire £700,000 5 140000.00

Yorkshire & Humber East Riding £550,000 10 55000.00

Eastern England Norfolk £850,000 15 56666.67

Eastern England Norfolk £950,000 14 67857.14

East Midlands Northamptonshire £1,200,000 11 109090.91

East Midlands Nottinghamshire £950,000 17 55882.35

East Midlands Nottinghamshire £500,000 8 62500.00
Yorkshire & Humber South Yorkshire £475,000 4 118750.00

Eastern England Cambridgeshire £790,000 7 112857.14

West Midlands Unspecified £1,850,000 10 185000.00

County Number of Home Average Value per Registered Place

Lincolnshire 1 46875.00

Nottinghamshire 3 60294.12

Leicestershire 1 97500.00

South Yorkshire 1 118750.00

East Riding 1 55000.00

Derbyshire 2 170000.00

Northamptonshire 1 109090.91

Norfolk 2 62261.90

Unspecified 1 185000.00

Total 13 97891.37

Yorkshire & Humber 2 86875.00

West Midlands 1 185000.00

East Midlands 8 96793.53

Eastern England 3 79126.98

Total 14 97891.37

P
age 269



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Survey taken on 24 October 2017 Area County Cost Registered Places Price Per Place

Carehome.co.uk East Midlands Nottinghamshire £500,000 8 62500.00

East Midlands Leicestershire £975,000 10 97500.00

East Midlands Derbyshire £700,000 5 140000.00

Yorkshire & Humber East Riding £550,000 10 55000.00

Eastern England Norfolk £850,000 15 56666.67

Eastern England Norfolk £950,000 14 67857.14

East Midlands Northamptonshire £1,200,000 11 109090.91

East Midlands Nottinghamshire £950,000 17 55882.35

East Midlands Nottinghamshire £500,000 8 62500.00
Yorkshire & Humber South Yorkshire £475,000 4 118750.00

Buyacarehome.com Eastern England Cambridgeshire £790,000 7 112857.14

County Number of Home Average Value per Registered Place

Nottinghamshire 3 60294.12

Leicestershire 1 97500.00

South Yorkshire 1 118750.00

Cambridgeshire 1 112857.14

East Riding 1 55000.00

Derbyshire 1 140000.00

Northamptonshire 1 109090.91

Norfolk 2 62261.90

Total 11 85327.66

Yorkshire & Humber 2 86875.00

East Midlands 6 87912.21

Eastern England 3 79126.98

Total 11 85327.66

P
age 271



T
his page is intentionally left blank



                        
Policy and Scrutiny 

 

Open Report on behalf of Glen Garrod 
Executive Director of Adult Care and Community Wellbeing 

 

Report to: 
Adult Care and Community Wellbeing Scrutiny 
Committee 

Date: 14 February 2018 

Subject: 
Report by the Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman 

Decision Reference:   Key decision? No   

 

Summary:  

This Report attaches a report which will be considered by the Executive at its 
meeting on 6 March 2018.  The report to Executive sets out the Report and 
outcome of an investigation by the Local Government Ombudsman into 
allegations of maladministration in the exercise of Adult Care functions. 
 
The Executive at its meeting will formally receive the Ombudsman's Report on 
behalf of the Council and consider the recommendations of the Ombudsman 
and the actions taken and proposed to be taken by the Council under the Local 
Government Act 1974. 
 
This Report seeks the views of the Committee prior to Executive consideration 
of the report. 
 

Actions Required: 

(1) To consider the attached report and to determine whether the Committee 
supports the recommendations to the Executive set out in the report.   

 
(2) To agree any additional comments to be passed to the Executive in 

relation to this item. 
 

 
1. Background
 
1.1 The Local Government Ombudsman has power under the Local Government 

Act 1974 to investigate and issue Reports concerning allegations of 
maladministration or service failure.   

 
1.2 The Ombudsman has issued the Report attached at Appendix A to the 

attached Executive Report following an allegation of maladministration by the 
Council in the exercise of its adult social care functions.  The Ombudsman 
has concluded that the Council was guilty of maladministration and that this 
caused injustice to the complainant.  The Ombudsman has issued a public 
report and included recommendations that he considers would be necessary 
to remedy the injustice in this particular case and more widely. 

Page 273

Agenda Item 6



 
1.3 The Report is issued under section 31 of the 1974 Act.  As a result the Report 

must be made public by the Council and placed before the Council so that it 
can consider the report and notify the Ombudsman of any action taken or 
proposed to be taken by the Council in response. 

 
1.4 At its meeting on 15th December 2017 the full Council approved an 

amendment to the Constitution under which responding to an Ombudsman's 
report would be an executive function where the finding of maladministration 
was in respect of an executive function.  The findings of the Ombudsman in 
this case relate to an executive function.  Accordingly the Executive has the 
authority to determine the response to the Ombudsman's findings, the 
functions in question falling within the Executive's area of responsibility. 

 
2. Conclusion
 
Following consideration of the attached report, the Committee is requested to 
consider whether it supports the recommendations in the report and whether it 
wishes to make any additional comments to the Executive.  The Committee’s views 
will be reported to the Executive .   
 
 
3. Consultation 

 
The Adult Care and Community Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee is being consulted 
on a proposed decision by the Executive.  The comments of the Committee will be 
reported to the Executive. 
 
4. Appendices 

 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix 1 
 

Executive Report 
 

 

5. Background Papers 
 
No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
were used in the preparation of this report. 
 
 

This report was written by Carolyn Nice, Assistant Director AFLTC                                   
who can be contacted on 01522 553762  or carolyn.nice@lincolnshire.gov.uk. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 274



APPENDIX 1 

 

 
Executive  

 

  Open Report on behalf of Glen Garrod, Executive Director for Adult Care 
and Community Wellbeing and Richard Wills, Monitoring Officer 

 

Report to: Executive 

Date: 6 March 2018 

Subject: 
Report by the Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman  

Decision Reference:  

Key decision?   No 
 

Summary:  

To report to the Executive the Report and outcome of an investigation by the 
Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman ("the Ombudsman") into 
allegations of maladministration and for the Executive to receive the 
Ombudsman's Report on behalf of the Council and consider the 
recommendations of the Ombudsman and the actions taken and proposed to be 
taken by the Council under the Local Government Act 1974. 
 
In addition this Report fulfils the Monitoring Officer's statutory responsibility under 
section 5A of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 to report to the full 
Executive instances of maladministration in the exercise of executive functions 
identified as a result of an Ombudsman's investigation.  On receipt of the 
Monitoring Officer's Report the Executive must consider the Report and determine 
(a) what action (if any) the executive has taken or proposes to take in response to 
the report, (b) when it will take any proposed action and  (c)  the reasons for 
taking the action or, as the case may be, for taking no action. 

 

Recommendation(s): 

 That the Executive:- 
 
1 Receives and considers this Report and the Report of the Ombudsman 

attached at Appendix A 
 
2  Notes and affirms the actions already taken to address the concerns set 

out in the Ombudsman's Report as set out in this Report 
 
3 Accepts the recommendations of the Ombudsman at paragraph 59 of the 

Ombudsman's Report as set out in paragraph 1.38 of this Report 
 
4 Approves the carrying out of a full review of the legal, financial and 

operational implications of the recommendations at paragraph 60 of the 

Page 275



 

 

Ombudsman's Report with a view to a decision being taken on the 
Council's future approach to payment arrangements for residential care 
prior to the expiry of the 6 month period specified by the Ombudsman.  

 
5 Considers what if any further action the Council should take 
 
6 Delegates to the Executive Councillor for Adult Care, Health and 

Children's Services the taking of the final decision in respect of the 
recommendations in paragraph 60 of the Ombudsman's Report 

 
 

Alternatives Considered: 

1 Not to accept the recommendations of the Ombudsman in relation to issuing an 
apology to and compensating the complainants  
 
2 Not to review the legal, financial and operational implications of changing the 
way in which payments are administered.   
 
 

Reasons for Recommendation: 

The Council accepts the findings set out in the Ombudsman's Report.   
 
The Council has already reimbursed to the complainants the amount of £65.00 
in September 2017 being the full amount of the Third Party Contribution they 
were required to pay. 
 
The Council has offered its apologies to the complainants but will follow this up 
again with a formal apology as part of this process.   
 
It is right in these circumstances that the Council accepts the Ombudsman's 
recommendation to pay compensation to Ms B of £300 for distress and £300 for 
her time and trouble in pursuing the complaint.  Therefore the total amount of 
compensation would be £600.00. 
 
The extent to which there is a statutory and contractual basis for the 
recommendations at paragraph 60 of the Ombudsman's Report is complex.  
The recommended changes are wide-ranging with potentially significant 
financial and operational implications.  It is important that the various options 
are identified and their financial and operational consequences fully understood.  
This would be the purpose of the proposed review. 

 
Background 
 
1.1 The Local Government Ombudsman has power under the Local Government 

Act 1974 to investigate and issue Reports concerning allegations of 
maladministration or service failure.   

 
1.2 The Ombudsman has issued the Report attached at Appendix A following an 

allegation of maladministration by the Council in the exercise of its adult 

Page 276



 

 

social care functions.  The Ombudsman has concluded that the Council was 
guilty of maladministration and that this caused injustice to the complainant.  
The Ombudsman has issued a public report and included recommendations 
that he considers would be necessary to remedy the injustice in this particular 
case and more widely. 

 
1.3 The Report is issued under section 31 of the 1974 Act.  As a result the Report 

must be made public by the Council and placed before the Council so that it 
can consider the report and notify the Ombudsman of any action taken or 
proposed to be taken by the Council in response. 

 
1.4 At its meeting on 15th December 2017 the full Council approved an 

amendment to the Constitution under which responding to an Ombudsman's 
report would be an executive function where the finding of maladministration 
was in respect of an executive function.  The findings of the Ombudsman in 
this case relate to an executive function.  Paragraph 61 of the Ombudsman's 
Report makes it clear that the Report should be considered by Full Council or 
cabinet – i.e the full Executive.  Accordingly the Executive has the authority to 
determine the response to the Ombudsman's findings, the functions in 
question falling within its area of responsibility. 

 
1.5 In addition the Monitoring Officer is under a separate statutory responsibility 

under section 5A of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 to report to 
the full Executive instances of maladministration in the exercise of executive 
functions identified as a result of an Ombudsman's investigation.  On receipt 
of the Monitoring Officer's Report the Executive must consider the Report and 
determine (a) what action (if any) the executive has taken or proposes to take 
in response to the report, (b) when it will take any proposed action and  
(c)  the reasons for taking the action or, as the case may be, for taking no 
action.   

 
1.6 This Report therefore enables the Executive to comply with the Council's 

obligation under section 31 of the 1974 Act and its obligations under section 
5A of the 1989 Act. 

 
Context of the Report 
 
1.7 At regular intervals the Council consults with the residential care market, 

identifies the cost of providing residential care in Lincolnshire and on the 
basis of the information it has it determines a weekly payment which is the 
amount it would expect to pay for care to meet service user needs.  This is 
known as the Council's Usual Costs.  The range of rates were last determined 
in 2015.  The Council is currently consulting with the market with a view to 
determining revised Usual Costs in March of this year. 

 
1.8 In contracting with the market for residential care the Council obtains rates 

from homes which it seeks to keep at its Usual Costs.  Some homes do 
contract at the Council's Usual Costs.  Some homes charge the Council an 
amount in excess of the Usual Costs. 

 

Page 277



 

 

1.9 In making a placement of an individual in residential care the Council must 
comply with the Care and Support and Aftercare (Choice of Accommodation) 
Regulations 2014 and associated Guidance.  Under those Regulations and 
that Guidance, the Council must offer to a service user at least one place at 
its Usual Costs and preferably more than one.  Where it makes an offer of a 
placement at Usual Costs and the individual service user chooses to take up 
more costly accommodation the Council is not obliged to place the person in 
that accommodation unless the difference between the Usual Costs and the 
actual cost of the accommodation is met by a third party.  This is generally 
referred to as a top-up.  Within the Council's contract it is referred to as a 
Third Party Contribution.  Where the Council is unable to or does not offer a 
person a place at Usual Costs and has instead to place a person in more 
expensive accommodation, the Council is liable for the full amount of the cost 
and a top-up cannot be required. 

 
1.10 Where a placement is made and irrespective of whether there is a third party 

top-up, each Service User will undergo a financial assessment on the basis of 
which they may be assessed as required to make a contribution to the cost to 
the Council of arranging their care.  This is known as a Service User 
Contribution 

 
1.11 Where a placement is made involving a Service User Contribution and/or a 

Third Party Contribution the Council's contract provides that the Council will 
make payment to the Provider of the full amount of the cost of care including 
the Service User Contribution and the Third Party Contribution.  However, 
before this occurs, the contract requires the Provider to make attempts to 
recover the Service User Contribution form the service user and the Third 
Party Contribution from the third party and where this does not succeed the 
Council pays the full amount of the cost and recovers the amount of the 
contributions from the service user and the third party respectively. 

 
1.12 These arrangements are further underpinned by a Third Party Agreement in 

which the Third Party contracts with the Council to pay the Third Party 
Contribution and agrees with the Council to make that payment to the 
Provider. 

 
1.13 In what follows the findings of the Ombudsman are addressed in two stages.  

The first stage deals with the placement including the identification of the 
placement and the consequential responsibilities of the Council in relation to 
making payment for the placement.  The second stage deals with the 
contractual mechanisms under which the Council administers Third Party 
Contributions where they apply. 

 
Stage 1 of the Ombudsman's Decision – The Placement 

 
1.14 The Ombudsman's decisions in this respect are set out in the section of the 

Report headed "Decision" – paragraph 58.  There are several elements. 
 

 
 

Page 278



 

 

1.15 The Council failed to offer a care home within Mr C's personal budget (i.e 
without a top-up fee) 
 
The Ombudsman's findings on this point are more fully described at 
paragraphs 39 and 40 of the Ombudsman's Report. 
 
The Council accepts that it did not identify at least one placement which at its 
Usual Costs which would not have required a third party top-up payment. 
 

1.16 The Council failed to pay the full fee the care home charged when no care 
home within the personal budget was identified 
 
Again this is referred to in paragraphs 39 and 40 of the Ombudsman's Report. 
 
The Council accepts that, not having identified a placement at its Usual 
Costs, the Council should have met the full amount of the care home fees and 
no third party top-up should have been required. 
 
In September 2017, the Council reimbursed to the third party the top up fee 
paid of £65.00 . 
 

1.17 The Council failed to explain a person's rights and the Council's duties under 
the Care Act 
 
This is referred to in paragraphs 41 to 45 inclusive of the Ombudsman's 
Report. 
 
This point is accepted by the Council as there is no detailed case record of 
the information given. Nor were the existing information sources explicit on 
this point. The Council has updated the information and advice relating to all 
aspects of financial support and this is now live on the website (as stated in 
the Ombudsman's Report at paragraph 44). Assessment staff have been 
instructed that this information is also to be given at the point of first visit. In 
addition an agreement is in place with LinCA to develop a joint information 
leaflet to assist and support people. Finance Training has been provided to all 
staff within Adult Frailty and Long Term Conditions to ensure all are clear.  
 
The above information and training includes the Council's responsibilities to 
offer placements at Usual Cost or meet the full cost of care. 

 
1.18 The Council failed to offer Mr C a personal budget. 

 
This is referred to in paragraphs 46 and 47 of the Ombudsman's Report. 
 
This point is accepted. Guidance has been issued to all staff regarding 
Personal Budgets and letters are now issued through the Mosaic workflow to 
ensure people are aware and informed of their personal budget amount.  
 
 
 

Page 279



 

 

1.19 The Council failed to intervene when Mr C was threatened with eviction from 
the care home.  The Council failed to properly address the threatening and 
intimidating language used by the care home.  
 
This is referred to in paragraphs 53 to 56 inclusive of the Ombudsman's 
Report. 

 
The commercial team and area team colleagues did liaise directly with the 
home both verbally and via email. The Council accepts that some of the 
Provider's communication was not of a standard which we would expect. 
Learning has been taken from this to ensure a more robust response would 
be available if this was to occur again.  
 

 1.20 Although, as can be seen, the Council does not accept all of the statements 
made in the Ombudsman's Report, the Council does accept and has 
accepted the overall finding that the Council was at fault.  It is recommended 
that the Council apologise for the faults identified in paragraphs 1.15 to 1.19 
inclusive.  A number of actions have been taken, prior to the report being 
published, to ensure that the risk of this happening again are minimised: 

 
- Staff guidance has been issued to ALL frontline staff across Adult Care 

incl. Specialist Services and EDT – issued on 19 September 2017 
 

- A comprehensive Action Plan has been developed and shared with all 
teams across Adult Care on 20 October 2017.  A copy of the Action 
Plan is attached at Appendix B to this Report 

 
- Corporate and Adult Care Complaints Process and Procedure has 

been altered for a clear pathway of complaints handling and who is 
responsible for responses as from 27 September 2017 

 
- A Finance training pack has been developed and delivered to all 

AFLTC teams between 3 November 2017 and 6 December 2017 
 

- Finance Information Packs relating to all areas of care support were 
updated and reissued on the website. Frontline staff also issue these at 
the point of assessment. Date issued 5 May 2017 
 

- The Financial Information Pack information was also Included in a 
Practice Bulletin issued 17 May 2017  

 
- Relevant legal advice and support has been part of the process to 

ensure full compliance with statutory requirements.  
 
Stage 2 of the Ombudsman's Decision – Payment Arrangements 
 
1.21 As set out above, the Council pays providers of residential and nursing fees 

based on the Councils Usual Costs or a price bid by the Providers.  The 
Council's Framework Agreement provides for the Council to be responsible, 
ultimately, for the full amount of the cost.  However the Framework 

Page 280



 

 

Agreement does provide for the Provider to seek to recover payment from 
the service user and third party before being entitled to payment from the 
Council.  The Third Party Agreement does require the third party to make 
payment to the Provider as part of this arrangement with the Provider.   

 
1.22 The Ombudsman's views of this arrangement are set out in a further 

decision within paragraph 58 of the Ombudsman's Report as follows:- 
 

The Council failed to offer the option to pay the top-up fee to the Council 
 
This is referred to in paragraphs 48 to 52 of the Ombudsman's Report. 

 
1.23 In this respect, the Council accepts that it should not have told Ms B that it 

did not become involved in third party agreements and should not have left 
Ms B to make the arrangements with the care home.  As referred to above 
the Third Party Agreement is between the Council, the third party and the 
Provider so the Council is always involved in top-up agreements.  Social 
Workers have been reminded of this and the need for them to have 
responsibility in the signing of the Agreement to which the Council is in fact 
a party. 

 
1.24 The Council also accepts that there was a failure in this case to explain the 

nature and effect of the Council's Framework Agreement and Third Party 
Agreement.  In particular there was no explanation of the fact that the third 
party would be contracting with the Council and while the Council required 
the care home to seek payment of the Third Party Contribution, if this was 
not paid the Council would pay it and seek contribution from the third party.   

 
1.25 It is recommended that the Council apologises for the faults identified in 

paragraphs 1.23 and 1.24. 
 
1.26 In addition to this, the Ombudsman has made a finding that the Council's 

whole Third Party Contribution payment arrangements amount to a breach 
of the Council's responsibilities under the Care and Support Statutory 
Guidance.  The Ombudsman's argument is set out in paragraphs 50 to 52.  
In essence the Ombudsman has found that the Council's payment 
arrangements under which, as the Ombudsman puts it, the Council did not 
offer the third party an option of making payment to the Council, departed 
from Guidance without sufficient reason and that this amounted to fault. 

 
1.27 On the basis of this the Ombudsman has made a number of 

recommendations as to the way in which the Council structures and 
administers such arrangements in future.  They are set out in paragraph 60 
of the Ombudsman's Report as follows:- 

 

 Review its procedures to ensure that people are offered the option to 
pay the top-up fee directly to the Council; 

 Review its top-up fee contract to reflect the option to pay the top-up 
fee directly to the Council; 

Page 281



 

 

 Review existing top-up agreements to bring them into line with the 
Care Act; and  

 Assess whether staff are aware of the Council's duties under the 
Care Act and provide further training if necessary. 

 
1.28 Before moving on to address these recommendations it is worth pointing out 

that the Council engaged in lengthy closely reasoned correspondence with 
the Ombudsman setting out in detail the Council's payment arrangements 
(including copies of the relevant contracts) and the Council's own 
interpretation of the Statutory Guidance.  In particular, the Council argued 
strongly that the Council's Third Party Agreement already provides for the 
payment of the Third Party Contribution to the Council and insofar as the 
third party does make payments to the Provider that is part of a purely 
administrative arrangement which is not contrary to the Guidance.  

 
1.29 It is unfortunate that the Ombudsman did not see fit to reflect any of the 

Council's arguments in the final Ombudsman's Report or acknowledge any 
of the complexities or uncertainties of the Ombudsman's own interpretation.  
This has led to an inappropriately simplified and negative characterisation of 
the Council's position.  The Council does not accept, for instance that it has 
ignored the guidance (see paragraphs 51 and 52 of the Ombudsman's 
Report).   

 
1.30 However, the Ombudsman did not agree with the Council and the Council 

must now accept the Ombudsman's conclusion.  The Council must also 
accept the Ombudsman's judgment that the Council departed from 
Guidance without a sufficient reason.  It must therefore now put its mind to 
the Ombudsman's recommendations in paragraph 59 (insofar as they relate 
to the payment issue) and paragraph 60 of the Ombudsman's Report. 

 
1.31 In order to come to a conclusion on this element of the Report it is 

necessary to carry out a full review of the options available to the Council.  If 
the Ombudsman's analysis is correct the Council could be looking at a 
fundamental change to the way in which the Council administers Third Party 
Contributions with potentially significant legal, financial and operational 
implications.  Although the Ombudsman's Report relates to the payment 
arrangements for Third Party Contributions a proper review would need also 
to take into account not just Third Party Contributions but also Service User 
Contributions. 

 
1.32 Current data from November 2017 confirmed that across all service groups 

428 residential and nursing providers receive payments relating to 3,200 
service users in long term and short term care.  The current Residential & 
Nursing Care Budget totals £103.8m, with residential income budgeted to 
receive £25.3m over the same period.  The value of third party top ups is 
estimated to be in the region of £0.375m in 2017/18. 

 
1.33 In general terms there are a number of options which could involve the 

Council treating the payment of Service User Contributions differently from 
Third Party Contributions or (as the Ombudsman seems to be 

Page 282



 

 

recommending) offering different payment arrangements either at the option 
of the third party or depending on whether the third party agrees. 

1.34 However, such options have obvious drawbacks for the Council and indeed 
for Providers in terms of having to manage a number of different payment 
arrangements depending on the type of payment and even potentially the 
identity of the third party.  These will need to be subject of a financial and 
legal analysis but they are not a preferred way of proceeding at this stage. 

1.35 In terms of preferred options at this stage there are two:- 

 Maintain the status quo.  This will require a full review of the legal 
basis of the Ombudsman's finding but in principle it appears to leave 
open the potential to justify the current arrangements as being a 
departure from the guidance but for sufficient reason.  Unless and 
until a full review has been undertaken of the financial and 
operational impacts of the options it will not be known if such an 
option can legally be pursued; 

 Change the payment arrangements for both the Service User 
Contribution and the Third Party Contribution so that the Council 
makes the payments to the Provider and recovers both direct from 
the service user and third party respectively without any involvement 
of the Provider. 

As referred to above, there are likely to be significant legal, financial and 
operational implications of a change to a different process.  

1.36 Potential impacts include:- 

a) The financial functions of Mosaic will not be implemented until the 
summer of 2018 at the earliest.  At this point it is unknown if the 
present system, Abacus, can switch to a different payment 
arrangement without substantial investment, this is currently being 
investigated by the system provider Servelec. 

b) Direct effects on Serco's organisational structure both within their Adult 
Care Financial Assessment and Credit Control teams, income and 
existing adult care payment functions including additional resources 
and overheads. 

c) Additional separate billing runs per 4 weekly cycle with additional 
customers to be managed through Agresso is likely to produce around 
8,000 additional items to be issued and chased through credit control 
and income processes (including payment systems).   

d) A change control notice to be negotiated with Serco with a likely knock-
on increase in the price under the Serco contract.  Those 
conversations have not yet taken place. 

e) Increased demand on services delivered by the Adult Care & 
Community Wellbeing Finance Team in monitoring the impact of 

Page 283



 

 

changes to process including an increase in bad debt, third party top 
up and payment queries. 

 
f) A risk of additional demands upon assessment and care management 

teams capacity but at this time it is not possible to quantity the possible 
impact. 

 
g) A requirement to ensure that fieldworkers are aware of any changes 

which will require additional training resources. 
 

h) Transfers the risk of non-payment to the Council.    
 

i) An increased legal resource requirement in order to process claims for 
non-payment that progress to the courts  

j) Potential impact on council cash flow through the payment of additional 
fees to providers 

 
1.37 The review will assess and seek to quantify as much as possible all of these 

potential impacts and any others through discussion with partners and 
learning from the experience of other authorities.  

Ombudsman's Recommendations 
 
1.38 The Ombudsman has recommended at paragraph 59 of the Ombudsman's 

Report that the Council  
 

a) Acknowledge the faults and apologise to Ms B, Mr C and Mrs C 
 
It is recommended that the Council acknowledges the faults identified in 
the Ombudsman's Report and apologises as set out in paragraphs 1.20 
and 1.25.   

 
b) Reimburse the top-up fee of £65.00. 

 
This action was completed and reimbursed in September 2017 
 

c) Pay £300 to reflect the complainant's distress. 
 
It is recommended that the Council accept this recommendation 

 
d) Pay the complainant £300 for her time and trouble pursuing the 

complaint. 
 
It is recommended that the Council accept this recommendation 

 
1.39 In relation to the recommendations in paragraph 60 of the Ombudsman's 

Report it is recommended that the Executive approves the carrying out of 
a full review of the legal, financial and operational implications of those 
recommendations with a view to a decision being taken on the Council's 

Page 284



 

 

future approach to payment arrangements for residential care prior to the 
expiry of the 6 month period specified by the Ombudsman.  

 
Legal Issues: 
 
Equality Act 2010 

1.40 Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, the Council must, in the 
exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to: 

*     Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other 
conduct that is prohibited by or under the Act 

*     Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it 

*     Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

1.41 The relevant protected characteristics are age; disability; gender 
reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; and 
sexual orientation 

 

1.42 Having due regard to the need to advance equality of opportunity involves 
having due regard, in particular, to the need to: 

*       Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that 
characteristic 

*       Take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic that are different from the needs of persons 
who do not share it 

*       Encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to 
participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by 
such persons is disproportionately low 

1.43 The steps involved in meeting the needs of disabled persons that are 
different from the needs of persons who are not disabled include, in 
particular, steps to take account of disabled persons' disabilities 

1.44 Having due regard to the need to foster good relations between persons 
who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share 
it involves having due regard, in particular, to the need to tackle prejudice, 
and promote understanding 

1.45 Compliance with the duties in section 149 may involve treating some 
persons more favourably than others 

1.46 The duty cannot be delegated and must be discharged by the decision-
maker.  To discharge the statutory duty the decision-maker must analyse all 
the relevant material with the specific statutory obligations in mind.  If a risk 
of adverse impact is identified consideration must be given to measures to 
avoid that impact as part of the decision making process 

Page 285



 

 

The matters set out in this Report relate generally to elderly people and people with 
a disability.  People with those protected characteristic will receive an improved 
service as a result of the remedial steps identified in the Report. 

Any implications of different payment arrangements for people with a protected 
characteristic will be assessed as part of the proposed review. 

 

Joint Strategic Needs Analysis (JSNA) and the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
(JHWS) 

1.47 The Council must have regard to the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 
(JSNA) and the Joint Health & Well Being Strategy (JHWS) in coming to a 
decision 

There are no direct implications of this Report for the JSNA or the JHWS. 

 

Crime and Disorder 

1.48 Under section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, the Council must 
exercise its various functions with due regard to the likely effect of the 
exercise of those functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can 
to prevent crime and disorder in its area (including anti-social and other 
behaviour adversely affecting the local environment), the misuse of drugs, 
alcohol and other substances in its area and re-offending in its area 

 

Conclusion 

This Report places before the Executive the findings of an investigation by the 
Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman which identified injustice caused 
by maladministration in the conduct of executive functions in the area of Adult 
Care. 
 
The Executive is invited to consider and accept the Ombudsman's 
recommendations as set out in the Report.  Further work is required to assess the 
impacts of the Ombudsman's findings in relation to its payment arrangements for 
third party top-ups and a detailed review is proposed followed by a further report to 
the Executive Councillor for Adult Care, Health and Children's Services.
 
 
 

Legal Comments: 
 

The Local Government Act 1974 requires an Ombudsman's Report under section 
31 of that Act to be placed before the Council.  Under the Council's Constitution 
that is an executive function where the maladministration is identified is in relation 

No implications relevant to section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 have 
been identified in respect of this Report 

Page 286



 

 

to the exercise of an executive function.  The Ombudsman requires the Report to 
be placed before the full Executive. The Executive must consider the 
recommendations of the Ombudsman and the actions taken and proposed to be 
taken by the Council. 
 

In addition under section 5A of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 the 
Monitoring Officer has a statutory responsibility to report to the full Executive 
instances of maladministration in the exercise of executive functions identified as 
a result of an Ombudsman's investigation.  On receipt of the Monitoring Officer's 
Report the Executive must consider the Report and determine (a) what action (if 
any) the executive has taken or proposes to take in response to the report, (b) 
when it will take any proposed action and  (c)  the reasons for taking the action or, 
as the case may be, for taking no action. 
 
In the absence of challenging the findings of the Ombudsman by way of Judicial 
Review the Council must accept the findings of maladministration that are made.  
The Council is not obliged to accept the Ombudsman's recommendations as long 
as it has reason for not doing so. 
 
The decision is within the remit of the Executive. 

 

Resource Comments: 
 

The outcome of the investigation by the Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman into allegations of maladministration by Lincolnshire County Council 
has resulted in a £600 payment to the service user in question.  The report also 
has potential implications on the way in which providers of Residential and 
Nursing Care are paid.  To that end further work will be required to ascertain the 
financial impact of those implications over the coming months.  
 
 

 
Consultation 

 
Has The Local Member Been Consulted? 

 N/A 
 

Has The Executive Councillor Been Consulted?  

 Yes 

Scrutiny Comments 

This decision will be considered by the Adult Care and Community Wellbeing 
Scrutiny Committee at its meeting on 14 February 2018 and the comments of the 
Committee will be reported to the Executive. 

 

 
 

 

Has a Risks and Impact Analysis been carried out? 

 Yes 

Page 287



 

 

Risks and Impact Analysis 

 See the body of the Report 
 

 
Appendices 

 
These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 
 

Appendix A Report by the Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman - Investigation into a Complaint Against 
Lincolnshire County Council 
(Reference Number: 16 003 268) 

Appendix B Action Plan 

 
 

Background Papers 
 
No Background Papers within the meaning of section 100D of the Local 
Government Act 1972 were used in the preparation of this Report 
 
 
This report was written by Carolyn Nice, Assistant Director (Adult Frailties and 
Long Term Conditions), who can be contacted on 01522 553762 or Carolyn 
Nice@lincolnshire.gov.uk and David Coleman, Chief Legal Officer who can be 
contacted on 01522 552134 or David.Coleman@lincolnshire.gov.uk 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 288

mailto:Nice@lincolnshire.gov.uk
mailto:David.Coleman@lincolnshire.gov.uk


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Investigation into a complaint against 

Lincolnshire County Council 

(reference number: 16 003 268) 

 

17 November 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman  

PO Box 4771 I Coventry I CV4 0EH 

www.lgo.org.uk 

Report by the Local Government and  

Social Care Ombudsman 

Page 289

http://www.lgo.org.uk/


 

 

 

The Ombudsman’s role  

For 40 years the Ombudsman has independently and impartially investigated complaints. We 

effectively resolve disputes about councils and other bodies in our jurisdiction by recommending 

redress which is proportionate, appropriate and reasonable based on all the facts of the 

complaint. Our service is free of charge. 

Each case which comes to the Ombudsman is different and we take the individual needs and 

circumstances of the person complaining to us into account when we make recommendations to  

remedy injustice caused by fault.  

  

We have no legal power to force councils to follow our recommendations, but they almost always 

do. Some of the things we might ask a council to do are: 

 apologise 

  pay a financial remedy 

 improve its procedures so similar problems don’t happen again. 

 

Page 290



 

Investigation into complaint number 16 003 268 against Lincolnshire County 
Council 

Contents  

Report summary ..................................................................................................................... 1 

Introduction ............................................................................................................................ 2 

Legal and administrative background ..................................................................................... 2 

How we considered this complaint.......................................................................................... 4 

Investigation ........................................................................................................................... 4 

Conclusions ............................................................................................................................ 8 

Decision ............................................................................................................................... 11 

Recommendations ............................................................................................................... 11 

 

 

 

 

 

Key to names used 

Ms B – the complainant 

Mr C – Ms B’s father 

Mrs C – Mr C’s wife 

 

 

 

Section 30 of the 1974 Local Government Act says that a report should not normally name 

or identify any person. The people involved in this complaint are referred to by a letter or 

job role. 

 

 

Page 291



 

1 
 

Report summary 

Failure to carry out duties under the Care Act 

Ms B says the Council failed to offer her father, Mr C, a care home without a top-up fee and did 

not offer to pay the full fee the care home charged. It did not explain its duties under the Care 

Act. 

Finding 

Fault found causing injustice and recommendations made. 

Recommendations 

To remedy the injustice to Ms B, Mr C and Mrs C, we recommend the Council takes the 

following actions within three months. The Council should: 

• acknowledge the faults and apologise to Ms B, Mr C and Mrs C; 

• reimburse the top-up fee of £65; 

• pay Ms B and the family £300 to reflect their distress; and 

• pay Ms B £300 for her time and trouble pursuing the complaint. 

We recommend the Council, within six months, brings its procedures in line with the Care Act 

by: 

• reviewing its procedures to ensure that people are offered the option to pay the top-up fee 

directly to the Council; 

• reviewing its top-up fee contract to reflect the option to pay the top-up fee directly to the 

Council; and  

• reviewing existing top-up agreements to bring them in line with the Care Act. 

 

 

Page 292



 

2 
 

Introduction  

1. The Council placed Mr C in a care home on an emergency basis. Ms B complains that the 

Council failed to: 

• offer a care home without a top-up fee; 

• pay the full fee the care home charged when no care home without a top-up fee was 

identified; 

• explain a person’s rights and the Council’s duties under the Care Act; 

• offer Mr C a personal budget; 

• offer the option to pay the top-up fee to the Council; 

• intervene when Mr C was threatened with eviction from the care home; and  

• properly address the threatening and intimidating language used by the care home. 

Legal and administrative background  

2. We investigate complaints about ‘maladministration’ and ‘service failure’. In this report, we 

have used the word fault to refer to these. We must also consider whether any fault has 

had an adverse impact on the person making the complaint. We refer to this as ‘injustice’. 

If there has been fault which has caused an injustice, we may suggest a remedy. (Local 

Government Act 1974, sections 26(1) and 26A(1), as amended) 

Care Act 2014 

3. The Care Act 2014, the Care and Support Statutory Guidance 2014 (updated 2017) and 

the Care and Support (Charging and Assessment of Resources) Regulations 2014 set out 

the Council’s duties towards adults who require care and support and its powers to 

charge.  

4. The Act says that, if a person needs residential care and their capital falls below the 

threshold of £23,250, they will be eligible for council funding to pay for this. However, a 

top-up fee may still need to be paid, in certain circumstances. 

What is a personal budget? 

5. The Council has a duty to assess adults who have a need for care and support. If the 

needs assessment identifies eligible needs, the council will provide a support plan which 

outlines what services are required to meet the needs and a personal budget which 

calculates the costs of those services. (Care Act 2014, section 24) 

 

 

Page 293



 

3 
 

When is a top-up fee payable? 

6. When it has been decided that a person’s needs are best met in a care home, the council 

must ensure that at least one accommodation option is available within the person’s 

personal budget and it should ensure that there is more than one of those options. The 

council must ensure that the person has a genuine choice of accommodation. (Guidance, 

section 8.37) 

7. However, a person is able to choose alternative options, including a more expensive 

setting, if a third party or in certain circumstances the resident is willing and able to pay 

the additional cost (the top-up fee). An additional payment must always be optional and 

never as a result of commissioning failures leading to a lack of choice. (Guidance, 

section 8.37) 

8. If no suitable accommodation is available at the amount identified in the personal budget, 

the council must arrange accommodation in a more expensive setting. In those 

circumstances, the council should increase the personal budget to ensure the needs are 

met.   

Council’s duties when a person chooses to pay a top-up fee. 

9. The Guidance says that, if a person chooses a care home that is more expensive than the 

amount identified in the personal budget and a top-up fee has to be paid, the council has 

to (Guidance, annex A, sections 22 to 24): 

• ensure the person paying the top-up understands the full implications of this choice, 

remembering that this is often at a point of crisis;  

• provide the person with sufficient information and advice so they understand the 

terms and conditions, including actively considering the provision of independent 

financial information and advice; 

• ensure the person is willing and able to meet the top-up, recognising that this may be 

for some time in the future; and  

• ensure the person enters a written agreement with the council, agreeing to meet the 

cost. 

Who is the top-up fee paid to? 

10. The Guidance says councils will need to consider the individual circumstances of the case 

and should deter arrangements for top-up fees to be paid directly to the care home. The 

Guidance says there are three options (Guidance, annex A, section 29). 

• The council treats the top-up as part of the cared for person’s income and recovers 

the costs from the person. This is on the assumption that the third party pays the top-

up to the person in the care home. 

Page 294



 

4 
 

• The council agrees with the cared for person, the third party and the provider that the 

top-up is paid directly to the care home. The guidance says this is not the 

recommended approach. 

• The third party pays the top-up to the council and the council then pays the full 

amount to the care home. 

Who is responsible for the costs? 

11. Whatever the option chosen, the council remains responsible for the total cost of that 

placement. If there is a break down in the arrangement to pay the top-up, the council is 

liable for the fees until it has either recovered the costs or made other arrangements to 

meet the person’s needs. (Guidance, annex A, section 28) 

What information and advice should the council give? 

12. The council should provide information about the choices open to individuals and should 

explain a person’s rights under the Care Act. This must include information about the 

different care providers and advice to help people understand the charges so that people 

can make informed financial decisions. 

Market shaping and commissioning of adult care and support 

13. Councils must promote the efficient and effective operation of a market in services for 

meeting care and support needs to ensure that a person has: (Care Act 2014, section 

5): 

• a variety of providers to choose from who provide a variety of services; 

• a variety of high quality services to choose from; and  

• sufficient information to make an informed decision about how to meet the needs in 

question. 

14. Councils must not undertake any actions which may threaten the sustainability of the 

market as a whole, for example, by setting the fee levels below an amount which is not 

sustainable for the provider in the long term. (Guidance, section 4.35) 

How we considered this complaint  

15. We have produced this report following the examination of relevant files and documents 

and interviews with the complainant and relevant employees of the Council. 

16. We gave the complainant and the Council a confidential draft of this report and invited 

their comments. The comments received were taken into account before the report was 

finalised. 

 

Investigation  

Page 295



 

5 
 

Key facts 

17. Mr C is an elderly man who has dementia and physical disabilities. He was living at home 

with support from his wife. He was eligible for council funding and a care package for care 

at home was in place. 

18. At the end of March 2016 Mr C’s condition deteriorated and his needs could no longer be 

met at home. His daughter, Ms B contacted the Council asking for urgent help. The 

Council agreed that an emergency residential placement was needed, initially as a respite 

option.  

19. The social worker contacted Ms B and said she had found a care home for Mr C. She 

explained the Council would pay its usual rate but, as the care home’s rate was higher, 

the family would need to pay a top-up fee. The top-up fee was £60, but the family could 

negotiate a lower price with the care home if it was not able to pay. Ms B said she thought 

she had no other option as this was a crisis situation and she therefore agreed. 

20. Mr C moved to the care home on 30 March 2016. The care home agreed to a reduced 

top-up fee of £20 per week. 

21. Ms B contacted the Council on 29 April 2016. She had read the Care Act and now 

understood more about top-up fees. She told the Council that it had a duty to offer Mr C a 

placement without a top-up fee and this had not happened. The social worker’s response 

was that Ms B would need to ring the care homes herself and ask about top-up fees as a 

lot of the care homes charged them. Ms B said she may have to move Mr C to another 

care home as her mother could not afford the top-up fee. 

22. In May 2016 the care home contacted the Council as the top-up fee and contribution for 

Mr C had not been paid. The care home said it wanted to evict Mr C within 7 days. The 

care home said it had not yet informed the family of this as the family had been ‘difficult’ 

last week. The care home was worried that, if it informed the family, the family would not 

pay at all. 

23. Ms B assured the Council she would pay but she wanted to know what she was paying 

and whether it was legal for the care home and the Council to ask for this top-up fee. It 

was her understanding that her mother should not have been asked to make this 

payment. She said she wanted to speak to somebody at the Council about the legalities 

of the top-up fee and the Council’s responsibility to find a care home without them. 

24. The care home wrote to Ms B about the top-up fee on 21 April 2016 and said: “The top-up 

rate was set in consultation with the council and reflects the fact that the council has been 

unable to raise the care fees they pay us sufficiently to meet our higher staffing and 

running costs”. 

 

25. On 10 May 2016, the care home wrote to Ms B giving Mr C 14 days notice to leave the 

care home. The care home’s email dated 12 May 2016 said: “Third Party contributions 

were introduced to meet the costs of the Living National Wage and mandatory pensions 

Page 296



 

6 
 

for staff implemented by the government and timely payment of these fees is imperative 

for us to pay the wages of our staff. The families of our council funded residents are 

understanding of this financial reality and pay the third party contributions four weeks in 

advance. Unfortunately, your account is 42 days in arrears. You can imagine the financial 

predicament we would be in and the distress it would cause if all resident accounts were 

in arrears”. 

26. The care home’s second letter dated 18 May 2016 said: “Your refusal to sign the contract 

was duplicitous and unacceptable while you continued to accept a service from the care 

home. Your behaviour in refusing to make this payment makes the work of the Adult 

Social Care Services even more difficult at an already challenging time for the social care 

sector. I am, of course, taking legal advice on the matter and my solicitor will handle any 

further communication with you”. 

27. Ms B was very upset by the care home’s threats and the language in the letter and 

contacted the social worker. She tried to speak to somebody at the Council about the 

legality of top-ups and continued to contact the Council desperate for help. A note on the 

files records the care home had spoken to the Council and the Council had confirmed the 

care home could give notice to Mr C as the family were aware of this and were actively 

looking for another home for Mr C without a top-up fee. 

28. Ms B wrote to the care home pointing out how its understanding of the law on the fees 

was flawed and provided links to the correct law and guidance. The care home said in its 

email dated 25 May 2016: ‘Many thanks for the information you have provided. I do agree 

that it would be far simpler were the county council to fund the full cost of care but 

unfortunately this is not the case and each year the funding we receive falls below the 

true cost of care”. 

29. A best interest meeting took place on Friday 20 May 2016 and a care home without a  

top-up was found for Mr C. The plan was to move Mr C to this care home on 24 May 2016 

when the eviction deadline ended. 

30. However, later that day, the new care home called to say it had given Mr C’s room to 

somebody else. This meant that Mr C still had no care home to move to and was about to 

be evicted. 

31. The social worker contacted 4 care homes to find a place for Mr C. She found two care 

homes which had vacancies but they both charged top-ups. The social worker told Ms B 

to find a care home without a top-up over the weekend.  

32. Ms B contacted 23 care homes over the weekend and found only one care home without 

a top-up. Mr C moved to this care home the following week. 

 

Ms B’s complaint  

Page 297



 

7 
 

33. Ms B complained to the Council in June 2016. She pursued her complaint for several 

months as she tried to clarify different issues. We have summarised her complaint as 

follows. 

• The Council failed to give her appropriate information and advice about her rights 

under the Care Act at every stage of the process. She said the information had been 

poor and misleading and she doubted whether the social workers knew the correct 

process and the Council’s duties. 

• The Council never informed her it had a duty to find a care home without a top-up 

and never told her it had a duty to pay the care home fees if it could not identify a 

care home without a top-up. 

• The family should never have been asked to pay the top-up as the Council had never 

offered Mr C a care home without a top-up fee. 

• The Council should have given Mr C a personal budget. 

• The Council should have intervened when the care home was threatening to evict Mr 

C.  

The Council’s response 

34. The Council said: 

• the procedures were all online and in the Council’s leaflets; 

• it expected care homes to pursue the family for payment of the top-up fee, but only if 

the appropriate paperwork had been completed. In this case, the paperwork had not 

been signed so the care home should not have acted as it did. It later agreed it 

should have paid the top-up fee; 

• it could not become involved in the choice of care homes as it had to remain neutral; 

• it did not provide personal budgets to residents of care homes as it had agreed rates 

of payment;  

• the language used by the care home was insensitive and it had recommended that 

the care home address this directly with Ms B. It monitored correspondence between 

the care home and service users as part of its contract with them. 

35. The Council wrote several emails where it clarified its position. 

• “The choice of care home is an area where the Council would not be involved in 

directly as we have to remain neutral in terms of the market. If called upon we may be 

able to give details of which homes have vacancies.” 

• “In relation to choice of care home, the Council has to be careful to remain neutral; 

we are not allowed to promote individual homes. There is, at present, pressure on 

Page 298



 

8 
 

care home beds, which meant that there are times when there are a very limited 

number available and real choice can be quite difficult in an emergency, especially 

choice which does not involve a top-up... This is a particularly difficult area at present 

as there are a very limited number of care homes in the area without top-ups and for 

obvious reasons these homes are often full.” 

• “A personal budget does not currently apply to residential or nursing placements in 

Lincolnshire and there are agreed rates which the County Council develop and 

consult with the market before publishing.” 

36. The difficulties Ms B and the social worker had in finding a care home without a top-up 

fee, the Council’s responses to the complaint and the care home’s correspondence 

suggested that there may be a wider problem of a shortage of care homes without a  

top-up fee. 

37. We therefore contacted the Council to ask further questions about market shaping. The 

Council’s website has details of the Council’s market position statement, joint strategic 

needs statement and joint health and wellbeing strategy, in line with the Care Act. The 

Council asked an outside agency to conduct an independent evaluation of the residential 

care market in 2015 and this contributed to deciding how much the Council pays to care 

homes. It is going through a similar exercise at the moment to set the rates for the future. 

38. We asked the Council how many care homes there were without a top-up fee on the day 

we spoke (13 April 2017). The Council said it had 754 vacant beds across the county and 

220 did not charge a top-up fee. This could be broken down by area. The area of Lincoln 

(where Mr C was living) had 30 vacancies without a top-up fee. It explained that, every 

week, it sends a list to practitioners which shows the available care homes without a top-

up fee in the area so they can help people in identifying care homes.  

Conclusions  

Choice of accommodation and charging of the top-up fee 

39. There was fault in the Council’s actions in March 2016 when an urgent placement had to 

be found for Mr C. The Council did not identify a care home without a top-up fee. 

Therefore it should have paid the entire cost of the care. Instead the Council told the 

family it had to pay the top-up fee which is fault. 

40. When Mr C was facing imminent eviction in May 2016, the Council repeated the same 

mistake and did not offer a place without a top-up fee or explain to Ms B that it would pay 

the entire fee if it could not find a place. Instead it expected Ms B to find a placement 

during the weekend. 

 

 

Information and advice 

Page 299



 

9 
 

41. The Council failed to explain to Ms B what the Council’s duties were. It never told her it 

had a duty to identify at least one place without a top-up fee. It also did not say that it was 

responsible for paying for the placement if no place without a top-up fee had been 

identified.  

42. Ms B looked up the advice on the Council’s website but this was not clear and there was 

no clear mention of the fact that the Council had a duty to find a care home without a  

top-up fee or that it would pay the costs if it could not find one. This was also fault. 

43. We were, in addition, concerned about the Council’s comments in its written replies to Ms 

B and us. Ms B repeatedly asked the Council whether, in other cases, it informs people of 

their right to a care home without a top-up. The Council never clearly answered this 

question. It said it gave people the general information about the charging and general 

information about care homes. It said it could not recommend a particular home because 

it had to remain ‘neutral in terms of the market’ and said it was not allowed to promote 

individual homes.  

44. We were therefore concerned whether other people had suffered the same problems as 

Ms B. We spoke to the Council and it acknowledged that the information on its website 

was previously not as clear it should be. It said it recently changed its online information. 

We have read the Council’s online information on top-up fees and it is clearer than before. 

45. The Council said it also changed its process. It says it gives people the directory which 

includes all the care homes, but does not give information about availability or whether 

they charge top-up fees. If a person chooses a care home which charges a top-up fee, 

the Council will explain to the person that they have a right to be offered a care home 

without a top-up. It will offer an alternative without a top-up fee if this is what the person 

wants. If no alternative care home without a top-up fee is available, it will offer the lowest 

cost alternative and pay the top-up fee. 

Personal budget 

46. The Council did not give Mr C a personal budget and said in the complaints 

correspondence that it never provided personal budgets to residents in care homes. This 

is fault as the Care Act says councils have a duty to provide personal budgets. 

47. The Council has clarified that this has changed and that residents in care homes now 

have a personal budget.  

No option to pay the top-up fee to the Council 

48. The Council told Ms B that it did not become involved in the top-up agreement as this was 

a matter between the care home and the person paying the top-up fee. This is fault. The 

council has told us that it has, since then, changed its procedures and the social worker 

now becomes involved in the signing of the agreement. 

49. The Council also failed to offer Mrs C the option to pay the top-up fee to the Council. It 

says it never does this as it always expects people to pay the fee directly to the care 

home. It acknowledges that this is not the preferred option under the guidance but says 

Page 300



 

10 
 

there is nothing stopping them in law from following that route. It says it has taken this 

approach because it is cheaper and less of an administrative burden on the Council. 

50. The Ombudsman considers whether a Council’s actions are maladministration. Not every 

departure from guidance is maladministration and if the Council had, for example, chosen 

to move away from one part of the guidance for well-considered and legitimate reasons, 

the Ombudsman would not have found fault. 

51. However that is not the case here. The Council has ignored three fundamental concepts 

of the guidance which are: 

• Councils will deter arrangements for top-up payments to be paid directly to a 

provider. 

• Any arrangement to make payments directly to the provider will only be by 

agreement with the person.  

• Councils should consider the individual circumstances of each case. 

52. It has ignored the guidance without adequately providing reasons apart from 

administrative convenience. It has adopted a blanket policy of direct payment to the care 

home which is far from the letter and the spirit of the guidance. This is maladministration.  

Failure to intervene when the care home threatened eviction 

53. There was fault by the Council in its response to the threat of eviction by the care home. 

54. Firstly, Mr C should not have been put in the position where he was being threatened with 

eviction because of non-payment of the top-up fee. Ms B was right in questioning the 

requirement to pay and the Council should have intervened immediately and paid the 

entire fee.  

55. Secondly, the fault was made worse by the fact that the Council did not offer Mrs C the 

option to pay the top-up fee to the Council. One of the reasons why the legislation says 

that councils should offer this option is to avoid situations such as this one. Ultimately the 

Council is responsible for the payment of the top-up fee, not the third party. If the top-up 

fee is paid to the Council, any failure to pay is dealt with by the Council and should not 

result in a threat of eviction by the care home. 

56. Finally, the language used by the care home in its letters to Ms B was inappropriate and 

the Council should have intervened sooner and more directly. The Council is responsible 

for the actions of those who are providing a service on its behalf. 

Injustice 

57. Ms B and Mr C suffered weeks of distress as they were worried that Mr C would be 

evicted. They knew Ms B’s mother could not continue to pay the top-up fee and needed 

help but were not given this help. Instead of assisting Ms B in her search for a suitable 

care home, the Council put the burden on her to find somewhere suitable.  

Page 301



 

11 
 

 

Decision 

58. The Council did not act in line with the Care Act 2014 or the guidance when it responded 

to Ms B’s request for assistance in support for Mr C. The Council failed to: 

• offer a care home within Mr C’s personal budget; 

• pay the full fee the care home charged when no care home within the personal 

budget was identified; 

• explain a person’s rights and the Council’s duties under the Care Act; 

• offer Mr C a personal budget; 

• offer the option to pay the top-up fee to the Council; 

• intervene when Mr C was threatened with eviction from the care home; and  

• properly address the threatening and intimidating language used by the care home. 

Recommendations  

59. To remedy the injustice to Ms B, Mr C and Mrs C, we recommend the Council takes the 

following actions within three months. The Council should: 

• acknowledge the faults and apologise to Ms B, Mr C and Mrs C; 

• reimburse the top-up fee of £65; 

• pay Ms B and the family £300 to reflect their distress; and  

• pay Ms B £300 for her time and trouble pursuing the complaint. 

60. We recommend the Council, within six months, brings its procedures in line with the Care 

Act by: 

• reviewing its procedures to ensure that people are offered the option to pay the top-

up fee directly to the Council;  

• reviewing its top-up fee contract to reflect the option to pay the top-up fee directly to 

the Council;  

• reviewing existing top-up agreements to bring them in line with the Care Act; and  

• assessing whether staff are aware of the Council’s duties under the Care Act and 

provide further training if necessary.  

Page 302



 

12 
 

 

 

 

61. The Council must consider the report and confirm within three months the action it has 

taken or proposes to take. The Council should consider the report at its full Council or 

Cabinet and we will require evidence of this. (Local Government Act 1974, section 

31(2), as amended) 

Page 303



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Action Plan 
 

From Ombudsman 
recommendations:  LGO reference 

16 003 268 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Team  What happened  Future actions /Learning Points  

 
 
The Ombudsman found that the Council 
did not find a care home without a top up 
Fee (TPTU) and did not offer to pay the full 
fee the care home charged.  This meant 
that a review of current arrangements was 
needed to ensure they are in line with the 
Care Act. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Area 
AF&LTC 

Team  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
An emergency placement took place 
this included a TPTU; family were told 
to pay this; family were asked to look 
for a care home without a TPTU if this 
was required. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
All staff will promote the offer of choice and 
information to enable people to make informed 
decisions.   
 
A choice of one care home without a TPTU will be 
offered within Lincolnshire.  This will be recorded 
within Mosaic case notes, detailing the offer made. 
 
Guidance has been simplified and clarified within 
new packs for staff to use as guidance, staff to 
ensure that this is followed irrespective of planned; 
STC or emergency placement is made. 
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk//Download/105249 
The relevant financial information will be given to 
citizen or relative and again recorded on case note, 
detailing who it was given to and when.  
 
Finance training which Locality leads and finance 
colleagues have developed is being rolled out to all 
Adult Frailty teams incl Hospital Team from end 
Nov/Dec.  
 

P
age 305

https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/Download/105249


 
 
 
 
 
 
The Omudsan found that the Personal 
Budget for Mr C was not explicit and 
confused information was provided 
regarding the PB information received.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Ombudsman found the information 
was too general and did not specify that 
the Council will pay the TPTU if a 
placement without one can't be found. 
 
 
 
 
The Ombudsman found that the  
Council did not intervene immediately and 
directly, causing unnecessary stress and 
upset 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Area 
AF&LTC 
Team & 

Lead 
Professional 

Team 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Area 
AF&LTC 
Team & 

Commercial 
Team 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Mr C's family were given conflicting 
advice relating to personal budgets in 
relation to residential care and 
support which was not accurate. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Mr C's family were given unhelpful 
and generalised advice.  The 
reimbursement of the TPTU happened 
only after complaint was made 
 
 
 
 
Mr C's family was upset by the way 
the care home threatened them, this 
was felt to have not been properly 
addressed by the Council. 
 
 
 
 

 
A STC guide has been produced to cover differing 
types of placements made to support staff to adhere 
to procedure this was disseminated to ALL adult care 
staff in Sept 2017. 
 
ALL citizens in receipt of services have a personal 
budget agreed. This has been reiterated to staff 
through the Learning and Development Team. In 
addition a Personal Budget template letter has been 
implemented and ALL citizens in receipt of a service 
will receive a copy of this and it will be uploaded to 
their file.  
 
 
 
 
 
The website is updated and information to public is 
Care Act Compliant : 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-
act-statutory-guidance/care-and-support-statutory-
guidance#AnnexA 
 
 
 
New complaint handling flowchart has been created 
and disseminated to all teams. Clarifying how 
provider and contractual complaints should be 
managed (attached).  This demonstrates that 
responsibility for complaint handling is held within 
area teams with support and advice from the 
Commercial team.  
 

P
age 306

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance#AnnexA
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance#AnnexA
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance#AnnexA


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Ombudsman also found that there 
should be opportunity for the third party 
to pay the Council the top up fee; though 
this point is yet to be concluded and is 
under review. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Introduction of Principal Practitioner for Complaints 
and Quality- who has implemented a coordinated 
approach to complaint handling, improving customer 
expectations of response and quality of 
communication. This includes QA of complaint 
responses. 
 
Complaint Procedure refreshed with template letters 
included promoting good quality standardised 
responses.   
 
 
Online complaint training available to all AC staff; 
this emphasises every employee's role in early 
intervention and communicating with Service Users. 
 
Half Day face to face training created and made 
available for all staff in AC rolled out OCT 17. 
 
 
 

LGO  Ombudsman > 

 Scenario of Case.  
 
 

The Ombudsman found that the Council failed to offer Mr C a care home without a top up fee and did not 
offer to pay the full fee the care home charged.  That the Council did not explain its duties under the Care Act, 
as appropriate information and advice was not given to Mr C's family.  A personal budget was not offered and 
the Council should have intervened more rather than leaving family members to intervene in issues of fees 
and eviction threats.  
When Mr C's family looked up information on the LCC website information was not clear in that it was the 
Council's duty to find at least one home without a top up fee; that general information is given to people 
rather than clear information about top up fees and choice. 
The Ombudsman found that Mr C and family suffered distress whilst eviction was threatened and that the 
'burden' to find an alternative care home was placed on family by LCC. 

P
age 307



 
 
 
All actions on Plan completed: (date) ………………..                                                            Signed: (LP) …………………………..  (AM) ……………………………… 
 
 
Actions for 'others' identified on plan and forwarded to (named person/s) ……………………………………               By (name) ………………………   On (date) …………… 
 
                                                                                                                                         .…………………………………..               By (name) ………………………   On (date) ……………. 
 
                                                                                                                                         .……………………………………              By (name) ………………………   On (date) ……………..       
 
(Note) – The plan will always include method of cascading information/learning outcomes.    
 
 
(Always include this page as last page of action plan) 
Version 1 June 2017 
 
 

The Ombudsman also found that there should be opportunity for the third party to pay the Council the top up 
fee; though this point is yet to be concluded. 

P
age 308



 

     Policy and Scrutiny 
 

Open Report on behalf of Richard Wills, the Director responsible for 
Democratic Services 

 

Report to: Adults and Community Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 14 February 2018 

Subject: 
Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards Scrutiny Sub-
Group – Update  

Decision Reference:   Key decision? No   

Summary:  

This report enables the Adults and Community Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee to 
have an overview of the activities of the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards 
Scrutiny Sub-Group, in particular the Sub-Group’s consideration of adult 
safeguarding matters. The draft minutes of the last meeting of the Scrutiny 
Sub-Group held on 10 January 2018 are attached.   

 
 

Actions Required: 

That the draft minutes of the meeting of the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards 
Scrutiny Sub-Group, held on 10 January 2018, be endorsed. 
 

 
1. Background
 
The Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards Scrutiny Sub-Group considers both adult 
and children safeguarding matters, in particular focusing on the activities of the 
Lincolnshire Safeguarding Adults Board and the Lincolnshire Safeguarding 
Children Board. 
 
The last meeting of the Sub-Group was held on 10 January 2018 and the draft 
minutes are attached at Appendix A to this report.  As the remit of the Adults and 
Community Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee includes adult safeguarding, the 
Committee is requested to focus on those minutes of the Sub-Group, which are 
relevant to this remit.     
 
2. Conclusion
 
The draft minutes appended to this report are for the Committee’s information.
 
3. Consultation 

 
 

 
 

a)  Have Risks and Impact Analysis been carried out? 

No 

Page 309

Agenda Item 7



ERROR! UNKNOWN DOCUMENT PROPERTY NAME.

ERROR! UNKNOWN DOCUMENT PROPERTY NAME.

 

 

b)  Risks and Impact Analysis 

Not Applicable 
 

 

4. Appendices 

 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix A Draft Minutes of the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards Scrutiny 
Sub-Group held on 10 January 2018 

 
5. Background Papers 
 
No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were 
used in the preparation of this report. 
 

This report was written by Catherine Wilman, who can be contacted on 01522 
553788 or Catherine.Wilman@lincolnshire.gov.uk. 

Page 310

mailto:Catherine.Wilman@lincolnshire.gov.uk


  1 

 
 

 

 

 

Lincolnshire County Council: Councillors R L Foulkes, Mrs C J Lawton, 
A P Maughan and R Wootten 
 

District Council: District Councillor Mrs S Waring (District Council) 
 

Representative appointed by Police and Crime Commissioner: Marc Jones 
(Police and Crime Commissioner) 
 

Representative appointed by Local NHS organisation: Andrew Burton  
 

Officers in attendance:- 
 

Dave Culy (Lincolnshire Safeguarding Adults Board Manager), Simon Evans (Health 
Scrutiny Officer), Clare Rowley (Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Board Business 
Manager), Catherine Wilman (Democratic Services Officer), Sue Wilson (Lincolnshire 
Safeguarding Children Board Policy and Audit Officer) and Dawn Worthington 
(Lincolnshire Safeguarding Adult Board Administrator) 
 
10     APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE/REPLACEMENT MEMBERS 

 
Apologies were received from Councillor Mrs W Bowkett. 
 
The Chairman reported that Dr Emile van der Zee had resigned from his position has 
Parent Governor Representative due to work pressures. 
 
This presented a vacancy on the Sub Group, and the election process for a new 
Parent Governor Representative would commence shortly. 
 
11     DECLARATIONS OF MEMBERS' INTERESTS 

 
No interests were declared 
 
12     MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE LINCOLNSHIRE SAFEGUARDING 

BOARDS SCRUTINY SUB-GROUP HELD ON 26 SEPTEMBER 2017 
 

RESOLVED 
 
 That the minutes of the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards Scrutiny Sub-Group 

held on 26 September 2017 be agreed and signed by the Chairman as a correct 
record. 

 
 

Page 311



2 

 
13     KEY MESSAGES FROM THE LINCOLNSHIRE SAFEGUARDING 

CHILDREN BOARD 
 

The Sub-Group considered a report which provided an update on the work currently 
being undertaken by the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) and its 
sub-groups. 
 
It was reported that there were six sub-groups of the LSCB which remained active 
and well attended, details of which could be found in the main report: 

  Child Death Overview Panel; 

  Serious Incident Review Group; 

  Policy, Procedure, Education and Training Sub-Group; 

  Child Exploitation Sub-Group; 

  Education Sub-Group; and 

  Performance and Quality Assurance Tri-Board Sub-Group 

As part of the Wood Review, it was reported that the Child Death Overview Panel 
was likely to change governance and be led by the Department of Health rather than 
the LSCB.  The Panel would still be required to report back to the Board, however, if 
the need arose. 
 
Alan Wood had been commissioned to conduct a review of LSCBs in 2016 which 
engaged a range of people and organisations.  The passing of the Children and 
Social Work Act 2017 had meant a number of changes were required to local 
guidance, which were detailed in the report.  The LSCB Independent Chairman 
explained that despite the good work of the Review, Lincolnshire's Board and 
structure would remain largely unchanged, as the partnership it had with all agencies 
remained strong.  It was felt that more damage than good would come of making 
alterations. 
 
During discussion, the following points were noted:- 
 

 There was a question regarding the involvement of the District Councils in 
prevention of child exploitation.  Officers reported that the LSCB was involved 
at district level, and the district councils in Lincolnshire had been very 
supportive of the LSCB's work over the years; 

 It was reported that the National Crime Agency was running an online 
safety campaign and was keen to work with Local Safeguarding Children 
Boards; 

 A new project, entitled Mini-Police, piloted in two Boston schools, was 
proving very successful and would eventually be rolled out to other schools in 
the county having secured the funding to do so.  The project involved year 5 
children and above learning about the police in a variety of different ways.  It 
was agreed that this would be a good topic for the Education Sub Group; 

 It was agreed that an update on the evaluation of a new model for MACE 
be included on the agenda for a future meeting. 

 
RESOLVED 

Page 312



3 

 

 
 That the report and contents be noted. 
 
14     LINCOLNSHIRE SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD - POLICY AND 

AUDIT UPDATE 
 

Consideration was given to a report which provided an overview of the policy and 
audit development of the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB). 
 
The LSCB Policy and Audit Officer introduced the report and confirmed that 
development of policies and procedures for safeguarding and the promoting the 
welfare of children in the area of the authority was a statutory function of the LSCB.  
It was also a statutory obligation to monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of what 
was done by the authority and their Board partners individually and collectively. 
 
It was reported that a third party, tri.x, assisted the Board in its policy development.  
Changes to policies were either statutory, advised by tri.x or identified by Officers.  
They had been invaluable during the development of the Modern Slavery Protocol. 
 
Members were invited to ask questions, during which the following points were 
noted:- 

 There was discussion regarding the sharing of intimate images between young 
people of secondary school age.  It was felt that, children needed to be made 
aware of the dangers and who to trust, especially when using social media; 

 Some schools actively engaged with the LSCB and attended the Education 
Sub Group, however there was no requirement for schools to engage.  It was 
suggested that the Chair of Governors could be a good access point in to 
schools; 

 It was noted that tri.x may be able to advise on any areas of the country where 
initiatives in schools had been successful, which could inform the development 
of LSCB policy. 

 
RESOLVED 
 
 That the report and content be noted. 
 
15     KEY MESSAGES FROM THE LINCOLNSHIRE SAFEGUARDING ADULTS 

BOARD 
 

Consideration was given to a report which provided an update on the key issues from 
the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Adults Board (LSAB) held on 13 December 2017.  The 
report included the LSAB's Annual Report which had been published in early 2017 
and highlighted some key issues which were under review by the LSAB. 
 
The Independent Chair of the Board took the opportunity to introduce two new 
members of the Adult Safeguarding team: Michelle Morris – LSAB Policy and Audit 
Officer; and Dawn Worthington – LSAB Board Administrator. 

Page 313



4 

 
There was discussion regarding the act of omission (a failure to act) in relation to 
neglect cases.  In a care setting, it was easier to spot cases of neglect, whereas in 
domiciliary care, it was more difficult.  There had been cases of at risk/older/disabled 
adults not being taken to appointments, which had been classified as acts of 
omission. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
 That the report and contents were noted. 
 
16     REPORT OF OBSERVATION OF LINCOLNSHIRE SAFEGUARDING 

ADULT BOARD - 13 DECEMBER 2017 
 

The Chairman, Councillor S R Dodds, gave a verbal update following her attendance 
at a meeting of the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Adults Board (LSAB), as an observer, 
on 13 December 2017. 
   
Councillor Dodds referred to number of replacement members at the meeting of the 
Board she had attended, and the level of participation by those members present.  
She questioned whether this was usual practice.  The Independent chair and LSAB 
Business Manager would monitor the situation. 
 
Each organisation had expressed a concern about capacity issues in their own area 
of work and Officers explained that each agency undertook its work on the Board in 
addition to its specific workload.  It was highlighted that audits needed to make a 
change on the front line.  Councillor Dodds requested that at future meetings of the 
Board, the Sub Group representative observe the contributions made by each 
organisation to gauge their level of participation. 
 
It was felt the Board's Risk Register had too many items listed, however the register 
was currently under review as some items were 'issues', rather than 'risks'.  Issues 
were identified as something happening now. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
 That the verbal update be noted. 
 
17     LINCOLNSHIRE SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD PEER REVIEW 

 
Consideration was given to a report which provided an update on the Lincolnshire 
Safeguarding Adults Peer Review, along with the final draft of the Peer Challenge 
Report which resulted from the Review. 
 
In early 2017, the LSAB agreed to be part of a pilot Peer Review programme led by 
the Local Government Association (LGA), which involved two adult safeguarding 
boards; Lincolnshire and Leicester City. 
 

Page 314



5 

 

The LGA and ADASS (Association for the Directors of Adult Social Services) 
commissioned the peer review in order to identify what good looked like for LSABs, 
and not as an inspection. 
 
The key messages and areas for consideration in the future, resulting from the review 
were as follows: 
 

 The LSAB should agree fewer priorities in order to effectively deliver its 
objectives; 

 The LSAB should act on its intention to agree and introduce a quality 
assurance framework to assure itself of the local safeguarding arrangements; 

 In order to move forward on MSP (Making Safeguarding Personal), 
assurance was needed that the policies and procedures were in place, 
implemented and working; 

 The Board should adopt a coordinated multi-agency approach when 
implementing MSP. 

 
Whilst discussing the peer review, the following points were noted: 
 

 A suite of resources was available to help move forward on MSP; 

 An action plan would be written to assist with the governance structure, to 
identify a way to move forward with the priorities from the review; 

 The Board would need to ensure partner agencies were on board with the 
changes that needed implemented; 

 The outcome from the peer review pilots would be scrutinised nationally; 

 As part of the review, the performance of the Independent Chairman was 
considered and he had received a good evaluation. 

 
Following a question regarding district council involvement in adult safeguarding, it 
was confirmed that a representative for all seven district councils attended the LSAB.  
In addition to this, the district councils held their own quarterly safeguarding meeting 
which dovetailed with the Board.  The newly appointed Policy and Audit Officer would 
be attending those meetings in future. 
 
Issues were raised about knowing when to step in to safeguard an adult, even if the 
at-risk adult in question is happy about what is happening to them.  Front line staff in 
council and agency organisations had been well trained to identify what would be the 
best course of action for each individual adult at risk.  
 
It was noted that social isolation was an underestimated problem in Lincolnshire and 
this had been identified as a priority by Public Health. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
 That the report and Peer Review Peer Challenge Report be noted. 
 
18     SAFEGUARDING ADULTS REVIEWS 

 

Page 315



6 

 
The Sub-Group considered a report which provided an update on the Safeguarding 
Adults Reviews (SARs) currently being undertaken. 
 
David Culy (Lincolnshire Safeguarding Adults Board (LSAB) Business Manager) 
introduced the report and confirmed that although safeguarding adult reviews had 
always been part of the LSAB's remit, The Care Act now legally mandated the Board 
to undertake these reviews.   
 
During discussion of the overview report from the SAR of TH19 (financial 
exploitation), the following points were noted: 
 

 Lincolnshire did not currently have a MASH (Multi-Agency Safeguarding 
Hub) for adult safeguarding.  A hub would be able to immediately form an 
action plan for someone in trouble or needing help.  The review had 
recommended that the county ought to have one; 

 Within the recommendations made by agencies contributing to the review 
were issues relevant to the Adults and Community Wellbeing Scrutiny 
Committee.  Officers would ensure that these would be considered for 
inclusion in the Scrutiny Committee's work programme; 

 A lack of outreach provision within the City of Lincoln had been highlighted 
in the recommendations and this would be fed back to the Executive Director 
for Adult Care; 

 Each agency involved in the case was required to complete an IMR 
(individual management review).  The Board held each agency to account for 
their recommendations. 

 
RESOLVED 
 
 That the report and content be noted. 
 
19     LINCOLNSHIRE SAFEGUARDING BOARDS SCRUTINY SUB-GROUP 

WORK PROGRAMME 
 

The Sub Group considered a report outlining its future work programme and the 
additions made during the meeting. 
 
Volunteers to observe the upcoming meetings of the LSCB and LSAB were sought 
and scheduled. 
 
The Chairman wished it to be noted how grateful the Sub Group was for the help and 
support Dr Emile van der Zee had given during his time as a Parent Governor 
Representative on the Sub Group. 
 
RESOLVED 
 

That the Work Programme of the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards Scrutiny 
Sub-Group be agreed. 

 
The meeting closed at 12.50 pm 

Page 316



 
 

Policy and Scrutiny 
 

Open Report on behalf of Richard Wills,  
Director Responsible for Democratic Services 

 

Report to: Adults and Community Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 14 February 2018 

Subject: 
Adults and Community Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme  

Decision Reference:   Key decision? No   

Summary:  

This item enables the Committee to consider its work programme, which is 
reviewed at each meeting.  Members of the Committee are encouraged to 
highlight items that could be included for consideration.  
 
 

Actions Required: 

The Committee is invited to review, consider and comment on the work 
programme; and highlight any additional scrutiny activity which could be 
included for consideration in the work programme. 
 

 
1. Background 
 
The content of the Committee's work programme is set out below: -  

 
 

 

14 February 2018 – 10.00am 

Item Contributor(s) 

Residential and Nursing Care Fee Levels 
within Adult Care (Pre-Decision Scrutiny 
– Executive Councillor Decision 
22 February 2018) 

Justin Hackney, Assistant Director, 
Specialist Adult Services 

Alina Hackney, Senior Strategic 
Commercial and Procurement Manager 

Alex Craig, Commercial & Procurement 
Manager  - People Services 

Steve Houchin, Head of Finance, Adult 
Care and Community Wellbeing 

Report by the Local Government and 
Social Care Ombudsman (Pre-Decision 
Scrutiny – Executive Decision 6 March 
2018) 

Carolyn Nice, Assistant Director, Adult 
Frailty and Long Term Conditions 

Page 317

Agenda Item 8



14 February 2018 – 10.00am 

Item Contributor(s) 

Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards 
Scrutiny Sub-Group Minutes  - 
15 January 2018 

Democratic Services 

Supported Housing Briefing Paper 

(For Information) 

Lisa Loy, Lisa Loy Housing for 
Independence Programme Manager 

 
 

11 April 2018 – 10.00am  

Item Contributor(s) 

Managed Care Network  

Jane Marshall, Director of Strategy and 
Performance, Lincolnshire Partnership 
NHS Foundation Trust 

Lorraine Graves, Commissioning 
Manager. 

2017/18 Adult Care and Community 
Wellbeing Quarter 3 Performance  

Theo Jarratt, County Manager, 
Performance Quality and Information 

 
 
 

30 May 2018 – 10.00am  

Item Contributor(s) 

Annual Report of the Director of Public 
Health 

Tony McGinty, Consultant in Public 

Health 

2017/18 Adult Care and Community 
Wellbeing Quarter 4 Performance  

Theo Jarratt, County Manager, 
Performance Quality and Information 

Adult Care and Community Wellbeing - 
Budget Outturn Report 

Steve Houchin, Head of Finance, Adult 
Care and Community Wellbeing 

Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards 
Scrutiny Sub-Group Minutes  - 16 April 
2018 

Democratic Services 

 
 

4 July 2018 – 10.00am  

Item Contributor(s) 

  

 
 

Page 318



5 September 2018 – 10.00am  

Item Contributor(s) 

Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards 
Scrutiny Sub-Group Minutes  - 9 July 
2018 

Democratic Services 

 
Potential Items for Inclusion in Work Programme 

 

 Transforming Care – Learning Disabilities.   

 National Carers Strategy  

 The Role of Community Hospitals in the Health and Care System.   

 Joint Commissioning Arrangements.  

 Telecare – General Overview of Provision 

 Telehealth – NHS Provision 

 Health Promotion 

 Alcohol Harm and Substance Misuse Services  
 
 

2. Conclusion
 
Members of the Committee are invited to review, consider and comment on the 
work programme and highlight for discussion any additional scrutiny activity which 
could be included for consideration in the work programme.   
 
3. Consultation 
a)  Have Risks and Impact Analysis been carried out? - Not Applicable 
b)  Risks and Impact Analysis - Not Applicable 
 
4. Background Papers - No background papers within Section 100D of the Local 
Government Act 1972 were used in the preparation of this report. 
 

This report was written by Simon Evans, Health Scrutiny Officer, who can be 
contacted on 01522 553607 or by e-mail at Simon.Evans@lincolnshire.gov.uk 

 

Page 319

mailto:Simon.Evans@lincolnshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

Policy and Scrutiny 
 

Open Report on behalf of Glen Garrod, Executive Director of Adult Care and 
Community Wellbeing 

 

Report to: Adults and Community Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 14 February 2018 

Subject: Supported Housing  

Decision Reference:   Key decision? No   

Summary:  

This report seeks to provide the Committee with insight into the world of  
Supported Housing which  includes the latest local and national developments. 
Supported Housing incorporates a number of activities which bear directly upon 
people with whom Adult Care and Public Health are concerned and are 
therefore of relevance to the remit of this Committee. 
 
 

Actions Required: 

The Committee is invited to consider and comment on the report and highlight 
any areas for further debate. 
 

 
1. Background 
It is well evidenced that a lack of access to the right accommodation causes 
avoidable costs to public bodies such as the National Health Service (NHS) and 
County and District Councils. These costs often relate to: 
 

 Delayed hospital discharge and avoidable hospital admission 

 Avoidable and permanent admission to care homes 

 Increased costs in meeting needs 

 Loss of independence, a chance for an 'ordinary life' 

 Loss of tenancies, build-up of housing related debt 

 Homelessness and rough sleeping 

 Poor transitional arrangements for young people moving into adulthood 

 Lack of employment or social opportunities 
 
The Care Act emphasises that housing is key to meeting people’s needs and 
means that local authorities must: 
 

 Promote wellbeing including around people’s accommodation. 

 Treat housing not just as 'bricks and mortar' but include the support that is 
needed to access housing (such as housing related support) 

 Consider housing access as part of an assessment process to prevent, 
reduce or delay  the need for high cost adult social care services 

Page 321

Agenda Item 10



 

 

 Include information and advice around housing options as part of a universal 
service offer (including self-funders). 

 
The County Council has made real progress through the Health and Wellbeing 
Board (HWB) in getting the recognition housing deserves in both local authority 
and NHS arenas and improving the approach we take to planning and executing 
services for people with housing needs, this is demonstrated by:  
 
- Having a Housing and Health Joint Strategic Needs Assessment; 
- Setting it as a priority for the 2018 Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy; 
- Running a dedicated Health and Wellbeing Board sub-committee called the 

Health and Health Care Delivery Group (HHCDG) to drive better co-
ordinated supported housing services including the better management of 
the expanding Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG); 

- Prioritising new build to increase Extra Care Housing capacity in the County; 
- Operating several pilots to improve speed of a housing service response 

and facilitating improved support to acute hospital services. 
 
The HHCDG brings governance and structure to the supported housing debate in 
the county and with the above development we believe our approach in 
Lincolnshire will be seen as best practice when developing what we expect will be 
a requirement for a Supported Housing Strategic Plan. 
 
Late in 2017, the then Department for Communities and Local Government 
(DCLG) produced a consultation document with respect to Supported Housing.  
With the support of three Portfolio Holders: Cllr Bradwell, Cllr Woolley and Cllr Poll 
the County Council has recently (23rd January 2018) taken the opportunity to 
respond (and this is attached as Appendix A). This was an in-depth and united 
response which included comments from the Children's Department. The rationale 
for submitting such a comprehensive response is due to the significant impact and 
opportunity this presents.  
 
The Ministry is proposing that with respect to Supported Housing the new 
proposed model will be tailored to satisfy three main types of supported housing: 
short-term, long-term and sheltered/extra care. The kind of services that sit within 
this classification that we are concerned with would include Housing Related 
Support, Extra Care, adapted housing eg. both DFG, equipment; long term housing 
for people with profound disabilities, telecare and ultimately 'housing for life' design 
standards. In addition, some of the socio-psychological factors such as social 
isolation and hoarding behaviour would sit alongside. 
 
We recognise it is vitally important that the future funding for Supported Housing  
takes into account the wider context facing local authorities. In particular, the 
overall funding challenge, and especially adult social care who fund the support 
element of supported housing, the availability of follow-on housing and welfare 
reform.  
 
Key Points to note: 

 We believe that the Government intends future funding for Supported 
Housing will come to the County Council as the upper-tier authority. 

Page 322



 

 

 Lincolnshire is in a positive position due to the governance structure we 
have created, via the Health and Wellbeing Board (H&WB). As such the 
H&WB has a pivotal role in overseeing a coherent approach across the 
County Council, the NHS and District Councils.  

 This presents an excellent opportunity to integrate housing, health and care 
support 

 The County Council would like to test out personal housing budgets to 
compliment personal health and care budgets 

 We believe we are best placed to host and collectively develop a strategic 
supported housing plan 
 

As the local housing agenda evolves and gains momentum we also see central 
government has renewed its focus on housing renaming DCLG to the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG). This demonstrates the 
important profile housing is been given. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/government-renews-focus-on-housing-with-
ministry-of-housing-communities-and-local-government 
 
The County Council has a newly formed "Housing Forum", formerly Extra Care 
Housing Sponsoring Group. This new forum will act as a senior sponsoring group 
and provide strategic direction to LCC housing activities; providing a link to the 
Lincolnshire Health and Wellbeing Board, the Housing, Health and Care Delivery 
Group and any other related boards.  
 
An internal County Council internal officers "Housing" working group: the internal 
officers working group was established in October 2017 and aims to be a single co-
ordinated voice when working with District Councils and other stakeholders on 
supported housing related matters. It will support and develop a programme of 
demand planning, sharing procurement information, developing a whole system 
based approach – with associated needs analysis (cf. JSNA) for supported housing 
plus providing a consistent response to policy consultations.  
 
Extra Care Housing  
 
The County Council has, for a number of years, seen the growth in Extra Care 
schemes in areas of high demand as a priority. Indeed, it is part of the current 
administrations Manifesto (2017). Progress has been slow but most recently the 
pace of progress has quickened. The ambition is to develop a range of Extra Care 
schemes to meet increasing demand, recognising that Lincolnshire has a low 
percentage of available Extra Care provision when compared to similar Councils. 
 
As such a subsequent report on this agenda will seek this Committee's support for 
the first of what is hoped will be several Extra Care schemes being built around the 
County with the County Council's support. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 323

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/government-renews-focus-on-housing-with-ministry-of-housing-communities-and-local-government
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/government-renews-focus-on-housing-with-ministry-of-housing-communities-and-local-government


 

 

2. Conclusion
 
Housing, specifically Supported Housing has become a much higher profile matter 
for the County Council in recent years, rightly so given its importance to many of 
the people  whom the County Council has a legal duty to support. It has equal 
relevance to NHS colleagues in such areas as 'Transforming Care' and in 
facilitating timely discharges. However, District Councils have many of the legal 
duties that relate to housing. As such an approach that engages support and co-
operation is a prerequisite to providing the right accommodation in meeting current 
and future needs of the most vulnerable in our community.   
 
3. Consultation 
 

a)  Have Risks and Impact Analysis been carried out? - Not Applicable 
 
b)  Risks and Impact Analysis - Not Applicable 
 
 
4. Appendices 
 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix A                

     
 
 
5. Background Papers - No background papers within Section 100D of the Local 
Government Act 1972 were used in the preparation of this report. 
 

This report was written by Lisa Loy HFI Programme Manager, who can be 
contacted on 01522 554697 or by e-mail at lisa.loy@lincolnshire.gov.uk 

 

Page 324

mailto:lisa.loy@lincolnshire.gov.uk


Draft Lincolnshire County Council Collective Response to the Funding of 
Supported Housing Consultation and Housing Costs for Sheltered and Extra 
Care Accommodation Consultation 
 
 
Lincolnshire County Council welcomes the opportunity to respond to the Supported Housing 
consultation.  
 
In Lincolnshire we have made real progress through the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) in 
getting the recognition housing deserves in both local authority and NHS arenas and improving the 
approach we take to planning and executing services for people with housing needs. The 
Lincolnshire HWB recognised the importance of housing by: 
 

- Having a Housing and Health Joint Strategic Needs Assessment; 
- Setting it as a priority for the 2018 Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy; 
- Running a dedicated Health and Wellbeing Board sub-committee called the Health and 

Health Care Delivery Group (HHCDG) to drive integration; 
- Prioritising new build to increase Extra Care Housing capacity in the County; 
- Operating several pilots to improve speed of a housing service response and facilitating 

improved support to acute services. 
 
The HHCDG brings governance and structure to the housing debate in the county, and brings 
together stakeholders from a range of statutory organisations, e.g. District Councils, County Council 
and the NHS. With these developments, we think Lincolnshire is extremely well placed to be an area 
used to display best practice.  
 
Lincolnshire is a historically underfunded county which has been effective in making the best use of 
our limited public sector resources. We believe the Government should ensure sufficient funding is 
provided through the proposed ring fence grant for both short term supported housing now and 
longer term. Also, we believe a five year grant settlement would give the certainty providers need to 
continue investing in supported housing for vulnerable people and will help towards developing a 
strategic plan for 'social housing', we do  recognise issues presented in the housing arena with 
unitary and two-tier areas, but welcome the opportunity it also presents. 
  
In whichever way the supported housing funding policy is finally shaped; the key to confident and 
sustainable development in Lincolnshire will be the longevity of the grant funding and the avoidance 
of additional unfunded burdens on local organisations.   
 
Councils must be funded as soon as possible through the New Burdens process to evaluate need and 
set up the ongoing systems needed to implement the proposed changes to short-term 
accommodation. It will also need to consider how best to support and resource Councils to develop 
strategic plans for 'social housing' in both unitary and two-tier areas. 
 
As a county, we in Lincolnshire have adopted a positive approach to pooled budgets and individual 
personal budgets. We can demonstrate this through our early implementation of the IPC sites. As 
such, we would be keen to see the opportunity, or the introduction, of this approach into supported 
personal housing budgets that are aligned to health and care personal budgets. 
 
We welcome the degree to which the new funding arrangements may allow local variation to meet 
local needs, however, in an increasingly joined up health, care and housing environment we believe 

Page 325



consistency across boundaries in some areas is key.  For example, housing and care organisations in 
Lincolnshire work with NHS organisations from at least 6 different top tier authority areas and 
significant variation in service provision will complicate integration.  Particular areas where we 
would urge consideration of stronger national frameworks include: 
 

 The grant conditions. This would reduce the risk of a postcode lottery for services that are 
available, and could perhaps guarantee a level of service for those most in need of housing 
related support.  

 

 Also, we believe the Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) should be 
more prescriptive with the outline of the governance arrangements for working with non-
commissioned services, which can be challenging. In our experience, separation of 
governance arrangements for non-commissioned services from the strategic arrangements 
for commissioned supported housing reduces our ability to design whole systems.  

 
Delayed Transfers of Care (DToC) are a major national issue. The lack of appropriate accommodation 
plays an important role in reducing the number of DTOCs and the inclusion of the NHS in the 
forthcoming new arrangements will assist greatly in addressing these issues. 
 
We welcome the proposal to devolve the funding for short term supported housing to upper tier 
local authorities as this supports the integration agenda referred to above. However, we believe the 
separation of long and short term funding arrangements weakens the overall supported housing 
offer. 
 
We think the proposed start date of April 2020 is very ambitious, particularly for short-term 
accommodation. We believe 2020/21 should be a transitional year with shadow allocations that will 
test the new funding model. Sufficient time must be allowed to properly involve local authorities in 
developing the detail, test the new approaches in different places and get ready for implementation. 
 
There are a number of areas of gap or omission in the consultation version of the proposed new 
funding arrangements.  We would urge inclusion of these issues, with the best degree of clarity 
available in the final guidelines: 
  
1. What are the indicative government spending plans to fund supported housing? 

a. How is this split between sheltered housing, short-term supported housing and long-
term supported housing?  

b. We understand there may have been changes to previous assumptions in November’s 
budget. Is there still an expectation that savings will be made in this area, over what 
timeframes and whether this will take account of the different starting points in each 
local area? 

 
2. What evidence on the true cost of providing sheltered and extra care housing will be used to set 

the regulated sheltered housing rent? 
a. Will there be regional (or other) variations in the regulated rent? 
b. The level of the regulated rent is obviously a key factor in determining whether 

providers are confident to invest in developing new schemes. 
 

3. How will the regulated rent increase be calculated in future years? 
a. The Policy Statement states the government will consider how the limit in rent increases 

of CPI + 1% will be applied to the sheltered housing rent. 
 

Page 326



4. Will there be changes to Housing Benefit regulations or changes to the guidance to local 
authorities in how they interpret the regulations?  

a. There is concern that this could be a method to cut allowances outside of this 
consultation process. 

 
5. Does the government expect to include all the schemes which are currently commonly identified 

as sheltered housing within the new definition as the basis for the sheltered housing rent?  
a. There is an anxiety that the government will reduce the number of homes to be covered 

by the sheltered housing rent; understanding the government’s intentions will help in 
drawing up the definitions. 

 
6. Would existing schemes not meeting the new definition of sheltered housing be covered by the 

proposed funding regime for long-term supported housing? 
 

7. How does the government expect to deal with schemes currently defined as exempt 
accommodation?  

 
8. Will there be any transitional arrangements?  

a. The degree to which transitional arrangements will be necessary is difficult to identify 
until there is greater detail in the proposals to enable us to identify the impact on 
residents and providers. 

 
9. The consultation refers to a greater role for residents but what does this mean in practice? 

a. We are keen to work closely with residents to build their understanding of the balance 
between cost and quality alongside the impact of the funding changes. 

 
10. How will local authorities influence the supply of sheltered housing and the services provided by 

existing and new schemes?  
a. The Draft National Statement of Expectation provides limited detail on how local 

authorities will work with older people and providers.  
b. We are keen to build on our relationships with local authorities to ensure the homes will 

meet a range of housing needs, whilst helping to relieve the pressures on health and 
social care.  

 
11. Will a full impact assessment on the changes be completed and made available when greater 

detail on the implementation is available? 
 
It is vitally important the future of supported housing funding takes into account the wider context 
facing local authorities. In particular, the overall funding challenge facing councils, and especially 
adult social care who fund the support element of supported housing, the availability of follow-on 
housing and welfare reform.  
 
Key Points to draw from Lincolnshire response: 

 We believe Lincolnshire is in a positive position due to the governance structure we have 
created, via the Health and Wellbeing Board. It has created a health and wellbeing arena 
that is underpinned by the evidence of the Housing and Health JSNA topic. We suggest this 
approach should be adopted as a standard. 

 We believe Lincolnshire is in a position to develop personalised housing budgets that are 
aligned to personalised health and care budgets. We see this is an excellent opportunity to 
integrate housing, health and care support.  

Page 327



 Lincolnshire County Council understands the complexity of the housing agenda within a two 
tier local authority structure. We believe we are best placed to host and collectively develop 
the strategic supported housing plan. The current governance structure will support this to 
ensure we have a joint plan of evidence that meets the needs of the population of 
Lincolnshire. 
 

I trust this is helpful as a general response to the proposals.  In the enclosed document we have 
provided some more specific responses to consultation questions. 
 
Collective response from Lincolnshire County Council 
 
 
 

Page 328



Funding Supported Housing: Responses to Consultation Questions 
 

Question 1: Do you agree with this definition? 

The definition covers many of our existing short term/transitional supported accommodation 
services. However, it provides limited detail on how local authorities will work with older people and 
providers. We think the limitation of up to 2 years restricts the innovative projects who are adopting 
the housing first model.  
 
Also, the definition of short term supported accommodation should identify young people as a 
specific group who require support.  
 

 

Question 2: What detailed design features would help to provide the necessary assurance that 
costs will be met? 

- A fair formula for calculating future costs that incorporates both inflation and growth to meet 
2020/2021 costs, and extend to in-house responses; 

- Ability for local authorities to ask for their grant allocation to be reassessed to ensure that costs 
are met. Reassessment may be due to change or circumstances (enable innovation,  an 
unforeseen change in costs or increase in need) or to appeal the original amount; 

- An understanding of the length of the ring-fence so that providers can feel confident in investing 
in short-term/transitional supported housing, as changes to the market could affect the forecast 
of future costs; 

- A light touch audit – with the ability to factor in anticipated demand in needs assessment. 
 

 

Question 3:  

a) Local authorities – do you already have a Supported Housing plan (or plan for it specifically 
within any wider strategies)? 

- We are currently updating the Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy to take account of recent 
legislative changes. The delivery plan will address some elements of supported housing. 

- The HWB has identified Housing and Health as a priority for Lincolnshire, and this is planned for 
inclusion in the 2018 Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. A Housing and Health JSNA topic has 
informed this priority and supported housing is incorporated within this.  

- Lincolnshire has a Youth Housing Strategic Delivery Board.  
-  

c) All - how would the Supported Housing plan fit with other plans or strategies (homelessness, 
domestic abuse, drugs strategies, Local Strategic Needs Assessments)? 

The supported housing plan fits in with the following: 
- HWB/JHWS priority  
- JSNA Housing and Health topic 
- Lincolnshire Drugs and Alcohol Strategy: 

o In the strategy we say we will develop an action plan to address the housing needs of 
alcohol and drugs users, helping to support their re-integration into society. The lead for 
this is the Community Safety Partnership, and the priorities have changed for 2018. 
Drugs and Alcohol are no longer an identified priority.  

- Sufficiency Strategy 
- Youth Housing Board 
- New Youth Accommodation Strategy Board. 
 

 

Question 4: 

Page 329



a) Local authorities – do you already carry out detailed needs assessment by individual client 
group?   

In the Homelessness Reduction Act there is a duty on local housing authorities to have personalised 
housing plans that will set out the actions the authority and individuals will take to secure 
accommodation. We believe the understanding of planning is a key point, both for the housing 
authority and individual. It would be helpful to have extra guidance to allow for a consistent 
approach.  
 
In Public Health commissioned supported housing (accommodation based and floating support), 
each individual has a support plan in place. It is a self-identified, self-assessed plan.  There are a 
range of outcomes an individual may wish to meet, from financial to accessing support for mental 
health. The provider supports the individual to attain the goals they have set within the timescales of 
the support. Support can be extended to make sure an individual can meet their desired outcomes. 
The support plan is flexible and can be altered at any time.  
 
Moving into Adulthood - when a young person in Lincolnshire with a physical or learning disability, 
or long term condition is approaching adulthood and needs practical support, they can ask us to look 
at their social care needs as an adult. In order to work out what these needs are, we will need to 
carry out an assessment. The Transition Assessment should be undertaken alongside the reviews of 
the EHC plan, and should inform the plan for transition from children’s to adult services. Before the 
young person turns 18 years old a Transition Assessment must be carried out if it considered that 
the young person is likely to have care and support needs when they turn 18 years old, and if it is of 
‘significant benefit’ to carry out an assessment at that time. Transition Assessments need to be 
carried out early enough so that the right care and support is in place when the young person moves 
to Adult Care. However, the timing of the assessment will depend on the individual needs of the 
young person.  Care must be taken to arrange assessments with minimal disruption to the young 
person’s life. 
 
The analysis of youth housing capacity will be updated in the near future to take into account the 
changing demand, linked to the Sufficiency Strategy. We endeavour to ensure the local needs 
analysis will cover all Children's bases, including giving consideration to relationships with other 
authorities where Looked After Children and Care Leavers are placed out of county and innovative 
in-county solutions such as Supported Lodgings. 
 
 
 

c) All – is the needs assessment as described in the National Statement of Expectation achievable? 

Despite it being achievable in principal, we do not know to which the timeline this would be. We will 
need to understand the timeframes, as it will take a significant amount of time to undertake this 
area of work.  
 

 

Question 5: Do you agree with this approach? 

Lincolnshire is organised under a two tier system of local authority. Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) 
is the lead commissioner for social care for vulnerable adults and children. We also act as the lead 
commissioner for some health provision under either public health responsibilities or by specific 
agreement with the NHS. Some of the services we commission include supported housing, social 
care, drug and alcohol services and domestic abuse services. The devolving of the funding to us 
would allow best value co-ordination of the grant to minimise impact on vulnerable service users. 
 
After the Supporting People ring fence was removed Lincolnshire County Council continued to invest 

Page 330



approximately £4 million in temporary/transitional supported accommodation for adults and young 
people.  As such, we have continued to have knowledge and commissioning skills around housing 
related support. This investment demonstrates the importance we attribute to this area.  Allocating 
the grant to Lincolnshire County Council will enable us to co-ordinate a county-wide strategic 
approach to supported housing that achieves best value and measurable outcomes. A countywide 
approach will allow for a plan that incorporates services that are both county-wide and small 
localised services and, if appropriate, cross county boundaries.       
 
Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) funding is already allocated to the upper tier authority, via the Better 
Care Fund (BCF) and aids the co-ordination of housing related investment across the 8 authorities.  
 
Allocation of the Supported Housing Funding will strengthen this co-ordinating role.   
 

 

Question 6: The draft National Statement of Expectation (see Section 4) published today sets out 
further detail on new oversight arrangements and the role of local authorities. We would welcome 
your views on the statement and suggestions for detailed guidance.  

Lincolnshire County Council welcomes the additional detailed guidance.  
 
Generally, we have found issues due to a lack of affordable, move on housing. In turn, this means 
supported housing becomes blocked as individuals cannot be moved out, and our providers cannot 
work with new individuals who require support. 
 
Children who are 16 and 17 years old and who are not looked after do not transfer to leaving care so 
do not have the additional support or access to supported accommodation as it stands.  Only Looked 
After Children (LAC) and those leaving the care of Lincolnshire County Council are supported beyond 
18 years old. What support/funding can be offered to those young people who are not LAC in order 
to support them moving on from supported accommodation? 
 
Also, we wonder if DCLG wish to be more prescriptive in the future (through Grant Conditions), or 
will areas not outlined in the National Statement of Expectations be left to Local Authorities to 
manage?  
 

 

Question 7: Do you currently have arrangements in place on providing for those with no local 
connection? 

In our Public Health commissioned housing related support services, we currently have service 
provision for people with no local area connection:   
- We currently commission 2 domestic abuse refuges, but we do not have a formal agreement 

with any other authorities to offer refuge to people from Lincolnshire who requires refuge out of 
county.   

- We also currently commission short term emergency housing related support service.  These 
services  support:  

o people without any local area connection 
o people without a local area connection to Lincolnshire  
o ex-offenders 
o people with drug and alcohol dependencies. 

 
Currently, Lincolnshire County Council Children's Services does not have formal arrangements with 
our providers, but we do allow other local authorities to utilise space if they agree to cover support 
costs. We are currently working on agreeing a Protocol across the upper tier Authority and with 

Page 331



lower tier Authorities for the transition of young people from supported accommodation to move-
on accommodation, including overcoming issues related to local connection at lower-tier level and 
exploring the Local Offer for Care Leavers across Lincolnshire. 
One of the main concerns is for young people/ Care Leavers placed out of county who build up 
relationships and local networks of support but may struggle to access move-on accommodation 
due to a lack of local connection. 
 
We would like some clarity over people with no recourse to public funds under the new 
arrangements.  
 

  

Question 8: How can we help to ensure that local authorities are able to commission both 
accommodation and associated support costs in a more aligned and strategic way? Do you have 
further suggestions to ensure this is achieved? 

Lincolnshire County Council advocates a long term, ring fencing of the funding and we have 
previously asked for the ability to ensure allocations to specific areas. For example, this would allow 
us to commission longer term arrangements without sustainability fears for providers and allow 
them to invest in good quality/fit for purpose accommodation. It is still important we have the ability 
to innovate, so we could, for example, develop our own buildings and still commission support.  
 
A focus on the duties of Health and Wellbeing Boards to drive integration across sectors would 
support this aspiration. 
 
- Additional funding for implementation;  

- Support to simplify planning application for supported housing; 
- A long lead time to enable to align existing commissioned services and non-commissioned 

services and undertake a good quality future proof commissioning exercise. We would like to 
know if DCLG will be able to provide us with details of who housing benefit is paid to.  

- We would welcome some clarity to how the support cost of currently non-commissioned 
services will be met in the future.  Some of the non-commissioned services in our area are 
funded by a mixture of housing benefit (including service charge/intensive housing 
management) and the providers revenue/charitable donations;  how does the Government 
perceive the 'providers revenue/charitable donations' element to be commissioned in the future 
so that it is not a shortfall for local authorities? 
 

 

Question 9: How will you prepare for implementation in 2020 and what can the Government do to 
facilitate this?  

We would like it clarified whether 2020 is the actually go live date, or is this the date the proposals 
are started to be introduced from? The implementation of any proposals, for us, would follow the 
same stages as any other commissioning exercise. Therefore, it is important to clarify exactly what 
the 2020 date means.  
 
We believe there is a need for DCLG to establish pilot areas to test the implementation and 
proposals laid out in this consultation. As per the consultation document for needs analysis joint 
working, we believe that pilot areas are a must.  
 

 

Question 10: What suggestions do you have for testing and/or piloting the funding model?  

 
It is important that the pilot areas are indicative of the different scenarios across the county, for 

Page 332



example: 
- Unitary and two tier;  
- Authorities that currently commission a range of supported housing (including short-

term/transitional) and those that do not; 
- urban and rural.   
 
In 2017, a range of partners (including Lincolnshire County Council, District Councils, and NHS) bid 
for, and were successful in getting funding for an assertive street outreach project to tackle the long 
term causes of homelessness. The project went live in September 2017 and its aims are to offer 
lasting, integrated support to people by helping people access and sustain accommodation, mental 
health and drug/alcohol support and education, training and employment opportunities. 
 
https://www.p3charity.org/services/action-lincs-homelessness-project-in-lincolnshire  
 

 

Question 11: If you have any further comments on any aspects of our proposals for short term 
supported housing, please could you state them here. 

- The proposals do not explain the intentions for housing first schemes.  
o Will these be considered as Long Term Accommodation?   

 
- The ability to manage a tenancy and pay rent is a key objective for many service users in housing 

related support services. Removing the payment of rent from supported housing will have a big 
impact on the nature of the provision.  It will impact on the tenancy agreements legally 
available. For example, service users will no longer be able to have Assured Shorthold Tenancy 
agreements and this in turn will impact on tenants' rights. Service users will no longer have a 
period of time to learn how to manage the payment of rent, and they will not be able to use it in 
references when moving on to long-term accommodation.  

 
- Will '2 years' be defined more thoroughly?  

o For example, do DCLG wish to outline whether people can return to service within a 
certain time frame or in what circumstances people can stay for longer than 2 years?  

 
- The consultation document does not take account of shared lives services which can be 

emergency provision, short term / reablement, long term (plus sitting services, day opportunities 
etc). A single 'host family' can provide services to up to 3 people within their home (therefore a 
supported housing environment), who may require support in the very short / short / long term, 
depending on their immediate and longer term needs. The arrangements to be taken forward in 
2020 need to take account of this, and be clear on the requirements for 'host families' 
particularly as Lincolnshire is keen to develop the shared lives service model over the next few 
years. 
 

- The consultation focusses the County Council's attention on: 
o Youth Housing/Supported Accommodation,  
o Supported Lodgings (Children's Services), 
o Housing Related Support (Public Health – MH crisis beds, domestic abuse refuges, 

floating support, rough sleeping services). 
 

In terms of specifics around Children's Services, whilst there are references to care leavers, 
teenage parents, and vulnerable young groups, there is not a specific mention of 16 to 17 year 
olds who are homeless, but without, and who may not want, a Looked After Children (LAC) 
status.  

Page 333

https://www.p3charity.org/services/action-lincs-homelessness-project-in-lincolnshire


Also, it is important the outcome of any changes should mean funding for bed spaces and not for 
people. 
 

 

 
 
 

CONSULTATION ON HOUSING COSTS FOR SHELTERED AND EXTRA CARE 
ACCOMMODATION 
 

CONSULTATION ON HOUSING COSTS FOR SHELTERED AND EXTRA CARE ACCOMMODATION – 
LINCOLNSHIRE RESPONSE 

Q1. What are your views on the following:  

Sheltered Housing definition: what are the features and characteristics of sheltered housing and 
what would be the practical implications of defining it in those terms?  
 
We believe that there needs to be a clear definition to give a consistent approach.  It will need to 
reflect the change in need and future demand, but take into account some people of working age 
may live in sheltered accommodation.  
 

Extra Care definition: What are the features and characteristics of extra care housing and what 
would be the practical implications of defining it in those terms? 
 
Extra care provision provides higher levels of support than sheltered housing, with care workers 
available on site for up to 24 hours a day for those residents (55 years+) who need personal care and 
support. Occupants may be owners, part owners or tenants (which is not the case for residency in 
sheltered housing). Schemes are able to support residents with lower level needs through to 
significant assessed care needs including dementia. The level / intensity of care provided is likely to 
be lower than that available / provided within the residential care sector but greater than sheltered 
housing residents due to the provision of personal care. In addition to long term residency, extra 
care can be used for intermediate care and rehabilitation. 
 

Is there an alternative approach to defining this stock, for instance housing that is usually 
designated for older people? What would be the practical implications of defining sheltered and 
extra care supported housing in those terms?  
 
Clear distinctions need to be made between sheltered housing (where residents generally have 
higher levels of independence) and extra care, therefore the suggestion that 'housing that is usually 
designated for older people' as a definition would not be appropriate. As identified above, Extra 
Care provision can potentially be accessed by people with a variety of needs including people aged 
55 years+ with learning disabilities, physical disabilities and mental health needs.  
 

 
Q2. Housing costs for sheltered and extra care housing will continue to be funded through the 
welfare system. To meet the Government's objectives of ensuring greater oversight and value for 
money, central government is introducing a 'Sheltered Rent' to cover rent inclusive of eligible 
service charges. 

How should the detailed elements of this approach be designed to maximise the local authority's 
ability to commit to future supply? 
 

Page 334



In order to effectively implement the changes to funding arrangements for Supported Housing rent 
and service charges, clarity is required from central Government regarding exactly what is covered 
within the rent and eligible service charge to be funded through the welfare system. This will ensure 
that extra care and sheltered housing providers (and potential investors / providers) are clear about 
costings and rental and service charge income.  
 
There should not be any ambiguity as Lincolnshire County Council, District Councils and partners 
should not have financial responsibility for 'topping up' providers' income if they have not costed 
their supported housing services correctly and ensured financially sustainable provision. 
 

 
Q3. Government is keen to make appropriate allowance for eligible service charges within 
Sheltered Rent that fairly reflects the costs of this provision, whilst protecting the taxpayer. 

What are the key principles and factors that drive the setting of service charges (both eligible and 
ineligible)? 
 
Lincolnshire County Council believes that District Council's and supported housing providers are best 
placed to confirm how service charges are identified and set. It is important to note that there is not 
a 'one size fits all' approach to setting and making service charges locally or nationally. 
  

What drives variations? 
 
 

 
Q4. The Select Committee and a number of other sector representatives have suggested that a 
banded approach is used to reflect variety of provision across the sector. Central government is 
interested in hearing more about this. 

What are local authorities' views on how this will work for sheltered and extra care housing? 
 
A banded approach may be useful but this should not be fixed by upper tier local authority area. For 
example, within Lincolnshire some districts are more affluent than others and rents will reflect this. 
Local Housing Allowance amounts vary across each of the seven districts in Lincolnshire. 
 

 
Q5. Question for Providers: 

On what basis do you review eligible service charges? 
 
n/a 
 

What drives changes (More than once a year; Annually; Every 2 years; Every 3-5 years; Every 5 
years or more; When a new tenant moves out of the property; Other (please state) 
 
n/a 

 
Q6. Question for Providers: 

Of your service charges, what percentage is paid by Welfare payments – through eligible service 
charge; Local authorities e.g. through supporting people; The tenant; Any other reflections 
 
n/a 
 

Page 335



 
Q7. Attached to the policy statement is a draft National Statement of Expectation (section 4 of the 
consultation paper) 

What are your views on the Statement and suggestions for detailed guidance (Sheltered and Extra 
Care Housing) 
 
The NSE sets out central Government's overall expectations and vision, and recognises that demand 
for sheltered and extra care housing will increase year on year, given the rising older people 
population. This is positive, in principle, however the NSE refers to local authorities working with 
providers, H&WB Boards etc but central government has offered no commitment / reassurance 
regarding additional funding to ensure sufficient supported housing is available to meet growing 
demand. Confirmation regarding central Government's spending plans for supported housing is 
needed, i.e. is the intention for savings to be achieved at the local level year on year? Consideration 
needs to be given to increases in need, inflationary uplifts in costs etc. Supported housing is often 
more expensive to provide, and this is particularly the case in terms of extra care housing schemes, 
which include extensive (and potentially costly) communal areas. 
 
In short term supported housing, there are likely to be people who could be moved onto more 
independent living (perhaps with floating support) which would free up spaces for new users. 
However, people who move into extra care housing could potentially be supported within this 
setting for a number of years before requiring a more intensive level of service provided by, for 
example, residential care schemes. Consequently, throughput volumes will be lower than that for 
short term supported housing. 
 
We agree with regards the importance of working in partnership with lower tier authorities, housing 
providers, stakeholders and people who use our services to set out our local 5 year strategic plan 
and our intentions to meet the current and future needs of people who access supported housing. 
The challenges will be how to establish collaborative arrangements across local authorities' 
boundaries outside of Lincolnshire. 
 
In order to ensure market confidence in the County Council's commitment to ensuring suitable / 
appropriate provision of sheltered and extra care housing, it is crucially important that the 
mechanism and process used for calculating local rent levels are transparent, flexible and take 
account of local socio-economic and demographic variations. 
 

 
Q8. The National Statement of Expectation encourages greater partnership working at local level 
regarding supported housing, including sheltered and extra care housing 

What partnership arrangements do you have for sheltered and extra care housing at the local 
level? 
 
Local Housing and Health Care Delivery Board (HHCDB) - represented by the 7 District Councils, NHS 
and Lincolnshire County Council. The HHCDB reports into Lincolnshire's Health and Wellbeing Board 
 

 
Q9. Government has moved the implementation of the reform on sheltered and extra care 
accommodation to April 2020. 

How will you prepare for implementation in 2020, and what can the Government do to facilitate 
this? 
 

Page 336



Confirmation from central Government regarding the actual go live date is required. 
 
Have any authorities been involved in any pilot work to date? If so, information regarding the 
outcome of the pilots would be helpful for strategic planning purposes. 
 
We are keen to understand a detailed implementation timeframe as soon as possible. The proposals 
will involve transition and possible change within our housing and social care departments. The 
arrangements should be flexible enough to work within a range of local contexts.  
 
There are a number of detailed issues to work through around defining this type of housing, the 
setting of the sheltered rent and any bands and the treatment of eligible service charges. We look 
forward to being fully involved in this work.  
 
It is essential the proposed sheltered rent(s) is robustly tested. Most importantly, there must be 
enough time to learn from the testing phase before rollout. 
 

 
Q10. Deferred implementation will allow for additional preparatory measures 

What suggestions do you have for testing Sheltered Rent? 
 
Whilst Lincolnshire County Council is keen for the testing of Sheltered Housing Rent before the 'go 
live' date, this requires the full collaboration with the districts. There is the potential to test 
Sheltered Rents with one or more of Lincolnshire's District Council's once discussions have taken 
place in this regard. 
 

 
Q11: How do support services predominantly in sheltered and extra care accommodation get 
commissioned in your organisation or local area? By local authority (upper tier); By local authority 
(lower tier); Through the local NHS; Other (eg nationally) – please name 

Lincolnshire County Council commissions the support service for sheltered housing provision (via 
Better Care Fund). 
 
Extra care support services are jointly commissioned by Lincolnshire County Council and the relevant 
lower tier local authority through formal contractual partnership arrangements. 
 

 
Q12. Government believes the sector can play an important role in driving forward improvements 
in outcomes and value for money, for instance through joint commissioning and sharing of best 
practice. 

What role can the sector play in driving these improvements forward? 
 
This is already the case in terms of joint commissioning arrangements for extra care housing in 
Lincolnshire. Lincolnshire County Council has a track record of ensuring outcomes are met within an 
efficient contractual arrangement with our preferred providers in the local market. We are confident 
that we can deliver outcomes and value for money with regards sheltered housing and extra care 
housing provision and are keen to jointly commission a range of services where this route offers a 
sustainable, cost effective option for ourselves and partner organisations. 
  

 
Q13. If you have any further comments on any aspects of Government's proposals for sheltered 

Page 337



and extra care accommodation, please state 

The consultation document does not take account of shared lives services which can be emergency 
provision, short term / reablement, long term (plus sitting services, day opportunities etc).  A single 
'host family' can provide services to up to 3 people within their home (therefore a supported 
housing environment), who may require support in the very short / short / long term, depending on 
their immediate and longer term needs. The arrangements to be taken forward in 2020 need to take 
account of this, and be clear on the requirements for 'host families' particularly as Lincolnshire is 
keen to develop the shared lives service model over the next few years. 
 

 

Page 338



                        
Policy and Scrutiny 

 

Report on behalf of Glen Garrod 
Executive Director of Adult Care and Community Wellbeing 

 

Report to: Adults and Community Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 14 February 2018 

Subject: 
Extra Care Housing – Partnership with District 
Councils 

Decision Reference:   Key decision? No   

 

Summary:  

The Council has an ongoing need for Extra Care Housing (ECH) facilities in 
Lincolnshire in order to alleviate the long term pressure for the provision of 
residential care in the County and to increase the availability of Extra Care 
Housing generally. 
 
This report provides information on a collaboration approach for the delivery of 
Extra Care Housing using available County Council capital resources by 
entering into partnerships with District Councils with a Housing Revenue 
Accounts (HRA) 
 
 

Actions Required: 

To note the report 
 

 
1. Background 
 
1.1 ECH is a provision that is at the mid-point between full time residential care 

and domiciliary care. ECH is designed in such a way that allows it to respond 
to the changing care needs of customers as they grow older. The design of 
ECH means that it can be adapted in a relatively easy way to cater for the 
needs of dementia sufferers (e.g. fitting hand rails and high contrast features). 

 
1.2 The County Council has estimated a need for 600 Extra Care Housing Units 

across the County and has an allocated capital budget of £8 million to assist 
in developing units, it is not expected that this sum will provide for all the 
demand but could potentially deliver between 100 -150 units 

 
1.3 The Council has previously sought to invite ECH proposals from developers,   

however interest has been limited due to a number of factors including 
National Benefit changes and the level of risk developers are prepared to take 
and consequently the Council has now considered alternative ECH delivery 
models 

 

Page 339

Agenda Item 11



1.4 In Nottinghamshire the County Council and some District Councils are 
working together via a cooperation agreement to develop Extra Care housing, 
this model has been reviewed by Legal Services Lincolnshire and it is a 
model that LCC can support 

 
1.5  The cooperation model typically requires the County Council to contribute 

capital for a development and in return secure 30 year nomination rights for a 
specified number of apartments, the County Council retain the risk for voids, 
however this is mitigated by the District Council being able to let vacant units 
as general housing should voids occur. Nomination rights follow void 
availability subject to the specified maximum enabling a level of flexibility. It is 
expected that the level of investment will typically be in the region of £80,000 
per unit in return for the 30 year nomination period this figure as a proportion 
of the overall build cost will depend on the size of the scheme. The model 
requires the County Council to provide the care support which would be via 
existing or future Council care support contracts 

 
1.6  The capital contribution from the County Council will not provide all the 

necessary funding for the construction and the remainder of funding will be 
provided by a combination the District Council and Homes England (formerly 
Homes and Communities Agency). 

 
1.7  The capital investment will provide preferential access to the specified 

number of homes. The homes will provide residents with high quality, flexible 
accommodation for old age.  The schemes will encourage independence and 
targeted well-being and care and this reduces dependence on residential care 
and reduces incidences of poor health and hospitalisation. 

 
1.8  The County Council is currently preparing schemes with the City of Lincoln 

and North Kesteven and will explore opportunities with other District Councils 
with Housing revenue accounts in due course 

 
2. Conclusion
 
The County Council & District Council ECH partnership provides an opportunity for 
the early delivery of ECH in Lincolnshire. The committee is requested to note the 
report  
 
3. Consultation 

 
The Adults and Community Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee is being presented with 
this as an information report. 
 
3. Background Papers 
 
No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
were used in the preparation of this report. 
 
This report was written by Kevin Kendall, who can be contacted on 01522 553726 
or kevin.kendall@lincolnshire.gov.uk.  
 

Page 340

mailto:kevin.kendall@lincolnshire.gov.uk

	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting of the Adults and Community Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee held on 10 January 2018
	5 Residential and Nursing Care Fee Levels within Adult Social Care
	Appendix 1 - Residential and Nursing Care Usual Costs - Adult Care 2018
	Appendix A to Exec Report - Report on Indicative Home Care Costs 2017
	Appendix B to Exec Report - Review of Residential Care Market in Lincolnshire
	Appendix C to Exec Report - Report on LD Care Home Costs
	Appendix D to Exec Report - Residential Rate Review EIA
	Appendix E to Exec Report Provider Feedback
	Appendix F to Exec Report- Residential Rate Model 2018 LD
	Appendix G to Exec  Residential Rate Model 2017 OPPDMH (Published Post Consultation Revision)
	Excel tab1
	Excel tab2
	Excel tab3
	Excel tab4

	6 Report by the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman
	LGO Appendix 1 - Report to Executive
	LGO Report - Appendix A.docx
	LGO Report - Exec - Appendix B

	7 Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards Scrutiny Sub Group Update
	minutes of the scrutiny sub for the ASC meeting on 14 Feb 18

	8 Adults and Community Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee Work Programme
	10 Supported Housing
	Supported Housing Appendix

	11 Extra Care Housing - Partnership with District Councils

